INTEGRATED APPROACHES TO HEALTH: CONCEPTS AND EXPERIENCES IN FRAMING, INTEGRATION AND EVALUATION OF ONE HEALTH AND ECOHEALTH

EDITED BY: Simon R. Rüegg, Sandra C. Buttigieg, Flavie L. Goutard, Aurélie Binot, Serge Morand, Séverine Thys and Hans Keune PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Veterinary Science and Frontiers in Public Health





EUROPEAN COOPERATION



Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2019 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved. All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use. ISSN 1664-8714

ISBN 978-2-88963-086-8 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88963-086-8

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

1

INTEGRATED APPROACHES TO HEALTH: CONCEPTS AND EXPERIENCES IN FRAMING, INTEGRATION AND EVALUATION OF ONE HEALTH AND ECOHEALTH

Topic Editors:

Simon R. Rüegg, University of Zürich, Switzerland
Sandra C. Buttigieg, University of Malta, Malta and University of Birmingham, United Kingdom
Flavie L. Goutard, Centre de Coopération Internationale en Recherche Agronomique pour le Développement (CIRAD), France
Aurélie Binot, Centre de Coopération Internationale en Recherche Agronomique pour le Développement (CIRAD), France
Serge Morand, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS) and Centre de Coopération Internationale en Recherche Agronomique pour le Développement (CIRAD), France
Séverine Thys, Ghent University, Belgium
Hans Keune, Belgian Biodiversity Platform - INBO and University of Antwerp, Belgium



Integrated approaches to health aim to promote sustainable health for people, animals and ecosystems. Photos by: Martha Betson (UK), Kevin Queenan (UK), Chinwe Ifejika Speranza (CH), Toni Velkov (MK), Martin Hitizger (CH), Georgina Limon (UK) and Barbara Häsler (UK).

Integrated approaches to health address health challenges arising from the intertwined spheres of humans, animals and ecosystems. This eBook is the product of an interdisciplinary effort to establish how One Health, EcoHealth and other integrated approaches to health are conceptualized, framed, implemented and evaluated today. It supplements the handbook for the evaluation of One Health, published by the COST Action "Network for Evaluation of One Health (NEOH)" with in depth reflections on the theory behind integrated approaches to health and One Health more specifically, a brief version of the NEOH evaluation framework, a supplementary evaluation approach, and eight case studies in which the NEOH framework was applied. The eBook is intended for practitioners, researchers, evaluators as well as funders of integrated approaches to health and beyond.

Without the outstanding support and leadership from the management committee, this work would not have been achieved. Our gratitude goes to Maria-Eleni Filippitzi (BE), Véronique Renault (BE), Nihad Fejzic (BA), Sabina Seric-Haracic (BA), Nenad Turk (HR), Relia Beck (HR), Luca Guardabassi (DK), Liza Rosenbaum Nielsen (DK) Flavie Goutard (FR), Vladimir Grosbois (FR), Brigitte Petersen (DE), Martin Hamer (DE), Elias Papadopoulos (GR), Ilias Chaligiannis (GR), Gábor Földvári (HU), Anthony Staines (IE), Helen O'Shea (IE), Shimon Harrus (IL), Gad Baneth (IL), Valeria Grieco (IT), Maurizio Aragrande (vice chair, IT), Jovita Mažeikienė (LT), Sandra Buttigieg (MT), Elaine Lautier (MT), Helmut Saatkamp (NL), Kitty Maassen (NL), Vlatko Ilieski (MK), Mijalce Santa (MK), Merete Hofshagen (NO), Yngvild Wasteson (NO), Paulo Roriz (PT), Jorge Torgal (PT), Andrei D. Mihalca (RO), Razvan Chereches (RO), Dragan Milićević (RS), Sara Savic (RS), Joze Staric (SI), Mojca Juričič (SI), Pedro Soto-Acosta (ES), Francisco Giménez Sánchez (ES), Ann Lindberg (SE), Josef Järhult (SE), Jakob Zinsstag (CH), Simon Rüegg (CH), Barbara Häsler (chair, UK), K. Marie McIntyre (UK), Martha Betson (UK), Marieta Braks (NL), Chinwe Ifejika Speranza (DE), Spela Sinigoj (SI), Martijn Bouwknegt (NL), Andras Lakos (HU) and their substitutes Merel Postma (BE), Semra Cavaljuga (BA), Estella Prukner Radovcic (HR), Maria Vang Johansen (DK), Elena Boriani (DK), Ricarda Schmithausen (DE), Maryla Hanna Obszarski (DE), Smaragda Sotiraki (GR), Theofilos Papadopoulos (GR), Barry McMahon (IE), Massimo Canali (IT), Fabrizio Ceciliani (IT), Daniele De Meneghi (IT), Dalia Jurevičiūtė (LT), Miroslav Radeski (MK), Toni Vekov (MK); Manuela Vilhena (PT), Carla Maia (PT), Alexandru Coman (RO), Branka Vidic (RS), Gospava Lazić (RS), Ksenija Sinigoj Gacnik (SI), Juan Gabriel Cegarra Navarro (ES), Asta Tvarijonaviciute (ES), José Cerón (ES), Helene Wahlström (SE), Karin Artursson (SE), Laura Cornelsen (UK), Jonathan Rushton (UK). We also would like to thank the 240+ researchers that have engaged with the COST Action throughout and participated actively. Our gratitude also goes to the Royal Veterinary College in London, who acted as a grant holder.





Acknowledgments

This publication is based upon work from COST Action (TD1404) "Network for Evaluation of One Health" (NEOH), supported by COST (European Cooperation in Science and Technology).

3

COST (European Cooperation in Science and Technology) is a funding agency for research and innovation networks. Our Actions help connect research initiatives across Europe and enable scientists to grow their ideas by sharing them with their peers. This boosts their research, career and innovation.

www.cost.eu

Citation: Rüegg, S. R., Buttigieg, S. C., Goutard, F. L., Binot, A., Morand, S., Thys, S., Keune, H., eds. (2019). Integrated Approaches to Health: Concepts and Experiences in Framing, Integration and Evaluation of One Health and EcoHealth. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88963-086-8

Table of Contents

07 Editorial: Concepts and Experiences in Framing, Integration and Evaluation of One Health and EcoHealth

Simon R. Rüegg, Sandra C. Buttigieg, Flavie L. Goutard, Aurélie Binot, Serge Morand, Séverine Thys and Hans Keune

SECTION I

CURRENT CONCEPTS AND FRAMINGS OF ONE HEALTH

- 10 A Comparison of Three Holistic Approaches to Health: One Health, EcoHealth, and Planetary Health Henrik Lerner and Charlotte Berg
- 17 Systems Thinking in Practice: Participatory Modeling as a Foundation for Integrated Approaches to Health

Raphaël Duboz, Pierre Echaubard, Panomsak Promburom, Margaret Kilvington, Helen Ross, Will Allen, John Ward, Guillaume Deffuant, Michel de Garine-Wichatitsky and Aurélie Binot

- 25 Operationalizing One Health Employing Social-Ecological Systems Theory: Lessons From the Greater Mekong Sub-region
 Bruce A. Wilcox, A. Alonso Aguirre, Nicole De Paula, Boripat Siriaroonrat and Pierre Echaubard
- **37 The One Health Concept: 10 Years Old and a Long Road Ahead** Delphine Destoumieux-Garzón, Patrick Mavingui, Gilles Boetsch, Jérôme Boissier, Frédéric Darriet, Priscilla Duboz, Clémentine Fritsch, Patrick Giraudoux, Frédérique Le Roux, Serge Morand, Christine Paillard, Dominique Pontier, Cédric Sueur and Yann Voituron
- 50 Member Perceptions of the One Health Initiative at a Zoological Institution

Hannah Padda, Amy Niedbalski, Erin Tate and Sharon L. Deem

 58 Urban Livestock Keeping in the City of Nairobi: Diversity of Production Systems, Supply Chains, and Their Disease Management and Risks
 Pablo Alarcon, Eric M. Fèvre, Patrick Muinde, Maurice K. Murungi, Stella Kiambi, James Akoko and Jonathan Rushton

SECTION II

APPROACHES TO EVALUATION OF ONE HEALTH

75 One Health Integration: A Proposed Framework for a Study on Veterinarians and Zoonotic Disease Management in Ghana Sophie Françoise Valeix

82 A Systems Approach to Evaluate One Health Initiatives Simon R. Rüegg, Liza Rosenbaum Nielsen, Sandra C. Buttigieg, Mijalche Santa, Maurizio Aragrande, Massimo Canali, Timothy Ehlinger, Ilias Chantziaras, Elena Boriani, Miroslav Radeski, Mieghan Bruce, Kevin Queenan and Barbara Häsler

SECTION III

CASE STUDIES OF THE "NETWORK FOR EVALUATION OF ONE HEALTH (NEOH)"

- **100** Brucellosis Control in Malta and Serbia: A One Health Evaluation Sandra C. Buttigieg, Sara Savic, Daniel Cauchi, Elaine Lautier, Massimo Canali and Maurizio Aragrande
- **115** The Degree of One Health Implementation in the West Nile Virus Integrated Surveillance in Northern Italy, 2016 Giulia Paternoster, Laura Tomassone, Marco Tamba, Mario Chiari, Antonio Lavazza, Mauro Piazzi, Anna R. Favretto, Giacomo Balduzzi, Alessandra Pautasso and Barbara R. Vogler
- 125 One Health-ness Evaluation of Cysticercosis Surveillance Design in Portugal

Ana Gloria Fonseca, Jorge Torgal, Daniele de Meneghi, Sarah Gabriël, Ana Cláudia Coelho and Manuela Vilhena

135 A One Health Evaluation of the Southern African Centre for Infectious Disease Surveillance

Marie C. E. Hanin, Kevin Queenan, Sara Savic, Esron Karimuribo, Simon R. Rüegg and Barbara Häsler

- 151 Control of Cattle Ticks and Tick-Borne Diseases by Acaricide in Southern Province of Zambia: A Retrospective Evaluation of Animal Health Measures According to Current One Health Concepts Gabrielle Laing, Maurizio Aragrande, Massimo Canali, Sara Savic and Daniele De Meneghi
- 163 A One Health Evaluation of the University of Copenhagen Research Centre for Control of Antibiotic Resistance

Anaïs Léger, Katharina D.C. Stärk, Jonathan Rushton and Liza R. Nielsen

- 177 Application of the NEOH Framework for Self-Evaluation of One Health Elements of a Case-Study on Obesity in European Dogs and Dog-Owners Alberto Muñoz-Prieto, Liza R. Nielsen, Silvia Martinez-Subiela, Jovita Mazeikiene, Pia Lopez-Jornet, Sara Savić and Asta Tvarijonaviciute
- 186 Positioning Animal Welfare in the One Health Concept Through Evaluation of an Animal Welfare Center in Skopje, Macedonia Miroslav Radeski, Helen O'Shea, Daniele De Meneghi and Vlatko Ilieski





Editorial: Concepts and Experiences in Framing, Integration and Evaluation of One Health and EcoHealth

Simon R. Rüegg^{1*}, Sandra C. Buttigieg², Flavie L. Goutard³, Aurélie Binot³, Serge Morand⁴, Séverine Thys⁵ and Hans Keune^{6,7}

 ¹ Section of Epidemiology, Vetsuisse Faculty, University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland, ² Health Services Management, Faculty of Health Sciences, Msida, Malta, ³ Centre de Coopération Internationale en Recherche Agronomique pour le Développement (CIRAD), Montpellier, France, ⁴ Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS), Paris, France, ⁵ Department of Virology, Parasitology, and Immunology, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium, ⁶ Belgian Biodiversity Platform - Research Institute Nature & Forest (INBO), Brussels, Belgium, ⁷ Department of Primary and Interdisciplinary Care Antwerp, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, University of Antwerp, Wilrijk, Belgium

Keywords: one health (OH), evaluation, integrated approaches to health, transdisciplinarity, public health, veterinary public health, ecosystem health, health policy

Editorial on the Research Topic

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Andres M. Perez, University of Minnesota Twin Cities, United States

> **Reviewed by:** Navneet K. Dhand, University of Sydney, Australia

> > *Correspondence: Simon R. Rüegg srueegg@vetclinics.uzh.ch

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Veterinary Epidemiology and Economics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

> **Received:** 10 April 2019 **Accepted:** 07 May 2019 **Published:** 24 May 2019

Citation:

Rüegg SR, Buttigieg SC, Goutard FL, Binot A, Morand S, Thys S and Keune H (2019) Editorial: Concepts and Experiences in Framing, Integration and Evaluation of One Health and EcoHealth. Front. Vet. Sci. 6:155. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2019.00155

Concepts and Experiences in Framing, Integration and Evaluation of One Health and EcoHealth

The work presented in this research topic shows that the context of initiatives in One Health (and other integrated approaches to health) is crucial and plays an important role for their implementation. Consequently, conceptualization, as well as evaluation should take into account the wider system in which such endeavors are set and cater for multiple perspectives. The featured manuscripts provide a wealth of concepts for implementation and evaluation of integrated approaches to health, which are exemplified with real cases.

Collaborative approaches across disciplines and sectors are recognized as necessary to address *wicked* problems, which prove difficult to solve singlehandedly. The recent financial, economic, social, environmental and health crises further added to the challenges of providing tangible solutions to these problems. In the health domains, classical examples are antibiotic resistance or outbreaks of highly infectious diseases, e.g., Highly Pathogenic Avian Influenza (HPAI), Ebola, Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome (SARS), Zika virus disease, which gave fresh impetus to integrated approaches to health. However, it must be recognized that these concepts have a long history and have been named with a variety of terms such as One Health, EcoHealth, Global Health, Planetary Health, Ecological Public Health, Environmental Health, Health in scaled Social-Ecological Systems, or others, depending on the specific perspective. They all share the characteristics of integrating knowledge and skills from multiple stakeholders within and across a variety of disciplines and sectors, aiming to collectively find sustainable health solutions.

Lerner and Berg investigated the similarities and differences of three currently very influential holistic concepts: One Health, EcoHealth, and Planetary Health. They found that One Health has been described as either a narrow collaboration of public health and veterinary medicine or as wide-spread interdisciplinary field with a focus on vertebrate health. EcoHealth appeared to emphasize more on including all living creatures down to microscopic levels, while Planetary Health seemed more concerned with human health at global scale. This article documents that despite all being holistic approaches, they emerge from different core values. Interestingly,

7

a bibliometric study investigating studies on dynamic disease modeling, substantiated similar silos previously, even within the One Health community (1). Duboz et al. inferred that the common holism is grounded in systems thinking and enabled by participatory modeling, which is why they advocate for the systematic incorporation of specialists in systems science and social engagement for all integrated approaches to health. The apparent difference in scope of One Health and EcoHealth has been alluded to converge already previously (2), and in their respective contributions, Destoumieux-Garzón et al. and Wilcox et al. elaborate and analyse theories and practical examples to explain this convergence. The first team highlights the value of ecological, evolutionary, and environmental sciences in understanding factors underlying stress responses and developing novel strategies to achieve manageable equilibria and dynamics in ecosystems to foster health for all. The second team shows how the social-ecological systems and resilience theory contribute to the One Health approach by illustrating two examples in the Greater Mekong subregion and their contribution toward the UN Sustainable Development Goals.

Focussing on perceptions from the public, Padda et al. investigated how One Health was conceptualized by regular visitors of the St. Louis Zoo (USA). They demonstrated that in contrast to infectious diseases, which are often cited as field of application for One Health, the zoo public appeared to be primarily concerned by chronic, noncommunicable diseases. The findings reflect the epidemiologic transition experienced in that region and underline that zoos, particularly in the industrialized nations, are expected to play an important role in promoting One Health locally. In a different urban setting, Alarcon et al. studied livestock keeping and food supply chains in Nairobi. They showed that very diverse and predominantly small-scale farming in a densely populated environment is a challenge for managing animal health and protecting humans from foodborne diseases. However, they identified critical agents in the system and provided baseline information to develop effective policies.

The next set of manuscripts moved from understanding and conceptualizing to evaluating the implementation of integrated approaches to health. While in the discourse above, systems theory is an important tenet, Valeix focussed on the concept of "integration" as a pivotal aspect of implementing One Health approaches. She framed integration as "complementary to" or "composed of" collaboration, cooperation and coordination. The framework she developed probes the social dimensions and power dynamics among professional participants that affect One Health implementation. She emphasized the importance of local and national levels for the successful realization of One Health and exemplified the approach for zoonotic disease management in Ghana focussing on the veterinary actors. Rüegg et al. presented the framework developed by the EU COST Action "Network for Evaluation of One Health" (NEOH, https://neoh. onehealthglobal.net), an international, open network with more than 240 participants from 30 countries. It pursued a systems approach to evaluation and comprised a One Health-index and -ratio as a semi-quantitative measure to assess systems thinking, planning, transdisciplinary, and participatory working, sharing and learning infrastructures, as well as adaptive leadership in One Health initiatives. The framework was tested in various case studies from the network: Buttigieg et al., Paternoster et al., Fonseca et al., Hanin et al. and their co-workers evaluated One Health approaches for infectious disease surveillance and control. Comparing the One Health-indices and -ratios revealed that time is a relevant factor for the implementation of such initiatives, with older efforts becoming more holistic. The case study on preventing the misuse of acaricide containers for food and water storage after an animal health intervention underpins this observation, as it shows a very good balance between all six evaluated aspects of One Health and was implemented as a satellite project of a well-established field program. The case study on the Southern African Centre for Infectious Disease Surveillance also indicates that national borders are challenging for the sharing of data. Looking at the evaluations of an academic One Health research program to tackle antimicrobial resistance and a study on obesity in European dogs and their owners suggests that the professional context of a One Health initiative determines much of its capability to implement a holistic approach and that the prevailing competitive mentality in the academic field may pose a serious obstacle to the endeavor. Finally, Radeski et al. demonstrate how the target of improving animal welfare aligns surprisingly well with the One Health concept. All case studies conclude that systems thinking is challenging for many natural scientists but that the NEOH framework is a helpful tool for feedback, accountability and even conception of One Health initiatives.

In the time this special issue was collected, the World Bank published its "operational framework for strengthening human, animal, and environmental public health systems at their interface"(3), the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), the World Organization of Animal Health (OIE) and the World Health Organization (WHO) have jointly published "a tripartite guide to addressing zoonotic diseases in countries"(4), and the UN Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) has issued its "guidance on integrating biodiversity considerations into one health approaches" (5). Also, in other communities the wealth of literature on systemic approaches is growing rapidly and there are countless opportunities to cross-fertilize between different fields of application. This confirms the timeliness of this Research Topic, which we believe, contributes valuable resources for practitioners, policy-makers, and funders. It also highlights a diversity of core values rooted in different systems and temporal-spatial scales that give rise to a gap between policy and practice. Closer examination of the articles raises the concern that nature based benefits as well as cross-cultural perspectives (6) are underrepresented in the multiple One Health narratives and their management. In the search for generic validity, it goes unnoticed that we know very little about the lives of those who experience these complex entanglements between humans, animals, and ecosystems on a daily basis, and whose stewardship is decisive for change to occur. We also suspect that sustained projects foster a more holistic view than short term investigations and that professional idiosyncrasies may hamper integration of knowledge, which both challenge the current academic and research practice. But now that we have paused to consolidate our knowledge and experiences with integrated approaches to health, we shall open our minds to tackle these obstacles.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors have served as editors of the research topic. SR has written the draft of the editorial and it was amended and revised by the other authors.

REFERENCES

- Manlove KR, Walker JG, Craft ME, Huyvaert KP, Joseph MB, Miller RS, et al. "One health" or three? Publication silos among the one health disciplines. *PLoS Biol.* (2016) 14:e1002448. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.1 002448
- 2. Zinsstag J. Convergence of ecohealth and one health. *Ecohealth*. (2012) 9:371–3. doi: 10.1007/s10393-013-0812-z
- 3. World Bank. One Health: Operational Framework for Strengthening Human, Animal, and Environmental Public Health Systems at Their Interface. 1st ed. Washington, DC: World Bank (2018). Available online at: http:// documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/703711517234402168/Operationalframework-for-strengthening-human-animal-and-environmental-publichealth-systems-at-their-interface
- FAO, OIE, WHO. A Tripartite Guide to Addressing Zoonotic Diseases in Countries Taking a Multisectoral, One Health Approach. 1st ed. Geneva: FAO, OIE, WHO (2019). Available online at: https://extranet.who.int/sph/ sites/default/files/document-library/document/Tripartite-Guidance-EN-websingle-page.pdf

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The editors wish to thank Frontiers for the opportunity to produce such an interdisciplinary melting-pot, all authors for their commitment and in particular the reviewers for their patient and constructive support. Finally our gratitude goes to the EU COST Action (TD1404) Network for Evaluation of One Health (https://neoh.onehealthglobal.net), which has been instrumental in producing and funding large parts of this Research Topic.

- Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD). CBD Guidance on Integrating Biodiversity Into One Health Approaches. (2017). Available online at: https:// www.cbd.int/doc/c/501c/4df1/369d06630c901cd02d4f99c7/sbstta-21-09-en. pdf
- MacGregor H, Waldman L. Views from many worlds: unsettling categories in interdisciplinary research on endemic zoonotic diseases. *Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci.* (2017) 372:20160170. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2016.0170

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Rüegg, Buttigieg, Goutard, Binot, Morand, Thys and Keune. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





A Comparison of Three Holistic Approaches to Health: One Health, EcoHealth, and Planetary Health

Henrik Lerner^{1*} and Charlotte Berg²

¹ Department of Health Care Sciences, Ersta Sköndal Bräcke University College, Stockholm, Sweden, ² Department of Animal Environment and Health, SLU Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Skara, Sweden

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Séverine Thys, Institute of Tropical Medicine Antwerp, Belgium

Reviewed by:

Hagai Levine, Hebrew University Hadassah Braun School of Public Health and Community Medicine, Israel Fernanda Dorea, National Veterinary Institute, Sweden

> *Correspondence: Henrik Lerner henrik.lerner@esh.se

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Veterinary Epidemiology and Economics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 15 June 2017 Accepted: 19 September 2017 Published: 29 September 2017

Citation:

Lerner H and Berg C (2017) A Comparison of Three Holistic Approaches to Health: One Health, EcoHealth, and Planetary Health. Front. Vet. Sci. 4:163. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2017.00163 Several holistic and interdisciplinary approaches exist to safeguard health. Three of the most influential concepts at the moment, One Health, EcoHealth, and Planetary Health, are analyzed in this paper, revealing similarities and differences at the theoretical conceptual level. These approaches may appear synonymous, as they all promote the underlying assumption of humans and other animals sharing the same planet and the same environmental challenges, infections and infectious agents as well as other aspects of physical-and possibly mental-health. However, we would like to illuminate the differences between these three concepts or approaches, and how the choice of terms may, deliberately or involuntary, signal the focus, and underlying values of the approaches. In this paper, we have chosen some proposed and well-known suggestions of definitions. In our theoretical analysis, we will focus on at least two areas. These are (1) the value of the potential scientific areas which could be included and (2) core values present within the approach. In the first area, our main concern is whether the approaches are interdisciplinary and whether the core scientific areas are assigned equal importance. For the second area, which is rather wide, we analyze core values such as biodiversity, health, and how one values humans, animals, and ecosystems. One Health has been described as either a narrow approach combining public health and veterinary medicine or as a wide approach as in the wide-spread "umbrella" depiction including both scientific fields, core concepts, and interdisciplinary research areas. In both cases, however, safeguarding the health of vertebrates is usually in focus although ecosystems are also included in the model. The EcoHealth approach seems to have more of a biodiversity focus, with an emphasis on all living creatures, implying that parasites, unicellular organisms, and possibly also viruses have a value and should be protected. Planetary Health, on the other hand, has been put forward as a fruitful approach to deal with growing threats in the health area, not least globally. We conclude that there are actually important differences between these three approaches, which should be kept in mind when using any of these terms.

Keywords: concept of health, ecology, ecosystems, interdisciplinarity, philosophy of medicine, medicine, value, veterinary medicine

10

INTRODUCTION

Several holistic and interdisciplinary approaches that work with the human-animal-environment interface exist in order to safeguard health. Three of the most influential concepts at this moment, One Health, EcoHealth, and Planetary Health, are analyzed in this paper, revealing similarities and differences at the theoretical, conceptual level. Of these three concepts, Planetary Health is a more recent and therefore possibly less developed concept, and it may hence appear somewhat arbitrary to choose this concept and compare it to the two more well-established ones. However, based on the fact that Planetary Health has rapidly become an approach mentioned in very well-renowned and high-ranked global publications and furthermore seems to attract attention among politically influential groups we still find it highly relevant to include this concept in the discussion on an equal basis.

Someone approaching these concepts from the outside may easily perceive these concepts as relatively synonymous, as they all promote the underlying assumption of humans and other animals sharing the same planet, and to large extent the same habitats and with this the same environmental challenges, infections, and infectious agents as well as other aspects of physicaland possibly mental-health. Since a couple of years back, there has been an ongoing effort to merge at least two of these approaches, namely One Health and EcoHealth (1, 2). Among the papers promoting a merge some differences are acknowledged although downplayed, issues that might question the idea that the two approaches are synonymous. Also during this period, at least one new approach, Planetary health, has been proposed as an alternative to the other two (3).¹ We believe that a more thorough analysis of the differences between the approaches is needed for two different reasons. Either the analysis gives an argument to halter the merge or the analysis might help keeping the diversity in a merged approach.

It should be kept in mind that there are no universal, agreed definitions of any of these three approaches (6, 7). Attempts have been made to pinpoint the central aspects of each of these, but these aspects are not centrally agreed on and different people, within different professions, and with different backgrounds, may use the approaches differently. Gibbs (7), for example, argues that definitions of One Health seem to reflect the aim of the organization proposing it. In this paper, we have chosen some proposed and well-known suggestions of definitions. In our theoretical analysis, we will mainly focus on two areas. These are (1) potential scientific areas which could be included and (2) core values present within the approach. In the first area, our main concern is how wide or narrow the view on interdisciplinarity is (i.e., which and how many scientific fields included) and whether the core scientific areas are assigned equal importance. For the second area, which is rather wide, we analyze core values such as biodiversity, health, and how one values humans, animals, and ecosystems.

The aim of this paper is to illuminate the differences between these three approaches, and how the choice of terms may, deliberately or involuntary, signal the focus, and underlying values of the approaches.

METHOD

Identifying the demarcation of an interdisciplinary approach is not an easy task. In this study, which is a study in philosophy of science, we have focused on the scientific parts of the approaches and not on the political aspects, although the latter aspect may also warrant deeper analysis by experts in the field. The scientific demarcation of each of these three approaches, which is the question in focus here, relies on underlying values, theories of science, and the scientific fields included. In order to analyze this aspect, one cannot make a straightforward key-word-based bibliometric exercise where any publication in any scientific peer-reviewed journal is read and analyzed. Instead, we have chosen a selective approach where papers and books dealing with theoretical aspects of this field of science, such as theoretical foundation of the approach, how the approach is defined, demarcation of the approach toward other approaches, and possible conflicts of value due to scientific standpoints, are analyzed philosophically. It is based on active searches in several databases and reading of key publications, thorough reading of reference lists, web pages, and newsletters dedicated to the approaches as well as in-depth discussions with experienced colleagues in the fields studied.

We have focused on published scientific texts which have been regarded as either rich in theoretical substance on these matters or that are influential for the approaches. Often these texts have explicitly mentioned how they demarcate the approach or presented a definition of the approach. However, most of the papers and books that are published within these approaches are focused on other important issues such as policy making, implementation of the approaches, solving practical health problems, or basic scientific research. As a consequence, this review consists of relatively few references.

For each of the three approaches, we have analyzed the definitions applied, described the main contributing sciences, and identified the core values, based on these key publications within each approach.

ONE HEALTH

Definitions of the Approach

One Health has been described as both a narrow and wide approach. The narrow approach is mainly biomedical, focusing on animal, and human health while combining human and veterinary medicine (2, 5, 8). Gibbs (7) has compiled central definitions of One Health. The two widest of these are from the One Health Commission and the One Health Global Network. The One Health Commission defines One Health in the following citation:

One Health is the collaborative effort of multiple health science professions, together with their related

¹See Lerner and Berg (4) for an analysis of another approach, Zoobiquity (5), which has also been introduced during this period but resembles One Health.

disciplines, and institutions—working locally, nationally, and globally—to attain optimal health for people, domestic animals, wildlife, plants, and our environment.²

The One Health Global Network defines One Health as an approach:

To improve health and well-being through the prevention of risks and the mitigation of effects of crises that originate at the interface between humans, animals, and their various environments.³

For both definitions, focus appears to be on what the One Health Global Network calls a "whole of society" approach where all health sciences and their related disciplines works across borders collaboratively to improve health at an optimal level. Lately, there has been increasing emphasis within the One Health scientific community on the need for widening the One Health concept to encompassing not only human and animal health, but also biodiversity, ecology, climate change, agricultural systems, and various social sciences (8).

Contributing Sciences

In the narrowest description, One Health combines public health and veterinary medicine (9). In one of the widest approaches as in the wide-spread "umbrella" depiction it includes environmental health, ecology, veterinary medicine, public health, human medicine, molecular, and microbiology, as well as health economics (4). The narrow approach is the oldest one, and has been developed from what was earlier termed "One Medicine." The approach of One Medicine was mainly developed by veterinarians and physicians (10) and hence very centered on conventional medical issues. The term "One Medicine" was later perceived as too clinical, as the approach to health became widened to also include public health issues and ecology (4, 11). However, a more narrow interpretation of One Health, rather similar to that of One Medicine, can still sometimes be found. This narrow approach is, however, not much further discussed in this paper.

As an example, the Manhattan Principles was an ecological approach that expanded the field and belongs to the initial foundation of One Health (1). Also, health is nowadays regarded as something more than just clinical biology, although the outer limits of health as a concept have not been settled within the approach. Critics have pointed out the lack of social sciences including research related to rural development, population dynamics, anthropology, urbanization, and so on within the approach (2). However, there is much effort at the moment to include social scientists, and this aspect was also highlighted at a recent European workshop on One Health (8), together with the already more well-established aspects such as ecology, agricultural systems, food safety and security, and so on.

Core Values

From our analysis, we find that the core values of the One Health concept still relate to public human health and the health of animals influencing the health of humans. Hence, safeguarding the health, and especially individual health, of vertebrates is usually in focus although ecosystems are also included in the wider model (4). Ecology, microbiology, and biodiversity are nevertheless generally perceived as parts of the core sciences, in their own right. Later publications, such as the report by Keune et al. (8) emphasize the importance of widening the One Health concept also to social sciences and agricultural sciences. It can be argued that two core values of One Health are (a) the respect for scientific specialties whilst emphasizing the need for cooperation between such disciplines and (b) the emphasis application of multidisciplinarity in research and advisory projects.

EcoHealth

Definitions of the Approach

EcoHealth has been described as involving the health of humans, animals, and ecosystems, including also environmental sustainability and socioeconomic stability in the framework. In some cases, the EcoHealth approach seems to have more of a biodiversity focus, with an emphasis on all living creatures, implying that parasites, unicellular organisms, and possibly also viruses have a value and should be protected. Waltner-Toews suggests that EcoHealth aims for "sustainable human and animal health and well-being, through healthier ecosystems" [(12), p. 519]. The leading journal of the approach, which has published several papers on these theoretical matters, is the EcoHealth journal. At present, the EcoHealth approach at the EcoHealth Journal website is defined as:

EcoHealth is committed to fostering the health of humans, animals, and ecosystems and to conducting research which recognizes the inextricable linkages between the health of all species and their environments. A basic tenet held is that health and well-being cannot be sustained in a resource depleted, polluted, and socially unstable planet.⁴

Contributing Sciences

In the start of the journal EcoHealth possible scientific fields that could contribute to the approach was suggested. These were conservation and ecosystem management, veterinary medicine, human medicine, public health practice, rural and urban development, and planning, and more not specified (13). EcoHealth has included more of social science and the humanities than One Health and the approach includes anthropologists with a focus on indigenous people. Indigenous and local knowledge are also acknowledged as a source of knowledge besides the western scientific knowledge (14). Scientific papers could have a more

²https://www.onehealthcommission.org/en/why_one_health/what_is_one_ health/ retrieved August 14, 2017.

³http://www.onehealthglobal.net/what-is-one-health/ retrieved August 14, 2017.

⁴https://ecohealth.net/en/ retrieved August 14, 2017.

esthetic or essay approach. Among the natural scientists, ecologists seem to have higher influence.

Core Values

Focus is on the relationship between health, ecosystem, and sustainable development, where the latter is based on equity (1, 6, 13–15). Participation from different sectors in the society such as policymakers, scientists, and those performing the fieldwork are favored (6, 14). That participation is consensus and cooperation-based (15) and aims for action (6). The concept of health is mainly used at the population level of health and is also used as a metaphor (6). Biodiversity is an important value within the idea of sustainability.

PLANETARY HEALTH

Definitions of the Approach

Planetary Health has in recent years been put forward as an alternative to One Health and EcoHealth. The concept has been developed by The Rockefeller Foundation-*Lancet* Commission on planetary health. However, the concept seems to be less interdisciplinary than One Health and EcoHealth and primarily focus on human health, although the environment is acknowledged. In one of the key papers from the commission they state that:

Our definition of planetary health is the achievement of the highest attainable standard of health, well-being, and equity worldwide through judicious attention to the human systems—political, economic, and social—that shape the future of humanity and the Earth's natural systems that define the safe environmental limits within which humanity can flourish. [(3), p. 1978]

One can clearly see that this definition of planetary health, the Brundtland view of sustainability (16) is present that humans are valued more than other animals or ecosystems. For example, Horton et al. (17) state that Planetary Health is focused on mitigating and responding to threats to human health and wellbeing, and on the sustainability of the entire human civilization. In addition to this, the authors acknowledge the importance of biodiversity as it is the basis of the natural systems on which humans depend, without discussing the intrinsic values of these ecosystems (17). This approach is extremely anthropocentric, focusing only on human health outcomes. One of the main critiques toward the Brundtland report has been linked to its anthropocentric approach, limiting the discussions to sustainability from human utility perspective, not emphasizing the inherent values of ecological systems and biodiversity (18).

Although also Whitmee et al. (3) to a large extent adopt an anthropocentric approach they bring up effects of ecological changes, climate change, land use alterations, and food production changes in relation to the risks of transmission of zoonotic and vector-borne diseases to humans, thereby involving also animals in the line of thought. Having said this, the health and consequently the welfare of animals for the animals' own sake is not mentioned, and it is evident that animal health is only perceived as relevant in terms of potential disease transmission to humans, and in terms of their capacity as food production units.

Contributing Sciences

Approaching the concept of Planetary Health in its most narrow form of interdisciplinarity, Horton et al. (17) clearly state that this field of science involves health professionals, public health practitioners, policy makers, and similar categories. The term "health professionals" in this context only refers to human health professionals, i.e., not veterinarians or other animal health professionals. Neither does this list cover ecologists nor others biologists.

In the key paper from the Rockefeller Foundation and The Lancet (3), the focus is somewhat wider, mentioning a broad spectrum of scientific disciplines such as human medicine, ecology, and other environmental sciences (including climate and biodiversity research), economy, energy, agricultural sciences (including plant and animal production sciences), marine sciences, and more. Hence, these authors appear to acknowledge the need for interdisciplinary collaboration to a larger extent.

Core Values

From our analysis, the core values within the Planetary Health approach is the health of living and future human generations, applied to individuals, communities, and populations (3). A main goal is equity in health, which is related to socioeconomic, regional, and gender factors (17). Furthermore, the Planetary Health concept requires sustainability, which is in turn based on natural resources and biodiversity (3).

DISCUSSION

The approach used in this paper was to apply a methodology originating from the field of philosophy science on three interdisciplinary approaches to health among people, animals, and the environment. This approach does have its limitations, as it does not involve a total scrutiny of all publications in these three fields. The choice of papers, books, and informants can always be challenged, but this method is an efficient way of rapidly pinpointing the core values and contributing sciences in a systematic way. Nevertheless, we fully acknowledge that future further and deeper analyses may reveal slightly different results. It should also be mentioned that within the scientific community the values and demarcations of various concepts may change over time, and we would hence like to emphasize that our conclusions only reflect the present state.

Of the three approaches that seemed to be similar, One Health, EcoHealth, and Planetary Health, we have regarded Planetary Health to differ the most regarding how they value humans, animals, and ecosystems (**Table 1**). This approach is clearly anthropocentric and focuses primarily on human health. In One Health and EcoHealth, humans and animals are more on par. Therefore, we consider Planetary Health as more similar to a concept such as Global Health, than One Health and EcoHealth. One strand of definitions of Global Health is based on a broad collaborative and transnational approach to establish health for all. This "health for all" concerns only humans but is wider than public health (19).

TABLE 1 | Comparison of the three approaches.

		One Health		EcoHealth	Planetary Health	
		Narrow	Wide		Narrow	Wide
Core contributing sciences	Human	Public health	Public health Human medicine Molecular and microbiology Health economics Social sciences	Public health Human medicine Rural and urban development and planning Social sciences Anthropology	Public health Human medicine	Human medicine Economy Energy Natural resources
	Animal	Veterinary medicine	Veterinary medicine	Veterinary medicine	-	Agricultural sciences (including plant and animal production sciences)
	Ecosystem	 Environmental health Ecology 		Conservation and ecosystem management	-	Ecology
			Ecology			Other environmental sciences (inclu- ding climate and biodiversity research) Marine sciences
Knowledge base		Western scientific	Western scientific	Western scientific Indigenous knowledge	Western scientific	Western scientific
Core values	Health	Individual health	Individual and population health	Population health	Individual and population health	Individual and population health
	Groups	Humans Animals	Humans Animals Ecosystems	Humans Animals Ecosystems	Humans	Humans
	Other			Biodiversity Sustainability (for humans, animals, ecosystems)	Sustainability (for humans)	Sustainability (for humans)
Reference		(2, 5, 8, 9)	(4, 7, 8, 11)	(1, 6, 12–15)	(17)	(3)

The main difference between Global Health and Planetary Health is the emphasis on the need for sustainability based on natural resources in the latter approach.

Regarding the more interdisciplinary and holistic approaches One Health and EcoHealth, both approaches share similarities such as advocating interdisciplinarity, and promoting health. Therefore, some authors argue for a merge of the two approaches despite the existing differences (1, 2). In international reports made by intergovernmental agencies, a practice of treating them as related to each other has already been established [see (20)]. However, there still seem to be some aspects that might differ between the approaches, and we will below discuss the concept of health and the differences in interdisciplinarity. For comparison, we will analyze all three approaches. Finally, as a consequence of the fact that at least One Health and EcoHealth seems to expand in their interdisciplinarity we will also discuss where the outer limits of these approaches might lie.

Health

One of the most obvious differences is in the view of health. Planetary Health focuses mainly on human health (3), while the other two approaches have a broader perspective. Zinsstag et al. (1) state that One Health mainly treat animal and human health while EcoHealth mainly focuses on the relation between health and ecosystems. The difference between One Health and EcoHealth might be more troublesome to bridge than suggested. Lerner and Berg (4) showed that there are three levels where health can be defined and these are individual level, population level, and ecosystem level. The difference between individual health and the two other levels is similar to the reason why animal ethics and environmental ethics are seen as different from each other. With help from philosophical value theory, one can see that One Health attributes health to individual bearers in the same manner as one strand of animal ethics ascribe values to individual animals and humans, while EcoHealth attributes health to aggregations, systems, and processes similar to when environmental ethics ascribe value to ecosystem processes or species. Could a process have health in the same way as an individual have? Could an ecosystem have health? Or does health become metaphorical in these latter senses, as Charron (6) suggests? On the other hand, if one concerns the human body as an ecosystem, one could rather argue that human individual health should be similar to the ecosystem level. This issue, the relation between and importance of the levels of health, must be solved in order to merge the two approaches.

One initial step may be to decide on treating health as a property of the individual, rather than of the group, population, or ecosystem. This approach is quite possible, without denying the fact that the health of one individual (regardless of species) may of course in many cases directly or indirectly influence the health of others.

Given this, one might want to consider whether there needs to be a similar definition of health for all individuals involved in the merged approach. Should the health promoted be of the same definition for humans, animals, and plants (with relevant adjustments for different kinds of species)? Lerner (21) has shown that this might be possible and several alternatives already exist. For example, the WHO definition of health for humans is currently applied also on animals, especially in organic agriculture. Other categories of health definitions that are applied to both animals and humans are balance theories, health as biological function (such as homeostasis) and health as the ability to realize an individual's vital goals. When it comes to mental health and its definitions, however, there are still considerable discrepancies in how this scientific field is approached in humans and animals, respectively. Furthermore, the study of health definitions in animals is less thorough than in humans and when one turns to plants or ecosystems even less research and analysis has been carried out. As a conclusion, much philosophical concept analysis still needs to be carried out to find definitions of health suitable to a merged approach [see also (4, 21)].

Interdisciplinarity

All three approaches are based on multi- or interdisciplinary research. The reason why these approaches have evolved was the understanding that the issues that needed to be solved needed contributions from several disciplines of science [see, for example, Ref. (15)]. To our interpretation, the Planetary Health approach has the narrowest focus on interdisciplinarity, with an emphasis on human health and related research areas. One Health has sometimes been criticized for focusing only on medicine (human and veterinary) (5, 9). Ecohealth seems to be the wider approach accepting more of the disciplines within the humanities and sociology (1) although the One Health approach has during recent years been used in a gradually wider context (4, 8).

Even within a discipline, there is a variety of scientific positions. Within human medicine, for example, some scientists work with microbiology, others with social science aspects and yet others with clinical trials. Therefore, it is reasonable to believe that One Health and EcoHealth could find a demarcation of disciplines that could cooperate in order to solve the problems. This might change due to novel problems, but a core group of disciplines that is wider than today might be easy to agree on (areas neglected or too little mentioned in the debate but could contribute strongly are philosophy and nursing science). Seen from this perspective, it may prove more difficult to incorporate the approach from Planetary Health into a merged approach because of its main focus on humans and human health.

Outer Boundary

One aspect, which we believe to be an issue, to consider is where the outer boundary should be drawn. A merged approach cannot deal with all aspects of the world without becoming a "theory of everything." For example, there are voices arguing for a much broader approach called One Welfare, focusing on human,

REFERENCES

 Zinsstag J, Jeggo M, Schelling E, Bonfoh B, Waltner-Toews D, Lelii S, et al. Convergence of Ecohealth and One Health. *Ecohealth* (2012) 9:371–3. doi:10.1007/s10393-013-0812-z animal, and social welfare including the environment (22–24). The relation of this new wide approach to the merged One Health-EcoHealth approach must be carefully analyzed. In our view, the risks of creating to wide and all-embracing disciplines should not be ignored. To create creative and fruitful interdisciplinary or transdisciplinary research groups and projects, there still has to be basic disciplines to connect between. This can still be the case also for wide concepts such as One Welfare, which must involve several other disciplines in addition to the ones mentioned above. There is a risk of the high number of disciplines involved then resulting in structural problems and conflicts.

At the conceptual level, the relation between the concepts of health and welfare can be seen in different ways depending on how we define them. They may be partially overlapping or more or less independent of each other. In animal welfare science, there has been an emphasis on finding a unifying concept, welfare, which covers all aspects of an animal's life (25). The problem with this approach is that if some aspects are poor and some are good the overall welfare might be hard to evaluate. Therefore, it is still useful to separate health and welfare conceptually. One can then be able to say that the animal's health is poor while the welfare is good (26). The same reasoning could be fruitful to apply to the approaches of One Health and One Welfare. One would then be able to focus on different aspects within each field. However, the joint One Welfare approach should not be dismissed until properly evaluated and tested.

CONCLUSION

Three of the currently most influential concepts in the area of human, animal, and ecosystem health are One Health, EcoHealth, and Planetary Health. Neither of these concepts have any generally, centrally agreed definitions, and are sometimes handled as almost synonymous, sometimes as overlapping and sometimes as quite distinctly separate. In our analysis, we have found that these concepts have a lot in common but do differ in contributing sciences, core focus, and values, which may influence how they are used and also what signals the choice of term sends. Considering especially the concept of health, the valuing of humans, animals, and ecosystems as well as the view on which disciplines to include within the approach, we conclude that there are actually important differences between these three approaches. This should be kept in mind when using any of these terms or in a process of merging one or more of these approaches together.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors have planned and contributed in writing the manuscript. All authors have critically reviewed and revised the manuscript and approved the final product.

- Roger F, Caron A, Morand S, Pedrono M, de Garine-Wichatitsky M, Chevalier V, et al. One Health and EcoHealth: the same wine in different bottles? *Infect Ecol Epidemiol* (2016) 6:30978. doi:10.3402/iee.v6.30978
- 3. Whitmee S, Haines A, Beyrer C, Boltz F, Capon AG, de Souza Dias BF, et al. Safeguarding human health in the Anthropocene epoch: report of The

Rockefeller Foundation-Lancet Commission on planetary health. Lancet (2015) 386:1973–2028. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60901-1

- Lerner H, Berg C. The concept of health in One Health and some practical implications for research and education: what is One Health? *Infect Ecol Epidemiol* (2015) 5:25300. doi:10.3402/iee.v5.25300
- Natterson-Horowitz B, Bowers K. Zoobiquity: The Astonishing Connection between Human and Animal Health. New York: Vintage Books (2013). 398 p.
- Charron DF, Ecohealth: origins and approach. In: Charron DF, editor. Ecohealth Research in Practice: Innovative Applications of an Ecosystem Approach to Health. Insight and Innovation in International Development 1. Ottawa, ON: International Development Research Centre (2012):1–30.
- Gibbs EPJ. The evolution of One Health: a decade of progress and challenges for the future. *Vet Rec* (2014) 174:85–91. doi:10.1136/vr.g143
- Keune H, Flandroy L, Thys S, De Regge N, Mori M, van den Berg T, et al. *European OneHealth/EcoHealth Workshop Report*. Brussels: Belgian Community of Practice Biodiversity and Health, Belgian Biodiversity Platform (2017).
- Jenkins EJ, Simon A, Bachand N, Stephen C. Wildlife parasites in a One Health world. *Trends Parasitol* (2015) 31(5):174–80. doi:10.1016/j. pt.2015.01.002
- Lerner H. The philosophical roots of the "One Medicine" movement: an analysis of some relevant ideas by Rudolf Virchow and Calvin Schwabe with their modern implications. *Studia Philosophica Estonica* (2013) 6(2):97–109. doi:10.12697/spe.2013.6.2.07
- Zinsstag J, Schelling E, Waltner-Toews D, Tanner M. From "one medicine" to "one health" and systemic approaches to health and well-being. *Prev Vet Med* (2011) 101:148–56. doi:10.1016/j.prevetmed.2010.07.003
- Waltner-Toews D. Eco-Health: a primer for veterinarians. Can Vet J (2009) 50:519–21.
- Wilcox BA, Aguirre AA, Daszak P, Horwitz P, Martens P, Parkes M, et al. EcoHealth: a transdisciplinary imperative for a sustainable future. *Ecohealth* (2004) 1:3–5. doi:10.1007/s10393-004-0014-9
- Saint-Charles J, Webb J, Sanchez A, Mallee H, van Wendel de Joode B, Nguyen-Viet H. Ecohealth as a field: looking forward. *Ecohealth* (2014) 11:300-7. doi:10.1007/s10393-014-0930-2
- Lebel J. Health: An Ecosystem Approach: Focus. Ottawa, ON: International Development Research Centre (2003). Available from:https://www.idrc.ca/ en/book/infocus-health-ecosystem-approach
- WCED (World Commission on Environment and Development). Our Common Future. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press (1987).

- Horton R, Beaglehole R, Bonita R, Raeburn J, McKee M, Wall S. From public to planetary health: a manifesto. *Lancet* (2014) 383:847. doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(14)60409-8
- Sneddon C, Howarth RB, Norgaard RB. Sustainable development in a post-Brundtland world. *Ecol Econ* (2006) 57:253–68. doi:10.1016/j. ecolecon.2005.04.013
- Beaglehole R, Bonita R. What is global health? *Global Health Action* (2010) 3:5142. doi:10.3402/gha.v3i0.5142
- WHO (World Health Organization) & SCBD (Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity). Connecting Global Priorities: Biodiversity and Human Health: A State of Knowledge Review. Geneva: WHO, CBD (2015). Available from:http://www.who.int/globalchange/publications/biodiversityhuman-health/en/
- Lerner H. Conceptions of health and disease in plants and animals. In: Schramme T, Edwards S, editors. *Handbook of the Philosophy of Medicine*. Dordrecht: Springer Science + Business Media (2017):287–301.
- 22. Colonius TJ, Earley RW. One welfare: a call to develop a broader framework of thought and action. *JAVMA* (2013) 242(3):309–10. doi:10.2460/ javma.242.3.309
- 23. Mills D, Hall S. Animal-assisted interventions: making better use of the human-animal bond. *Vet Rec* (2014) 174:269–73. doi:10.1136/vr.g1929
- García Pinillos R, Appleby MC, Manteca X, Scott-Park F, Smith C, Velarde A. One Welfare—a platform for improving human and animal welfare. *Vet Rec* (2016) 179:412–3. doi:10.1136/vr.i5470
- Fraser D, Weary DM, Pajor EA, Milligan BN. A scientific conception of animal welfare that reflects ethical concerns. *Anim Welf* (1997) 6:187–205.
- 26. Lerner H. The Concepts of Health, Well-being and Welfare as Applied to Animals: A Philosophical Analysis of the Concepts with Regard to the Differences between Animals (2008). 212 p. Ph. D. thesis, Linköping University, Linköping.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Lerner and Berg. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Systems Thinking in Practice: Participatory Modeling as a Foundation for Integrated Approaches to Health

Raphaël Duboz^{1,2*}, Pierre Echaubard^{3*}, Panomsak Promburom⁴, Margaret Kilvington⁵, Helen Ross⁶, Will Allen⁷, John Ward⁸, Guillaume Deffuant⁹, Michel de Garine-Wichatitsky^{1,10} and Aurélie Binot¹

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Karl M. Rich, Lincoln University, New Zealand

Reviewed by:

Joann Michele Lindenmayer, Humane Society International, United States Hans Keune, Institute for Nature and Forest Research (INBO), Belgium Kanar Dizyee, Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation, Australia

*Correspondence:

Raphaël Duboz raphael.duboz@cirad.fr Pierre Echaubard pierre.echaubard@globalhealthasia.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Veterinary Epidemiology and Economics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 02 May 2018 Accepted: 16 November 2018 Published: 17 December 2018

Citation:

Duboz R, Echaubard P, Promburom P, Kilvington M, Ross H, Allen W, Ward J, Deffuant G, de Garine-Wichatitsky M and Binot A (2018) Systems Thinking in Practice: Participatory Modeling as a Foundation for Integrated Approaches to Health. Front. Vet. Sci. 5:303. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00303 ¹ ASTRE, CIRAD, INRA, Univ Montpellier, Montpellier, France, ² Institut Pasteur du Cambodge, Phnom Penh, Cambodia, ³ Global Health Asia Institute, Bangkok, Thailand, ⁴ Center for Agricultural Resource System Research (CARSR), Chiang Mai University, Chiang Mai, Thailand, ⁵ ISREF-Independent Social Research, Evaluation & Facilitation, Christchurch, New Zealand, ⁶ School of Agriculture and Food Sciences, The University of Queensland, Brisbane, QLD, Australia, ⁷ Learning for Sustainability, Christchurch, New Zealand, ⁸ Mekong Region Futures Institute, Bangkok, Thailand, ⁹ National Research Institute of Science and Technology for Environment and Agriculture, Antony, France, ¹⁰ Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Kasetsart University, Bangkok, Thailand

One Health (OH), EcoHealth (EH), and Planetary Health (PH) share an interest in transdisciplinary efforts that bring together scientists, citizens, government and private sectors to implement contextualized actions that promote adaptive health management across human, animal and ecosystem interfaces. A key operational element underlying these Integrated Approaches to Health (IAH) is use of Systems Thinking as a set of tools for integration. In this paper we discuss the origins and epistemology of systems thinking and argue that participatory modeling, informed by both systems theory and expertise in facilitating engagement and social learning, can help ground IAH theoretically and support its development. Participatory modeling is iterative and adaptive, which is necessary to deal with complexity in practice. Participatory modeling (PM) methods actively involve affected interests and stakeholders to ground the field of inquiry in a specific social-ecological context. Furthermore, PM processes act to reconcile the diverse understandings of the empirical world that stem from divergent discipline and community viewpoints. In this perspective article, we argue that PM can support systems thinking in practice and is essential for IAH implementation. Accordingly we invite PH, OH, and EH practitioners to systematically incorporate specialists in systems science and social engagement and facilitation. This will enable the appropriate contextualization of research practice and interventions, and ensure a balanced representation of the roles and relationships of medical, biological, mathematical, and social disciplines. For completeness, funding schemes supporting IAH need to follow the same iterative, adaptive, and participative processes to accompany IAH projects throughout their implementation.

Keywords: One Health, EcoHealth, Planetary Health, systems theory, systems thinking, participatory modeling, resilience, sustainable development goals

INTRODUCTION

The emergence of One Health (OH) and EcoHealth (EH) approaches over the past decade, recently complemented by the Planetary Health (PH) movement (1), illustrates the consolidation of a consensus in the veterinary and public-health domains that there is a need for integrated, interdisciplinary and inter-sectoral approaches to better understand health issues, and to improve the sustainability and relevance of interventions targeting individual and population health in various social, cultural and environmental contexts. The recent publishing of the One Health theme issue in the Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B (2) and the present issue embody this consensus and highlight the need for a clarification of the principles underlying these integrated approaches to health (IAH) (3, 4), the key methods and tools they rely on to collect data, monitor processes and outcomes, and their effectiveness and relevance for coping with veterinary and public health issues.

The Ecosystem approach, underpinning Ecohealth (and in principle One Health) (Wilcox et al., under review in this Research Topic), has been developed over the last two decades (4–6) to address pressing social-ecological challenges. However, it remains sparsely used when it comes to public health related interventions (Wilcox et al., under review in this Research Topic). Building on the conceptual foundation of the ecosystem approach (6), we propose that IAH initiatives, whatever their dominant epistemological orientation (e.g., One Health and veterinary sciences, Ecohealth and disease ecology, etc.), should routinely take a comprehensive view of the complex interactions between human and natural systems at multiple scales and levels (7). This would require taking a participatory approach to more widely involve key stakeholders in:

- 1. definition and description of relevant social-ecological systems in terms of scale, extent, structure and functioning;
- 2. assessment of their state in terms of health, as defined by what is acceptable to society;
- 3. assessment of threats;
- 4. maintenance, mitigation, and rehabilitation, and;
- 5. using adaptive management strategies to ensure longer term systems resilience (8).

We also argue for more attention within these participatory approaches to the use of modeling techniques which encourage those involved to clarify what key variables affect the underlying system(s), the factors that will shape responses, uncertainties involved, and the likely outcomes of particular strategies (9).

Such integrated approaches (to health and other areas) recognize that animals, humans and the environment are interdependent, and the complex interactions between these components not only challenges simplistic views of ecosystem functioning (10), but should change the way we manage them, moving from the imposition of technocratic solutions targeted at subsets of the system; to working directly with stakeholders in the decision process, and acknowledging local social-ecological knowledge in practice (6, 11). This is, in effect, social learning as a participatory process of social change in which people learn from each other in ways that can benefit wider social-ecological

systems (12), and in which modeling serves as a key tool, both for this learning to happen and for supporting decision-making processes (13, 14).

Zinsstag et al. (3) argue that individual and population health can be seen as emerging properties of a system's interacting social and ecological factors. It follows that any IAH attempting to sustainably improve public-health and population well-being needs to help key stakeholders understand and adaptively manage social-ecological dynamics. We note two major impediments to the success of IAH projects in this regard. Firstly, there is insufficient representation and integration of social sciences and disciplines related to ecological thinking and environmental management (15-18). Secondly, more participatory and integrated modeling is needed to help systematically capture and integrate our understanding of how changes in management, climate, demographics, and other factors affect selected indicators of system health (19). The fact that these fields are underrepresented in IAH reflects the human and veterinary health sector foci on disease when addressing health issues. Disease management is not the same as promoting health, which requires a more salutogenic orientation (20, 21) grounded in resilience theory and practice, medical sociology and anthropology and participatory action-research. This orientation more closely fits what arguably should be One Health's primary concern to maintain the integrity of the human-animal-environment complexes in face of stressors. This orientation is also better aligned with the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals, which involve a more diverse range of expertise as well as methodologies for their integration (Wilcox et al., under review in this Research Topic).

In this perspective article, we highlight the importance of underpinning IAH approaches with three key practice areas: (1) systems thinking-to help a wider range of stakeholders develop a shared agreement around problem structuring; (2) modeling-to help people understand trends and see processes unfold that are either too big or too little to appreciate with the naked eye; and (3) facilitation-to support the constructive participation of key stakeholders in the wider decision-making process. We also reinforce the importance of linking across these three practice areas. We begin by discussing the converging attributes and underlying characteristics of OH, EH, and PH (all designated by "IAH") [see also Lerner and Berg (22) for a complementary discussion] and briefly clarify system thinking origins and epistemology. Finally, we highlight a rationale for the design of more integrated and adaptive methodologies for effective implementation dealing with complexity in practice.

THE UNDERLYING CHARACTERISTICS OF IAH

Complexity

IAH recognizes that complexity is an inherent characteristic of natural systems (10, 11). Since the mid 1980s, starting with the pioneers of the Santa Fe Institute in the United States, complex systems became a field of investigation. Definitions of systems properties that are commonly associated with complexity, such as chaos, scales, emergence, bifurcation, auto-organization, adaptation, and resilience can be found in the complex systems literature. Here, we focus on some features of this field that have direct implications for IAH.

While complexity and how to address it is still debated, the synthesis by Deffuant et al. (23) offers a good overview of the origins, uses and operational implications of complexity– based practices and offers a roadmap for more integrative implementation (**Table 1**). The authors distinguish three main epistemological views pointing to the importance of clearly understanding and explicitly acknowledging which view(s) are being considered, and perhaps integrated, when dealing with complexity on a project-basis. These viewpoints influence the kinds of questions we raise and the methods we develop to address them (**Table 1**).

The three views of complexity have different implications related to how the principles and methodological attributes are implemented in the context of IAH. View 1 acknowledges that the predictive power of models¹ is often intrinsically limited because of the sensitivity to initial conditions, that uncertainty and surprise must be taken into account, and that emerging properties should be identified-and so far as possible understood. From view 2, it is understood that heterogeneous available knowledge and data can be integrated into simulation models used to explore scenariobased projections. Complementarily, view 3 recommends the use of participatory processes to build iterative and adaptive management strategies in which resilience thinking and the active engagement of stakeholders to insure relevant representation of worldviews and perceptions, attributes that are inherently subjective, are essential ingredients.

Participation and Transdisciplinarity

When implementing IAH, the ultimate goal is to improve health of humans, animals and ecosystems conjointly. This statement is highly subjective, and the third vision of complexity tells us that to achieve such a goal, participation (active involvement and engagement of affected interests and stakeholders in framing the problem and the discovery of adaptive responses to meet IAH objectives) is key. Attention should be paid to the participation label. It hides a substantial diversity of inclusion criteria and practices (24, 25). In participatory research, the diversity in implementing and designing participatory processes relies on the necessity to adapt to local contexts and the classical questions regarding who to involve, how and where, and for whose benefit (26, 27). The point here is to acknowledge that representatives of civil society, and decision makers at all relevant levels, must be involved in IAH, including in research design and implementation. Accordingly, the mobilized knowledge is not only scientific and expert, but also practical and local (28, 29). Consequently, power relations (who knows, decides and acts) are decentralized, shared between heterogeneous actors, and made dynamic throughout the participatory process (24, 30). Winter [(31), p7] contends that "policy [substituted here as IAH] brings to statement what is judged to be possible, desirable and meaningful... and is the nexus of facts, value and ultimate meaning in which scientific, ethical and theological-philosophical reflections meet." Embracing the complexity of a situation with its heterogeneous set of actors, accounting for the diversity of their perspectives, perceptions and values, creating knowledge oriented toward solutions and transferable to both scientific and societal practice, is fundamental to transdisciplinary research (32–36). IAH practice should also encourage researchers to actively include a process of reflection about the transdisciplinary process itself (25). Allen et al. (37) and Seidl (38) contend that the majority of researchers in the "hard" sciences are unfamiliar with such a reflexive approach and may consider it a challenge to existing power relationships, but it is essential to the progress of the field.

Transdisciplinary research bridges science and practice (39, 40) and fosters the emergence of social learning and collective intelligence via participation. Boulding (41) argues that effective applications of general systems theory (and by extension transdisciplinary research and participatory modeling) catalyzes and coheres a "Republic of Learning" comprised of all affected interests and disciplines.

The extent to which the historical, cultural, environmental, sociological, and economical contexts are integrated depends on the definition of the problem and the formation of an interdisciplinary, cross-sectoral team that will define it. Lerner and Berg (22) argue the definition of boundaries when adopting an integrated approach is an important step. The same can be said regarding the choices in the levels of organization, and the time and space scales, i.e., the characteristic physical dimensions of the phenomenon under consideration (7). Therefore, the set of disciplines, and more generally the set of knowledge, we have to mobilize to deal with a specific IAH problem cannot be entirely defined a priori by a particular integrative framework. Rather it should be negotiated and incrementally agreed. Doing otherwise would freeze the definition of the problem and the set of perspectives to be involved in addressing it, limiting the set of possible responses and decisions. Therefore, the participatory process must be iterative and adaptive, focusing on clear and contextualized objectives. The participatory process enhances colearning, evolves, and should strive to manage any conflict and power strategies (24, 26, 30). As much as possible, we must aim to create "safe forums for articulating and debating issues where facts are uncertain, values in dispute, stakes high and decisions urgent" (41-43).

From these considerations, a practical methodology for IAH should consider the three views of complexity, and should be iterative, adaptive, and participative (6).

SYSTEMS THINKING AS A FOUNDATION

Systems Theory and Modeling

Systems theory has a long history. The word theory is misleading here since it is more a paradigm than a theory one can falsify. Von Bertalanffy (44) in *General system theory* discussed the tendency of wholeness in sciences (holism), the necessity of knowledge integration, open and closed systems, feedback loops and control and regulation, interactions between system components and

¹A "model" is a representation of reality (e.g., diagram, map, mathematics, game).

TABLE 1 Three views of complexity and their implications for IAH implementation – Elaborated from (2)	TABLE 1	Three views of complexit	y and their implications for IAH implementation-	Elaborated from (23
--	---------	--------------------------	--	---------------------

View	Main origins	Main characteristics	Consequences
1	MathematicsPhysicsComputer sciences	 Sensitivity to initial conditions. A complete/full description of system outcomes is not possible (while the rules may be simple). For most systems, their global behavior cannot be directly inferred from the rules governing components and their interactions (holism). 	 A small perturbation/event can have dramatic consequences. Impossibility of predicting with certainty (uncertainty and errors in the predictions). Existence of emergent properties.
2	 Data mining Computer sciences 	 Acknowledges vision 1. Modeling and simulation to integrate heterogeneous expertise and massive data sources is the main strategy to build new knowledge. The prediction of future states is an approximation and is confined within a certain time and space horizon. 	Decision making cannot be perfect.We can narrow down the set of possibilities.
3	SociologyCognitive sciencesBiology	 The subjectivity of individuals and societies is a difficult problem in modeling. Ecosystems (including societies) self-regulate, adapt, evolve. Heterogeneities in perceptions, values, regulations, and social structures. 	Importance of resilience.Participation is required. Adaptive management is required.

emergence (41, 45, 46). At its origin, systems theory is closely related to cybernetics (47, 48). It was J. W. Forrester who initiated the modern vision of the field of system dynamics. Forrester was a pioneer in applying systems engineering and computer simulations to analyze social systems and predict their behavior (49). Since, systems theory has spread and developed in different fields, such as business, management (50, 51) and ecology (52). We invite the reader to search the literature, e.g., Luhmann's 2012 book Introduction to systems theory (53), to grasp the depth of the field and explore its foundational developments. Systems theory provides a common language to deal with reality, necessary for collaborators to understand each other in interdisciplinary research. Von Bertalanffy used mathematics derived from the field of dynamical systems to describe systems and predict their behavior. The field of dynamical systems inherits insights from a long tradition in mathematics and physics in its methods and principles, which still widely support current modeling and simulation in biology, ecology, and epidemiology. Dynamical systems applications provide a fundamental theoretical framework IAH can benefit from, including, for example, perspectives derived from chaos theory or resilience theory (54). Theory of modeling and simulation (55) can be viewed as a foundation for more recent model variants developed in ecology, epidemiology and coupled social and ecological modeling, such as agent- or individualbased models (56-58). This has important implications for IAH development, which can benefit from the conceptual and methodological advances in these mathematical fields. Although modeling has been highlighted recently for its potential to deal with IAH complexity (59, 60), its use in the context of IAH research and intervention remains minimal. We emphasize here that modeling is a process of applying systems theory.

Systems Thinking

The term "systems thinking" has developed as an approach to real-world problem solving through the Operational Research field (41, 61–63). P. M. Senge developed the concept in the field of organizational theory and management. He identified the problems brought by fragmented knowledge and the lack

of holistic learning in organizations (50). Ross and Wade (64) presented systems thinking as a set of skills used to improve the capability of identifying and understanding systems, predicting their behaviors, and planning change to produce desired effects. Systems thinking is a practice based on systems theory. It addresses concrete problems where the complexity of the system constrains understanding and explanation due to preconceptions and the limitations of cognitive processing. **Figure 1** gives a synoptic view of systems thinking.

Ross and Wade (64) summarize the following sequence of tasks when applying systems thinking:

- Identify and understand the system structures considering different scales and levels.
 - Definition of the system boundaries, its closeness or openness, the scales considered in time and space, the organization level (cells, individuals, societies, ecosystems, etc.), the set of components and the connectivity between them.
- Identify and understand the system dynamics at different scales.
 - Description of the flows of matter, energy and information between the components, the synergies and the contextdependent changes in system structure.
- Reliably infer the impact of change to the system.

To these points we add elements of social context when applying systems thinking:

- Incorporate multiple perspectives and worldviews.
- Consider the environmental, cultural, religious, economic, and political contexts.
- Consider power relationships.

While these tasks are often used to describe modeling and simulation activities, they are increasingly used as a framework for complex participatory problem solving. Modeling activities are defined broadly and include a wide range of tools and methodologies (66). These include mind maps, charts, diagrams,



or equations, while simulation ranges from computation using a computer to role playing games involving human actors. These existing tools support practitioners to apply modeling and simulation to implement systems thinking.

The knowledge we have about the context, the structure and the dynamics of a system constrains the decisions we make on its management, and consequently the potential for sustainable health development. When implementing IAH, knowledge is distributed and exchanged between different actors. Therefore, their participation and smooth communication is necessary if we want to integrate the contexts and the different perspectives into the iterative process of identifying problem and solutions (67). Modeling and simulation should therefore be participative and integrated research teams should also include social science expertise in engagement and facilitation for designing, managing and evaluating the participatory process (27, 68).

Participatory Modeling and Co-learning

From the above, we argue that IAH should be iterative, adaptive and participatory to deal with complexity. Participatory modeling demonstrates how these requirements can be met in practice. It mobilizes the implicit and explicit knowledge of different actors to build a shared representation of reality (67, 69–72). Participatory modeling is a transdisciplinary process that facilitates knowledge sharing and the generation of new knowledge to support negotiation and planning. As such, it supports decision-making and adaptive management (73). The

model is not presented as a singular definitive solution or final product but an intermediary pedagogical device used to foster dialogue (74). Numerous participatory modeling methods exist, all derived from the field of collaborative learning which appeared in the late 1960s (75). Co-learning is an approach that promotes multiple forums where diverse participants can work together on concrete problems or to create a product (76, 77). Discussions are not just about technical solutions, but also center on issues of ethics and power (31, 68). When coupled with participatory simulation (scenario analysis), this approach generates collective innovations.

Group Model Building (GMB), initiated in the field of system dynamics in the 1980s (67, 78, 79), was the first participatory modeling methodology studying stakeholder involvement and its effects on model production and decision-making, and fostering ideas into concrete actions. GMB was first applied in the business field, and environmental modelers adopted it in more diverse, cross-sectoral and ill-defined contexts characterizing environmental challenges (75). Methodologies, such as Community-Based System Dynamics modeling (CBSD) developed in 2009 by P. Hovmand (80), and Mediated Modeling (MM) founded in the 2000s by M. van den Belt (81) are closely related to the GMB approach. MM involves a series of workshops proceeding through stages of problem definition, conceptual model of the system (in which scientists may help to quantify flows and gather data), then participants "test" the model through scenarios. A strength within the mediated modeling approach developed by Thompson et al. (27) is that facilitators created a novel operating context for the modelers, using participatory techniques, such as historical and cultural timelines to elicit participant knowledge about changes in the complex system under study. Whereas CBSD focuses on advancing social innovation and capacity building, MM promotes more the creation of a shared understanding. These methodologies are mainly associated with systems thinking and facilitation, but fit very well with the development of system dynamics models.

Spatial group model building (28, 82) incorporates a spatial basis to participatory modeling, which can either be computer-assisted (28), or use manual methods, such as transparent map overlays (82) depending on the nature of the participants and availability of technology in the study context. Maps help participants visualize the context of the complex system, elicit more contextualized information (28), locate components of the complex system, and allow tracing of movements, such as supply chains (82).

Another participatory modeling approach that appeared in the 1990s, the Companion Modeling (ComMod) (72), shares many characteristics with the methodologies cited above. It uses multi-agents systems and role playing games to conduct participatory simulation sessions. ComMod systematically considers power relationships among stakeholders within a social context. It was characterized in a review paper by Seidl as a "genuine participatory approach" [(38), p. 575], ComMod is deeply adaptive; the model evolves as the problems change during the research and implementation period. Even the modeling tools can be different all along the process. Therefore, ComMod qualifies itself more as a research posture than a methodology attached to a particular set of tools.

On the basis of these different methodologies and others, a generic framework of participatory model development has been proposed (83). Binot et al. (59) and Duboz and Binot (84) contend that participatory modeling approaches are ideal to accompany adaptive management as well as to foster engagement and sharing of responsibilities. They should be used to implement IAH. However, Allen et al. (68) remind us that existing participatory initiatives in integrated science are better seen as islands of success, rather than evidence of a new sweeping paradigm.

In proposing participatory modeling as a potential pathway for improved systems approaches that can deal with the complexity of IAH we do not wish to understate the potential shift in ethos and practice required. Participatory modeling itself needs to reside within an overall systems problem-solving framework. This calls for greater appreciation of the social processes of building collective systems knowledge, understanding choices and designing and monitoring interventions for change. This correspondingly calls for a wider remit for social process specialists in IAH initiatives (27) and, we would argue, an acknowledgment of the limitations of modeling approaches without this partnership.

CONCLUSION

In this paper, we highlight systems thinking as a necessary foundation for IAH. We do so by discussing the origins and epistemology of systems thinking, revealing its strong mathematical roots and arguing that modeling informed by both dynamical system theory and social participatory innovations can help ground IAH theoretically and advance the tools necessary to deal with complexity in practice. Mathematical or computational models, for instance, within the first and second views of complexity (see Table 1) help identify and understand global system properties, such as feedback loops, controls, viability, resilience and emergence, elements of complexity that are usually ignored mostly because of the lack of tools to assess them. Combining mathematical models with innovative participatory approaches that encourage co-learning helps ensure that modeling is context-sensitive (i.e., culturally and socially relevant), iterative and adaptive. These approaches also enable a normative focus to ensure issues around ethics, equity, and power are included in the decision-making process. The idea of a negotiated complexity (85) for decision support systems similarly supports more inclusion of social sciences in embracing complexity. We argue that participatory modeling should be a key component of any IAH initiative, as it enables the practical operationalization of an otherwise elusive holistic effort.

To take a consistent and comprehensive approach, funding schemes supporting IAH would follow the same iterative and adaptive principles. It follows that funding agencies need to be included in the design and development of IAH research and adaptive management strategies. Furthermore, and despite the critical role played by participatory innovations that are inherently grounded in social sciences theory and practice, many key social science disciplines remain under-represented in most current IAH. Including social research expertise to manage appropriate participation, social engagement and facilitation is essential to address the ethical dimensions of systems, identify power relations, equity and gender issues, and therefore are keys to adapt the modeling process to the social and cultural context.

Accordingly, we argue that systems thinking and its attributes should be part of veterinary health and public health curricula (it is already well-accepted in ecology, the other dimension in One Health and EcoHealth). To achieve this, theory and methods taught in systems engineering and ecology can be adapted to the particular issues addressed by these domains. This instruction also needs to go further and provide students some expertise and familiarity in working comfortably in inter- and trans-disciplinary teams that also include system thinking specialists that can bring complementary skills in system dynamics modeling and in facilitation and problem structuring.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RD and PE are the main contributors. The manuscript is the result of a workshop where all the authors collectively decided the argument and content. All authors contributed ideas, passages

and edits to the manuscript and actively reviewed and provided comments to the manuscript prior to submission.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the ComAcross project (Companion Approach for cross-sectoral collaboration in health risk management in SEA,

REFERENCES

- Horton R, Beaglehole R, Bonita R, Raeburn J, McKee M, Wall S. From public to planetary health: a manifesto. *Lancet* (2014) 383:847. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60409-8
- Cunningham A, Scoones I, Woodthe J, (eds.). One Health for a changing world: zoonoses, ecosystems and human well-being. *Phil Trans R Soc B*. (2017) 372:20160162. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2016.0162
- Zinsstag J, Schelling E, Waltner-Toews D, Tanner D. From "One Medicine" to "One Health" and systemic approaches to health and well-being. *Prev Vet Med.* (2011) 101:148–56. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2010.07.003
- Rapport D, Böhm G, Buckingham D, Cairns J, Costanza R, Karr JR, et al. Ecosystem health: the concept, the ISEH, and the important tasks ahead. *Ecosyst Health* (1999) 2:82–90. doi: 10.1046/j.1526-0992.1999.09913.x
- Buse CG, Oestreicher JS, Ellis NR, Patrick R, Brisbois B, Jenkins AP, et al. Public health guide to field developments linking ecosystems, environments and health in the anthropocene. *J Epidemiol Commun Health* (2018) 72:420–5. doi: 10.1136/jech-2017-210082
- Richter CH, Steele JA, Nguyen-Viet H, Xu J, Wilcox BA. Toward operational criteria for ecosystem approaches to health. *EcoHealth* (2015) 12:220–6. doi: 10.1007/s10393-015-1028-1
- Gibson C, Ostrom E, Ahn TK. The concept of scale and the human dimensions of global change: a survey. *Ecol Econ.* (2000) 32:217–39. doi: 10.1016/S0921-8009(99)00092-0
- Garcia SM, Zerbi A, Aliaume C, Do Chi T, Lassere G. The Ecosystem Approach to Fisheries. Issues, Terminology, Principles, Institutional Foundations, Implementation and Outlook. FAO Fisheries Technical Paper. No. 443. Rome: FAO (2003). 71 p.
- 9. Allan C, Stankey G. Synthesis of Lessons in Adaptive Environmental Management. Dordrecht: Springer (2009), 341-6.
- Wilcox BA, Colwell RR. Emerging and re-emerging infectious diseases: biocomplexity as an interdisciplinary paradigm. *EcoHealth* (2005) 2:244–57. doi: 10.1007/s10393-005-8961-3
- Waltner-Toews D. Zoonoses, One Health and complexity: wicked problems and constructive conflict. *Phil Trans R Soc B* (2017) 372:20160171. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2016.0171
- Reed MS, Evely AC, Cundill G, Fazey I, Glass J, Laing A, et al. What is social learning? *Ecol Soc.* (2010). doi: 10.5751/ES-03564-1504r01. [Epub ahead of print].
- Pahl-Wostl C, Hare M. Processes of social learning in integrated resources management. J Commun Appl Soc Psychol. (2004) 14:193–206. doi: 10.1002/casp.774
- de Kraker J, Kroeze C, Kirschner P. Computer models as social learning tools in participatory integrated assessment. *Int J Agric Sustain.* (2011) 9:297–309. doi: 10.1080/14735903.2011.582356
- Wilcox BA, Echaubard P. Balancing biomedical and ecological perspectives in research framing of liver fluke and cholangiocarcinoma in NE Thailand. *Parasitol Int.* (2017) 66:372–7. doi: 10.1016/j.parint.2016.10.002
- Wilcox BA, Aguirre AA, Horwitz P. EcoHealth: connecting ecology, health and sustainability. In: Alonso Aguirre A, Ostfeld RS, Daszak P, editors. *Conservation Medicine*. 2nd ed. Oxford: Oxford University Press (2011).
- Destoumieux-Garzón D, Mavingui P, Boetsch G, Boissier J, Darriet F, Duboz P, et al. The One Health concept: 10 years old and a long road ahead. *Front Vet Sci.* (2018) 5:14. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00014
- Dakubo CY. Ecosystem and human health. In: "Evolution Towards an Ecosystem Approach to Public Health." A Critical Approach to Ecohealth Research and Practice. Chapter 2. New York, NY: Springer (2011). 233p.

EuropeAid Innovate program funding, grant number DCI-ASIE/2013/315-047) for the organization of a workshop held in November, 2017, Krabi Province, Thailand, to capitalize on ComAcross' 4 years implementation of an integrated approach to health. All the authors of this article participated in this workshop. The present work is a first synthesis of our collective contributions.

- Jakeman T, Chen S, Newham L, Pollino CA. Modelling and adaptive environmental management. In: *Adaptive Environmental Management*. Dordrecht: Springer (2009). p. 173–87.
- Antonovsky A. The salutogenic model as a theory to guide health promotion. *Health Promot Int.* (1996) 11:11–8. doi: 10.1093/heapro/11.1.11
- 21. Antonovsky A. Unraveling the Mystery of Health: How People Manage Stress and Stay Well. Oxford University Press (1987).
- Lerner H, Berg C. A comparison of three holistic approaches to health: One Health, EcoHealth, and Planetary Health. *Front Vet Sci.* (2017) 4:163. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2017.00163
- Deffuant G, Banos A, Chavalarias D, Bertelle C, Brodu N, Jensen P, et al. Visions de la complexité. Le démon de Laplace dans tous ses états. Natures Sciences Sociétés. EDP Sci. (2015) 23:42–53. doi: 10.1051/nss/2015007
- 24. Beierle TC, Cayford J. *Democracy in Practice: Public Participation in Environmental Decisions.* 1st ed. Washington D.C.: Resources for the Future (2002).
- Hassenforder E, Smajgl S, Ward J. Towards understanding participatory processes: framework, application and results. J Environ Manag. (2015) 157:84–95. doi: 10.1016/j.jenvman.2015.04.012
- Barreteau O, Bots PWG, Daniell KA. A framework for clarifying "participation" in participatory research to prevent its rejection for the wrong reasons. *Ecol Soc.* (2010) 15:1. Available online at: www.ecologyandsociety. org/vol15/iss2/art1/
- Thompson JL, Forster CB, Werner C, Peterson TR. Mediated modelling: using collaborative processes to integrate scientist and stakeholder knowledge about greenhouse emissions in an urban ecosystem. *Soc Nat Resour.* (2010) 23:742–57. doi: 10.1080/08941920802102032
- Rich KR, Rich M, Dizyee K. Participatory systems approaches for urban and peri-urban agriculture planning: the role of system dynamics and spatial group model building. *Agric Syst.* (2018) 160:110–23. doi: 10.1016/j.agsy.2016.09.022
- Brown VA. Collective inquiry and its wicked problems. In: Brown VA, Harris JA, Russell JY, editors. *Tackling Wicked Problems Through the Interdisciplinary Imagination*. London: Earthscan (2010). p. 4–83.
- 30. Ostrom E. Understanding Institutional Diversity. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press (2005).
- Winter G. Elements for a Social Ethic: Scientific Perspectives on Social Process. New York, NY, Macmilan (1966). p7.
- 32. Tress B, Tress G, Fry G. Defining integrative research concepts and process of knowledge production. In: Tress B, Tress G, Fry G, Opdam P, editors. From Landscape Research to Landscape Planning: Aspects of Integration, Education and Application. Heidelberg: Springer (2005). p. 13–26.
- Funtowicz S, Ravetz JR. Science for the post-normal age. *Futures* (1993) 25:739–55. doi: 10.1016/0016-3287(93)90022-L
- 34. Pohl C, Hirsch Hadorn G. Principles for Designing Transdisciplinary Research. Munich: Oekom Verlag (2007).
- 35. Lang DJ, Wiek A, Bergmann M, Stauffacher M, Martens P, Moll P, et al. Transdisciplinary research in sustainability science: practice, principles, and challenges. *Sustain Sci.* (2012) 7:25–43. doi: 10.1007/s11625-011-0149-x
- Max-Neef MA. Foundations of transdisciplinarity. *Ecol Econ.* (2005) 53:5–16. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolecon.2005.01.014
- Allen W, Ogilvie S, Blackie H, Smith D, Sam S, Doherty J, et al. Bridging disciplines, knowledge systems and cultures in pest management. *Environ Manag.* (2014) 53:429–40. doi: 10.1007/s00267-013-0180-z
- Seidl R. A functional-dynamic reflection on participatory processes in modeling projects. *Ambio* (2015) 44:750–65. doi: 10.1007/s13280-015-0670-8

- Cash DW, Clark WC, Alcock F, Dickson NM, Eckley N, Guston DH, et al. Knowledge systems for sustainable development. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2003) 100:8086–91. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1231332100
- Hoffmann S, Pohl C, Hering JG. Methods and procedures of transdisciplinaryknowledge integration: empirical insights from four thematic synthesis processes. *Ecol Soc.* (2017) 22:27. doi: 10.5751/ES-08955-220127
- Boulding K. General systems theory: the skeleton of science. Manag Sci. (1956) 2:197–208. doi: 10.1287/mnsc.2.3.197
- Dewey J. Logic-The Theory of Inquiry. New York, NY: Henry Holt (1938). p. 8–9.
- Funtowicz S, Ravetz J. Uncertainty and Quality in Science for Policy. Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic (1990).
- 44. Bertalanffy LV. General System theory: Foundations, Development, Applications., revised ed. New York, NY: George Braziller (1976).
- Jantsch E. The Self-Organizing Universe: Scientific and Human Implications of the Emerging Paradigm of Evolution. New York, NY: Pergamon Press (1980).
- Jantsch E. Forecasting and the systems approach: a critical survey. *Pol Sci.* (1972) 3:475–98. doi: 10.1007/BF01405349
- Ashby WR. An Introduction to Cybernetics. New York, NY: Chapman & Hall (1956).
- 48. Wiener N. *Cybernetics, Second Edition: or the Control and Communication in the Animal and the Machine.* Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press (1965).
- Forrester JW. Counterintuitive behavior of social systems. In: Issue of the Technology Review. Cambridge, MA: Alumni Association of the Massachusetts Institute of Technology Publishers (1971).
- 50. Senge PM. The Fifth Discipline. New York, NY: Doubleday/Currency (1990).
- 51. Streman JD. Business Dynamics: Systems Thinking and Modeling for a Complex World. Cambridge MA: McGraw Hill (2000).
- 52. Odum HT. Ecological and General Systems: An Introduction to Systems Ecology. Niwot, CO: University Press of Colorado (1994). 644p.
- Luhmann N. Introduction to Systems Theory. Oxford: Peter Gilgen (Translated by). Polity (2012). 300p.
- Deffuant G, Gilbert N. (eds.). Viability and Resilience of Complex Systems: Concepts, Methods and Case Studies from Ecology and Society. Berlin; Heidelberg: Elsevier (2011). 221p.
- Zeigler BP, Kim T, Praehofer H. *Theory of Modeling and Simulation*. 2nd ed. New York, NY: Academic Press (2000). 510p.
- Anderies JM, Janssen MA, Ostrom E. A framework to analyse the robustness of social-ecological systems from an institutional perspective. *Ecol Soc.* (2004) 9:18. Available online at: www.ecologyandsociety.org/vol9/iss1/art18/
- Smajgl A, Nhan DK, Truong TP, Ward J, Trung NH. Adaptation to rising sea-levels in Vietnam's Mekong Delta. *Nat Clim Change* (2015). 5:167–174. doi: 10.1038/NClimate2469
- Roche B, Duboz R. Individual-based model for public health. In: Arni SR, Rao S, Pyne S, Rao CR, editors. *Handbook of Statistics 37. Disease Modelling and Public Haelth, Part B.* Amsterdam: Elsevier (2017). p. 347–365.
- 59. Binot A, Duboz R, Promburom P, Phimpraphai W, Cappelle J, Lajaunie C, et al. A framework to promote collective action within the One Health community of practice: using participatory modelling to enable interdisciplinary, cross-sectoral and multi-level integration. *One Health* (2015) 1:44–8. doi: 10.1016/j.onehlt.2015.09.001
- Scoones I, Jones K, Lo Iacono G, Redding DW, Wilkinson A, Wood JLN. Integrative modelling for One Health: pattern, process and participation. *Phil Trans R Soc B* (2017) 372:20160164. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2016.0164
- Ackoff RL. Redesigning the Future. A Systems Approach to Societal Problems. New York, NY: Wiley (1970). 260p.
- Checkland P. Systems Thinking, Systems Practice. New York, NY: Wiley (1981). 344p.
- Richmond B. Systems dynamics/systems thinking: let's just get on with it. Syst Dyn Rev. (1994) 10:135–57. doi: 10.1002/sdr.4260100204
- Ross DA, Wade JP. A definition of systems thinking: a systems approach. Proc Comput Sci. (2015) 44:669–78. doi: 10.1016/j.procs.2015.03.050
- 65. Singer A, Sillitto H, Bendz J, Chroust G, Hybertson D, Lawson HB, et al. *The Systems Praxis Framework. Proceedings of the IFSR Conversation.* St. Magdalena, Linz, Austria (2012). Available online at: http://www.ifsr.org/ index.php/the-systems-praxis-framework-ifsr-conversations-2012/
- 66. Swanson RC, Cattaneo A, Bradley E, Chunharas S, Atun R, Abbas KM, et al. Rethinking health systems strengthening: key systems thinking tools and strategies for transformational change. *Health Pol Plan.* (2012) 27:54–61. doi: 10.1093/heapol/czs090

- Vennix JAM. Group Model Building. Facilitating Team Learning Using Systems Dynamic. New York, NY: Brisbane; Toronto; Singapore: Wiley (1996). 297p.
- Allen W, Fenemor A, Kilvington M, Harmsworth G, Young R, Deans N, et al. Building collaboration and learning in integrated catchment management: the importance of social process and multiple engagement approaches. *New Zeal J Mar Freshw Res.* (2011) 45:525–39. doi: 10.1080/00288330.2011.592197
- Bousquet F, Barreteau O, Le Page C, Mullon C, Weber J. An environmental modelling approach. In: Blasco F, Weill A, editors. *Advances in Environmental and Ecological Modelling. The Use of Multi-Agents Simulations*. Paris: Elsevier (1999). p. 113–22.
- van Eeten MJG, Loucks DP, Roe E. Bringing actors together around large-scale water systems: participatory modeling and other innovations. *Knowl Tech Pol.* (2002) 14:94–108. doi: 10.1007/s12130-002-1017-x
- Becu N, Bousquet F, Barreteau O, Perez P, Walker A. A methodology for eliciting and modelling stakeholders' representations with agent based modelling. *Lect Notes Artif Intell.* (2003) 2927:131–49. doi: 10.1007/978-3-540-24613-8_10
- Etienne M. (eds.). Companion Modelling. A Participatory Approach to Support Sustainable Development. Dordrecht; Heidelberg; New York, NY; London: QUAE Éditions and Springer Editor (2014). 416p.
- Jacobson C, Hughey K, Allen W, Rixecker S, Carter R. Toward more reflexive use of adaptive management. Soc Nat Resour. (2009) 22:484–95. doi: 10.1080/08941920902762321
- 74. Stirling A. Keep it complex. *Nature* (2010) 468:1029–31. doi: 10.1038/4681029a
- Voinov A, Bousquet F. Modelling with stakeholders. *Environ Model Softw.* (2010) 25:1268–81. doi: 10.1016/j.envsoft.2010.03.007
- Cundill G, Fabricius C. Monitoring in adaptive co-management: toward a learning based approach. J Environ Manag. (2009) 90:3205–11. doi: 10.1016/j.jenvman.2009.05.012
- 77. Reed MS, Evely AC, Cundill G, Fazey I, Glass J, Laing A, et al. What is social learning? *Ecol Soc.* (2010) 15. Available online at: http://www.ecologyandsociety.org/vol15/iss4/resp1/
- Richardson GP, Andersen DF. Teamwork in group model building. Syst Dyn Rev. (1995) 11:113–37. doi: 10.1002/sdr.4260110203
- 79. Richmond B. The strategic forum: aligning objective, strategy, and process. Syst Dyn Rev. (1997) 13:131–48. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1099-1727(199722)13:2<131::AID-SDR121>3.0.CO;2-J
- Hovmand PS. Community Based System Dynamics. New York, NY: Springer New York (2014).
- van den Belt M. Mediated Modeling; A System Dynamics Approach to Environmental Consensus Building. Washington; Covelo; London: Island Press (2004). 363p.
- Mumba C, Skjerve E, Rich M, Rich KM. Application of system dynamics and participatory spatial group modelling in animal health: a case study of East Coast Fever interventions in Lundazi and Monze districts of Zambia. *PLoS ONE* (2017) 12:e0189878. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0189878
- Voinov AA, Kolagani N, McCall MK, Glynn PD, Kragt ME, Ostermann FO, et al. Modelling with stakeholders-next generation. *Environ Model Softw.* (2016) 77:196–220. doi: 10.1016/j.envsoft.2015.11.016
- Duboz R, Binot A. Animal and human health: tackling uncertainty through participatory modelling and simulation. *Perspect Cirad.* (2017) 41:4. doi: 10.18167/agritrop/00043
- Keune H, Springael J, De Keyser W. Negotiated complexity: framing multicriteria decision support in environmental health practice. *Am J Oper Res.* (2013) 3:153–66. doi: 10.4236/ajor.2013.31A015

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Duboz, Echaubard, Promburom, Kilvington, Ross, Allen, Ward, Deffuant, de Garine-Wichatitsky and Binot. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Operationalizing One Health Employing Social-Ecological Systems Theory: Lessons From the Greater Mekong Sub-region

Bruce A. Wilcox^{1*}, A. Alonso Aguirre^{2*}, Nicole De Paula³, Boripat Siriaroonrat⁴ and Pierre Echaubard¹

¹ ASEAN Institute for Health Development, Mahidol University, Nakon Pathom, Thailand, ² Department of Environmental Science and Policy, George Mason University, Fairfax, VA, United States, ³ Global Health Group International, Chiang Rai, Thailand, ⁴ Department of Research and Conservation, Zoological Park Organization of Thailand, Bangkok, Thailand

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Simon Rodrigo Rüegg, University of Zurich, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Christine Paillard, UMR6539 Laboratoire des Sciences de L'environnement Marin (LEMAR), France Anna Sophie Fahrion, Safoso, Switzerland

*Correspondence:

Bruce A. Wilcox wilcox.bru@mahidol.ac.th A. Alonso Aguirre aaguirr3@gmu.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Environmental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

Received: 23 February 2018 Accepted: 26 March 2019 Published: 22 May 2019

Citation:

Wilcox BA, Aguirre AA, De Paula N, Siriaroonrat B and Echaubard P (2019) Operationalizing One Health Employing Social-Ecological Systems Theory: Lessons From the Greater Mekong Sub-region. Front. Public Health 7:85. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2019.00085

The idea of the interdependency of the health of humans, animals, and ecosystems emerged from the interplay of theory and concepts from medicine, public health and ecology among leading thinkers in these fields during the last century. The rationale for One Health and its focus on the "human, animal, and environmental interface" stems from this legacy and points to transdisciplinary, ecological and complex systems approaches as central to One Health practice. Demonstration of One Health's efficacy, its wider adoption and continual improvement require explicit operational criteria and evaluation metrics on this basis. Social-Ecological Systems Theory with its unique conception of resilience (SESR) currently offers the most well-developed framework for understanding these approaches and development of performance standards. This paper describes operational criteria for One Health developed accordingly, including a protocol currently being tested for vector borne disease interventions. Wider adoption of One Health is most likely to occur as One Health practitioners gain an increasing familiarity with ecological and complex systems concepts in practice employing a transdisciplinary process. Two areas in which this inevitably will be required for significant further progress, and where the beginnings of a foundation for building upon exist, include: (1) Emerging and re-emerging zoonotic diseases, and (2) successful implementation of the United Nations (UN) Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). The former includes the challenge of stemming the threat of new microbial pathogens, anti-microbial resistant variants of existing pathogens, as well as resurgence of malaria and other recalcitrant diseases. The applicability of SESR in this regard is illustrated with two case examples from the Greater Mekong Subregion, Avian Influenza (H5N1) and Liver Fluke (Opisthorchis viverrini). Each is shown to represent a science and policy challenge suggestive of an avoidable social-ecological system pathology that similarly has challenged sustainable development. Thus, SESR framing arguably is highly applicable to the SDGs, which, to a large extent, require consideration of human-animal-environmental health linkages. Further elaboration of these One Health operational criteria and metrics could contribute to the achievement of many of the SDGs.

Keywords: adaptive health management, complexity, One Health, sustainable development goals, transdisciplinarity, system thinking, ecology, adaptive cycle

INTRODUCTION

The interdependence of the health of humans, animals, and of ecosystems, along with the biological diversity they represent, is commonly described as the underlying tenet of One Health (1-4). As a research aim, understanding this interdependence is closely aligned with that articulated for sustainability science. Both are argued to require an integrated framework that includes concepts, principles and methods spanning multiple disciplines. This goes beyond the biomedical and ecological sciences to include social sciences and local knowledge (5). More generally, and especially in traditional ecological and health knowledge contexts, the broader concept of "local science" is arguably more appropriate (6).

This implies disciplinary integration, including, in particular, integration of elements of the biomedical and ecological sciences, as well as social sciences. Those typically trained as scientists and/or practitioners in biomedicine, public health or allied fields, including One Health proponents and workers, are not necessarily accustomed to cross-disciplinary integration. Few are simultaneously familiar with concepts and disciplinary jargons spanning human and veterinary medicine, environmental science, and ecology, let alone the social sciences. Yet, One Health, as a transdisciplinary, ecological and systems thinking endeavor (4, 7-9), additionally requires a working understanding of these concepts and associated methods. While notable progress recently has been made in this regard (4, 10-12), realizing One Health's full potential through its wider adoption, demonstration of its efficacy, and continual improvement demands explicit criteria and associated evaluation metrics (9, 13, 14).

Social-Ecological Systems Theory with its unique conception of resilience (SESR) as a complex adaptive system property, provides a framework that currently best meets this need for operationalizing One Health. Originally developed on the basis of studies of ecosystem dynamics, SESR has grown into a robust integrative, transdisciplinary approach that uniquely combines natural and social sciences perspectives. As a central postulate and heuristic tool SESR's adaptive cycle has proven widely applicable for understanding adaptation and sustainability across many types of systems (15). The fact that it is based on principles emerging from studies of ecosystem functioning applied to environmental management, including pest control, and sustainable resources management and development, makes it particularly applicable to One Health's focus on problems at the humananimal-environment interface, especially emerging zoonoses (16, 17).

In this paper, we review the key elements of SESR applicable to One Health and elaborate on recently developed explicit operational criteria including a protocol for One Health projects. We then illustrate with two examples where this has provided new insights into two high profile One Health problem areas related to the now endemic avian influenza (H5N1) and long endemic liver fluke (*Opisthorchis* spp.) transmission in the Greater Mekong Sub-region (GMS). Finally, we consider how these insights and the transdisciplinary frame offered by SESR render these and One Health challenges in general operationally inseparable from the region's sustainable development. These insights suggest how biomedicine, public health and ecology, while often in conflict, actually represent complementary perspectives and synergistic opportunities. Finally, we show how this approach could contribute to the achievement of many of the SDGs.

SOCIAL-ECOLOGICAL SYSTEM AND RESILIENCE THEORY

In a previous paper (18), we traced the history of how the cross-fertilization of ideas associated with ecology, health and sustainability led to the present interest in their linkages. The highlights of this scholarly and practical evolution include the development of SESR. Its application, the core elements of which are the novel conceptions, "resilience" and "adaptive management," emerged from a re-conceptualization of ecosystems (conventionally defined as distinct from human systems) viewed as coupled human-natural systems as described in a series of landmark books (19–23).

"Resilience," as represented in this body of work, is understood as an emergent property of these systems (i.e., managed forests, fisheries, rangelands, and natural ecosystems) (21–26), described as "complex adaptive systems" (CAS) (24, 25). This is distinct from the linear, equilibrium view of all living systems that remains relatively dominant in science. By contrast, CAS are far-from-equilibrium systems that exhibit non-linear dynamics and emergent properties (e.g., disease emergence). They are predictably unpredictable, despite human intentions. Moreover, our intervention programs become part of the system, a factor in its dynamics that further adds to their complexity and potential unpredictability. As human—animal environment CAS are always changing (always have and always will), they are effectively moving targets from a management standpoint (26).

Along with the adaptive cycle as metaphor of these system's dynamics, the complex systems-based conception of resilience arguably provided the linchpin, which explains the science underlying sustainable development (27). This tying together of humans and nature, and subsequently the economics and ecology of biodiversity (28), represented critical break-throughs in our understanding of ecosystems as coupled human-natural systems and their transformations based on a synthesis of social and ecological system change theories (22). The term social-ecological systems subsequently was adopted as this body of theories and concepts serving as an integrative framework (23).

SESR represents a revolution of practical insights about how coupled human-natural systems learn, thus adapt to continuously changing internal and external conditions, based on extensive quantitative and qualitative model development and testing with real world cases (29). This includes models of knowledge-system integration, counting the critical roles of visioning and scenario building, leadership, agents and actors, social networks, and institutional change, all of which underlie adaptive capacity. SESR's applicability to zoonotic disease emergence was first pointed out over a decade ago (16, 17).

A social-ecological system can be envisioned as shown in Figure 1. The more commonly held conception of the humannature relationship, at least previously in the environmental and ecological sciences, is that of humans impacting nature or vice versa, but generally not an ongoing co-adaptive (or maladaptive on the part of society) dynamic. SESR views the ecological and social subsystems as reciprocally linked by numerous interacting components as indicated by the two large arrows. For example, parasites and pathogens are an integral though largely invisible component of social-ecological systems and their dynamics, which nearly everywhere on the planet are undergoing dramatic, human-induced changes. How these alterationsmost visible in terms of landscape change (e.g., deforestation, construction of dams and irrigation infrastructure, and cropland, and pastureland expansion) and less visibly through pesticides and other chemicals-affect parasite and pathogen diversity, abundance, and dynamics has been the subject of extensive research in, for example, the relatively new field of disease ecology (31).

The arrow in Figure 1 pointing from the social sub-system to the ecological sub-system represents this influence of humanrelated activities on natural systems. This arrow also represents the policy and management responses to the unintended "sideeffects" of development, thus completing one feedback cycle. Such interventions typically are top-down and aimed at the control of ecosystem elements (e.g., vectors or parasites). While proving beneficial in the short-term they erode resilience in the long term. As widely documented in environmental and natural resources fields, such control attempts, including of pest populations, often result in a social-ecological system "pathology" (21, 22, 26). This involves a loss of resilience and sustainability with unintended consequences, which can include a return of the problem an agency originally sought to solve. Given its validation on the basis of extensive research and real world application, including continual refinement of understanding how to avoid these pathologies (15), SESR warrants serious consideration as the primary framing system for operationalizing One Health.

THE ONE HEALTH FRAMING PROBLEM AND SESR

It is widely accepted that One Health requires systems thinking (4, 32), and specific One Health issues often are best addressed "on the ground" employing ecosystem approaches (1, 33). As alluded to above, SESR developed as an elaboration of thinking that originated with research on natural ecosystem behavior (34). The idea of adaptive management evolved from initial attempts to apply this thinking in the context of environmental assessment (19) and subsequently to natural resources management problems (20)—spanning issues such as the failed forest and crop pest control efforts and collapse of "scientifically managed" fisheries. Adaptive management became a core principle (and procedural component) of Ecosystem Management now widely adopted by natural resource management agencies worldwide. SESR subsequently emerged from the same school of thought,

though Ecosystem Management can be seen as a special application (35). Thus, Ecosystem Management is SESR applied to areas of publicly and associated privately held lands with mapped legal and associated ecological boundaries (e.g., national parks and protected area complexes, eco-regions, or river basins).

The idea of the human-animal-environment nexus of One Health implies a similarly describable spatial context, whether a geographic or geopolitical region, and/or a place. Ideally, a target or "study" area's boundaries can be at least approximately delineated corresponding to an ecologically functional whole such as a watershed, or river basin. Or, this could be a contiguous habitat area supporting a particular set of ecological processes and interacting species spanning protected area's or state's boundaries (e.g., Serengeti ecosystem).

SESR application may not require a similar focus or depth of analysis of natural resources as typically conducted in Ecosystem Management. Instead, particularly in the context of zoonotic diseases it stresses coupled human-natural system's hierarchical organization (more accurately the embedded structure) and importance of considering cross-scale interactions in planning and management. This should include identification of key social (institutional), as well as relevant natural system components (e.g., vectors and their habitats), ecological interactions, and possible outcomes (e.g., the response of host-pathogen-environment complexes to interventions and vice versa).

While this of course requires the assemblage of appropriate kinds of disciplinary expertise (vector and host reservoir ecology in the above example), in our experience this is not a limiting factor in the uptake by One Health of SESR, and especially its intellectually challenging conception of resilience. Rather, the main difficulty seems to be that transdisciplinary research and integrative, holistic thinking challenge the conventional reductionist thinking and practice to which most of us are accustomed. Biomedical academic training and practice in clinical, laboratory, and even farm settings, tends to engrain a linear, reductionist way of thinking. This even holds for fieldwork including epidemiological studies and trials, which are purposely designed to "control" for real world complexity.

This default frame is often more than adequate, even powerful, including providing elegant mathematical explanations and associated interventions for infectious disease dynamics (e.g., the eradication of small pox and rinderpest and control of numerous infections that had previously plagued humans and livestock). However, the present global emerging zoonotic disease crisis demonstrates the reductionist biomedical frame is inadequate by itself for understanding and managing problems of host-pathogen-environment complexes (16, 36, 37).

THE ADAPTIVE CYCLE AND RESILIENCE

SESR's adaptive cycle metaphor (**Figure 2**) is central to understanding and navigating social-ecological systems as CAS's (24). The adaptive cycle explicates resilience and vice versa, while is also arguably key to understanding notions of health and



sustainability in One Health. Although SESR originated with the study of natural ecosystems, viewing humans as outside agents, it was born from the realization that humans—acting as controllers of the natural system—can be thought of as both part of the system, and the problem (25). Even in the absence of human interference, ecosystems exhibit natural rhythms of change, the amplitude and frequency of which are determined by internal processes (e.g., ecological processes such as interspecific interactions) in response to past events. The discovery that these rhythms alternate periods of increasing organization and stasis with periods of reorganization and renewal was a significant break-through in the field of systems ecology, hence determining ecosystem productivity and resilience across scales (34).

The adaptive cycle (**Figure 2A**) is a metaphorical representation of the temporal and spatial patterning of these rhythms, which originated as a means of describing how conventional environmental management efforts involving ecosystems often fail over the long term (22). The adaptive cycles' four distinct stages are: (i) growth or exploitation *r*, (ii) conservation (*K*), (iii) collapse or release (Ω), and (iv) reorganization (α). It exhibits two major phases (or transitions). The first (fore loop), from *r* to *K*, is the slow, incremental phase of growth and accumulation. The second (the back loop) from Ω to α , is the rapid phase of reorganization leading to the system's renewal, or possibly a "flip" to a new stability domain. This also is referred to as a regime shift, which generally means a tipping point or threshold has been reached following which a social-ecological system "collapses" (38, 39).

These collapses can be triggered by politics, invasions, market shifts, or global climate change external to a system whose resilience at a particular scale has contracted due

to states and dynamics at scales above and below (38). These collapses, described as panarchy (Figure 2C), were first discovered in studies of rangeland management systems. The adaptive cycle metaphor, including regime shift can be applied to relatively abrupt, irreversible agro-ecosystem transitions impacting livelihoods and human well-being (39). The adaptive cycle or the notion of social-ecological system pathologies in reference to landscape transitions has not yet been considered in the One Health literature to our knowledge. However, the applicability to One Health challenges is apparent as we describe here, using as an example the dramatic agroecosystem transformation underway in the Greater Mekong Subregion (GMS). This mainly involves the widespread industrial intensification of agricultural production and food supply chain, with considerable but as yet not systematically investigated emerging zoonotic disease risks (40). This transformation, involving changing land use and land cover, increased chemical inputs including pesticides and anti-microbials, represents attempts to control a range of key variables including increased food and reduced pests and pathogen.

The initial phase of the adaptive cycle is driven by the "quest for increased economic growth." This is the *Exploitation* phase during which the initial successes in each of these elements in terms of increased economic output reinforce the belief in the intensification approaches. Thus, increased investment and improvement (administrative, operational, organizational, technical, etc.), grows. The success breeds confidence and continues even when effectiveness of, for example, pesticides and antimicrobials begins to wane due to emergence of resistant strains.

The *Conservation* phase is illustrated here by the tendency to "double down" on the ongoing approach even as it becomes less



effective, due to the system having become entrenched both in its thinking and mode of operation—reflecting a loss of flexibility, over-connectedness, and resulting fragility.

During the *Release* phase, a crisis stage is reached—i.e., the system clearly becomes unprofitable, as events such as major disease outbreaks, become increasingly costly for the controlling institutions. Prompted by revolutionaries within or outside of them pushing for change, the system enters the creative destruction phase. Assuming the system resilience remains sufficient, that is, sufficient adaptive capacity remains, and the system has not collapsed to a different state, irrevocably, the opportunity to reconfigure may exist. Thus, the system enters the reorganization phase and, hopefully, the result leads to desirable outcome.

A regional agroecosystem consists of many agroecosystem subtypes on the landscape scale, for instance, spanning smallscale traditional and small-holder systems to intensive large scale corporate industrialized systems. It can be envisioned how each has its own adaptive cycle whose dynamics operate on different time and space scales, including smaller, faster cycles being embedded in larger, slower ones (**Figure 2B**). The larger, slower cycles can constrain smaller, faster cycles, which the latter can disrupt and even cause a regime shift in which the socialecological system is fundamentally altered.

As seen in the three-dimensional graph of the adaptive cycle (Figure 2C), resilience represents a third dimension that expands and shrinks through the cycle as slow variables change. It shrinks as the cycle moves toward K, and the system becomes more fragile, and expands abruptly when a cycle shifts into a "back loop" to reorganize for the initiation of a new cycle. "X" represents a regime shift whereby the system "collapses,"

becoming a new system, functionally and structurally. The back loop, Ω phase, is a period in which novelty and experimentation is needed and possible, given a decline in connectedness (e.g., as institutional rigidity or inflexibility diminish) and increase in resilience. It constitutes an opportunity for "revolt," a cross-scale phenomenon precipitated by fast, small variables.

As recently pointed out (15), a resilient system may successfully navigate itself through each of the phases and into new regime that satisfies societal goals. In general, however, successful navigation (an indication of resilience) suggests the capacity to recognize barriers, critical thresholds and principles associated with this front loop that can trap a system—resulting in a pathology. System features, allowing escape from these traps, have been provisionally described (15)—representing adaptive management.

CASE EXAMPLES FROM THE GREATER MEKONG SUBREGION

This paper offers two case studies on One Health efforts employing SESR based on our work in the Greater Mekong Subregion (GMS) (**Figure 3**). The first is related to food production intensification found to represent a substantial range of health threats realized most dramatically with the emergence of the H5N1 strain of highly pathogenic avian influenza (HPAI) (40). An interdisciplinary research effort supported by the US National Science Foundation Coupled-Human Natural Systems Program sought to apply an SESR frame to better understand the causes of HPAI emergence (41).



FIGURE 3 Greater Mekong Subregion and ecozones of the case examples. **(A)** East and Southeast Asia. The Greater Mekong Subregion includes six nations (Cambodia, China, Laos, Myanmar, Thailand, and Vietnam) whose national boundaires overlap the hydrographic boundaries of the Mekong River Basin. **(B)** HPAI ecozones. Red stippled areas indicate the distribution of Highly Pathogen Avian Influenza (H5N1) cases during the 2003-4 emergence/pandemic. These three perennial flood zones of Thailand (Chao Praya River flood plain) and Vietnam (Red River and Mekong Deltas) are centers of concentration of domestic poultry production as well of wild water birds including the primary natural host reservoirs for avian influenza viruses, dabbling ducks. Chickens and domesticated duck production, trade networks, and wet markets grew explosively beginning in the 1980's in response to increased export market demand. This represented a social-ecological system transformation and ultimately a regime shift from once the first H5N1 virus variant invaded Vietnam's Red River Delta from the Pearl River Basin or elsewhere in China. The Red River Delta may have provide the key stepping stone to southern Vietnam's Mekong Delta and Thailand's Chao Prya River Basin. Following these first epidemic waves outbreaks were brought under control in the Chao Prya, but not in Vietnam where HPAI outbreaks continue to occur. **(C)** Liver fluke-Liver Cancer ecozones. *Opisthorchis viverrini* infection in humans is wide-spread throughout its geographic distribution. Yet its epidemiological characteristics in the Korat Plateau are distinct, reflecting its unique culture and environment. The Plateau historically had been sparsely populated (by human's and likely the liver fluke as well) but grew exponentially since WWII while dams and irrigation systems transformed the Plateau's social-ecology including expanding favorable aquatic habitat for *Bythnia* snails, *O. viverrini*'s first intermediate host. The Plateau's population (~ 25 million people today) of p

The principal findings of this effort (42) are summarized as follows. The initial outbreak in Hong Kong, when H5N1 was first isolated, was optimistical but mistakenly thought to have been successfully eliminated by massive poultry culling in 1998 (43). However, experts and government authorities either ignored or otherwise were oblivious to the change (large, slow variable in SESR parlance) taking place regionally. This consisted of growth of industrial scale poultry operations in Guangdong, China, and particularly the transformation of the poultry production landscape taking place in geographically adjacent Vietnam. This included dramatic changes in breed composition and flock size, and the expansion of this intensification across Vietnam (linking the north with the south of the country), as well as into Cambodia, Laos, and Thailand via the Mekong corridor in the south (**Figure 3B**).

These changes were pushed by global forces, driven by the economic opportunity presented by the growing export market.

This historically unprecedented production intensification was not accompanied by similarly intensified biosecurity measures. The operations in China, which included breeding facilities with up to a million birds, constituted a crucible of genetic innovation (a small, fast variable). Among the untold new microbial variants generated, H5N1 variants sporadically and unpredictably spilled south over the China-Vietnam border via local trade networks and migrating ducks (another small, fast variable).

This might have been of limited consequence, as it was geographically speaking with the Hong Kong outbreak, where this agro-ecosystem's insularity helped prevent H5N1's escape to the south and ultimately globally. But it was the ongoing transformation, which is retrospectively even observable via satellite and on the ground (41, 42). This represented "an accident waiting to happen," which did as evidenced by the explosive epidemic waves of 2003-4 initiated in Vietnam with H5N1 spreading to 60 countries. This fits the classic case of "surprise" in SESR jargon defined as a cognitive disagreement with expectations based on the responsible social institution's failure to recognize signs indicating the system's increasing fragility (22).

HPAI is now endemic throughout the Mekong Region (as well as in parts of insular Southeast Asia and Egypt), as part of a new social-ecological regime. This new regime effectively represents a regional agro-ecosystem distinct from that previously, structurally and functionally, including a number of less desirable social, economic, political, environmental, conservation and public health features. This includes most prominently a far less diversified poultry production sector now dominated by large agribusinesses, increased dependence on agrichemicals, drugs, and vaccines. In addition, outbreaks threatening wildlife including in protected areas have been recurring (Dr. Paisin Lekchareon, personal comm). Transboundary movements involving product supply chains for multi-country operations may play an important role in AI virus transmission ecology along with human movement.

The emergence of HPAI (H1N1) demonstrates SESR's value applied as a retrospective method of analysis in the elucidation of the previously unexplained details of its pandemic emergence. It also offers numerous insights related to the HPAI and newly emerging avian influenza strains in the GMS as a One Health problem area that is intertwined with the multitude of issues related to the intersection of environment, conservation, development, and public health—thus, inevitably sustainable development. It remains to be seen whether the integrative perspective and problem-solving approach SESR offers will be considered by regional and/or national bodies in the GMS.

Our second case example has prompted actions among GMS countries toward implementing changes in interventions based on SESR. In this case, we (BW and PE) were recruited to assist with applying an ecosystem approach to the problem of Liver Fluke (*Opisthorchis viverrini*) infection as a putative cause of the relatively high incidence of liver cancer (cholangiocarcinoma) in Northeastern Thailand, "Isaan" encompassing the Korat Plateau of the Lower Mekong basin (**Figure 3C**). This work included designing and conducting research aimed at filling gaps in understanding environmental and ecological aspects of the parasite's transmission. More generally this resulted in broadening the understanding of the social and ecological dimensions of liver fluke transmission and its role in disease (44, 45).

In addition to resulting in a rethinking of the Ov-CCA problem (46–50), this effort drew attention to a deficiency in the larger program with which this research was affiliated: the absence of explicit criteria and procedures for applying "ecosystem approach to health" (51). Among the outcomes prompted by this is the recognition of complex systems thinking including transdisciplinary methods required by the ecosystem approach (52).

Despite a diversity of perspectives on the Ov-CCA problem held by stakeholders with very different perceptions, values, objectives and even social standing (e.g., university professors, public health practitioners, social anthropologists, government representatives and villagers)—a biomedical research frame (consistent with the biomedical model) as the basis of the design of public health interventions had been accepted by default to the exclusion of any others. This included that held by "risk groups" themselves, mainly villagers and farmers, who do not perceive eating fermented fish as a particularly high-risk behavior. Rather, they view it not only as normal behavior, but as an integral part of their daily life. The beliefs and practices related to preparing, sharing and eating fermented fish dishes, along with rice cultivation and consumption are inseparable from their cultural identity, their local natural capital, and social capital as evidenced by fish dish sharing networks in villages (49). An exclusively biomedical model-driven research and intervention agenda prevailed for decades despite evidence of its limited capacity to effect a decrease in infection prevalence or CCA incidence. Added to this is this agenda's potential dangers with regard to other health and well-being dimensions that are inadvertently affected by targeted liver fluke-CCA interventions (45, 47).

In fact, evidence from existing data or studies, as well as that from new results from the recently added social and ecological components, suggests villagers perceptions, or the "lay model," is apparently no less valid than the biomedical model. At least four different models of Ov and health connection are recognizable (47), none of which, including the biomedical model, are completely wrong, but just incomplete. In the final analysis it can be seen how the Ov-CAA problem is a "moving target" and the targeted attempt to control, top down, a social-ecological variable, prevalence of infection through consumption of traditional fish dishes, represents a "disease control pathology" in the classical SESR sense (16). The Isaan-Lao cultural and natural ecology (livelihoods, environmental exposures, and human and land health profiles, i.e., socialecological system) of the Korat Plateau effectively have been undergoing a regime shift. The multitude of interacting factors likely responsible for the region's relatively high CCA incidence as recently demonstrated (46), almost certainly also have been shifting as well. The appreciation of this offered by SESR has stimulated the beginning of a "revolt" akin to the panarchy (Figure 2B).

TRANSDISCIPLINARY PROCESS FOR BUILDING ADAPTIVE CAPACITY

Perhaps the most important lesson learned from these case examples is how defaulting on one perspective, or model, resulted in an only partial understanding of the problem—thus only partial or temporary solutions. This invokes transdisciplinarity in which a ongoing process of "problem orientation"—that is, sharing of different understandings, reflecting and even negotiating around a definition of "the problem"—is requisite from the very beginning. As illustrated in **Figure 4A**, this drives, at least initially, integration, and ultimately adaptation, although as a transdisciplinary process develops each feeds back on the others. **Figure 4B** decomposes this simplified description of these three interrelated processes into a suggested stepwise protocol, based on an analysis of criteria along a continuum of increasing



FIGURE 4 | Transdisciplinary process for building adaptive capacity. (A) Transdisciplinarity can be envisioned as a process involving three mutually reinforcing, and overlapping activities: problem orientation, integration and adaptation (as defined in the text). (B) This process can be further broken down into a sequence of specific actions representing a protocol against progress including conformance to One Health as a transdisciplinary, ecosystem approach could be measured, when combined with the criteria described in Table 1 [adapted from Richter et al. (53)].

Resilience	Weakest	Weak	Intermediate	Strong	Strongest
Transdisciplinarity	Integration	Composition	Differentiation	Collaboration	Value creation
Community participation	Representation	Involvement	Partnership	Empowerment	Autonomy
System thinking	Scoping	System description	Problem analysis	Mitigation	Adaptiveness

Resilience at multi-stakeholder group level is expected to be strongest when common values and understandings, as well as aims, are emerging from iterative negotiations. Adding onto that, when community stakeholders are intended beneficiaries, community members need to be co-designers at the onset of a research and development project while being provided with the tools and forums for inclusion and expression. A strengthening element leading to innovation and adaptive capacity is system thinking and the capacity to identify relevant entities and influences accoss scales. Adapted from (53).

comprehensiveness (from weak to strong transdisciplinarity, (54) and increasing resilience as further described in **Table 1**.

The transdisciplinary system's purpose is the cooperative generation of knowledge to solve, mitigate, or prevent a complex societal problem—such as involving diseases and environmental degradation—as distinct from academically defined problems solvable though conventional disciplinary research. In "real life," academics and social actors often disagree on problem's causes, consequences, and problem-solving strategies. Transdisciplinarity involves grasping complexity, accounting for the diversity of perceptions, linking abstract and case-specific knowledge, and development of knowledge and practices for the common good. The manner and the extent to which different parts of "a whole" interact need to be agreed upon and reevaluated throughout as a means of encompassing the problem. In this regard, it is useful to designate a phase devoted to the task of drawing on systems thinking (4). Typically, this involves identifying (literally drawing a schemata, mental maps, or actual geographic maps) the system's boundaries and the social and ecological components and their interconnections.

The adaptive cycle metaphor not only describes socialecological system pathologies and how they lead to management failures, but also successes, employing adaptive management, described by cyclic phases consisting of learning, describing, predicting, and doing [Figure 2; (55)]. These tasks are a prerequisite for a program of adaptive management that includes consideration of intervention options accounting for feasibility, development of a system of metrics for monitoring interventions' impacts, reconsideration and redesign of interventions, evaluation, and so on, as a cycle (Figure 4B).

As has been cogently explained by its originators (21), adaptive management is an inductive approach, relying on comparative studies, ecological theories and observations, and the design of planned interventions in nature with an understanding of how, in turn, humans are likely to respond. Its aim is to identify uncertainties, test hypotheses about them, thereby employing interventions (management) as a tool to change the system. In the process, it is learned how to match the human and natural dynamics across scales, thus insure greater resilience: That is, the "enhanced capacity to deal with change and surprise, including avoiding shifts to undesirable stability domains, while providing flexibility and opportunity in a rapidly changing and human dominated planet" (22).

Finally, a major challenge for One Health, only briefly touched on above, but also apparent from SESR, is the role of the political economy, as well as systems ecology. One Health approaches arguably should include consideration, if not investigation, of the links between "macro-structural" affecting local agro-ecosystem/agro-economic contexts circumstances. For example, this includes those ultimately responsible for the evolution and emergence of highly pathogenic avian influenza H5N1 (56), which became and remains an ongoing human-domestic animal-wildlife problem globally. This is consistent with ecosystem thinking and SESR in particular, which points to the importance of considering social-ecological systems' hierarchical organization and associated cross-scale institutional, as well as ecological dynamics involved in zoonotic disease emergence (57). Ultimately "adaptive health governance," involving coordination among disciplinary, sectorial and public domains, is required (58).

ONE HEALTH: INFORMING THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE UN SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS

The lessons from the past several decades since the idea of sustainable development was introduced together with more recent science-based global policy frameworks, such as the Millennium Development Goals (MDG), suggest the need for a more in-depth understanding of humannature systems, as offered by SESR. Shortcomings of the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, a key component underlying the MDG strategy, reflected a failure to account for how both ecosystems and health systems are complex adaptive systems (18, 59). One Health's transdisciplinary, ecosystem approach imperative, along with SESR's operational relevance to sustainable development, presents a current and unique opportunity for bridging science-policy gaps. This would allow an improved synergy between practitioners, and environmental-health policies.

The health-sustainable development linkage has a strained policy history. Health was addressed only very obliquely by the World Commission on Environment and Development (WCED) in the lead up to the historic 1992 UN Earth Summit in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. In the historic and widely read report titled "Our Common Future," also known as the Brundtland Report, WCED codified and was the first to explicitly define sustainable development. This framed the 1992 Rio Earth Summit and its key outcomes, international treaties on climate, biodiversity and desertification, as well as nonbinding Agenda 21, which was dominated by environmental and conservation perspectives of health. For example, the "control of communicable diseases" was mentioned without further elaboration (60). The World Health Organization (WHO), the UN's chief health agency, was largely left out of the policy formulations.

In the years following, WHO's administrators, being keenly aware of having played "back seat" role at best, developed a number of programs aimed at remedying this by focusing on environmental health. Yet, many countries did not officially affirm the linkages between public health and the health of the environment (60). This changed somewhat at the 2002 Summit on Sustainable Development and more recently with the UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), although major gaps remained. This slow progress in recognizing the synergies between health and the environment continues to be a reflection of the epistemological gaps separating the health sciences from the fields of environmental science, economics, and international development.

The SDGs, seen as a response to the limitations of the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs), are an opportunity to further integrate health, environment and development. Several UN agencies have noted the need and opportunity the promulgation of SDGs offers to One Health, from the standpoint of the synergistic possibilities among sectors. Although only three of the SDGs explicitly mention health, most (if not all 17) indirectly can be linked to the "principles" supporting the One Health approach and having a direct or indirect impact on the main cornerstones of sustainable development as they relate to zoonotic and vector-borne diseases and extend to salutary factors (Table 2). The authors point out the SGDs' requirement of an integrated response is similar to what recent programs addressing neglected tropical diseases (NTDs) have defined (61). The vast majority of NTDs are zoonoses. Thus, their assessment is applicable to the One Health tenets.

TABLE 2 | United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SGDs) from a One Health Perspective as they relate to zoonotic and vectorborne diseases.

SDG	Brief description	Application to one health example
1	End poverty in all its forms everywhere	Addressing challenges at the interface of human, animal and ecosystem health are inextricably and reciprocally linked to poverty. Zoonotic infections exacerbate poverty and vice versa.
2	End hunger, achieve food security, improve nutrition and promote sustainable agriculture	Chronic parasitic infections often exacerbate caloric and nutritional deficits in people and animals, not only affecting the productivity of infected farmers but livestock production as well.
3	Ensure healthy lives and promote well-being for all	One health interventions are particularly relevant in terms of reaching people with limited access to health systems in rural areas, as well as other development-related goals addressed by Agenda 2030.
4	Ensure inclusive and equitable quality education and promote lifelong learning opportunities for all	Zoonotic diseases can stigmatize affected students, reduce attendance and school performance. Also, school based health education programs including targeting control of specific diseases (e.g., arbovirus vector community-based control) can be highly effective.
5	Achieve gender equality and empower all women and girls	Women are disproportionately affected by poverty, illiteracy, lack of education, land ownership and political voice, and access to health care. They also have greater exposure to a number of diseases through their domestic and other work roles.
6	Ensure access to water and sanitation for all	Water, sanitation, and hygiene activities associated with prevention and control of zoonoses require integration with a range of cross-sectoral activities aimed at interrupting transmission cycles of many zoonotic and vector borne diseases.
7	Ensure access to affordable, reliable, sustainable and modern energy for all	Construction of hydroelectric dams often alter local ecological conditions favoring vectors, while vector control and organic waste management as a sanitary measure via biogas systems for example align with sustainable energy development.
8	Promote inclusive and sustainable economic growth, employment and decent work for all	Zoonotic infections represent a large burden to health care systems and negatively impact economic productivity, which can be significantly mitigated by zoonotic disease prevention and control.
9	Build resilient infrastructure, promote sustainable industrialization, and foster innovation	Interventions targeting neglected populations require development of transport and storage infrastructure as well as clinics for the provision of health services including distribution of donated medicines.
10	Reduce inequality within and among countries	Interventions targeting the most disadvantaged and marginalized populations whose disease prevalence typically is highest will contribute to reducing socio-economic disparity.
11	Make cities inclusive, safe, resilient, and sustainable	Mosquito and other disease vectors adapted to urban habitats continue to proliferate with urbanization. Integrated, community based vector control interventions will make cities more livable and resilient.
12	Ensure sustainable consumption and production patterns	Waste management aimed at sustainable use, reuse, and recycling simultaneously can address control of nuisance or disease vector mosquitos and other threats including from pesticide exposures.
13	Take urgent action to combat climate change and its impacts	Though currently largely unpredictable, changes in temperature, rainfall and relative humidity associated with global environmental change affect the dynamics and spread of disease vector populations. One Health oriented research on these linkages will contribute to reducing these potential risks.
14	Conserve and sustainably use the oceans, seas and marine resources	Coastal populations throughout tropical developing regions, where Aedes mosquitoes are ubiquitous, are thus even vulnerable to the negative socioeconomic consequences of marine resource degradation, as impoverishment reduces prospects for vector control and avoiding more severe disease outcomes upon infection of high zoonotic disease prevalence. Thus improved sustainable management of marine ecosystems will positively impact zoonotic disease control.
15	Sustainably manage forests, combat desertification, halt and reverse land degradation, halt biodiversity loss	Zoonotic disease emergence is known to be facilitated by deforestation, the disturbance and degradation of natural and semi-natural habitats, and in particular biodiversity loss. This includes that of natural ecosystems as well as agroecosystems (agrobiodiversity) including plants and animals cultivated and domesticated by farmers over millennia.
16	Promote just, peaceful and inclusive societies	Zoonotic disease epidemics frequently are associated with political and armed conflict. Interventions aimed at affected civilian populations at times and places can be a tool to promote peace.
17	Revitalize the global partnership for sustainable development	Integration of all the above requires new as well as the strengthening of existing partnerships among a wide breadth of interests spanning private and public organizations and agencies in the spirit of transdisciplinarity.

CONCLUSIONS

In order to operationalize One Health, there is a need for: a "proof of concept" incorporating environmental and ecosystem factors (13); integration and systems thinking (4, 12); standardized evaluation metrics (14); and a framework incorporating the broad social, as well as biological aspects.

Unprecedented human impacts and transformation of Earth's ecosystems have become the most pressing global threat to human health and well-being. Knowledge integration and working collaboration among scientists on the one hand and among multiple sectors, NGOs, local communities, and policy makers on the other is imperative. Thus, rethinking how we approach health in relation to our environment, drawing on a One Health approach understood as a transdisciplinary and ecosystem-based endeavor, particularly in light of new insights offered by SESR, is timely.

REFERENCES

- 1. Zinsstag J. Convergence of ecohealth and one health. *EcoHealth*. (2012) 9:371-3. doi: 10.1007/s10393-013-0812-z
- Degeling C, Johnson J, Kerridge I, Wilson A, Ward M, Stewart C, et al. Implementing a one health approach to emerging infectious disease: reflections on the socio-political, ethical and legal dimensions. *BMC Public Health*. (2015) 15:1307. doi: 10.1186/s12889-015-2617-1
- Murtaugh MP, Steer CJ, Sreevatsan S, Patterson N, Kennedy S, Sriramarao P. The science behind One Health: at the interface of humans, animals, and the environment. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (2017) 1395:12–32. doi: 10.1111/nyas. 13355
- Rüegg SR, Nielsen LR, Buttigieg SC, Santa M, Aragrande M, Canali M, et al. A systems approach to evaluate one health initiatives. *Front Vet Sci.* (2018) 5:23. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00023
- Cunningham AA, Daszak P, Wood JLN. One health, emerging infectious diseases and wildlife: two decades of progress? *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci.* (2017) 372:20160167. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2016.0167
- Sillitoe P. Local Science Vs. Global Science: Approaches to Indigenous Knowledge in International Development. New York, NY: Berghahn Books (2007).
- Zinsstag J, Schelling E, Waltner-Toews D, Whittaker M, Tanner M. One Health: the Theory and Practice of Integrated Health Approaches. Wallingford: CABI (2015). Available online at: http://www.cabi.org/cabebooks/ebook/ 20153067399
- Manlove KR, Walker JG, Craft ME, Huyvaert KP, Joseph MB, Miller RS, et al. "One Health" or three? publication silos among the one health disciplines. *PLOS Biol.* (2016) 14:e1002448. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio. 1002448
- Lebov J, Grieger K, Womack D, Zaccaro D, Whitehead N, Kowalcyk B, et al. A framework for one health research. *One Health*. (2017) 3:44–50. doi: 10.1016/j.onehlt.2017.03.004
- Rüegg SR, McMahon BJ, Häsler B, Esposito R, Nielsen LR, Ifejika Speranza C, et al. A blueprint to evaluate one health. *Front Public Health.* (2017) 5:20. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2017.00020
- Boriani E, Esposito R, Frazzoli C, Fantke P, Hald T, Rüegg SR. Framework to define structure and boundaries of complex health intervention systems: the ALERT project. *Front Public Health*. (2017) 5:182. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2017.00182
- Valeix SF. One health integration: a proposed framework for a study on veterinarians and zoonotic disease management in ghana. *Front Vet Sci.* (2018) 5:85. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00085
- 13. Rabinowitz PM, Kock R, Kachani M, Kunkel R, Thomas J, Gilbert J, et al. Toward proof of concept of a one health approach to disease

The United Nations 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, signed in 2015, is perhaps the most significant effort yet undertaken to address the above threat. The nations of our planet and their leaders have universally agreed to this new and more comprehensive development road map. This requires integration of markedly different perspectives, perceptions, values and normative conventions representative of the fields spanning the 17 goals. It is certain that all 17 SDGs can only effectively be implemented if public policies reflect a truly integrated global policy agenda. This can only be achieved through an understanding of health as seen through a transdisciplinary, ecosystem-oriented lens.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

BW and PE developed the rationale and the overall orientation of the ideas. AAA, BW, ND, BS, and PE wrote the manuscript. All the authors read and approved the final manuscript.

prediction and control. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (2013) 19:doi: 10.3201/eid1912. 130265

- Baum SE, Machalaba C, Daszak P, Salerno RH, Karesh WB. Evaluating one health: are we demonstrating effectiveness? *One Health*. (2017) 3:5–10. doi: 10.1016/j.onehlt.2016.10.004
- Fath B, Dean C, Katzmair H. Navigating the adaptive cycle: an approach to managing the resilience of social systems. *Ecol Soc.* (2015) 20:24. doi: 10.5751/ES-07467-200224
- Wilcox BA, Colwell RR. Emerging and reemerging infectious diseases: biocomplexity as an interdisciplinary paradigm. *EcoHealth*. (2005) 2:244–57. doi: 10.1007/s10393-005-8961-3
- Wilcox BA, Gubler DJ. Disease ecology and the global emergence of zoonotic pathogens. *Environ Health Prev Med.* (2005) 10:263–72. doi: 10.1007/BF02897701
- Wilcox B, Aguirre AA, Horwitz P. Ecohealth: connecting ecology, health and sustainability. In: Aguirre AA, Ostfield RS, Daszak P, editors. *New Directions in Conservation Medicine: Applied Cases of Ecological Health*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press (2012). p. 17–32.
- Holling CS. Adaptive Environmental Assessment and Management. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons (1978).
- 20. Walters C. Adaptive Management of Renewable Resources. New York, NY: Macmillan (1986).
- Gunderson LH, Holling CS, Light SS. Barriers and Bridges to the Renewal of Regional Ecosystems. New York, NY: Columbia University Press (1995).
- 22. Gunderson LH, Holling CS. Panarchy: Understanding Transformations in Human and Natural Systems. Washington, DC: Island Press (2002).
- Berkes F, Colding J, Folke C. Navigating Social-Ecological Systems: Building Resilience for Complexity and Change. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (2003).
- 24. Levin SA. Ecosystems and the biosphere as complex adaptive systems. *Ecosystems*. (1998) 1:431-436.
- 25. Levin S. Fragile Dominion: Complexity and the Commons. First Paperback Prin edition. Cambridge: MA: Basic Books (2000).
- Holling CS, Meffe GK. Command and control and the pathology of natural resource management. *Conserv Biol.* (1996) 10:328–37. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1739.1996.10020328.x
- Holling CS. The resilience of terrestrial ecosystems; local surprise and global change In: Roederer JG and Malone TF, editors. Sustainable Development of the Biosphere (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press), 292–317.
- Perrings C. Biodiversity Loss: Economic and Ecological Issues. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (1995).
- Folke C. Resilience: the emergence of a perspective for socialecological systems analyses. *Glob Environ Change*. (2006) 16:253–67. doi: 10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2006.04.002
- Chapin III FS, Eviner VT, Talbot LM, Wilcox BA, Magness DR, Brewer C, et al. Disease effects on landscape and regional systems: a resilience framework. In: Infectious Disease Ecology: Effects of Ecosystems on Diseases and of Disease on Ecosystems. Prnceton, NJ: Princeton University Press. p. 284–303.
- Ostfeld RS, Keesing F. Effects of host diversity on infectious disease. Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst. (2012) 43:157–82. doi: 10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-102710-145022
- 32. Duboz R, Echaubard P, Promburom P, Kilvington M, Ross H, Allen W, et al. Systems thinking in practice: participatory modeling as a foundation for integrated approaches to health. *Front Vet Sci.* (2018) 5:303. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00303
- Roger F, Caron A, Morand S, Pedrono M, de Garine-Wichatitsky M, Chevalier V, et al. One health and ecohealth: the same wine in different bottles? *Infect Ecol Epidemiol.* (2016) 6: 30978. doi: 10.3402/iee.v6.30978
- Holling CS. Resilience and stability of ecological systems. Annu Rev Ecol Syst. (1973) 4:1–23. doi: 10.1146/annurev.es.04.110173.000245
- Richter CH, Xu J, Wilcox BA. Opportunities and challenges of the ecosystem approach. *Futures*. (2015) 67:40–51. doi: 10.1016/j.futures.2014.12.002
- Lederberg J. Infectious history. Science. (2000) 288:287–93. doi: 10.1126/science.288.5464.287
- Waltner-Toews D. An ecosystem approach to health and its applications to tropical and emerging diseases. *Cad Saude Publica*. (2001) 17 (Suppl 7–22). doi: 10.1590/S0102-311X2001000700002
- Walker B, Holling CS, Carpenter SR, Kinzig A. Resilience, adaptability and transformability in social–ecological systems. *Ecol Soc.* (2004) 9:5. doi: 10.5751/ES-00650-090205
- Kull CA, Kueffer C, Richardson DM, Vaz AS, Vicente JR, Honrado JP. Using the "regime shift" concept in addressing social–ecological change. *Geogr Res.* (2018) 56:26–41. doi: 10.1111/1745-5871.12267
- Richter CH, Custer B, Steele JA, Wilcox BA, Xu J. Intensified food production and correlated risks to human health in the Greater Mekong Subregion: a systematic review. *Environ Health.* (2015) 14:43. doi: 10.1186/s12940-015-0033-8
- Finucane ML, Fox J, Saksena S, Spencer JH. A conceptual framework for analyzing social-ecological models of emerging infectious diseases. In: Manfredo M, Vaske J, Rechkemmer A, Duke E, editors. *Understanding Society* and Natural Resources (Springer: Dordrecht). p. 93–109.
- Saksena S, Fox J, Epprecht M, Tran CC, Nong DH, Spencer JH, et al. Evidence for the convergence model: the emergence of highly pathogenic avian influenza (H5N1) in Viet Nam. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:e0138138. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0138138
- Smolinski MS, Hamburg MA, Lederberg J. Microbial Threats to Health: Emergence, Detection, and . Institute of Medicine, editor. Washington, DC: National Academies Press (2003).
- 44. Sripa B, Tangkawattana S, Laha T, Kaewkes S, Mallory FF, Smith JF, et al. Toward integrated opisthorchiasis control in northeast Thailand: The Lawa project. Acta Trop. (2015) 141:361–7. doi: 10.1016/j.actatropica.2014.07.017
- 45. Sripa B, Echaubard P. Prospects and challenges towards sustainable liver fluke control. *Trends Parasitol.* (2017) 33:799–812. doi: 10.1016/j.pt.2017.06.002
- Echaubard P, Sripa B, Mallory FF, Wilcox BA. The role of evolutionary biology in research and control of liver flukes in Southeast Asia. *Infect Genet Evol.* (2016) 43:381–97. doi: 10.1016/j.meegid.2016.05.019
- Wilcox BA, Echaubard P. Balancing biomedical and ecological perspectives in research framing of liver fluke and cholangiocarcinoma in NE Thailand. *Parasitol Int.* (2017) 66:372–7. doi: 10.1016/j.parint.2016.10.002
- 48. Kim CS, Smith JF, Suwannatrai A, Echaubard P, Wilcox B, Kaewkes S, et al. Role of socio-cultural and economic factors in cyprinid fish distribution networks and consumption in Lawa Lake region, Northeast Thailand: Novel

perspectives on Opisthorchis viverrini transmission dynamics. *Acta Trop.* (2017) 170:85–94. doi: 10.1016/j.actatropica.2017.02.010

- 49. Saenna P, Hurst C, Echaubard P, Wilcox BA, Sripa B. Fish sharing as a risk factor for opisthorchis viverrini infection: evidence from two villages in north-eastern Thailand. *Infect Dis Poverty.* (2017) 6:66. doi: 10.1186/s40249-017-0281-7
- Steele JA, Richter CH, Echaubard P, Saenna P, Stout V, Sithithaworn P, et al. Thinking beyond Opisthorchis viverrini for risk of cholangiocarcinoma in the lower Mekong region: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Infect Dis Poverty*. (2018) 7:44. doi: 10.1186/s40249-018-0434-3
- Nguyen-Viet H, Doria S, Tung DX, Mallee H, Wilcox BA, Grace D. Ecohealth research in Southeast Asia: past, present and the way forward. *Infect Dis Poverty*. (2015) 4:5. doi: 10.1186/2049-9957-4-5
- Ziegler AD, Echaubard P, Lee YT, Chuah CJ, Wilcox BA, Grundy-Warr C, et al. Untangling the Complexity of Liver Fluke Infection and Cholangiocarcinoma in NE Thailand Through Transdisciplinary Learning. *EcoHealth*. (2016) 13:316–27. doi: 10.1007/s10393-015-1087-3
- Richter CH, Steele JA, Nguyen-Viet H, Xu J, Wilcox BA. Toward Operational Criteria for Ecosystem Approaches to Health. *EcoHealth*. (2015) 12:220–226. doi: 10.1007/s10393-015-1028-1
- Max-Neef MA. Foundations of transdisciplinarity. *Ecol Econ.* (2005) 53:5–16. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolecon.2005.01.014
- Allan C, Stankey GH. Adaptive Environmental Management: A Practitioner's Guide. Netherlands: Springer (2009). Available online at: www.springer.com/ gp/book/9789048127108 (accessed September 12, 2018)
- Wallace RG, Bergmann L, Kock R, Gilbert M, Hogerwerf L, Wallace R, et al. The dawn of Structural One Health: a new science tracking disease emergence along circuits of capital. Soc Sci Med. (2015) 129:68–77. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.09.047
- 57. Horwitz P, Wilcox BA. Parasites, ecosystems and sustainability: an ecological and complex systems perspective. *Int J Parasitol.* (2005) 35:725–32. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpara.2005.03.002
- Hill PS. Understanding global health governance as a complex adaptive system. *Glob Public Health*. (2011) 6:593–605. doi: 10.1080/17441691003762108
- Norgaard RB. Ecosystem services: From eye-opening metaphor to complexity blinder. *Ecol Econ.* (2010) 69:1219–27. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolecon.2009. 11.009
- IOM (Institue of Medicine) I of. Public Health Linkages with Sustainability: Workshop Summary. (2013). Available online at: https://www.nap.edu/ catalog/18375/public-health-linkages-with-sustainability-workshopsummary (accessed January 23, 2018).
- Bangert M, Molyneux DH, Lindsay SW, Fitzpatrick C, Engels D. The cross-cutting contribution of the end of neglected tropical diseases to the sustainable development goals. *Infect Dis Poverty*. (2017) 6:73. doi: 10.1186/s40249-017-0288-0

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Wilcox, Aguirre, De Paula, Siriaroonrat and Echaubard. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The One Health Concept: 10 Years Old and a Long Road Ahead

Delphine Destoumieux-Garzón^{1*†}, Patrick Mavingui^{2,3*†}, Gilles Boetsch^{4,5}, Jérôme Boissier⁶, Frédéric Darriet⁷, Priscilla Duboz^{4,5}, Clémentine Fritsch⁸, Patrick Giraudoux^{8,9}, Frédérique Le Roux¹⁰, Serge Morand^{11,12}, Christine Paillard¹³, Dominique Pontier^{14,15}, Cédric Sueur¹⁶ and Yann Voituron^{17*}

¹ CNRS, Interactions Hôtes-Pathogènes-Environnements (IHPE), UMR5244, Université de Perpianan Via Domitia. Université de Montpellier, Ifremer, Montpellier, France, 2 Université de La Reunion, UMR PIMIT (Processus Infectieux en Milieu Insulaire Tropical), INSERM 1187, CNRS 9192, IRD 249, Sainte-Clotilde, La Réunion, France, ³ UMR Ecologie Microbienne, CNRS, INRA, VetAgro Sup, Claude Bernard University Lyon 1, Université de Lyon, Villeurbanne, France, ⁴UMI 3189 "Environnement, Santé, Sociétés", Faculty of Medicine, Cheikh Anta Diop University, Dakar-Fann, Senegal, ⁵ Téssékéré International Human-Environment Observatory Labex DRIIM, CNRS and Cheikh Anta Diop University, Dakar, Senegal, ⁶Université de Perpignan Via Domitia, Interactions Hôtes-Pathogènes-Environnements (IHPE), UMR5244, CNRS, Ifremer, Université de Montpellier, Perpignan, France, 7 Institut de Recherche pour le Développement, Maladies Infectieuses et Vecteurs, Ecologie, Génétique, Evolution et Contrôle (MIVEGEC), IRD, CNRS, Université de Montpellier, Montpellier, France, ⁸Laboratoire Chrono-Environnement, UMR 6249 CNRS/Université Bourgogne Franche-Comté Usc, INRA, Besançon, France, º Institut Universitaire de France, Paris, France, ¹⁰ Ifremer, Unité Physiologie Fonctionnelle des Organismes Marins, Plouzané, France, ¹¹ Institut des Sciences de l'Évolution (ISEM), UMR 5554, CNRS, Université de Montpellier, CIRAD, IRD, EPHE, Montpellier, France, ¹²UPR ASTRE, CIRAD, Montpellier, France, ¹³Laboratoire des Sciences de l'Environnement Marin (LEMAR), Institut Universitaire Européen de la Mer, Université de Bretagne Occidentale, UMR 6539, CNRS, UBO, IRD, Ifremer, Plouzané, France, ¹⁴Laboratoire de Biométrie et Biologie Evolutive UMR5558, CNRS, Université de Lyon, Université Claude Bernard Lyon 1, Villeurbanne, France, ¹⁵LabEx Ecofect, Eco-Evolutionary Dynamics of Infectious Diseases, University of Lyon, Lyon, France, ¹⁶Université de Strasbourg, CNRS, IPHC, UMR 7178, Strasbourg, France, ¹⁷Laboratoire d'Ecologie des Hydrosystèmes Naturels et Anthropisés, UMR 5023, CNRS, Université Claude Bernard Lyon1, Université de Lyon, Villeurbanne, France

Over the past decade, a significant increase in the circulation of infectious agents was observed. With the spread and emergence of epizootics, zoonoses, and epidemics, the risks of pandemics became more and more critical. Human and animal health has also been threatened by antimicrobial resistance, environmental pollution, and the development of multifactorial and chronic diseases. This highlighted the increasing globalization of health risks and the importance of the human-animal-ecosystem interface in the evolution and emergence of pathogens. A better knowledge of causes and consequences of certain human activities, lifestyles, and behaviors in ecosystems is crucial for a rigorous interpretation of disease dynamics and to drive public policies. As a global good, health security must be understood on a global scale and from a global and crosscutting perspective, integrating human health, animal health, plant health, ecosystems health, and biodiversity. In this study, we discuss how crucial it is to consider ecological, evolutionary, and environmental sciences in understanding the emergence and re-emergence of infectious diseases and in facing the challenges of antimicrobial resistance. We also discuss the application of the "One Health" concept to non-communicable chronic diseases linked to exposure to multiple stresses, including toxic stress, and new lifestyles. Finally, we draw up a list of barriers that need removing and the ambitions that we must nurture for the effective application of the "One Health" concept. We conclude that the success of this One Health concept now requires breaking down the interdisciplinary

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Sandra C. Buttigieg, University of Malta, Malta

Reviewed by:

Monique Sarah Léchenne, Swiss Tropical and Public Health Institute, Switzerland Barry McMahon, University College Dublin, Ireland

*Correspondence:

Delphine Destoumieux-Garzón ddestoum@ifremer.fr; Patrick Mavingui patrick.mavingui@cnrs.fr; Yann Voituron vann.voituron@univ-Ivon1.fr

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Veterinary Epidemiology and Economics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 26 August 2017 Accepted: 22 January 2018 Published: 12 February 2018

Citation:

Destoumieux-Garzón D, Mavingui P, Boetsch G, Boissier J, Darriet F, Duboz P, Fritsch C, Giraudoux P, Le Roux F, Morand S, Paillard C, Pontier D, Sueur C and Voituron Y (2018) The One Health Concept: 10 Years Old and a Long Road Ahead. Front. Vet. Sci. 5:14. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00014

37

barriers that still separate human and veterinary medicine from ecological, evolutionary, and environmental sciences. The development of integrative approaches should be promoted by linking the study of factors underlying stress responses to their consequences on ecosystem functioning and evolution. This knowledge is required for the development of novel control strategies inspired by environmental mechanisms leading to desired equilibrium and dynamics in healthy ecosystems and must provide in the near future a framework for more integrated operational initiatives.

Keywords: One health, EcoHealth, infectious disease, non-communicable disease, multifactorial disease, ecotoxicology, interdisciplinary research, public health

INTRODUCTION

Human population increase, industrialization, and geopolitical problems accelerate global changes causing significant damage to biodiversity, extensive deterioration of ecosystems, and considerable migratory movement of both mankind and species in general. These rapid environmental changes are linked to the emergence and re-emergence of infectious and non-infectious diseases (**Figure 1**). Over recent years, certain zoonoses, such as bird flu or the Ebola and Zika viral epidemics, have illustrated this fact to the whole world demonstrating the interdependence of human health, animal health, and ecosystem health. Coming from the "One Medicine" concept (1) that advocates a combination of human medicine and veterinary medicine in response to zoonoses (2), the "One World - One Health" concept¹ was created in 2004. The novelty was the incorporation of the ecosystem health, including that of wild fauna. The "One Health"

1www.oneworldonehealth.org.



initiative² therefore constitutes a global strategy highlighting the need for an approach that is holistic and transdisciplinary and incorporates multisector expertise in dealing with the health of mankind, animals, and ecosystems (3) (**Figure 2**).

When one considers the multiple factors at play and the complexity of public health issues, it is clear that the "One Health" holistic approach (4) cannot be disassociated from the notion of ecological health (EcoHealth). The underlying premise is that the health and well-being of the human population will be more and more difficult to maintain on a polluted planet suffering from social or political instability and ever-diminishing resources. Supporting that view, the European ministers responsible for health and the environment as well as the World Health Organization (WHO) regional director for Europe met on June 15, 2017 in Ostrava, Czech Republic for the sixth ministerial conference on Environment and Health. They recognized that "environmental factors that could be avoided and/or eliminated cause 1.4 million deaths per year" in the WHO European Region. They declared that "public authority shares the common responsibility for safeguarding the global environment and for promoting and protecting human health for all environmental hazards across generation and in all policies." Paving the way for ambitious integrative initiatives in the One Heath framework, researchers in "Ecohealth" and its practitioners implement systemic and integrated practices to promote sustainable ecosystemic services linked to the concept of health (human, animal, and ecosystem) and to social stability. Thus, the One Health concept provides a way of looking at complex systems and approaching processes leading to undesirable effects such as disease emergence, etc. It thus encourages and promotes the interdependence, coexistence, and evolution of living beings and their environment, which is itself in a state of constant transformation (5).

However, after just over 10 years in existence, the "One Health" concept, which predicted the integration of the interface with ecosystems in the "One Medicine" concept, has not quite completed its transformation (6). The documents and publications on the "One Health" approach, and the strategic framework developed around it, have largely focused on the battle against emerging zoonoses originating in domestic (7) or wildlife (8) and/or their interactions (9), without really considering the role of inclusive ecosystems (10). Thus, a quick review of scientific investigations claiming to adhere to the "One Health" concept clearly reveals

 $^{^{2}}www.one health initiative.com.\\$



that they only mention the environment and its biotic and abiotic components as the scene of transmission, often reduced to global planetary changes or the Anthropocene. Very few studies deal effectively with the ecology of transmission and the ecology of health meaning developing an ecological and progressive epidemiology linked to components of biodiversity, ranging from physiological stresses on populations to changes in habitat, or linked to ecosystem processes (11, 12, 13).

One of the major challenges in the successful integration of the environment alongside human and animal health in the "One Health" triptych is the capability to define the state of health of our ecosystems. Ecology researchers face a growing demand from administrators for detailed, relevant information on the health and desired equilibrium or dynamics of multifunction ecosystems to guide decision-making on sustainable development, species conservation, and human, animal, and plant health (14). This calls for the definition of shared indicators for ecosystem health (biodiversity, ecosystem services, desired "equilibrium", and "evolutions" on relevant space–time scales, etc.).

When the "One Health" concept was conceived, initial collaboration between human medicine and veterinary medicine resulted in an inevitable research bias toward zoonotic diseases (15), temporarily ignoring the important question of chronic non-infectious diseases, which are the leading cause of global human mortality. Nowadays, the "One Health" concept hopes to extend to other fields, such as antimicrobial resistance, ecotoxicology, or health in urban environments.

In this review article, we discuss the need of incorporating ecological, evolutionary, and environmental sciences into One Health approaches for an innovative and effective control of both infectious and multifactorial non-communicable diseases. We next provide examples in which the integration of the ecosystemic component of the One Health concept enabled deciphering the processes underlying disease emergence and re-emergence. Finally, we discuss operational brakes that still limit the application of the concept, its ambitions, and future challenges.

INFECTIOUS DISEASES

Ecosystem Dynamics and Imbalances

The emergence and re-emergence of infectious diseases are closely linked to the biology and ecology of infectious agents, their hosts, and their vectors (16). Therefore, a comprehensive understanding of ecosystem dynamics that informs on the processes leading to the occurrence or the recurrence of infectious agents, and their dissemination and extinction in natural habitats, is essential in assessing the risk of infection. The genomes of parasitic organisms, in the widest sense of the term (virus, prokaryotes, and eukaryotes), evolve in their natural environment through mutation, recombination, horizontal transfer, and hybridization. These "genetic entities" respond differently to selective environmental filters, and some genotypes are selected. These genotypes may express new phenotypes and colonize new hosts. They can also cause damage to the hosts they colonize, thereby becoming pathogens. Above and beyond the need for a comprehensive understanding of the life cycles of pathogens, transmission pathways, and transgression of species barriers, further research is required to (i) explore pathogen dynamics in natural habitats and (ii) develop models of infection close to natural systems. Developments that have been achieved for certain models, such as pathogenic vibrios in mollusks (17, 18) or pathogenic Leptospira in many vertebrates (19, 20), open up the possibility of a better understanding of pathogen dynamics in microbiota, interacting with a host species or a community of hosts.

Understanding ecosystem dynamics allows us to assess the degree to which the alterations caused by anthropogenic

forcing lead to the development of large-scale infectious events. Historically, the domestication of animals has indirectly mediated the transfer of infectious agents between wildlife and humans (7). The majority of emerging infectious diseases considered to be significant in terms of public health also have a zoonotic origin (21), and almost three-quarters originate in wild animals (22). The study of ecological factors affecting the transmission of infectious agents in wildlife is therefore essential in understanding the mechanisms involved in transgression of species barrier (also referred to as host-switching, host-jumping, or host-shifting) and emergence in human populations. For example, the density and diversity of hosts, migration, environmental persistence, and interaction within communities of infectious agents have been identified as determining factors in the emergence of direct and vector-borne transmission agents (23, 24). Assessing the risk of the emergence of zoonoses in human populations therefore requires the analysis of interaction networks between infectious agents, their hosts, and the environment in which they evolve [for an instance of transmission of malaria between macaques and humans, see Huffman et al. (25)].

Habitat destruction and fragmentation, environmental pollution, and climate change have a confirmed catalyst effect on the occurrence and geographic distribution of infectious agents (26, 27, 28). Recent examples of epizootics, particularly destructive epidemics or zoonoses (bird flu, coronavirus, Ebola, chikungunya, dengue, and Zika) indicate that this spread was in many cases assisted by global changes. Thus, by altering the repartition of pathogens, their vectors and their reservoirs, global warming is responsible for the appearance of new diseases at northern latitudes that have previously never been affected (29-31). Particularly, noteworthy examples are the cases of schistosomiasis (32) and chikungunya emergence (33) in the European continent. The recent Ebola epidemic in Western Africa recalls that epidemics are not only limited to the circulation of viruses or knowledge of contamination principles but also strongly influenced by history, political contexts, economic inequalities, and cultural phenomena (34, 35).

In the same vein, the globalization of trade and exchange and the industrialization of agriculture, aquaculture, and agribusiness have occurred in a very short period of time when viewed on an evolutionary scale (36, 37). These trends are responsible for increased movement of humans, plants, and animals with their accompanying infectious agents, who have been able to colonize new territories. Industrialization, which has fostered intensive breeding and farming practices, has also generated stress in organisms, which in turn has created an environment that is conducive to the spread of infectious agents.

The industrialization of agriculture and farming is also responsible for the widespread and often abusive use of pesticides, fertilizers, and antibiotics, which have selected on the one hand resistance to insecticides in mosquitoes that transmit pathogens (etiological agents of malaria, arboviruses, filarioses, etc.) (38–40) and on the other hand resistance to antibiotics in bacteria (41). The selection of antibiotic-resistant strains has occurred in the same way, through abusive and poorly considered use of antibiotics in human health care. This issue now represents one of the most serious threats to global health, food security, and development for the WHO. Antimicrobial resistance is a global health crisis with multiple dimensions. Using a "One Health" approach connecting medicine with some of the well-established key concepts in eco-evolutionary dynamics is urgently needed for developing novel approaches to bacterial infection therapy for which resistance is less quick to evolve (42). Beyond research, the examples of resistance to antimicrobials and pesticides are indicative of the need to develop a policy framework that is common to public health, agriculture, and farming (43).

Resilience, Restoration, and Eco-Inspired Control

The concept of resilience emerged in the ecological literature in 1960s and 1970s to describe the response of ecosystems to disturbances (44). In socioecology, resilience is defined as the capacity of a socio-ecosystem to absorb disturbance and to maintain particular properties such as function, structure, identity, and feedback (45). Resilience should be viewed in a dynamic way, as it allows an ecosystem to shift between different steady states, each of them possessing different sets of processes allowing functions to be maintained. On one hand, it has been advocated that an integrated One Health approach addressing the potential health effects at the human/animal/environment interface will enhance the resilience of local communities (46) through better disease prevention (47). On the other hand, the concept of resilience plaids for system-based thinking and holistic approaches, which for the "One Health" concept means to take into account the importance of diversity (from genes to species), redundancy, and adaptability of the socio-ecosystem to better face, for example, health sanitary crises.

Thus, the spread of infectious agents can be controlled by biological diversity, with predation, competition, and hostsymbiont interactions, all playing a role in holobiont fitness and their dynamics, i.e., hosts and their associated microbiota. However, processes by which biodiversity can dilute or amplify disease transmission are still poorly known and are both scaleand context-dependent (48). "Demoresilience" associated with progresses in prevention and simple hygiene has not eliminated old scourges, such as plague, tuberculosis, etc., which are still infecting people and communities, but has led to a continuous decrease in epidemics, this far before vaccines and antibiotics were made available (49).

Nature can help provide viable solutions that use and deploy the properties of natural ecosystems and the services they provide. Thus, eco-inspired innovative strategies have been developed to control infectious diseases. Phages are natural predators of bacteria, controlling bacterial behavior and dynamics in the environment (50). Similarly, antimicrobial peptides, effectors of innate immunity in metazoans, and competition in prokaryotes can also influence pathogen dynamics (51, 52), vector-borne transmission (53), and may allow alternative routes of transmission in the natural environment (54). These natural control mechanisms are real sources of inspiration for the development of new anti-infectious strategies. New methods of fighting vector-borne transmission based on microbial symbiosis represent an area of research that is being promoted and encouraged on a global level by the WHO [Bourtzis et al. (55)³]. Likewise, just as the specter of the postantibiotic era appears before us (56), research into alternative anti-infectives has become an international priority, once again backed by the WHO, who recommends a global action plan based on "One Health" principles (57).

We now need to evaluate the capacity of these alternatives to induce resistance and define its molecular basis in order to assess the risk. Indeed, the challenge over future years will be to identify new anti-infectious strategies likely to generate less resistance and having reduced impact on non-target organisms and the environment (58). Studies in this particular field are already underway and indicate a definite advantage to using phage cocktails (59) or antimicrobial peptides from metazoans (60) as an alternative to antibiotics. There are also promising leads opening up with the development of immunomodulatory peptides derived from antimicrobial peptides (61), whose risk of inducing resistance is extremely low.

If research is called upon to find innovative and ambitious solutions to control infectious diseases, then society, for its part, must not forget that for many extremely destructive infectious diseases, hygiene and prevention are far more effective control solutions than the use of anti-infectives or vaccines, if they exist. This also applies to various vector-borne diseases, for which education and information are the key to avoiding exposure to vectors and the pathogens they transmit.

MULTIFACTORIAL AND NON-COMMUNICABLE CHRONIC DISEASES

Toxic Risk

Complexity and Ambitions of Ecotoxicology

The toxic risk is implicated on many levels in the issues surrounding the "One Health" concept because of direct harmful effects of contaminants and their impact on the physiology, immune, and endocrine responses of organisms, biodiversity, and the transmission of pathogens. Contaminants and toxins can also impact host–pathogen interactions, by directly affecting the pathogens (62). However, toxins and pollutions are to a certain extent part of nature, and toxicity does not mean the same for all organisms. For example, Lake Natron (Kenya) is an unhospitable place for most species, but some have adapted to this environment (like flamingos, *Spirulina*, and invertebrates adapted to caustic waters they live on). As a consequence, the occurrence of toxicants *per se* might not be problem, and there is certainly a lot to learn from the adaptive mechanisms evolved by species living in such "toxic" environments.

Environmental pollution is *a worldwide concern*. The toxic risk is particularly high in environments where the human population is very dense, such as coastal areas, where species are subjected to multiple toxins and pollutants including natural toxins (e.g., paralytic shellfish poisoning toxins synthesized by certain harmful microalgae), emerging pollutants (e.g., microand nanoplastics) and diffuse pollution linked to multiple anthropogenic releases (63, 64). However, even remote areas without high anthropogenic activities such as polar areas are also contaminated, with a long list of legacy or emerging organic and inorganic compounds involved (65). The recent and global nature of environmental pollution is even reflected by marked differences in Holocene signatures in stratigraphic records showing unprecedented combinations of various anthropogenic substances (66). Wildlife and domestic animals are currently exposed to numerous contaminants at levels endangering their survival and health, their ability to reproduce and capability to cope with other stressors such as pathogens, and this represents a threat on biodiversity and ecosystem functioning which is now acknowledged (67–71).

The widescale development of multifactorial diseases affecting both invertebrates (bees, corals, and oysters) (72-75) and vertebrates (amphibians, cetaceans, and chiropterans) (76-79) is increasingly recognized thanks to the development of tools in genomic medicine and epidemiology that facilitate their study. As a consequence, diseases of complex etiologies are receiving increasing attention. Multifactorial diseases often emerge in organisms whose defense capacities have been reduced by changes in nutrition, temperature, salinity, pH, exposure to pollutants, toxins, radiations, etc. Through cumulative and long-term effects, toxins have significant impact on morbidity caused by both pathogens and other toxic substances (cocktails). Toxicants increase the risk of infectious diseases when the immune system is directly or indirectly affected (67, 71, 80-83). Immunotoxic effects do not only have a direct effect on human health and the viability of human and animal populations, but also affect the broader functioning of ecosystems and promote the transmission of zoonotic diseases by increasing the prevalence of pathogens in animal reservoirs or intermediary hosts. Therefore, the major threat posed by pollutants to biodiversity has currently undetermined consequences on biotic interactions (Figure 3). As a result of changes in species abundance and food web topology (extinction of "regulatory" predators, role of "super-predator," consumptive competition, effects on keystone species, biological invasion, increase in resistant disease reservoir species, density effects dependent on emergence of epizootics or zoonotic diseases, etc.), pollution further significantly increases the risk of disease.

The occurrence of some chronic non-communicable diseases is currently soaring in southern countries, highlighting the globalization of sanitary risks (84). Part of it is due to significant advances in combating infectious diseases, which have greatly reduced mortality and as a consequence modified the occurrence of non-infectious diseases. However, environmental changes, and particularly exposure to toxic substances, were shown to play an important role in the occurrence of serious chronic noninfectious diseases in humans (respiratory, cardiovascular, neurological, and metabolic diseases, obesity, diabetes, and cancer), the prevention of which is a major challenge for our society, both for the present and the future generations. Transgenerational effects of environmental stress (85) transmitted by epigenetic mechanisms (86) have been described in various species. There is no reason to think that humans should be exception to this rule, and indeed a comparable picture emerges for wildlife from

³http://www.eliminatedengue.com/program.



many case reports worldwide (70). This indicates the importance of the man-animal-ecosystem interface in determining the evolution and emergence of chronic diseases in humans, just as in other species. For this reason, human and veterinary medicine is often developing a reductionist and frequently reductive approach that needs reviewing in the context of the current situation. Prevention and control, which are increasingly accessible, have a great potential for tackling such complex disease dynamics.

Building a Harmonized Framework for Biological and Chemical Contaminants

Over the past two decades, a few articles called for a transdisciplinary harmonization of ecotoxicology as a component of "Ecosystem Health" and the encompassing "One Health" (81). Evidence, examples, and opportunities for cooperation have been detailed (26, 27, 81, 87–89). However, studies incorporating chemical contaminants and environmental quality in a "One Health" framework are still marginal (87). Addressing simultaneously the needs of "Ecosystem Health" and "One Health" with their inherent trade-offs is a required step forward that would undoubtedly help achieving the goal of better health for people, animals, and our environment.

Beyond integration of environmental pollution as one of the anthropogenic disturbances impairing environmental health, consideration of toxicants for their role in immunity and endocrine system would benefit from a unified framework merging the theoretical and applied contexts of eco-epidemiology, ecophysiology, and ecotoxicology (90). Pathogenic organisms and chemical pollutants have their own specificities. However, many common ecological, physiological, and biological processes rule the transmission of biological and chemical contaminants on the one hand and the exposure and responses of organisms and ecosystems on the other hand. System studies on both pathogens and toxicants not only require specialists but also joint expertise to assess impacts, manage risk, and apply therapeutic care. For instance, similar tools in mathematical modeling can be shared for trophically transmitted parasites and pollutants. This calls for more cooperation between human and veterinary medicine, functional and evolutionary ecology, institutional health-care and wildlife management, as well as socioeconomics and regulatory issues.

Furthermore, interactions between pathogenic organisms and chemical toxicants have a high interest in itself. Thus, evaluating the impacts of massive use of biocides and xenobiotics has become a priority to anticipate the consequences of such delivery on the whole ecosystem. Integrating ecotoxicological issues of biocidal substances in "One Health" should help refining the chemical control of pathogen vectors (e.g., mosquitoes) or parasites (antihelminthic, acaricide, etc.). As a first step, the development of "adaptive monitoring" approaches dealing with co-exposure to pollutants and pathogens is absolutely crucial (91–93). The challenge is to assess exposure and organism response on both an individual level and at the population level through relevant and appropriate approaches for both wildlife and human (91, 92). A further challenge consists in defining spatial and temporal scales, types of sample, biomarkers, and end points (92, 94).

Toward Integrated Multiscale Approaches

The ecotoxicological impact of diffuse pollution, phycotoxins, and contaminants of emerging concern, as well as their modulation by environmental factors, needs assessing today using an integrated approach that encompasses the different scales of organization of living beings (macroscopic, cellular, biochemical, and molecular) and includes studies in both controlled environments and *in situ*. The study of population response to multiple stress factors and the genetic and epigenetic bases of their capacity to adapt to these stress factors are currently priority fields of research in order to anticipate future sanitary crises that may influence the fate of species.

Urbanization and Health

Urbanization, associated with ground and air pollution, and its role in lifestyle changes (energy-dense diets with ready-made foods that are rich in lipids, reduced physical activity, more sedentary lifestyles, etc.) represents a major environmental change for man. Since 2010, towns and cities have been the living environment of more than half of humanity (95). Our increasingly urban lifestyle leads to exposure to multiple stress factors (exposome), the health impact of which we do not yet fully understand, especially among the more fragile members of society.

The way in which people are connected and our towns constructed has an enormous impact on health, and particularly its evolution with age. A person's social network will influence both his propensity to being infected by directly transmissible pathogens (without an intermediary host) (96) and to being affected by non-infectious diseases such as obesity (97) or blood cholesterol. However, we do not yet know exactly how urbanization, mobility, or social network nurture or hinder good health. This will require significant research. New portable detectors such as GPS or accelerometers make it possible to record extensive and precise data pertaining to people's mobility and activity (98). The combination of this type of approach with social network measurements opens up new ways of measuring and understanding epidemics and health inequalities (96, 99). The development of statistical methods, graph theory, and multiagent simulation would make it possible to (i) identify which urban environment or social network properties influence well-being and activity and (ii) provide concrete recommendations to improve urbanization plans and public health strategies.

The notion of ecological, epidemiological, sanitary, and demographic transition seems to be a particularly federative idea in the "One Health" approach, because it allows for both the implementation of concrete interdisciplinary research (ecologists, doctors, anthropologists, biologists, demographers, etc. can work together on the changes observed) and because it is also very closely associated with the environmental change represented by urbanization, making it possible to address the subject of the etiology and prevention of chronic non-communicable diseases and infectious disease in a new and innovative manner.

ONE HEALTH CONCEPT SUCCESSES IN THE INTEGRATION OF ITS ECOSYSTEMIC COMPONENT

Some key examples illustrate the degree to which the adoption of a "One Health" approach is both consensual and particularly effective in deciphering the processes underlying the emergence and re-emergence of diseases.

Optimizing Land Use to Control Pathogen Transmission

In 1960s, the European agriculture common policy encouraged French farmers to specialize in milk production. Farmlands from the Jura Mountains were then converted into permanent grasslands. With the destruction of hedges and increased productivity, this shifted the regional ecosystems toward large-scale small mammal pest surges with a cascade of direct and indirect consequences in agriculture, conservation, and public health, including exacerbating the transmission of Echinococcus multilocularis, a deadly parasite of public health concern (100). In China, similar effects came from deforestation and agriculture encroachments during 1980s (101). In such a context, research and disease regulation were necessarily considered together with the other issues. Researchers provided knowledge on ecological processes that helped stakeholders to discuss and select, in a system approach, the inherent trades off between seemingly divergent sectoral interests (102).

Deciphering the Emergence of Infectious Diseases through Holistic and Multiple Scale Approaches

In 2013 and 2015, two independent outbreaks of Schistosomiasis occurred in southern Europe (Corsica Island, France) with around 300 estimated cases (103, 104). The occurrence of this tropical disease in higher latitude was unanticipated and caught scientists and health authorities unprepared. At the beginning of the outbreak the locals were worried, the communication was not controlled, the local physicians were not trained to diagnose this tropical disease, and the ecologists were unprepared to consider this parasite in temperate zone. Moreover, the hybrid status of the parasite, a cross between a human and an animal schistosome, made the epidemiological situation much more complex. A collaborative effort between physicians, veterinaries, biologists, ecologists, and public health institutions was set up to identify the origin of the outbreak and control it (32). The biologists identified the intermediate host implicated, defined the hybrid status of the parasite and its Senegalese origin; veterinarians proved the absence of ruminant reservoir hosts; and physicians and health authorities improved diagnostic tools, addressed the clinical characteristic of the patients, and measured the extent of the outbreak.

Modeling Diseases in Social Networks

As the growing worldwide population becomes more mobile and urbanized the risk of epidemics is constantly increasing. Studying animal interactions and the coevolution between emerging social networks and pathogen transmission may help to predict outbreaks and develop strategies avoiding epidemics and epizootics. Network studies, especially in non-human primates, suggest not only that the position of an individual in a group affects the risk of being infected and infecting conspecifics (105) but also that the shape of interaction networks independently from individuals affects pathogen transmission (106). Over the past few years, concepts such as efficiency, resilience, and nestedness (107, 108) have been used to understand the evolution of ecological and social networks facing to environmental changes. Modeling epidemic spread in social networks should help target animals as well as humans according to their social position in the network in order to vaccine them and better manage outcome of epidemic outbreaks. Integrating ecological pressures and intra- and interspecific relationships in these models could also bring new understanding about how these networks are robust to changes and could act as buffers between the environment and animals, including humans.

Those examples illustrate how the application of the "One Health" approach to infectious risk needs to be systematically reinforced with ecobiology expertise. Similarly, the toxic risk needs to be enriched with ecotoxicology expertise. Further understanding of the risk presupposes asking a certain number of questions which may be presented in the same way for both risks (see **Table 1**). This knowledge of ecosystem processes must generate the signposts to guide the sustained exchange effort required from ecologists, epidemiologists, evolutionists, and human and animal health-care specialists with other activity sectors.

OPERATIONAL BRAKES ON THE "ONE HEALTH" CHALLENGE AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Major barriers to the effective integration of "One Health" need to be removed (i) for the systematic implementation of a "One Health" strategy and (ii) for the development of operational solutions that both respect environmental health and its future and are realistic in the face of the urgency of medical care for patients.

A major barrier to the development of "One Health" approaches is very clearly the lack of communication between human and veterinary medicine, agronomy and ecological, environmental, and evolutionary science. Removing this major impediment implies the integration of sufficient understanding of other disciplines, multidisciplinary approaches, and the aims and conditions of their implementation. This can be formulated at different levels.

From a *training* point of view, it is essential to include ecology and evolution in any medical, veterinary, and agronomic training (109, 110). Although relatively recent, a number of these training courses are currently being developed around evolutionary medicine. This initiative should be supported and strengthened in the future.

From a research point of view, improved scientific cooperation requires the development of collaborative national and international research networks (including within Europe). The integration of southern countries, with their diverse intertropical ecosystems and biodiversity hot spots, is absolutely vital as they represent genuine natural laboratories for the implementation of the "One health" concept in the face of demographic and sanitary transition resulting from global changes. Networks must also include a maximum number of key players in research, representing various disciplines and specializing in different levels of organization of living beings, and spatial and temporal scales. They must work together toward the implementation of shared training programs, tools, and protocols with a shift from research generating basic and isolated knowledge to translational research leading to systems and implicational knowledge. This certainly needs a mentality change not only from researchers but also-and even more importantly-from research funding bodies. Scientific

TABLE 1 | Exploring the infectious and toxic risks through ecobiology and ecotoxicology expertise.

	Infectious risk	Toxic risk	
	Case of pathogen emergence	Case of antibiotic resistance	Case of emerging toxins and recurrent toxicants
Ecosystem processes	How does a commensal infectious agent become a pathogen?	What is the ecological role of antibiotics and of their resistance genes?	What is the ecological role of toxins produced by microorganisms?
	How do infectious agents alter certain hosts?	How do antibiotics and their resistance genes operate?	How do toxins alter certain hosts?
	How do infectious agents proliferate within the microbiota of their hosts?	How do antibiotic production systems and their resistance genes proliferate?	How do organisms adapt to toxicants?
	How are infectious agents controlled in a natural environment?	How are antibiotic-producing or resistance gene-carrying populations controlled?	How are toxins controlled?
Anthropogenic alterations	How do global changes/anthropic activities impact on environments affect biodiversity and the emergence of pathogens?	How do global changes/anthropic activities impact on environments affect the emergence of antibiotic-resistant bacteria?	How do global changes/anthropic activities impact on environments affect toxic risk?
	How does the synergy between infectious	s and toxic factors multiply the effects and comple	exity of responses?
Solutions	Which innovative control solutions are inspired by the ecobiology of infectious agents, their hosts, and their vectors?	How can we develop anti-infectives that generate less resistance?	Which control solutions are inspired by the ecology of emerging toxins?

This table summarizes questions to be addressed for understanding the risks and develop innovative solutions.

cooperation also needs better access to knowledge, which is currently partially blocked (intellectual property, patents), thereby depriving certain key players of diagnostic criteria or fundamental knowledge (81). Observation tools and data management programs should also be supported. Long-term monitoring of transmission or exposure systems must be organized and supported by appropriate means and measures, including outside peaks of visible emergence, taking into consideration the different spatial and temporal scales relevant to the organisms in question (e.g., multiannual demographic variations of organisms, landscape changes, practice changes, rearrangement of communities in response to these factors, etc.). This requires the implementation of policies to collect, capitalize, secure, and make available the data derived from ambitious research (database management, observatories, etc.). In addition, promoting multidisciplinary integrative approaches is needed for the development of a progressive health (human and animal) ecology, which is based on acquired expertise and methodology in immunoecology and endocrineepidemiology (111) and links the study of proximal factors (mechanisms) to their ongoing evolutionary consequences (112, 113). It is also necessary to support work into the definition of ecosystem services for the regulation of infectious or toxic risk (contributing to the requests of the, Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services).

From a *political* point of view, it would appear necessary to implement a gradual reinforcement of biosecurity including production, transport, and transformation of biological resources. It is additionally absolutely essential to break down the sectoral partitioning that exists between public health, agronomy policy, and other sectors of activity (27). Indeed, current sectoral partitioning trends foster infectious risk. For instance, to date the agriculture/ public health interface does not come under the competences of farmers nor vector control services, which increases the development of insect vectors resistant to agricultural insecticides. The synergy of a partnership between scientists, farmers, and the vector control services would initiate pluridisciplinary research programs whose goal would be to protect the crops while reducing the populations of vectors as much as possible. Similarly, sectoral partitioning increases the emergence and the spread of microorganisms that are antibiotic-resistant as a result of spreading slurry from farms using antibiotics or by the increase in size of host populations of pathogenic agents. It is therefore clear that a comprehensive review of industrial agriculture and farming practices is vitally urgent. Overall, significant efficacy gains can be achieved through intersectoral cooperation in a "One Health" approach. This should include a control at source, which is often more cost-effective than fighting a disease. This supposes (i) cooperation in terms of monitoring and diagnosis for a quicker and more precise diagnosis; (ii) cooperation in terms of preventative measures, such as vaccination, to increase coverage; and (iii) a detailed and immediate communication to reduce the number of cases (114).

Remarkably, a purely *economic* view also calls for a global approach of Health that relies on both "prevention at source" for animals and "control" for humans (115). It has been estimated that this two-sided approach would cost between 1.9 and 3.4 billion dollars per year to implement and optimize this approach, a

sum which is far below the annual average of 6.7 billion dollars of economic losses historically suffered as a result of epidemics (114). These methods will require the consolidation of regional, national, and international approaches to biosecurity for the control of human, animal, and plant diseases and the implementation of an integrated, interdisciplinary, intersectoral approach to the monitoring of and investigation into diseases common to man and animal. A first necessary step is the development of a database that includes a corpus of essential statistics on demography, the sanitary situation, health determinants (human, animal, and ecosystem), and risk factors. These multi- and intersectoral collaborations, nourished by the results of relevant research, are also essential in identifying the bio-economically, socially, and ecologically acceptable compromises between (sometimes) contradictory management objectives (food production, health, biodiversity preservation, etc.).

In addition to prevention, ecology today must be able to offer the authorities *innovative solutions* to vector control (antivector fight) and pathogenic infectious agents (remediation) that are more ambitious and less destructive to biodiversity and ecosystems than those currently deployed. With regard to antibiotic resistance, research programs working on the identification of new anti-infectives must henceforth consider the risk of resistance emergence from the moment that new therapeutic agents are developed.

CHALLENGES AND AMBITIONS FOR THE "ONE HEALTH" CONCEPT

The insufficient consideration of certain key components in the implementation of the "One Health" concept can be highlighted. Particularly, the wildlife component and numerous related ecological issues (community ecology and evolutionary ecophysiology) are still neglected (116), as are certain environmental science components (soil and climate) (117). Additionally, social, legal, and economic sciences are similarly marginalized (118).

However, social sciences play a major role in the construction of the problems facing "One Health" research. The understanding of infectious or toxic risks cannot simply be reduced to its biological or chemical components. It is also essential to take into consideration the vulnerability, variability, and susceptibility of human societies as well as the different ways they interact with animals and ecosystems. The "One Health" concept, which promotes an interdisciplinary and intersectoral approach, must therefore engage at different levels of health governance, from a global level right down to a local level, by encouraging participative approaches that bring together communities, scientific experts, administrations, and other key players (NGOs, industry, legal experts, etc.). Infectious and toxic risks must also be addressed through their perceptions and impacts to contribute to the improvement of surveillance and prevention systems and the resilience of societies in the face of sanitary crises.

The issue of plant health as a full component of "One Health" concept is a challenge to be urgently resolved (119). In fact, human health and animal health are directly or indirectly dependent on plant health, as the latter is essential as food

resources, phytomedecine, land management, etc. In terms of basic knowledge, investigations in plant ecology and epidemiology have provided useful data for understanding the mechanisms of virulence and adaptation of pathogens in humans and animals. A renowned example is the discovery by botanists of interfering RNA as a key component in gene regulation, including hostpathogen interactions (120). While some plant pathogens may pass the species barrier and cause nosocomial diseases, such as the Burkholderia complex bacteria responsible for human cystic fibrosis (121), others belonging to enteric bacteria (Salmonella, Escherichia coli, Shigella, etc.) are plant inhabitants that can cause food contaminants that are harmful to human (122). Thus, raising the concept of "One Health" to a realization requires also access to a good plant health through a productive (yield, quality, nutritional value, and biosafety) and sustainable (reducing pesticides and chemical fertilizers, encouraging culture rotation practice, biofertilization, etc.) agriculture.

The question of ethics should also be more widely integrated into the "One Health" concept. If ethics are referred to essentially through bioethics and the ethics of animal health, other components are often neglected. This is the case for environmental and biodiversity ethics, social science ethics, and the ethics of various legal concepts, such as human rights, the rights of indigenous people, environmental justice, and animal rights. The Nagoya Protocol to the Convention on Biological Diversity is one of the ethical and legal frameworks which are legally binding on scientific research, generating new consequences on the access to and sharing of microorganisms, human, animal and plant samples, data, and traditional and local knowledge and skills. Far from being a new constraint, it is an opportunity to reflect on the role of scientific research in our societies (123).

CONCLUSION

This review illustrates how crucial it is to consider ecological, evolutionary, and environmental sciences in (i) understanding

REFERENCES

- Schwabe C. Veterinary Medicine and Human Health. Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins (1984). 713 p.
- Zinsstag J, Schelling E, Waltner-Toews D, Tanner M. From "one medicine" to "one health" and systemic approaches to health and well-being. *Prev Vet Med* (2011) 101:148–56. doi:10.1016/j.prevetmed.2010.07.003
- 3. One Health Initiative Task Force. *One Health: A New Professional Imperative*. Schaumburg, IL: American Veterinary Medical Association (2008).
- Zinsstag J, Schelling E, Waltner-Toews D, Tanner M, editors. One Health, the Theory and Practice of Integrated Health Approaches. CABI (2015). doi:10.1079/ 9781780643410.0000
- Lebov J, Grieger K, Womack D, Zaccaro D, Whitehead N, Kowalcyk B, et al. A framework for One health research. *One Health* (2017) 3:44–50. doi:10.1016/j. onehlt.2017.03.004
- Gibbs EPJ. The evolution of One Health: a decade of progress and challenges for the future. Vet Rec (2014) 174:85–91. doi:10.1136/vr.g143
- Day MJ. One health: the importance of companion animal vector-borne diseases. Parasit Vectors (2011) 4:49. doi:10.1186/1756-3305-4-49
- Dantas-Torres F, Chomel BB, Otranto D. Ticks and tick-borne diseases: a One Health perspective. *Trends Parasitol* (2012) 28:437–46. doi:10.1016/j. pt.2012.07.003

the emergence and re-emergence of infectious and noncommunicable chronic diseases and (ii) in creating innovative control strategies. However, the actual organization of research and the sectoral allocation of resources in our societies still limit the development of transdisciplinary approaches and integrated operational actions. Removing the interdisciplinary barriers that still separate ecological, environmental, and evolutionary sciences from human and animal medicine is a major challenge to the implementation of the "One Health" concept, which moves beyond science and impacts politics (health, agriculture, aquaculture, land management, urbanism, and biological conservation), law, and ethics. There is a need to provide evidence on the added value of "One Health" approach for governments, researchers, funding bodies, and stakeholders (124). Finally, promoting the integrative benefits expected of the "One Health" concept requires a new interface with human, social, and legal sciences that remains to be built.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The issues discussed in this article have been debated during the prospective days of the National Institute of Ecology and Environment (INEE) from the French National Center for Scientific Research (CNRS), February 22–24, 2017, Bordeaux, France.

FUNDING

We warmly thank the National Institute of Ecology and Environment (INEE) from the French National Center for Scientific Research (CNRS) for financial support.

- Mencke N. Future challenges for parasitology: vector control and "One health" in Europe: the veterinary medicinal view on CVBDs such as tick borreliosis, rickettsiosis and canine leishmaniosis. *Vet Parasitol* (2013) 195:256–71. doi:10.1016/j.vetpar.2013.04.007
- Papadopoulos A, Wilmer S. Introduction au concept "Une seule santé". Centre de collaboration nationale en santé environnementale (2011). p. 1–10. Available from: www.ccnse.ca/sites/default/files/Un_seule_sante_nov_2011.pdf
- 11. Morand S, Figuié M. Émergence de maladies infectieuses. Risques et enjeux de société. Versailles: Quae (2016).
- Morand S, Lajaunie C. Biodiversity and Health. Linking Life, Ecosystems and Societies. London: Elsevier, ISTE Press (2017). 300 p.
- Cantor M, Pires MM, Marquitti FM, Raimundo RL, Sebastián-González E, Coltri PP, et al. Nestedness across biological scales. *PLoS One* (2017) 12(2):e0171691. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0171691
- Giraudoux P. Équilibre écologique et santé des écosystèmes: entre mythe biologique et consensus social. *Nature ou Culture, Les colloques de l'Institut Universitaire de France.* Saint Etienne: de l'Université de St Etienne (2014). p. 129–42.
- Dhama K. One world, one health-veterinary perspectives. Adv Anim Vet Sci (2013) 1:5–13.
- Vittecoq M, Roche B, Prugnolle F, Renaud F, Thomas F. Les maladies infectieuses. Paris: de Boeck Solal (2015).

- Le Roux F, Wegner KM, Polz MF. Oysters and Vibrios as a model for disease dynamics in wild animals. *Trends Microbiol* (2016) 24:568–80. doi:10.1016/j. tim.2016.03.006
- Paillard C, Jean F, Ford SE, Powell EN, Klinck JM, Hofmann EE, et al. A theoretical individual-based model of brown ring disease in Manila clams, *Venerupis philippinarum. J Sea Res* (2014) 91:15–34. doi:10.1016/j.seares.2014.03.005
- Lagadec E, Gomard Y, Le Minter G, Cordonin C, Cardinale E, Ramasindrazana B, et al. Identification of *Tenrec ecaudatus*, a wild mammal introduced to Mayotte Island, as a reservoir of the newly identified human pathogenic *Leptospira mayottensis*. *PLoS Neg Trop Dis* (2016) 10:e0004933. doi:10.1371/journal. pntd.0004933
- Picardeau M. Virulence of the zoonotic agent of leptospirosis: still terra incognita? Nat Rev Microbiol (2017) 15:297–307. doi:10.1038/nrmicro.2017.5
- Taylor LH, Latham SM, Woolhouse ME. Risk factors for human disease emergence. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* (2001) 356:983–9. doi:10.1098/ rstb.2001.0888
- Woolhouse MEJ, Haydon DT, Antia R. Emerging pathogens: the epidemiology and evolution of species jumps. *Trends Ecol Evol* (2005) 20:238–44. doi:10.1016/j.tree.2005.02.009
- Keesing F, Belden LK, Daszak P, Dobson A, Harvell CD, Holt RD, et al. Impacts of biodiversity on the emergence and transmission of infectious diseases. *Nature* (2010) 468:647–52. doi:10.1038/nature09575
- Telfer S, Lambin X, Birtles R, Beldomenico P, Burthe S, Paterson S, et al. Species interactions in a parasite community drive infection risk in a wildlife population. *Science* (2010) 330:243–6. doi:10.1126/science.1190333
- Huffman MA, Satou M, Kawai S, Maeno Y, Kawamoto Y, Tuyen N, et al. New perspectives on the transmission of malaria between macaques and humans: the case of Vietnam. *Folia Primatol* (2013) 84:288–9.
- Daszak P, Cunningham AA, Hyatt AD. Anthropogenic environmental change and the emergence of infectious diseases in wildlife. *Acta Trop* (2001) 78:103–16. doi:10.1016/s0001-706x(00)00179-0
- Patz JA, Daszak P, Tabor GM, Aguirre AA, Pearl M, Epstein J, et al. Unhealthy landscapes: policy recommendations on land use change and infectious disease emergence. *Environ Health Perspect* (2004) 112:1092–8. doi:10.1289/ehp.6877
- Levy S. Warming trend: how climate shapes Vibrio ecology. Environ Health Perspect (2015) 123:A82–9. doi:10.1289/ehp.123-A82
- Travers MA, Basuyaux O, Le Goïc N, Huchette S, Nicolas JL, Koken M, et al. Influence of temperature and spawning effort on *Haliotis tuberculata* mortalities caused by *Vibrio harveyi*: an example of emerging vibriosis linked to global warming. *Glob Change Biol* (2009) 15:1365–76. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2008.01764.x
- Bebber DP. Range-expanding pests and pathogens in a warming world. Ann Ren Phytopathol (2015) 53:335–56. doi:10.1146/annurev-phyto-080614-120207
- 31. Vezzulli L, Grande C, Reid PC, Hélaouët P, Edwards M, Höfle MG, et al. Climate influence on *Vibrio* and associated human diseases during the past half-century in the coastal North Atlantic. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2016) 113:E5062–71. doi:10.1073/pnas.1609157113
- Boissier J, Grech-Angelini S, Webster BL, Allienne J-F, Huyse T, Mas-Coma S, et al. Outbreak of urogenital schistosomiasis in Corsica (France): an epidemiological case study. *Lancet Infect Dis* (2016) 16:971–9. doi:10.1016/ S1473-3099(16)00175-4
- Rezza G, Nicoletti L, Angelini R, Romi R, Finarelli AC, Panning M, et al. Infection with chikungunya virus in Italy: an outbreak in a temperate region. *Lancet* (2007) 370:1840–6. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61779-6
- Ezenwa VO, Prieur-Richard AH, Roche B, Bailly X, Becquart P, García-Peña GE, et al. Interdisciplinarity and infectious diseases: an ebola case study. *PLoS Pathog* (2015) 11:e1004992. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1004992
- Mwangi W, de Figueiredo P, Criscitiello MF. One Health: addressing global challenges at the nexus of human, animal, and environmental health. *PLoS Pathog* (2016) 12:e1005731. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1005731
- Stoate C, Boatman N, Borralho R, Carvalho CR, Snoo GR, Eden P. Ecological impacts of arable intensification in Europe. *J Environ Manage* (2001) 63:337–65. doi:10.1006/jema.2001.0473
- Stoate C, Báldi A, Beja P, Boatman ND, Herzon I, van Doorn A, et al. Ecological impacts of early 21st century agricultural change in Europe – a review. *J Environ Manage* (2009) 91:22–46. doi:10.1016/j.jenvman.2009.07.005
- Duvallet G, Fontenille D, Robert V. Entomologie médicale et vétérinaire. Marseille, Versailles, France: Coédition IRD, Quae éditions (2017).
- Chouaïbou MS, Fodjo BK, Fokou G, Allassane OF, Koudou BG, David JP, et al. Influence of the agrochemicals used for rice and vegetable cultivation

on insecticide resistance in malaria vectors in southern Côte d'Ivoire. *Malar J* (2016) 15:426. doi:10.1186/s12936-016-1481-5

- Tantely ML, Tortosa P, Alout H, Berticat C, Berthomieu A, Rutee A, et al. Insecticide resistance in *Culex pipiens* quinquefasciatus and *Aedes albopictus* mosquitoes from Réunion Island. *Insect Biochem Mol Biol* (2010) 40:317–24. doi:10.1016/j.ibmb.2010.02.005
- Holmes AH, Moore LS, Sundsfjord A, Steinbakk M, Regmi S, Karkey A, et al. Understanding the mechanisms and drivers of antimicrobial resistance. *Lancet* (2016) 387:176–87. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(15)00473-0
- Read AF, Woods RJ. Antibiotic resistance management. Evol Med Public Health (2014) 2014:147. doi:10.1093/emph/eou024
- Darriet F. Des moustiques et des hommes. Chronique d'une pullulation annoncée. Editions de l'IRD. Marseille, France: Collection Didactiques (2014).
- Holling CS. Resilience and stability of ecological systems. Annu Rev Ecol Syst (1973) 4:1–23. doi:10.1146/annurev.es.04.110173.000245
- Walker B, Holling CS, Carpenter SR, Kinzig A. Resilience, adaptability and transformability in social-ecological systems. *Ecol Soc* (2004) 9(2):5. doi:10.5751/ES-00650-090205
- Ruscio BA, Brubaker M, Glasser J, Hueston W, Hennessy TW. One Health a strategy for resilience in a changing arctic. *Int J Circumpolar Health* (2015) 74:27913. doi:10.3402/ijch.v74.27913
- Heymann DL, Jay J, Kock R. The One Health path to infectious disease prevention and resilience. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg* (2017) 111:233–4. doi:10.1093/trstmh/trx052
- Randolph SE, Dobson ADM. Pangloss revisited: a critique of the dilution effect and the biodiversity-buffers-disease paradigm. *Parasitology* (2012) 139:847–63. doi:10.1017/S0031182012000200
- 49. Gualde N. L'épidémie et la démorésilience. Paris: L'Harmattan (2011).
- Argov T, Azulay G, Pasechnek A, Stadnyuk O, Ran-Sapir S, Borovok I, et al. Temperate bacteriophages as regulators of host behavior. *Curr Opin Microbiol* (2017) 38:81–7. doi:10.1016/j.mib.2017.05.002
- Sassone-Corsi M, Nuccio SP, Liu H, Hernandez D, Vu CT, Takahashi AA, et al. Microcins mediate competition among *Enterobacteriaceae* in the inflamed gut. *Nature* (2016) 540:280–3. doi:10.1038/nature20557
- Destoumieux-Garzón D, Rosa RD, Schmitt P, Barreto C, Vidal-Dupiol J, Mitta G, et al. Antimicrobial peptides in marine invertebrate health and disease. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* (2016) 371:1695. doi:10.1098/ rstb.2015.0300
- Aoyagi KL, Brooks BD, Bearden SW, Montenieri JA, Gage KL, Fisher MA. LPS modification promotes maintenance of *Yersinia pestis* in fleas. *Microbiology* (2015) 161:628–38. doi:10.1099/mic.0.000018
- Easterday WR, Kausrud KL, Star B, Heier L, Haley BJ, Ageyev V, et al. An additional step in the transmission of *Yersinia pestis*? *ISME J* (2012) 6:231–6. doi:10.1038/ismej.2011.105
- Bourtzis K, Dobson SL, Xi Z, Rasgon JL, Calvitti M, Moreira LA, et al. Harnessing mosquito-*Wolbachia* symbiosis for vector and disease control. *Acta Trop* (2014) Suppl:S150–63. doi:10.1016/j.actatropica.2013.11.004
- Czaplewski L, Bax R, Clokie M, Dawson M, Fairhead H, Fischetti VA, et al. Alternatives to antibiotics – a pipeline portfolio review. *Lancet Infect Dis* (2016) 16:239–51. doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(15)00466-1
- World Health Organization. Global Action Plan on Antimicrobial Resistance. Geneva: WHO Press (2015). p. 1–28.
- Perron GG, Inglis RF, Pennings PS, Cobey S. Fighting microbial drug resistance: a primer on the role of evolutionary biology in public health. *Evol Appl* (2015) 8:211–22. doi:10.1111/eva.12254
- Yen M, Cairns LS, Camilli A. A cocktail of three virulent bacteriophages prevents *Vibrio cholerae* infection in animal models. *Nat Commun* (2017) 8:14187. doi:10.1038/ncomms14187
- Rodríguez-Rojas A, Makarova O, Rolff J. Antimicrobials, stress and mutagenesis. *PLoS Pathog* (2014) 10:e1004445. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1004445
- Hancock REW, Haney EF, Gill EE. The immunology of host defense peptides: beyond antimicrobial activity. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2016) 16:321–34. doi:10.1038/nri.2016.29
- Lafferty K. Environmental parasitology: what can parasites tell us about human impacts on the environment? *Parasitol Today* (1997) 13:251–55. doi:10.1016/S0169-4758(97)01072-7
- Harvell CD, Kim K, Burkholder JM, Colwell RR, Epstein PR, Grimes DJ, et al. Emerging marine diseases – climate links and anthropogenic factors. *Science* (1999) 283:1505–10. doi:10.1126/science.285.5433.1505

- 64. Burge CA, Mark Eakin C, Friedman CS, Froelich B, Hershberger PK, Hofmann EE, et al. Climate change influences on marine infectious diseases: implications for management and society. *Ann Rev Mar Sci* (2014) 6(1):249–77. doi:10.1146/annurev-marine-010213-135029
- Rockström J, Steffen W, Noone K, Persson A, Chapin FS, Lambin E, et al. Planetary boundaries: exploring the safe operating space for humanity. *Ecol Soc* (2009) 14:33. doi:10.5751/ES-03180-140232
- 66. Waters CN, Zalasiewicz J, Summerhayes C, Barnosky AD, Poirier C, Ga uszka A, et al. The Anthropocene is functionally and stratigraphically distinct from the Holocene. *Science* (2016) 351:aad2622. doi:10.1126/science.aad2622
- 67. Acevedo-Whitehouse K, Duffus ALJ. Effects of environmental change on wildlife health. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* (2009) 364:3429–38. doi:10.1098/rstb.2009.0128
- Clements WH, Rohr JR. Community responses to contaminants: using basic ecological principles to predict ecotoxicological effects. *Environ Toxicol Chem* (2009) 28:1789–800. doi:10.1897/09-140.1
- Guitart R, Croubels S, Caloni F, Sachana M, Davanzo F, Vandenbroucke V, et al. Animal poisoning in Europe. Part 1: farm livestock and poultry. *Vet J* (2010) 183:249–54. doi:10.1016/j.tvjl.2009.03.002
- Kendall RJ, editor. Wildlife Toxicology: Emerging Contaminant and Biodiversity Issues. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press (2010).
- Marcogliese D, Pietrock M. Combined effects of parasites and contaminants on animal health: parasites do matter. *Trends Parasitol* (2011) 27:123–30. doi:10.1016/j.pt.2010.11.002
- 72. de Montaudouin X, Paul-Pont I, Lambert C, Gonzalez P, Raymond N, Jude F, et al. Bivalve population health: multistress to identify hot spots. *Mar Pollut Bull* (2010) 60:1307–18. doi:10.1016/j.marpolbul.2010.03.011
- 73. Mondet F, de Miranda JR, Kretzschmar A, Le Conte Y, Mercer AR. On the front line: quantitative virus dynamics in honeybee (*Apis mellifera* L.) colonies along a new expansion front of the parasite *Varroa destructor*. *PLoS Pathog* (2014) 10:e1004323. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1004323
- 74. Petton B, Bruto M, James A, Labreuche Y, Alunno-Bruscia M, Le Roux F. Crassostrea gigas mortality in France: the usual suspect, a herpes virus, may not be the killer in this polymicrobial opportunistic disease. Front Microbiol (2015) 6:686. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2015.00686
- Barneah O, Ben-Dov E, Kramarsky-Winter E, Kushmaro A. Characterization of black band disease in Red Sea stony corals. *Environ Microbiol* (2007) 9:1995–2006. doi:10.1111/j.1462-2920.2007.01315.x
- 76. Bossart GD. Marine mammals as sentinel species for oceans and human health. *Vet Pathol* (2011) 48:676–90. doi:10.1177/0300985810388525
- Grogan LF, Berger L, Rose K, Grillo V, Cashins SD, Skerratt LF. Surveillance for emerging biodiversity diseases of wildlife. *PLoS Pathog* (2014) 10:e1004015. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1004015
- Kannan K, Yun SH, Rudd RJ, Behr M. High concentrations of persistent organic pollutants including PCBs, DDT, PBDEs and PFOS in little brown bats with white-nose syndrome in New York, USA. *Chemosphere* (2010) 80:613–8. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2010.04.060
- Rohr JR, Schotthoefer AM, Raffel TR, Carrick HJ, Halstead N, Hoverman JT, et al. Agrochemicals increase trematode infections in a declining amphibian species. *Nature* (2008) 455:1235–9. doi:10.1038/nature07281
- Abi-Khalil C, Finkelstein DS, Conejero G, Du Bois J, Destoumieux-Garzón D, Rolland JL. The paralytic shellfish toxin, saxitoxin, enters the cytoplasm and induces apoptosis of oyster immune cells through a caspase-dependent pathway. *Aquat Toxicol* (2017) 190:133–41. doi:10.1016/j.aquatox.2017.07.001
- Beasley V. "One toxicology", "ecosystem health" and "one health". Vet Ital (2009) 45:97–110.
- Hégaret H, da Silva PM, Wikfors GH, Lambert C, De Bettignies T, Shumway SE, et al. Hemocyte responses of Manila clams, *Ruditapes philippinarum*, with varying parasite, *Perkinsus olseni*, severity to toxic-algal exposures. *Aquat Toxicol* (2007) 84:469–79. doi:10.1016/j.aquatox.2014.05.002
- Lafferty KD, Kuris AM. How environmental stress affects the impacts of parasites. *Limnol Oceanogr*(1999)44:925–31. doi:10.4319/lo.1999.44.3_part_2.0925
- World Health Organization. Global Status Report on Noncommunicable Diseases. Geneva: World Health Organization (2014).
- Lane M, Robker RL, Robertson SA. Parenting from before conception. Science (2014) 345:756–60. doi:10.1126/science.1254400
- Duncan EJ, Gluckman PD, Dearden PK. Epigenetics, plasticity, and evolution: how do we link epigenetic change to phenotype? J Exp Zoolog B Mol Dev Evol (2014) 322:208–20. doi:10.1002/jez.b.22571

- Aguirre AA, Beasley VR, Augspurger T, Benson WH, Whaley J, Basu N. One health-transdisciplinary opportunities for SETAC leadership in integrating and improving the health of people, animals, and the environment. *Environ Toxicol Chem* (2016) 35:2383–91. doi:10.1002/etc.3557
- Buttke DE. Toxicology, environmental health, and the "one health" concept. J Med Toxicol (2011) 7:329–32. doi:10.1007/s13181-011-0172-4
- Rumbeiha WK. Toxicology and "One Health": opportunities for multidisciplinary collaborations. J Med Toxicol (2012) 8:91–3. doi:10.1007/ s13181-012-0224-4
- Martin LB. Stress and immunity in wild vertebrates: timing is everything. Gen Comp Endocrinol (2009) 163:70–6. doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.03.008
- Rabinowitz PM, Gordon Z, Holmes R, Taylor B, Wilcox M, Chudnov D, et al. Animals as sentinels of human environmental health hazards: an evidence-based analysis. *Ecohealth* (2005) 2:26–37. doi:10.1007/s10393-004-0151-1
- Van der Schalie WH, Gardner HS Jr, Bantle JA, De Rosa CT, Finch RA, Reif JS, et al. Animals as sentinels of human health hazards of environmental chemicals. *Environ Health Perspect* (1999) 107:309–15. doi:10.1289/ehp. 99107309
- Woodruff TJ. Bridging epidemiology and model organisms to increase understanding of endocrine disrupting chemicals and human health effects. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol (2011) 127:108–17. doi:10.1016/j.jsbmb.2010.11.007
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. Approaches to Understanding the Cumulative Effects of Stressors on Marine Mammals. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press (2016).
- United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division. World Urbanization Prospects: The 2014 Revision, Highlights (ST/ ESA/SER.A/352) (2014).
- Finger F, Genolet T, Mari L, de Magny GC, Manga NM, Rinaldo A, et al. Mobile phone data highlights the role of mass gatherings in the spreading of cholera outbreaks. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2016) 113:6421–6. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1522305113
- Christakis NA, Fowler JH. The spread of obesity in a large social network over 32 years. N Engl J Med (2007) 357:370–9. doi:10.1056/NEJMsa066082
- 98. Kestens Y, Chaix B, Gerber P, Desprès M, Gauvin L, Klein O, et al. Understanding the role of contrasting urban contexts in healthy aging: an international cohort study using wearable sensor devices (the CURHA study protocol). BMC Geriatr (2016) 16:96. doi:10.1186/s12877-016-0273-7
- 99. Sueur C. Analyse des réseaux sociaux appliquée à l'éthologie et l'écologie. Paris, France: Editions Matériologiques (2015). 514 p.
- 100. Giraudoux P, Craig PS, Delattre P, Bao G, Bartholomot B, Harraga S, et al. Interactions between landscape changes and host communities can regulate *Echinococcus multilocularis* transmission. *Parasitology* (2003) 127:121–31. doi:10.1017/S0031182003003512
- 101. Giraudoux P, Raoul F, Afonso E, Ziadinov I, Yang Y, Li L, et al. Transmission ecosystems of *Echinococcus multilocularis* in China and Central Asia. *Parasitology* (2013) 140:1655–66. doi:10.1017/S0031182013000644
- 102. Delattre P, Giraudoux P. Le Campagnol terrestre: prévention et contrôle des pullulations. Versailles: QAE (2009).
- Boissier J, Moné H, Mitta G, Bargues MD, Molyneux D, Mas-Coma S. Schistosomiasis reaches Europe. *Lancet Infect Dis* (2015) 15:757–8. doi:10.1016/ S1473-3099(15)00084
- 104. Noël H, Ruello M, Maccary A, Pellat C, Sommen C, Boissier J, et al. Large outbreak of urogenital schistosomiasis acquired in Southern Corsica: monitoring the early signs of the endemicization. *Clin Microbiol Infect* (2017). doi:10.1016/j.cmi.2017.06.026
- 105. Romano V, Duboscq J, Sarabian C, Thomas E, Sueur C, MacIntosh AJJ. Modeling infection transmission in primate networks to predict centralitybased risk. *Am J Primatol* (2016) 78:767–79. doi:10.1002/ajp.22542
- 106. Griffin RH, Nunn CL. Community structure and the spread of infectious disease in primate social networks. *Evol Ecol* (2012) 26:779–800. doi:10.1007/ s10682-011-9526-2
- Fushing H, Wang H, VanderWaal K, McCowan B, Koehl P. Multi-scale clustering by building a robust and self correcting ultrametrictopology on data points. *PLoS One* (2013) 8:e56259. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0056259
- 108. Pasquaretta C, Levé M, Claidière N, van de Waal E, Whiten A, MacIntosh AJJ, et al. Social networks in primates: smart and tolerant species have more efficient networks. *Sci Rep* (2014) 4:7600. doi:10.1038/ srep07600

- Nesse RM, Bergstrom CT, Ellison PT, Flier JS, Gluckman P, Govindaraju DR, et al. Making evolutionary biology a basic science for medicine. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107:1800–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.0906224106
- 110. Guégan JF, Constantin de Magny G, Durand P, Renaud F. Écologie de la santé: le macroscope, un nouvel outil! In: Thomas F, Guégan JF, Renaud F, editors. *Ecologie et évolution des systèmes parasités.* Bruxelles: De Boeck (2012). p. 303–42. Licence Maitrise Doctorat Biologie.
- 111. Martin LB, Ghalambor CK, Woods HA. Integrative Organismal Biology. Hoboken, New Jersey: John Wiley and Sons, Inc (2015).
- Paun A, Danska JS. Immuno-ecology: how the microbiome regulates tolerance and autoimmunity. *Curr Opin Immunol* (2015) 37:34–39. doi:10.1016/ j.coi.2015.09.004
- Chemaitilly W, Cohen LE. Diagnosis of endocrine disease: endocrine late-effects of childhoood cancer and its treatments. *Eur J Endocrinol* (2017) 176:R183–R203. doi:10.1530/EJE-17-0054
- Institute of Medicine. Sustaining Global Surveillance and Response Systems for Emerging Zoonotics Diseases. Washington, DC: National Research Council (2009).
- The World Bank. People, Pathogens and Our Planet, Vol 2. The Economics of One Health. Washington (2012). Report No. 69145-GLB.
- Hall DC, Le QB. Monitoring and evaluation of one health projects; lessons from Southeast Asia. *Procedia Soc Behav Sci* (2015) 186:681–3. doi:10.1016/j. sbspro.2015.04.070
- 117. Barrett MA, Bouley TA. Need for enhanced environmental representation in the implementation of one health. *Ecohealth* (2015) 12:212–9. doi:10.1007/ s10393-014-0964-5
- Lapinski MK, Funk JA, Moccia LT. Recommendations for the role of social science research in one health. *Soc Sci Med* (2015) 129:51–60. doi:10.1016/j. socscimed.2014.09.048

- 119. Fletcher J, Franz D, LeClerc E. Healthy plants: necessary for a balanced 'One Health' concept. *Vet Ital* (2009) 45:79–95.
- 120. Agrawal N, Dasaradhi PVN, Mohammed A, Malhotra P, Bhatnagar RK, Mukherjee SK. RNA interference: Biology, mecahnism, and applications. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev* (2003) 67:657–85. doi:10.1128/ MMBR.67.4.657-685.2003
- Mahenthiralingam E, Urban TA, Goldberg JB. The multifacious, multireplicon Burkholderia cepacia complex. Nat Rev Microbiol (2005) 3:144–56. doi:10.1038/nrmicro1085
- Brandl MT. Fitness of human enteric pathogens on plants and implications for food safety. *Annu Rev Phytopathol* (2006) 44:367–92. doi:10.1146/annurev. phyto.44.070505.143359
- 123. Lajaunie C, Morand S, Huan TB. Barcoding, biobanking, ebanking for "One Health" projects in South-East Asia: considering ethics and international law. *Eubios J Asian Int Bioeth* (2014) 24:129–31.
- 124. Rüegg SR, McMahon BJ, Häsler B, Esposito R, Nielsen LR, Ifejika Speranza C, et al. A blueprint to evaluate One Health. *Front Public Health* (2017) 5:20. doi:10.3389/fpubh.2017.00020

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Destoumieux-Garzón, Mavingui, Boetsch, Boissier, Darriet, Duboz, Fritsch, Giraudoux, Le Roux, Morand, Paillard, Pontier, Sueur and Voituron. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Member Perceptions of the One Health Initiative at a Zoological Institution

Hannah Padda^{1,2}, Amy Niedbalski³, Erin Tate³ and Sharon L. Deem^{2*}

¹ Brown School, Washington University in St. Louis, St. Louis, MO, United States, ²Institute for Conservation Medicine, Saint Louis Zoo, St. Louis, MO, United States, ³Department of Audience Research, Saint Louis Zoo, St. Louis, MO, United States

Zoological institutions play an important role in promoting the goals of the One Health movement. We launched the Institute for Conservation Medicine (ICM) at the Saint Louis Zoo in 2011 to advance the goals of One Health. In 2016, we distributed a survey to Zoo members to evaluate member awareness and understanding of One Health and to provide direction for future communication and actions from the ICM. We hypothesized that Zoo members would be aware of One Health and care about infectious disease issues. Survey results showed Zoo members primarily cared about chronic, non-infectious diseases and their associated economic costs, with participants ranking their top three health issues of concern for humans as nutrition/obesity/diet (49%), costs of health care (48%), and cancer (37%). Zoo members were interested in the roles of zoos in One Health and found them important, but were less aware of the Saint Louis Zoo's actions that did not directly relate to animal welfare. Only 6% of members had awareness of the term "One Health" and 16% were aware of the term "Conservation Medicine." These results suggest that zoos may do better to tailor One Health messaging to align with member interests. Messaging and programming from the Saint Louis Zoo will now include the direct benefits to human health that zoos offer, in addition to the ICM's more ecologically focused activities. This study offered valuable insight into how Zoo members view One Health and may serve as a template to help zoological institutions develop and promote One Health.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Sandra C. Buttigieg, University of Malta, Malta

Reviewed by:

Ali Mobasheri, University of Surrey, United Kingdom Sara Savic, Scientific Veterinary Institute Novi Sad, Serbia

> *Correspondence: Sharon L. Deem deem@stlzoo.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Veterinary Epidemiology and Economics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 21 September 2017 Accepted: 05 February 2018 Published: 26 February 2018

Citation:

Padda H, Niedbalski A, Tate E and Deem SL (2018) Member Perceptions of the One Health Initiative at a Zoological Institution. Front. Vet. Sci. 5:22. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00022 Keywords: conservation medicine, emerging diseases, human health, Saint Louis Zoo, public health, transdisciplinary

INTRODUCTION

Worldwide, there has been a shift in disease research and interests from infectious, communicable diseases to non-communicable, chronic, human-induced diseases (e.g., obesity, diabetes, heart disease), as these non-infectious diseases increasingly threaten human health and overall public health (1). This shift, termed the "epidemiologic transition," describes the changes in patterns of population age distributions, mortality, fertility, life expectancy, and causes of death (1, 2). The epidemiologic transition is associated with industrialization and urbanization, with impacts on the environment and all living things within it. As such, chronic, non-communicable diseases are at the forefront of health care for humans, and these diseases result in increasing health-care costs and are strongly associated with obesity. Depression, for example, is the second leading cause of disability adjusted life years worldwide (3).

During this time of shifting human health challenges, conservation challenges have also increased. Since the 1970s, average global population sizes of wildlife have decreased by more than 50%, leading

to the development of the field of conservation medicine in the 1990s (4–7). This is a holistic approach that evolved at a time when infectious and non-infectious diseases increasingly threatened the conservation of wildlife, wild lands, and the humans dependent on both (4). While conservation medicine provides a broad approach to the ecological context of health, a newer movement has emerged in response to the increase in emerging infectious diseases and their often zoonotic origins (8, 9). This initiative, most recently named One Health, has been defined as "a transdisciplinary approach to sustainable management of complex health problems arising from the interaction of animals, humans, and their environment" (10). The One Health initiative may best be considered from its two core components: translational, focusing on comparative medicine, and ecological.

One Health initiatives from zoos have primarily focused on research and messaging about zoonotic diseases and the humanwildlife interface (8, 11-13). Communicating to people about these threats to both human and wildlife health is an important part of One Health (11). One goal of these communications has been to generate public support for healthy wildlife populations with the assumption that if disease risks are well communicated, then public attitudes toward zoonotic disease management should be impacted (11, 14). As the field of One Health grows and public awareness increases, broader communications about the role of One Health are necessary, and zoological institutions should be at the forefront of the One Health movement, because of the transdisciplinary nature of their work and their strong focus on recreation, education, research, and conservation (8, 12, 15). Recreation is of increasing importance in the context of One Health because of the health benefits for zoo visitors in a largely urbanized and sedentary world. On average, Americans spend 87% of their time indoors, and 6% of their time in enclosed vehicles, which has drastic impacts on human health (16). Zoos connect people with nature and encourage healthy human habits through physical movement across zoo campuses and interactions with exhibits and animals (17, 18).

Zoos have a unique position within One Health, for which we have identified seven important tenets. These include (1) providing health care for zoo wildlife to help sustain biodiversity; (2) studies on diseases of conservation concern; (3) understanding diseases in zoo wildlife as sentinels for emerging diseases of humans and other animals; (4) surveillance of disease in wild animals at the interface of wildlife, domestic animals, and humans; (5) contributing to the field of comparative medicine and the discovery of all life forms; (6) exploration of the diversity of life at both micro and macro levels; and (7) human health benefits from nature (5, 8, 18). These roles inform the actions that zoos take in regards to One Health messaging and encourage zoos to invest resources into promoting One Health to visitors, members, and communities.

In linking the roles of zoos in One Health and current public health issues, it has been demonstrated that exposure to nature for at least 5 h a month has lasting restorative effects, such as elevating mood and decreasing risk of depression (10). Studies have indicated that public health strategies should address these concerns *via* an upstream approach that provides opportunities for people to connect with nature, such as spending time in greenspaces, including zoos (19–21). Nature can promote health through many different pathways, but most broadly does so through environmental conditions, physiological and psychological states, and behaviors (17). We also know that children with attention-deficit disorders exhibit diminished symptoms following activities in green settings, such as zoos (22). Finally, it has been shown that zoos may improve both psychological and physiological well-being through decreasing stress and increasing physical activity (18, 23).

In response to the growing conservation and public health challenges, the Saint Louis Zoo launched the Institute for Conservation Medicine (ICM) in 2011 to advance the goals of One Health. The ICM's mission statement reads as follows, "The Saint Louis Zoo Institute for Conservation Medicine takes a holistic approach to research on wildlife, public health and sustainable ecosystems to ensure healthy animals and healthy people." The $50,000 \pm$ Saint Louis Zoo member households, which equates to more than one-third of total annual Zoo visitation, often receive One Health messaging. This includes a quarterly magazine, often with a feature on the ICM's activities, and weeks prior to the Zoo's annual One Health Fair a promotional email is distributed to all Zoo members (24). Zoo members also consistently report being significantly more aware of the Zoo's conservation work in Missouri and around the world than those Zoo visitors who are not members [Niedbalski, unpublished data]. Additionally, the Zoo's social media accounts, which have nearly half a million followers, provide occasional updates on One Health activities and the ICM.

While the ICM was founded over 5 years ago, it had yet to be evaluated whether the presence of ICM in our newsletters, social media and other layperson friendly publications, and zoo-sponsored activities was having an impact on Zoo goers' understanding of One Health. The primary objective of this study was to evaluate Zoo member understanding of the concept of One Health 5 years after the establishment of the ICM to provide department evaluation and direction for the coming 5 years. Additionally, we wished to determine what health concerns/ issues were at the forefront of Zoo members' thinking.

Our hypotheses were that Zoo members would have a high level of awareness regarding One Health and that they would be aware of and care about infectious disease issues, since the survey was administered during significant media coverage of the spread of the Zika virus in North America. Therefore, we asked respondents' awareness of types of One Health projects in which the Zoo is involved, rating of concern of zoonotic disease transmission (with an open-ended follow-up response), and awareness and explanation of the terms One Health and Conservation Medicine. Finally, we asked ratings of awareness, interest, and importance of five of the various roles of the Zoo's involvement in One Health areas.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

We distributed an online survey *via* email to 2,983 Zoo members selected from the member database in June 2016 (**Table 1**). Zoo members were defined as individuals or households who purchased an annual membership through the Saint Louis Zoo. The

TABLE 1 | Items on the One Health questionnaire answered by survey participants in the 2016 One Health membership survey at the Saint Louis Zoo. Survey questions 1. What do you think are currently the most important health issues facing humans? Please select your top THREE choices. Nutrition/obesity/diet □ Substance abuse (tobacco, opioids, alcohol, etc.) Access to health care, environmental quality (water, soil, etc.) Mental health □ Wildlife-related diseases (Zika, Rabies, etc.) □ HIV/AIDS Cancer Heart disease Diabetes Costs of health care/insurance Climate change (extreme weather, etc.) Population growth □ None of these Other (please specify) 2. Which ONE of these issues are you most concerned about in the future? Nutrition/obesity/diet □ Substance abuse (tobacco, opioids, alcohol, etc.) Access to health care, environmental quality (water, soil, etc.) Mental health U Wildlife-related diseases (Zika, Rabies, etc.) □ HIV/AIDS Cancer Heart disease Diabetes Costs of health care/insurance Climate change (extreme weather, etc.) Population growth None of these □ (Insert text from other) 3. Why? (Referencing question 2) 4. Are you aware that the Saint Louis Zoo conducts projects (science, outreach, etc.) involving the following areas? Yes No Animal health Human health Environmental health 5. Please describe any of the projects with which you may be familiar. 6. How concerned are you about the following groups contracting diseases from wildlife? Not at all Neutral Somewhat Not too Verv concerned concerned concerned concerned Humans Domestic animals 7. Why or why not? 8. Have you ever heard either of the following terms? Yes No One Health Conservation medicine 9. What do/does the term(s) mean to you? 10. Please review the following five roles that the Saint Louis Zoo has in this area. Please rate your AWARENESS that the Zoo is involved in each role, your INTEREST that the Zoo is involved in each role, and the IMPORTANCE you place on the Zoo's involvement in each role. 1 = not at all, 5 = completelyProviding health care to zoo animals Awareness 1 2 3 4 5 2 3 5 Interest 4 1 Importance 1 2 3 4 5 Research on how disease can threaten species with extinction 2 3 5 Awareness 4 1 Interest 1 2 3 4 5 3 2 Importance 1 4 5 (Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

Survey questions					
Studying disease in animals in zoo care					
Awareness	1	2	3	4	5
Interest	1	2	3	4	5
Importance	1	2	3	4	5
Studying how diseases in wild animals have an impact on domestic an	imals and humans				
Awareness	1	2	3	4	5
Interest	1	2	3	4	5
Importance	1	2	3	4	5
Research comparing diseases between different species, including hur	mans				
Awareness	1	2	3	4	5
Interest	1	2	3	4	5
Importance	1	2	3	4	5
11. With which gender do you most closely identify? Male 🗖 Female 🕻]				
12. Which of the following categories includes your age?					
18-24 years 🗆 25-34 years 🗖 35-44 years 🗖 45-54 years 🗖 55-64 y	years 🗖 65+ years 🗖				
13. What is your five digit ZIP code?					
14. Do you have any additional comments for the Zoo?					

Saint Louis Zoo maintains a database of approximately 50,000 member households, with just over 30,000 providing permission to utilize their email addresses for receiving communication from the Zoo. The Audience Research department of the Saint Louis Zoo provides data-driven evidence for informed decision-making that contributes to the achievement of the Saint Louis Zoo's mission-oriented goals. Audience Research staff at the Zoo sends approximately 10 member surveys per year, with no member household receiving more than one survey in a 365-day period. Therefore, email addresses are subset into 10 smaller samples (of approximately 3,000 email addresses), and each subset is representative of the total member population based on membership level. This study involved an online survey of members and was exempt from Institutional Review Board approval. Completion of the survey indicated consent.

We used IBM SPSS Version 24 to analyze the data and run descriptive statistics. We obtained data on median household income from https://www.incomebyzipcode.com and matched it to each respondent's zip code. These data were dichotomized into higher or lower than the median household income in the United States, which the census reported as \$56,516 (25). For the open-ended questions, two individuals (HP and ET) sorted and independently coded the qualitative data into different categories, and then a third individual (AN) assessed and made the final decision on the coding when there were discrepancies between the original two coders. Survey answers were stratified by age, gender, and income category and then analyzed in a crosstab analysis. We collapsed age categories into three categories for the crosstab analysis: 18–34, 35–54, and 55+.

RESULTS

Sample

There were 439 survey respondents. We excluded 154 responses, as they were incomplete, leaving 285 completed surveys, for a

 TABLE 2 | Demographic characteristics of the four populations of Saint Louis

 Zoo patrons: those surveyed during the 2016 One Health Study at the Saint

 Louis Zoo, Saint Louis Zoo members, Saint Louis Zoo visitors, and people who

 live in the Zoo Museum District^a.

Demographics

	Study group (%)	Zoo members (%)	Zoo visitors (%)	Zoo-museum district ^a (%)	
Gender	3				
Male	20	30	30	52	
Female			70	48	
Age					
18–24	1	0	19	12	
25–34	14	14	33	18	
35–44	28	29	22	15	
45–54	15	13	14	17	
55–64	20	20	9	18	
65+	22	24	3	20	
Income					
Less than \$25,000	1	1	12	24	
\$25,000-49,999	18	9	27	23	
\$50,000-\$74,999	54	19	20	17	
\$75,000-\$149,999	25	49	33	25	
\$150,000 or more	2	22	8	11	

^aZoo Museum District is the tax district from which the Saint Louis Zoo receives taxpayer support.

response rate of 9.6%. Eighty percent (228) of respondents identified as females and 20% (57) identified as males. Sixty-two percent of those surveyed live in zip codes above the United States median household income. The majority of respondents were over the age of 35, with the largest age groups representing those between the ages of 35 and 44 (28%) and over the age of 65 (22%) (**Table 2**).

Survey Results

We asked participants to select and rank the top three health issues facing humans from an extensive predefined list of choices, which

included an "other" option, allowing respondents to provide an answer that was not already in the list. Participants identified the top three important health issues facing humans as (1) nutrition/obesity/diet (49%), (2) costs of health care (48%), and (3) cancer (37%). These responses held true for future concerns, in which participants identified the one issue about which they were most concerned for the future, with costs of health care, nutrition/obesity/diet, and cancer in the top three, at 2, 16, and 11%, respectively. Only 1% of respondents were very concerned about wildlife-related diseases being a future health threat. These responses only differed significantly for the answer choice "mental health," with 24 females identifying mental health as an important health issue compared to 0 males. Results did not vary significantly by age category or income level. When respondents were asked why they selected the one issue they identified as being the most important for the future, most responses referenced the cost of health care, Earth's limited resources, and the broad scope of the one issue they chose (Table 3).

Eighty-six percent of respondents were aware that the Saint Louis Zoo conducts projects involving animal health, but only 22% were aware of the Zoo's involvement with projects for human health, and 61% were aware of projects regarding environmental health. However, the majority of those who claimed to be aware

TABLE 3 | A sample of representative quotes from responses to a One Health membership survey distributed in 2016 at the Saint Louis Zoo.

Quotes

3. What do you think are currently the most important health issues facing humans? Which one of these issues are you most concerned about in the future? Why?

"If we cannot sustain a livable environment, none of this matters."

"Environmental factors contribute to many of the other issues we face, from cancer to health risks, we don't even know about."

"With the changes in our health-care system recently, I am finding that even as a middle class American, health care is expensive. [...] Cost should not be the driving factor in our health care."

7. How concerned are you about humans contracting diseases from wildlife? How concerned are you about domestic animals contracting diseases from wildlife? Why?

"Although humans do contract diseases from animals (ebola, strains of influenza, and even originally HIV), there are many other health concerns that lead to more human diseases and deaths that are purely human caused. Plus, our human population is still increasing dramatically."

"In most cases, humans don't have much actual contact with wildlife except for insects—the zeka (sp) virus is still an unknown. In spite of certain special interest groups, I do not see a threat to domestic animals (except for the occasional dog vs skunk—or, more seriously, snake)"

"Not in the news so assuming it's not a huge issue"

 What do the term(s) One Health and/or Conservation medicine mean to you? "Working with the environment. The health of everything on earth is interconnected"

"Simultaneously addressing the combined health concerns of humans and wildlife."

"One Health means nothing to me. Conservation medicine means (to me) ways to keep animals healthy so they can survive and reproduce, particularly for endangered species."

In this table, all the questions refer to survey questions from Table 1.

were not able to name a specific project or program when asked to describe them. Fifty percent of participants were concerned about humans contracting diseases from wildlife, 34% were not concerned, and the remaining 16% were neutral about the issue. We asked participants to provide why they were, or were not, concerned about humans contracting diseases from wildlife. Among those who were not concerned, 40% "just don't think about it" and 21% have no or minimal interaction with wildlife (Table 3). Participants also answered questions about their concern for domestic animals contracting diseases from wildlife. Forty-eight percent were concerned about domestic animals contracting diseases from wildlife, 33% were not concerned, and 19% were neutral about animals contracting disease from wildlife. Of those who were not concerned, 36% "just don't think about it," while 23% indicated minimal interactions with wildlife (Table 3). Only 6% of survey participants had heard of the term "One Health," whereas 16% had heard the term "conservation medicine." Participants also provided their interpretation of the term(s) "One Health" and "conservation medicine," and these responses focused on how "the health of everything on earth is interconnected" (Table 3).

We asked participants to rank their awareness of the Saint Louis Zoo's role in five different areas of One Health, their interest that the Zoo participates in these areas, and the importance of the Zoo's participation (Figure 1). The five different areas referenced in the survey were: (1) providing health care to animals in zoo care, (2) research on how diseases can threaten species with extinction, (3) studying diseases in animals in zoo care, (4) studying how diseases in wild animals have an impact on domestic animals, and (5) research comparing diseases between different species, including humans (Figure 1). Eighty-six percent of respondents were aware of the Zoo's role in providing health care to animals in zoo care, 80% were interested, and 95% thought it was important. Fifty-five percent of respondents were aware of the Zoo's role in research on how diseases can threaten species with extinction, 67% were aware of the Zoo's role in studying diseases in animals in zoo care, but only 27% were aware of the Zoo's role in studying how diseases in wild animals have an impact on domestic animals and humans, and only 23% were aware of the Zoo's role in research comparing diseases between different species, including humans. For each of the five areas, except for the category of "providing health care to zoo animals in zoo care," participants were consistently less aware of the Zoo's role in each specific area than their interest and perceived importance of the Zoo's work in that role. Individuals over the age of 55 were significantly more interested in the Zoo's participation in these areas compared to the other age categories.

DISCUSSION

The findings from the survey revealed that Zoo members primarily cared about chronic, non-communicable diseases, and their associated costs. These results were initially surprising, because at the time of the survey, Zika outbreaks were receiving heavy media attention. However, when examined in the context of population surveyed and the political climate at the time, these results were more understandable. The United States has



already undergone an epidemiologic transition and thus, more people are afflicted with chronic, non-communicable diseases that are associated with increased health-care costs. Leading up to the 2016 United States Presidential election, there was growing unrest in the general American population around the recent implementation of the Affordable Care Act, mostly aimed at the lack of affordability of health care. While the survey results indicated Zoo members focused on health-care costs, these results may not be representative of the larger American population. Possibly related to the physical geography of the United States and the varying population densities, there may be a higher perceived threat from zoonotic diseases in people residing in coastal areas compared to the Midwest. Although One Health initiatives by zoos and other conservation organizations have primarily focused on messaging about infectious, zoonotic diseases (11, 13) to more effectively promote One Health programs at zoos, it may be beneficial for zoos to address the health concerns more specific to their zoo-going population. The results of this study may serve as a template to help guide zoos in their development of One Health messaging.

Along with learning about human health benefits, Zoo members were overwhelmingly interested in learning about the Zoo's activities in One Health and believed these to be an important role for the Zoo. People were more familiar with the term "Conservation Medicine" (16%) than "One Health" (6%),

but their general lack of awareness of the terms themselves indicates that we should do more to effectively disseminate information about the ICM and the role of the Saint Louis Zoo in One Health.

The survey indicated that there is interest in One Health in the St. Louis community of Zoo members and to promote it messaging should include One Health in the context of chronic, noncommunicable diseases, in addition to our other more ecological research-focused programming. This messaging should also be aimed at individuals over the age of 55, who were consistently interested in the Zoo's activities, but less aware. People were generally aware of One Health activities, but then were unable to put a term to these activities. The messaging from the ICM about One Health, *via* newsletters, magazines, talks, and social media outlets did appear to have some impact on the member community. The ICM continues to pave the way for further more effective messaging to the Zoo's membership and visitors regarding One Health.

This study provided a brief, but valuable insight into Zoo members' understanding of One Health, which may help inform not only our future work at the ICM, but also at other zoos as they develop programs to promote and disseminate information regarding the One Health initiative. While the results obtained are valuable, it is important to note the limitations of the study itself. The surveyed population was Zoo members, who primarily reside in St. Louis and the surrounding areas. As the Saint Louis Zoo does not have an admission fee for visitors, its members may be distinct socioeconomically from the general population of Zoo visitors. Even with this distinction, the study population still represented a varied socioeconomic demographic, with 40% of study respondents being from zip codes below the median household income in the United States. The study is also subject to volunteer bias, as we sent the survey to over 3,000 individuals, but only 285 provided complete answers. In regards to how the respondents answered questions, the survey was distributed when there was heavy media attention on the Zika outbreak, which may have influenced responses to health concerns: however, our data do not support this line of thinking. Additionally, survey respondents primarily lived in urban/suburban areas, and thus the results are not generalizable to rural settings. Overall, this survey offered a valuable initial look into the minds of Zoo visitors/members, with results that may help assist other zoos in One Health program development and/or implementation.

On the survey, individuals identified poor diet/obesity/lack of nutrition as one of their top three concerns. This concern may be easily addressed by One Health messaging since zoos help tackle this challenge by efforts to protect pollinators, like bees and bats, thus increasing food security and enabling a higher quality diet. Zoos provide communities with access to greenspace, and it has been shown that increased time in nature may mitigate the negative health impacts of urbanization (17, 19, 20, 22, 26, 27). Zoos promote healthy lifestyles by providing access to exercise and requiring movement by visitors, thus potentially having an impact on obesity, and health-care costs (18). Zoos also play an important role in conservation, which has long-term health impacts for individuals, reduces health-care costs, and increases healthy behaviors (5, 27).

REFERENCES

- McKeown RE. The epidemiologic transition: changing patterns of mortality and population dynamics. *Am J Lifestyle Med* (2009) 3:198–26S. doi:10.1177/1559827609335350
- Omran AR. The epidemiologic transition: a theory of the epidemiology of population change. *Milbank Mem Fund Q* (1971) 49(4):509–38. doi:10.2307/ 3349375
- Ferrari AJ, Charlson FJ, Norman RE, Patten SB, Freedman G, Murray CJL, et al. Burden of depressive disorders by country, sex, age, and year: findings from the global burden of disease study 2010. *PLoS Med* (2013) 10(11):e1001547. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001547
- Aguirre AA, Ostfeld RS, Tabor GM, House C, Pearl MC, editors. *Conservation Medicine: Ecological Health in Practice*. New York, United States: Oxford University Press Inc. (2002).
- 5. Deem SL, Dennis P. Role of zoos in one health. *One Health Newslett* (2012) 5:4–7.
- Koch M. Wildlife, people and development: veterinary contributions to wildlife health and resource management in Africa. *Trop Anim Health Prod* (1996) 28:68–80. doi:10.1007/BF02250729
- WWF. Living Planet Report 2016. Risk and Resilience in a New Era. Gland, Switzerland: WWF (2016).
- Deem SL. Conservation medicine to one health: the role of zoologic veterinarians. In: Miller RE, Fowler ME, editors. *Fowler's Zoo and Wild Animal Medicine*. St. Louis, Missouri: Saunders Elsevier (2015). p. 698–703.
- Jones KE, Patel NG, Levy MA, Storeygard A, Balk D, Gittleman JL, et al. Global trends in emerging infectious diseases. *Nature* (2008) 451:990–4. doi:10.1038/ nature06536

While individuals' concerns over health-care costs and chronic diseases need to be addressed by One Health practitioners, infectious diseases should not be neglected in communication between zoos and the public. As climate change progresses and human habitats expand, there will be an increase in human–wildlife interactions, leading to an increase in zoonotic disease transmission (21, 28–30). Zoos have both the resources and capabilities to promote One Health, and they may provide messaging about it by sharing information on the positive health impacts zoos offer to their human visitors, while continuing to work to promote healthy habitats for humans and animals.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study involved an online survey of members and was exempt from Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval. Completion of the survey indicated consent.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Conception or design of the work and acquisition, analysis or interpretation of data for the work; drafting the work or revising it critically for important intellectual content; final approval of the version to be published: and agreement to be accountable for all aspects of the work: HP, AN, ET, and SD.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Kathleen Apakupakul and Kirinne Slaughter for their reviews and comments. We are also grateful to the ICM staff and students for their work in One Health over the first years of the ICM.

- Cork S, Hall D, Liljebjelke K. One Health Case Studies: Addressing Complex Problems in a Changing World. 1st ed. Sheffield, UK: 5M Publishing Ltd. (2016).
- Decker DJ, Evensen DTN, Siemer WF, Leong KM, Riley SJ, Wild MA, et al. Understanding risk perceptions to enhance communication about human-wildlife interactions and the impacts of zoonotic disease. *ILAR J* (2010) 51(3):255–61. doi:10.1093/ilar.51.3.255
- Decker DJ, Schuler K, Forstchen AB, Wild MA, Siemer WF. Wildlife health and public trust responsibilities for wildlife resources. J Wildl Dis (2016) 52(4):775–84. doi:10.7589/2016-03-066
- Fisman DN, Laupland KB. The "one health" paradigm: time for infectious diseases clinicians to take note? *Can J Infect Dis Med Microbiol* (2010) 21(3):111-4. doi:10.1155/2010/420628
- Peterson MN, Mertig AG, Liu J. Effects of zoonotic disease attributes on public attitudes towards wildlife management. J Wildl Manage (2004) 70(6):1746–53. doi:10.2193/0022-541X(2006)70[1746:EOZDAO]2.0.CO;2
- Robinette C, Saffran L, Ruple A, Deem SL. Zoos and public health: a partnership on the One Health frontier. *One Health* (2016) 3:1–4. doi:10.1016/j. onehlt.2016.11.003
- Klepeis NE, Nelson WC, Ott WR, Robinson JP, Switzer P. The national human activity pattern survey (NHAPS) a resource for assessing exposure to environmental pollutants. *J Exp Sci Environ Epidemiol* (2001) 11(3):231. doi:10.1038/sj.jea.7500165
- Kuo M. How might contact with nature promote human health? Promising mechanisms and a possible central pathway. *Front Psychol* (2015) 6:1093. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01093
- Sakagami T, Ohta M. The effect of visiting zoos on human health and quality of life. Anim Sci J (2010) 81:129–34. doi:10.1111/j.1740-0929.2009.00714.x

- Kaplan R, Kaplan S. The Experience of Nature. Cambridge University Press (1989).
- Maller C, Townsend M, Pryor A, Brown P, Leger LST. Healthy nature healthy people: "contact with nature" as an upstream health promotion intervention for populations. *Health Promot Int* (2005) 21(1):45–54. doi:10.1093/heapro/dai032
- McMichael T. Human Frontiers, Environments and Disease. Past Patterns, Uncertain Futures. Cambridge: UK University Press, The Syndicate of the University of Cambridge (2001).
- Taylor AF, Kuo FE, Sullivan WC. Coping with ADD: the surprising connection to green play settings. *Environ Behav* (2001) 33(1):54–77. doi:10.1177/00139160121972864
- Sahrmann JM, Niedbalski A, Bradshaw L, Johnson R, Deem SL. Changes in human health parameters associated with a touch tank experience at a zoological institution (2015) 10:1–10. doi:10.1002/zoo.21257
- 24. Saint Louis Zoo. One Health Fair [Flyer]. St. Louis, MO: Saint Louis Zoo (2017).
- Proctor BD, Semega JL, Kollar MA. *Income and Poverty in the United States:* 2015. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office (2016).
- Bratman GN, Hamilton JP, Daily GC. The impacts of nature experience on human cognitive function and mental health. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* (2012) 1249:118–36. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2011.06400.x

- 27. Williams F. *The Nature Fix. Why Nature Makes Us Happier, Healthier, and More Creative.* 1st ed. New York: W.W. Norton & Company (2017).
- 28. Health and Science Bulletin. A controlled trial to prevent Nipah virus transmission in Bangladesh. *Health Sci Bullet* (2016) 14(1):e42689.
- Lawson ET, Ayivor JS, Ohemeng F, Ntiamoa-Baidu Y. Social determinants of a potential spillover of bat-borne viruses to humans in Ghana. *Int J Biol* (2016) 8(2):66–76. doi:10.5539/ijb.v8n2p66
- Ranjan K, Prasad M, Prasad G. Bats: carriers of zoonotic viral and emerging infectious diseases. J Exp Biol Agric Sci (2016) 4:2320. doi:10.18006/2016.4 (3S).291.306

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Padda, Niedbalski, Tate and Deem. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Urban Livestock Keeping in the City of Nairobi: Diversity of Production Systems, Supply Chains, and Their Disease Management and Risks

Pablo Alarcon^{1,2*}, Eric M. Fèvre^{3,4}, Patrick Muinde⁴, Maurice K. Murungi⁴, Stella Kiambi^{4,5}, James Akoko⁴ and Jonathan Rushton^{1,2,3}

¹ Royal Veterinary College, University of London, London, United Kingdom, ²Leverhulme Centre for Integrated Research in Agriculture and Health, London, United Kingdom, ³Institute for Infection and Global Health, University of Liverpool, Liverpool, United Kingdom, ⁴International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI), Nairobi, Kenya, ⁵University of Nairobi, Nairobi, Kenya

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Marta Hernandez-Jover, Charles Sturt University, Australia

Reviewed by:

Karl Ståhl, National Veterinary Institute, Sweden Nicolas Antoine-Moussiaux, University of Liège, Belgium

> *Correspondence: Pablo Alarcon palarcon@rvc.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Veterinary Epidemiology and Economics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 29 May 2017 Accepted: 26 September 2017 Published: 25 October 2017

Citation:

Alarcon P, Fèvre EM, Muinde P, Murungi MK, Kiambi S, Akoko J and Rushton J (2017) Urban Livestock Keeping in the City of Nairobi: Diversity of Production Systems, Supply Chains, and Their Disease Management and Risks. Front. Vet. Sci. 4:171. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2017.00171 Urban livestock keeping in developing cities have an important role in food security and livelihoods but can also pose a significant threat to the environment and health of urban dwellers. The aim of this study was to identify the different livestock systems in Nairobi, their supply chains, and their management and food safety risks. Seven focus group discussions with livestock production officers in charge of each major Nairobi sub-county were conducted. Data were collected on the type of systems existing for each livestock species and their supply chains, disease management, food safety risks, and general husbandry and gender factors. Supply chain flow diagrams and thematic analysis of the data was done. Results of the study show a large variability of livestock keeping in Nairobi. The majority were small scale with: <5 dairy cows, 1-6 dairy goats, <10 small ruminants, <20 pigs, 200-500 broilers, 300-500 layers, <10 indigenous chickens, or <20 rabbits. Beef keeping was mainly described as a "by the way" system or done by traders to fatten animals for 3 month. Supply chain analysis indicated that most dairy farmers sold milk directly to consumers due to "lack of trust" of these in traders. Broiler and pig farmers sold mainly to traders but are dependent on few large dominating companies for their replacement or distribution of products. Selling directly to retailers or consumers (including own consumption), with backyard slaughtering, were important chains for small-scale pig, sheep and goat, and indigenous chicken keepers. Important disease risk practices identified were associated with consumption of dead and sick animals, with underground network of brokers operating for ruminant products. Qualified trained health managers were used mainly by dairy farmers, and large commercial poultry and pig farmers, while use of unqualified health managers or no treatment were common in small-scale farming. Control of urban livestock keepers was reported difficult due to their "feeling of being outlaws," "lack of trust" in government, "inaccessibility" in informal settlements, "lack of government funding," or "understaffing." Findings are useful for designing policies to help to control urban livestock production and minimize its associated health and environment risks.

Keywords: urban livestock, supply chain, disease management, food safety, Nairobi, gender, risk practices

INTRODUCTION

Urban agriculture is a dynamic concept that comprises a variety of livelihood systems ranging from subsistence production and processing at the household level to more commercialized agriculture. However, many urban farmers around the world operate without formal recognition of their main livelihood activity and lack the structural support of proper municipal policies and legislation (1). The attention given to urban agriculture has grown quickly over the past decades with the formation of an urban agriculture advisory committee by the United Nations Development Program in 1991. Mireri (2) classified urban farmers into three categories: (1) urban inhabitants who rely on farming as an important source of food; (2) commercial urban farmers who are formally employed and engaged in farming to supplement their hitherto low wages; and (3) those doing farming as their employment due to a weak economic base or lack of appropriate skills to participate in the modern sector. In addition, some people in urban areas keep animals for traditional purposes or as hobby. All these urban livestock keepers can play an important role in food security, but can also represent an important risk of pathogens transmission (zoonotic and non-zoonotic) and environmental contamination (1, 3, 4).

Nairobi, with 3.4 million inhabitants, is one of the fastestgrowing cities in Africa with increasing demand for land and animal source products (5). The conversion and encroachment of potential agricultural lands into urban and peri-urban residential uses is leading to rapid transformations of the agricultural production (6). Today, regardless of farming being prohibited within city boundaries, there is a significant population of livestock (7). According to the 2013 report produced by the Kenyan Ministry of Livestock and Development (MoLD), the livestock population in the city was around 1.3 million (8). Crude biomass estimations indicate that there was 0.22 kg of livestock biomass per 1 kg of human biomass (0.11 kg of pigs, 0.09 kg of dairy cattle, 0.2 kg of beef, sheep and goats, 0.01 kg of poultry).1 Poultry (with over 880,000 birds, half of them broilers) and pigs represented, however, the largest number of livestock in the city. In the period 2009–2012, the population of broilers in Nairobi has doubled, the population of layer birds has increased by 34% and the population of pigs has increased by 56% (8). Urban dairy cattle produced almost 4.5 million kilogram of milk per year, with a 4 and 14% increase in production in 2012 and 2011, respectively. Dairy, broiler, and egg production represented the priority commercial enterprise among livestock keepers in most parts of the city. Rabbit and dairy goat are emerging urban productions, while the sheep population rose 15% in 2012. Despite the overall increase in urban livestock population in Nairobi, there is a lack of comprehensive studies describing the type of livestock systems in the city, the value chains used, their role and their animal health and food safety management. For this, thematic qualitative research methods are useful as they allow exploring and identifying the diversity of systems and factors, and avoid restricting findings to predetermined knowledge. Furthermore, given the large size of the city and the wide range of livestock species raised, focus group discussions (FGDs) with key informants represent the most efficient approach to capture an overview of urban livestock keeping that can then be used for more detailed and focused research studies. For this, the livestock production officers (LPOs) represent a potential group of key informants. These are public administrators within the Ministry of Livestock Development whose jurisdiction is to supervise, give advice, and provide extension services on husbandry and farm practices to livestock keepers. These officers are, therefore, routinely exposed to the different types of livestock keepers in the city, giving them an important field experience and overall understanding of these urban systems, as shown in their 2013 report on livestock production in Nairobi (8).

The present study aims, through focus groups with Nairobi LPOs, to (1) identify and quantify the type of livestock keepers in Nairobi, (2) map their supply chains, (3) describe their main husbandry and gender patterns, and (4) assess their principal animal health management and food safety risk practices.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The Approach and Selection of Participants

A cross-sectional study was conducted in Nairobi County, Kenya, in 2013 and 2014. Six FGDs were conducted with LPOs from six Nairobi sub-counties (one separate FGDs per sub-county): Dagoretti (three participants), Lang'ata (four participants), Kasarani, Embakasi (both with five participants), and Njiru and Makadara (both with three participants). In addition, one FGD was conducted with a neighboring sub-county (Thika west-three participants) (Figure 1). These sub-counties represented the former district divisions. Kamukunji and Starehe sub-counties were not included in the study because they are located in the Nairobi's business center and have minimal livestock production. Westlands district was not visited; Dagoretti was used as a proxy for this district. Overall, 23 participants (10 women and 13 men) LPOs participated in the FGDs. These belonged to a range of ethnic groups coexisting in Kenya (Kikuyu, Kamba, Luo, Kalenjin, Luhya, among others).

Research study ethical approval was obtained from the ethical committees from the International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI-IREC2014-04/1) and the Royal Veterinary College (URN 2013 0084H). Permission to do the study was granted by the Kenyan Ministry of Agriculture and Livestock Development. The FGDs were organized with the help of the chief LPOs of each sub-county, who facilitated assistance of the officers.

Data Collection

The FGDs followed a semi-structured interview guide. The purpose of the study was explained prior to the FGDs to participants; these were requested to provide written consent. Subsequently, the officers were asked to enumerate and explain their roles and

¹Crude biomass estimations based on data from the Ministry of Livestock and Development report 2013 (8) and using corresponding average adult live weights and half of this weight for young people and livestock. The estimation also assumes that 75% of humans are adults; 75% of dairy cattle, dairy goats, and layers birds are adults; and 50% of other livestock are adults.



responsibilities as LPOs and the main challenges they faced as part of their everyday work. After this, the FGD activity was divided into seven parts; each of these focused on a specific livestock species (i.e., broilers, layers, indigenous chicken, pigs, beef cattle, dairy cattle, and small ruminants). Other livestock species were then also discussed if found relevant by participants in the area (e.g., dairy goats and rabbits).

For each livestock species, the following aspects were covered with the participants:

- 1. Identification of different production systems in their respective sub-counties: LPOs were given the freedom to categorize farms as they felt appropriate, but were also asked to categorize livestock keepers according to the size of production systems. Once the different systems were identified, LPOs were asked to estimate the proportion of livestock keepers falling under each type of production system. The classification was then drawn in a flipchart and was used as a basis for subsequent questions.
- Mapping of existing supply chains: the main input sources (replacement stock, feed, and water) and output sources (animals and animal-derived products) used by the different systems were mapped. The proportion of livestock/

product flowing through each supply chain for each livestock system was then estimated based on feedback provided by participants.

- 3. Identification and description of the relevant formal and informal animal health providers in each production system.
- 4. Description of the management practices of dead animals and the perception and experiences shared by participants concerning the most important food safety risks associated with each livestock production system.
- 5. Description of the main gender's roles and responsibilities for each livestock production system.

The interview guide allow for flexibility and probing of the questions depending on the issues raised by participants (e.g., follow-up questions were possible if a food safety risk was mentioned by participants when discussing other sections, such as supply chain structure). The finalized interview guide used for the FGD can be accessed in the Supplementary Material Annex A. Quantitative data were obtained through achieving consensus on the adequate proportions and ranks given to each system, supply chain, or other factor. For this, participants were asked to agree or to provide a different estimate on the proportion obtained. When discrepancies emerged, the facilitator encouraged the discussion

among participants to agree on final estimate. All seven FGDs were voice recorded and six of these were also video recorded after permission was given by participants. Each FGD lasted between 3 and 4.5 h.

Data Analysis

Data collation and qualitative thematic analysis: all data were collated into templates using a customized Microsoft Word document. These templates presented the following coding structure, repeated accordingly for each livestock species (except the first two codes):

- (1) LPO responsibilities,
- (2) LPO challenges,
- (3) Value chain functionality:
 - a. Type of livestock systems,
 - b. Source of replacement animals,
 - c. Source of feed and water,
 - d. Distribution of livestock and animal-derived products,
 - e. Challenges in the supply chains,
 - f. Livestock keepers associations or groups (formal or informal).
- (4) Animal husbandry issues
- (5) Gender issues,
- (6) Use of different animal health providers,
- (7) Management of dead animals,
- (8) Food safety risks,
- (9) Other factors.

Triangulation was followed for the purpose of this project, through an iterative process of careful analysis of the content of the memos produced by researchers during the FDGs with the respective audio/video recordings of these sessions. Relevant data were then collated and placed within each of the coding sections. Thematic analysis (9) of the data was then conducted to identify salient themes that provide an understanding of the factors associated with the codes described above. A theme may represent a perception reported by the participants about a given code (e.g., a perception on a given food safety risk) or could be a factor emerging from the discussions between the participants that the authors identified as relevant within a specific code (e.g., "Adult pigs are slaughtered in backyard areas without any inspection" reported during discussion of supply chain functionality and classified as a theme within food safety risks). This analysis was performed separately for each sub-county (or each FGD), in order to maintain association of salient themes with the relevant geographical area. Themes from all the areas were then compared to produce a narrative for each of the codes. In addition, salient themes related to animal health managers were plotted in diagrams to better visualize dissimilarities on the roles of these stakeholders across the different types of livestock production systems. The same team of researchers that conducted the FGDs also performed all transcriptions of relevant information from audiovisual records for consistency purposes. The thematic analysis was mainly performed by the first author. The emerging themes were reviewed by two co-authors who participated in the FGDs for validation purposes.

Supply chain mapping analysis: a mapping diagram that represented the overall urban farming supply chains in Nairobi was produced for each livestock species. For this purpose, the diagrams obtained in the focus groups (in the flipcharts) in combination with the salient themes related to chain mapping information collated through the transcription of the audiovisual recordings were combined. Mapping diagrams were drawn using SmartDraw version 4.1 (SmartDraw software Incorporated, San Diego, CA, USA). The use of FGDs to mapping food value chain systems was based on previous studies conducted by Alarcon et al. (10).

RESULTS

Category of Livestock Farms in Nairobi

Classification of livestock keepers according to size of production is shown in **Table 1**.

Dairy Cattle Keeping

Categories of Dairy Cattle Keepers

According to the participants, small-scale farmers with 1–3 animals represented the majority (50–80%) in the city, and were the only type of dairy system reported in informal settlements. Slums were estimated to harbor about 5% of dairy animals in a sub-county. Medium and large farms in the city had between 4 and 20 dairy cattle. Small-scale farmers had an estimated average production of 9–10 l per cow per day, while medium- and large-scale farmers had an estimated average production of 20 and 25 l per day per cow, respectively.

Mapping of Nairobi Dairy Cattle Keepers Supply Chain

The map of the supply chain used by Nairobi dairy farmers, as described by LPOs, is shown in Figure 2. Almost all milk produced was reported to be consumed locally and was believed to represent between 10 and 25% of milk consumption in the city (5% of consumption in informal settlements). Participants perceived that dairy farmers prefer selling their milk directly to consumers (60-95%) because it is "more profitable," while consumers prefer buying from farmers because of "trust in quality," "cheaper prices," and its "easy access." Furthermore, hawkers (street mobile vendors) were mentioned not to buy milk from local farms because of "high farm-gate prices compared to farms outside Nairobi." However, in some informal settlements local farmers selling to hawkers were reported to be the prominent route of supply. The general pattern described was: small-scale farmers mostly selling directly to consumers; medium-scale farmers selling to processors, hawkers, hotels, and traders; and large-scale farms selling almost exclusively to processors. Several farmers in Nairobi also were reported to make fermented milk ("mala") from the excess of milk, which was consumed in the family or to sell it to limited number of local consumers.

General Dairy Cattle Farm Management and Gender Characteristics and Challenges

A zero-grazing system was reported to be the most frequent, where farmers cut the grasses alongside the roads and collect

Species	Farm type	Dagoretti	Njiru	Kasarani	Langa'ta	Makadara	Embakasi	Thika west
Dairy cow	Total animals V. small	3,884	1,157	7,744	11,345 -	535 1 (40%)	1,900	_
	Small	1–2 (majority)	1–3 (30%)	2–5 (50%)	1–2 (70%)	2–3 (40%)	1–3 (65%)	1–5 (80%)
	Medium	3–20	4–10 (60%)	6–19 (25%)	3–5 (29%)	4-9 (20%)	4-10 (20%)	6–10 (18%)
	Large	-	11–50 (10%)	>20 (20%)	11–15 (1%)	10	11–20 (15%)	10-20 (1.5%)
	V. large	-	_	300 (5%)	-	-	_	>20 (0.5%)
Sheep and	Total animals	7,922	5,425	9,820	22,390	2,048	5,370	
goats	V. small		<5	-	-	-	-	-
	Small	2–3 (80%)	6-10 (20%)	2-3 (70%)	1-6 (80%)	5-10 (70%)	1–3 (30%)	1–3
	Medium	10-20 (20%)	11-20 (60%)	10-15 (10%)	7-12 (18%)	11-50 (30%)	4-10 (20%)	4-10
	Large		21-50 (10%)	20-30	_	-	11-100 (35%)	10-15
	V. large		50-500 (5%)	>100	200	-	100–500 (15%)	
Pigs	Total animals	4,911	3,334	16,136	?	1,269	3,660	
	Small	-	1–5 (35%)	2-10 (80%)	2–8	1–2	1–5 (25%)	1-10 (80%)
	Medium	-	6-50 (15%)	11–15 (30%)	9–15	3–5	6-20 (60%)	11-20 (15%)
	Large	5-49	>50 (15%)	50	16-40	6–10	21-50 (15%)	30-50 (5%)
	V. large	50-100	_	-	-	>20	100-500 sows	-
Rabbits	Total animals	3,087	3,361	9,352	6,380	5,666	2,350	
	Small	1–5 (majority)	1–5 (40%)	-	5–10 (28%)	1-5 (60%)	1-20 (60%)	-
	Medium	-	6–20 (50%)	-	11-30 (70%)	6-10 (20%)	21–100 (35%)	-
	Large	-	21-100 (10%)	-	50-100 (2%)	11–20 (10%)	101–200 (5%)	-
	V. large	-	-	-	-	20–60 (10%) – one farm 500	-	-
Broiler chicken	Total animals	252,273	16,435	39,950	274,062	17,600	22,000	
	Household	-	Ap. 20 (2%)	-	-	-	-	-
	V. small	-	-	-	-	10 (5%)	-	150–200 (10%)
	Small	-	100–250 (30%)	100 (20%)	100-200 (40%)	50–100 (15%)	50-100 (30%)	300-800 (80%)
	Medium	-	251-800 (60%)	200–250 (65%)	201-500 (40%)	100–200 (30%)	101–500 (70%)	500-3,000 (8%)
	Large	-	801–3,000 (8%)	6,000 (15%)	501–2,000 (20%)	200–500 (30%)	501-1,000	5,000-10,000
	V. large	_	_	6,000-10,000	_	_	_	(2%)
Layer birds	Total animals	13,016	13,789	59,605	23,006	15,000	30,500	
Eayor birdo	Small	<300	200–500 (20%)	100-200	50-100 (50%)	<100 (30%)	20–100 (30%)	300–500 (80%)
	Medium	300-500	501-1,000 (70%)	250-500	101–200 (30%)	100-200 (50%)	101–300 (70%)	500-1,000 (15%)
	Wooddin	(majority)	001 1,000 (1070)	200 000	101 200 (0070)	100 200 (00 /0)	101 000 (1070)	000 1,000 (1070)
	Large	-	1,001–2,500 (10%)	100-600	201-500 (20%)	200–500 (20%)	_	>5,000 (5%)
	V. large	10,000 (1 farm)	-	-	- ,	- ` `	-	-
Indigenous birds	Total animals	41,177	34,669	86,656	20,071	14,500	35,500	
	Household	5 (100%)	1-5 (20%)	1–10 (80%)	1-10 (70%)	2-10	3–10 (100%)	1–10
	V. small		_ /	_		-		-
	Small	-	6-20 (40%)	-	11–50 (25%)	10–20	-	20-100
	Medium	-	21-50 (30%)	20-50 (20%)	51-100 (5%)	-	-	-
			()	. ,				
	Large	-	51–200 (10%)		>100 (1 farm)	200 (1 farm)	-	-

TABLE 1 | Number of livestock keept per livestock keeper category identified for each species in Nairobi (in brackets the proportion of livestock keepers with each species in each area).

vegetable leftovers, such as kales, cabbages, and maize stoves, from vegetable markets to feed the animals. Some farmers were described to purchase commercial feed from agrovet shops, while few farmers were able to make their own feed formulation. Medium-scale farmers in some areas were reported to buy hay and by-products from brewery companies and about 40% to have their own silage. Several dairy keepers were said to have contract with crop farmers to purchase Napier grass, or exchange it with manure. Large-scale farms were believed to have their own agricultural land outside Nairobi to feed their animals. It was reported that rarely dairy farmers kept a bull for reproduction purposes because of their high cost.

In small-scale farms, dairy animals were said to generally belong to the husband, who makes the major decisions such as buying or selling them. The women were described to be involved in managing the animals and selling the milk, and the money obtained to be shared with the husband. However, for medium- and large-scale farms, men were reported to dominate management activities with increased physical work, such as carrying feeds, while women were mainly involved in milking. In large-scale farms, all the activities were explained to be mostly done by men.

The LPOs perceived that one of the important challenges faced by dairy farmers was the "lack of land" to construct the

Urban Livestock Systems in Nairob



FIGURE 2 | Supply chain mapping for the dairy urban keepers (left) and small ruminant urban keepers (right) in Nairobi. The box at the bottom of the figure shows the percentage of the overall flow of products (dairy) or animals (small ruminants) within each of the distribution chains identified in each sub-county.

recommended animal houses and to graze the animals. Many dairy farmers were described to have "poor and dirty structures" to keep their animals. In informal settlements, many dairy keepers were said to share the same house with their cattle, keeping these in the living rooms or in the bedrooms. "Insecurity" was another challenge identified by participants, with animals being stolen and sold to slaughterhouses. LPOs explained that farmers prefer building animal houses close to residential houses to protect animals from thieves. The "high price of feeds" was believed to be the main challenge faced by medium and large-scale farms.

Beef Keeping

Category of Beef Keepers

It was estimated that most beef animals reared are Boranas or zebu. Beef farming in Nairobi was described as a "by the way production," meaning that it normally happens as an aside to dairy or other activities. Six types of beef keepers were identified in Nairobi:

- (1) *Maasai beef fatteners*: these were described as Maasai communities who keep large numbers of beef cattle (and also sheep and goats) in Manyattas (temporary traditional structures) mainly for fattening purposes (~3 month). They were reported to keep from 10 to 200 animals.
- (2) *Other temporary beef fatteners*: these were described as traders who buy beef cattle from rural areas and fatten them for 1 month in areas near the slaughterhouses in Nairobi.
- (3) Animal transit keepers: they were described as mainly pastoralists (mostly Maasai) who graze their animals along the roads and to come from neighbor counties outside Nairobi, such as Kajiado. They were said to come in search for pastures, especially during the dry seasons.
- (4) *Keepers that come to slaughter*: these were identified by LPOs as people who bring their animals for slaughter or sale in the city terminal markets. However, in several cases, these animals were believed to end up staying for long periods in the area and some even to reproduce.
- (5) *Beef farms*: in one sub-county, two beef farms with normal breeding activity were identified. Few institutions, such as schools, also were reported to rear beef cows.
- (6) Bull calves producers: these were described as traders who buy small male calves at weaning from the dairy farmers and rear them. Also, some dairy farmers were said to keep few male calves and rear them for sale at one and half years old. It was estimated that these producers correspond to the majority of beef keepers in one sub-county (60%).

Supply Chain Analysis of Nairobi Beef Keepers

Participants reported that most animals from beef farms in Nairobi are sold to traders or brokers who slaughter the animals in the terminal markets that are close to their settlement. Some were said to be sold directly to butchers and retailers. In this case, animals were described to be also slaughtered in the terminal markets. In many settlements, such as the Maasai fatteners, the milk and mala (fermented milk) from beef cows was believed to be produced and consumed by them. Some beef producers in the city were mentioned to sell beef calves to finishing farms outside the sub-county.

General Beef Farm Management and Gender Characteristics

Most animals kept by Massai beef fatteners were reported to graze in informally organized pasture areas within the sub-county, along roads and river sides. In Embakasi, up to 1,000 beef cattle were estimated to be found in grazing areas near the abattoirs. LPOs believed that these keepers do not own the land, but that this normally belongs to the government. The bull calves were described to be mainly zero grazed (80%) or to be tethered outside to graze (20%). The zero-grazed animals were reported to be normally fed on "high-quality feed" from agrovet shops and/or with grass or hay cut along the road. Some beef keepers were said to have small gardens that they use to cut grass.

Participants perceived that men dominate all beef rearing and selling activities in the city, with the exception of beef calves born on dairy farms. In these farms, women were reported to mainly rear the animals, but the men to maintain the ownership and to sell them.

Sheep and Goats Keeping

Category of Small Ruminant Keepers

The majority of small ruminant keepers were classified as small-scale (1-5 goats) and medium-scale farms (4-20 small ruminants), except in one sub-county where 50% of animals were reported to be clustered in large and very-large farms, with up to 500 sheep and goats per farm. Large farms with over 100 animals were described as Maasai temporary farms, but who could raise animals for up to 6 years. Transit keepers were also reported, corresponding to those that bring the animals to the terminal market or for grazing only. Fatteners, who are traders that buy animals in terminal market and fatten them for 2 month, were also identified. The ratio of goat to sheep varied depending on the size of the farms, with small farms keeping mostly goats and larger farms having an equal share of both species. In informal settlements, only small sheep and goat keepers were reported to exist. Most of these small-scale farmers were believed to keep small ruminant as a source for emergency funds.

The main breed of sheep in Nairobi farms were reported to be the Red Maasai and the Dorper. More purebreeds were said to be found in large farms, and a mixture of breeds in the mediumand small-scale farms. The main breeds of goats were the East African goat and the Galla goat.

Mapping of Nairobi Small Ruminant Keepers Supply Chain

Figure 2 also shows the supply chain associated with Nairobi small ruminant keepers, as perceived by LPOs. Several LPO focus groups had difficulties separating the food chains of goats and sheep. The reason reported was that many stakeholders sell sheep products, but label them as goat products. This was believed to be done because (1) "goats have higher demand than sheep in the market," and therefore a higher value, (2) "consumers cannot differentiate between sheep and goat meat," (3) "some consumers believe that goats carry fewer diseases," and (4) "for some families sheep meat is a taboo." Consequently, butchers were recommended to leave part of the goat tail in the carcass to facilitate

identification. Sheep supply chains were reported to be directed to high income consumers or type of families with culture of eating these animals.

Backyard slaughter on the farm or homestead was reported as a frequent practice and associated with festive seasons and celebrations or ceremonies. For this, many consumers were believed by LPOs to prefer buying directly from Maasai keepers because their goats are perceived to have "better taste" as they are grazed in the forest. The main reasons provided for consumers to buy from local farms directly and do backyard slaughtering were (1) the "high prices in festive seasons" (it is cheaper to buy a live goat) and (2) the fact that this "helps them to have fun, learn how to slaughter and to teach their children."

General Farm Management and Gender Characteristics and Challenges

Small farms were described to mainly feed their animals through scavenging, but also using vegetable markets waste and restaurant food leftovers. In two sub-counties, over 50% of small farms were estimated to raise their sheep and goats with zero-grazing practices. Most medium-scale keepers were reported to operate using a zero-grazing feeding regime. Large farms and fatteners were said to graze their animals in pastoral areas in the city. As with beef, Maasai keepers were described to raise and graze their animals in land owned by other people or the government.

Livestock production officers perceived men to dominate small ruminant rearing and selling among the Maasai keepers in the city. In other tribes and for small-scale farms, women were reported to be involved in rearing the animals because "these are easy to manage," but men to be in charge of selling them. Participants believed that the main challenges faced by small ruminant keepers were the "lack of grazing area," with grazing areas near the river being fenced; "insecurity and thieves," especially in festive seasons with transit farmers more affected; and "animal diseases."

Pig Keeping

Categories of Pig Keepers

Small-scale farmers keeping 1–5 pigs (1–2 sows) were identified by LPOs as the most frequent system. These were reported to be mainly located in informal settlements (80% of pigs in Korogocho and almost all in Kibera). However, in Dandora dumping site, with 1,500 pigs, 65% of keepers were estimated to have between 6 and 50 pigs. Very-large farms composed of 100–500 sows were reported to exist in one sub-county. Around 70% of pig farmers in the city were described as farrow-to-finishing in the city, while the rest were finishing farms. Pigs were mentioned to be sold at a live weight of 70–90 kg and at 8 month of age for small and medium keepers, and at 5 month of age for large farms.

Mapping of Nairobi Pig Keepers Supply Chain

Figure 3 shows the supply chain associated with Nairobi pig keepers, as perceived by LPOs. Selling pigs to a large integrated company (Farmers' choice) was reported as the most frequent chain in two sub-counties (50–70%) and to be minimal in other areas. It was mentioned that this company requires large number of animals per shipment and, therefore, is only accessible to

medium to very-large farms. "Better prices" and "proximity to the company slaughterhouse" were also important factors perceived by participants for farmers to sell to this company. Selling live pigs to pork butcheries through brokers was reported to be mostly done by small- and medium-scale farmers in some sub-counties. However, in other sub-counties brokers were said not to be used because of the low prices they offered for pigs. In these areas, brokers were reported to be used only to sell dead pigs or pigs on the verge of death. Backyard slaughtering was described as a frequent practice due to "lack of abattoirs" existing in most subcounties and the main route for pigs in informal settlements. In addition, some farmers were mentioned to sell pigs directly to consumers when they have gilts injured during mating.

General Farm Management and Gender Characteristics and Challenges

Feeding of pigs was dependent on the size of the farm and the area (peri-urban, urban, or informal settlement). Small-scale farmers were reported to largely depend on swill and market waste (e.g., sukumawiki, avocadoes, and fruits peeling) and to rarely include any commercial feed because of "lack of capital." Free-range scavenging, with no commercial feed supplement, was described to be practiced by a large proportion of small-scale farmers (50–70%), especially in informal settlements. These farmers were mentioned to release their piglets at 7 weeks of age to scavenge with their mother. The medium-scale farmers were reported to use swill (from restaurants and schools) and commercial feed (mostly from agrovet shops).

Pig keeping in the city was perceived by LPOs a male dominated activity (mostly by youth), except in large farms where both genders were reported to be involved. The important physical activity required (e.g., pulling carts full of market waste) and the fact that pig keeping is done in a "dirty environment" were the main reasons identified by the participants for the lack of women operating in these systems. Women were said to be involved only on cleaning activities. Main challenges believed to be associated with pig keepers were: the "lack of pork abattoirs," "scavenging pigs discourage consumption of pork," "perception of being outlaws," and "monopoly of pork in Kenya by [a big integrated company]." For the latter, it was reported that in times when this company stops buying pigs for one reason or another, many farmers ended up keeping their animals unsold for long periods.

Poultry Keeping Category of Poultry Keepers

Broilers Keepers

Medium-scale farmers keeping between 200 and 500 birds were perceived as the most common broiler system in Nairobi (60–70%). However, in informal settlements such as Kibera, about 80% were estimated to be small-scale farmers, with less than 100 birds. The "very large"-scale farms were reported to be owned by large processing companies. Farmers were also categorized as operating as "individuals" or in "commercial groups." It was reported that many of these commercial groups form medium-scale farms by keeping birds together while maintaining individual ownership. These groups were believed to have been



FIGURE 3 | Supply chain mapping for the pig urban keepers (left) and poultry urban keepers (right) in Nairobi. The box at the bottom of the figure shows the percentage of the overall flow of products or animals within each of the distribution chains identified in each sub-county.

created "to obtain funding from the government," "to get training services," and "to improve access to markets."

Layers Keepers

Majority of farms were estimated to keep between 100 and 300 layers. Medium and large farms were described to be run by individual farmers, women groups or institutions, such as secondary schools and churches.

Indigenous Chicken Keepers

Almost all indigenous chickens (65–100%) were reported to be owned by households, who have between 1 and 20 birds. Few large commercial farms with >50 to a maximum of 200 birds were mentioned to exist in several sub-counties.

Mapping of Nairobi Poultry Keepers Supply Chain

Figure 3 shows the supply chain associated with Nairobi poultry keepers, as perceived by LPOs.

Sourcing of poultry:

- *Broilers*: the large majority of broiler farmers in Nairobi (70–80%) were reported to source their day old chicks (DOCs) from one company. The "fast growth of birds" (5–6 weeks to mature compared to 6–7 weeks by other sources), "better feed conversion rates," "lower mortality rates," the company "good reputation," and the "extra services" provided were identified as the main reasons for farmers to prefer this company. Other sources were believed to be used by some farmers because of their geographical proximity. In one sub-county, some farmers were mentioned to have incubators and to sell day old chickens to small-scale farms.
- *Layers*: one large company was identified as the major source of birds for the medium- and large-scale farms in Nairobi (70–80%). Small-scale farmers were reported to source birds from fellow farmers, medium-scale farms, and nearby agrovet shops. In one sub-county, small-scale farmers were reported to buy birds at point of lay (pullets) from the medium-scale farmers, "to reduce feeding cost." In another sub-county, some farmers were said to have their own hatcheries that served both their farms and neighboring small- and medium-scale farms.
- *Indigenous chicken keepers*: most household (about 80%) were reported to source their indigenous chickens from rural areas. Many were explained to be obtained in form of gifts when visiting relatives. Neighbors' farmers and local markets were perceived as other important sources for indigenous chicken in the city. Some commercial farmers were reported to own hatching equipment, while some large-scale farms purchase improved breeds from recognized breeding farms.

Distribution of poultry/products:

• *Broiler*: the majority of farmers (up to 80%), especially medium-scale farms, were estimated to sell their broilers to brokers because "they have ready market," which farmers were said to lack. However, several small-scale farmers were reported to sell directly to retailers because of higher prices. Large-scale farmers were described to sell their birds to large processing companies, who then sell to large hotels and institutions. However, these companies were reported to only buy birds from contracted farms. The legs and heads were described to be mainly distributed through brokers or given to staff as payment for slaughter services.

- *Layers*: LPO explained that eggs from Nairobi farms are sold to retailers or to brokers, who then sell them to retailers. However, brokers were perceived as the least preferred option by farmers because "farmers know the market" and "eggs are easy to carry in trays." Hawkers, those informal mobile street vendors, were identified as the people who buy the crack eggs and boil them before selling to consumers. It was believed that production in some sub-counties cover about 20% of eggs consumption. For the spent layers, it was reported that Nairobi consumers do not differentiate broilers from spent layer meat, and these are then sold in a similar manner.
- *Indigenous chickens*: own consumption or selling of birds directly to consumers were the main chains reported. The "low production of indigenous chickens" and the "high demand" for their products were explained to create an "easy market access" for farmers and "little need to use brokers." Only few brokers were said to be involved with indigenous chicken or eggs. They were stated to purchase only from desperate farmers or in festive seasons when demand is higher. Some farmers were mentioned to sell their birds to people who resell these live birds in roadside sheds or at city market.

General Farm Management and Gender Characteristics and Challenges

Broiler and Layers Keepers

Five important companies supplying feed to broilers and layer farmers were believed to operate. LPOs reported that farmers purchase feed through stockist and agrovet shops. It was believed that the raising number of feed millers has led to "poor feed qualities in the market" which has affected the level of egg production and broiler growth at the farm level. Large companies were also reported to supply feeds to farmers buying their DOCs.

Small-scale farms were described to be mainly operated by women and young woman groups; however, birds were perceived to be owned by men. Medium-scale farmers were said to be run by both genders, while large and very-large broiler farms were operated mainly by men. However, in large-scale layer farms both genders were described to be involved. Participants perceived that the main challenges associated with these system were: "brokers buying broiler per head, while selling to consumers/retailer per kg.," "lack of price harmonization," "lack of knowledge on management practices," "lack of capital to get training," "aflatoxins in feeds," "lack of hygiene at slaughtering, with use of dirty environment and water," and "poor waste disposal by new farmers."

Indigenous Chicken Keepers

Scavenging was reported in all sub-counties, with birds released in the morning to scavenge and to return back in the evening. LPO described that household indigenous chicken keepers were mainly women, the medium-scale farmers were both youth and women, while large-scale farms were run by men. Youths were reported to engage in poultry farming because of "lack of other jobs." In one area, large-scale farming was reported to be practiced by women groups. Main challenges reported by participants for indigenous chicken keepers were "massive disease outbreaks (e.g., Newcastle) due to lack of vaccination" and "thieves during festive seasons."

Other Livestock Keeping Rabbit Keeping

Rabbit farming was reported to be gaining popularity in the city and was done by (1) Individual farmers, (2) Groups, or (3) Institutions, such as schools, colleges, and prisons. New Zealand white and California white breeds were identified as the most commonly kept by medium and large-scale farms, while Flamys breed were kept by small-scale farms because of their slow growth. The large-scale farmers were affiliated to "Rabbit Kenya," the only rabbit association in the country, and to be mostly owned by institutions.

Medium- and large-scale farmers were reported to buy bucks from organizations, such as the International Livestock Research Institute, Ngong breeding station-National veterinary farm, Limuru agricultural center, Rabbit republic, and Limuru agricultural center. However, farmers were said to use their own females for breeding and small-scale farmers to buy their replacement animals from fellow neighbor farmers.

Rabbit keepers were estimated to mostly sell their animals directly to consumers or for own consumption (about 50%). However, in one sub-county 90% of farmers were believed to sell rabbits to retailers, such as butcheries and restaurants, through a network of brokers. Institutions were described to mainly keep rabbits for own consumption. Large-scale farmers were reported to also supply big supermarket in the city.

The large- and medium-scale farms were mentioned to feed their rabbits on commercial feeds (pellets), while small-scale farmers feed them on green weeds, grasses harvested from the roadsides and/or gardens, market, and kitchen vegetables leftovers. Rabbit keeping was described as an activity mostly done by woman and children, but large farms were mostly owned by men.

Dairy Goats Keeping

The majority of dairy goat farmers were described as small-scale farmers keeping 1–6 goats, while medium-scale farmers have up to 20 goats. Some medium-scale keepers were identified as institutions, such as women prisons. No large dairy goat farm was reported in the city. In several sub-counties dairy goat keepers were reported to be organized in groups, where farmers help each other in issues of breeding, production and marketing of products.

Many farms were said to source their dairy goats from renowned breeding centers/farms outside Nairobi, several of which are owned by NGOs. A few were mentioned to buy from fellow farmers in the neighborhood. About 75% of the goat milk produced in some sub-counties was estimated to originate from small-scale farmers and to be sold directly to consumers, with the rest used for own consumption. Medium-scale farms were reported to sell their milk mainly to hospitals, and some to other institutions such as colleges and private consumers. The female goats (does) that are replaced were said to be either slaughtered for home consumption or sold to livestock traders, who take them to abattoirs. Most dairy goats were described as enclosed zerograzed systems, with animals fed on commercial feeds and grass supplementation from roadside grasses and market waste. The dairy goat farming was seen as mostly managed by women, but who need to seek their husbands' permission to sell the animals.

Disease Management and Health Managers

Figures 4 and **5** shows the type of health managers used by each type of livestock keeper and the salient themes associated with each relationship. The health managers reported by LPOs were as follows:

- Agrovets (Shops selling drugs and animal feeds): these were reported to be used by all type of livestock keepers for the supply of drugs, but also to obtain free advice on disease management. However, it was estimated that about 30% of staff working in these agrovet shops lack proper training and that in some cases "farmers are cheated" with wrong information/ advice and by selling them drugs about to expire.
- Unqualified health managers ("quacks"): these were reported to be mostly used by livestock keepers in informal settlements. LPO explained that these people, however, "claimed to be trained on animal health management." When these "quacks" are faced to a disease situation that are not familiar with, they were said to "visit the LPOs for advice and by pretending to be farmers." Quacks were considered "responsible for high prevalence of animal diseases."
- *Herbalists*: were reported to be mainly used for beef and indigenous chicken keepers. For the latter, they were said to be used in non-vaccinated birds and to treat coccidiosis. Herbalists were considered to lack of any formal animal health training.
- Animal Health Assistants or "veterinarian paraprofessionals": these were described as certificate holders with animal health training from an official institution. They were described also as private agents and to be used by the majority of commercial poultry producers and dairy keepers. It was estimated that they represent about 90% of trained people giving animal health care to farmers.
- *Livestock Production Officers*: these were reported to be used by poultry keepers in informal settlements and pig keepers for issues such as deworming and vaccination. The LPOs explained that they are also frequently used by rabbit keepers as the first call for disease issues.
- *Government veterinarians*: these were considered to be mainly used for inspection of animals slaughtered on farm, by dairy farmers in case of disease outbreaks, and by rabbit keepers when LPOs cannot handle the disease condition.
- *Private veterinarians*: they were reported to be rare and expensive, and mostly used by medium and large farms, and keepers in high income areas. They are considered to be used "when treatment fails on valuable animals" or "when there are large number of deaths." Medium-scale dairy farmers were said to use them also "in cases of dystocia and for vaccination." Some large companies were reported to employ them as farm managers. Dairy goat farmers were mentioned to use them frequently because of the high value of these animals.

Urban Livestock Systems in Nairob





- *Kabete laboratories (government diagnostic service)*: it was reported to be used by poultry farmers when there is "disease outbreaks with more than 10 deaths."
- *No treatment*: many pig keepers in informal settlements and indigenous chicken keepers were considered to do not treat their sick animals, as they believe these are "resistant to disease" or fail to recognize disease in their animals.
- *Own-farmer treatment*: reported to be mostly done by dairy and pig farmers in the slums, Maasai beef keepers and indigenous chicken keepers. About 10% of livestock keepers were believed to provide self-treatment when animals get sick.

Management of Dead Animals and Main Food Safety Risks

Salient themes associated with management of dead animals and to existing food safety risks are shown in **Table 2**.

DISCUSSION

The existence of livestock keeping in the city responds to a series of factors related mostly to rapid urban growth and individual food security and income generating needs, which outpaces the growth of services and employment, resulting in the majority of urban dwellers being in the low income bracket and having limited purchasing power (3, 11, 12). This fast urban growth also reduces significantly food availability and accessibility, which is aggravated by the increasing number of wealthy consumers in the city competing for food purchases. Urban livestock keeping is, therefore, a source of food security that can release pressure on poor households (that spend 60–80% of income in food) and provide essential micronutrients to avoid malnutrition (7, 13–15). In this study, LPOs estimated that up to 25% of milk or 20% of eggs consumed originate from these urban farmers. Urban livestock is also a source of employment and income, and frequently used

to pay for children's schools fees (16, 17). On the other hand, the high demand for animal source foods and increasing number of wealthy investors in the city generates livestock enterprises that employ low income people (18). All these factors explain the large diversity in profiles of livestock keepers in the city observed in this study. This diversity ranges from small scale with 1–2 animals mostly based on own consumption to large-scale commercial farms (with 10,000 broiler, over 2,000 layers, 300 dairy cows, 500 sheep, and goats) located in the peri-urban areas. These urban livestock systems also exhibit a wide variation of management practices as they exploit a number of ecological niches. These management systems ranges from well-structured commercial farms to small zero-grazed systems, transit farmers, temporary keepers, Massai fatteners, and small informal keepers that let pigs, ruminants, or poultry to scavenge freely.

The dynamic change in Nairobi, with increasing population and booming real estate ventures is potentially impacting livestock keeping in the city (6). Many livestock farmers in former rural areas have now become part of the city. Decrease in land size has also resulted in farmers being restricted on the type and size of livestock keeping. Consequently, farmers in the city are changing to intensive poultry and pig farming and to produce alternative species, such as rabbits (8). This is a pattern that is also being seen elsewhere in rapidly developing countries, which need to meet the food security needs of a growing population. The increasing demand for poultry meat and dairy products combined with the lack of cold chain and rapidly perishable products are also the likely reasons for the large number of urban and peri-urban poultry and dairy farmers. Dairy farming was also reported to be sustained in Nairobi due to lack of trust of consumers to milk from traders. For this reason, and due to higher profitability as Omore et al. (19) also identified, almost 95% of their milk is sold directly to consumers. The main reasons for the increase in pig farming has been related to increased

TABLE 2 Themes related to the management of dead animals and existing food safety risks in urban livestock farms in Nairobi, as obtained from the focus group	
discussion with livestock production officers in Nairobi.	

Species	Themes associated with management of dead animals	Themes associated with existing food safety risks
Dairy cow	Rarely thrown away; Black market where vets lives in slaughterhouses are threatened if they do not cooperate; 90% of dead animals on farms are eaten, with 60% passing through abattoirs; Only those with suspicion of anthrax or FMD are not eaten; Given to feed dogs, or to pigs or crocodile farms; Buried; Thrown to the roadside during night hours; Dairy farmers are literate and do not eat dead animals	Use of plastic containers for milk transport; Milk containers are cleaned only with water and no disinfection; Water used for cleaning of low hygienic quality; Small farmers do not feel responsible for food safety; Sick animals that do not respond to treatment are sent to the slaughterhouse; Farmers do not observe antibiotic withdraw period; poor personal hygiene of people in charge of milking; use of dirty equipment on farms; People doing the milking of cows do not have hygiene certificate; Adulteration of milk is done with water and drugs; Small farmers disposed the manure on the roads; In slums some farmers keep dairy animals inside the household (in their bedrooms); meat is left to dry in the sun; Many dairy animals are kept in dirty shelters, with poor structures, unhygienic conditions and in high populated areas
Beef, sheep, and goats	In slums, dead animals are sold to meat butcheries at low prices, but butcheries sell to consumers at normal prices; No perception of wrongdoing when selling dead animals for consumption; Maasai people know which are the diseases (e.g., anthrax and snake bites) where dead animals should not be eaten; Farmers test for anthrax by throwing a small piece of meat (from their dead animals) to the fire and wait to see if it jumps; The black market for dead animals (operated through a network of brokers) is powerful and organized; Brokers cheat farmers by telling them they will feed their dogs with the dead animals collected (while in reality they sell the meat to consumers); Vets get life threaten to stamp meat (from dead animals on farms) and accept collusion; Few people consume dead sheep because these are perceived to have more pathogens compare to goats; 60% of beef cattle found dead on farms are consumed; 50% of small ruminant found dead on farms are consumed and the rest buried; Small-scale small ruminant keepers burn or bury their dead animals; Cook the meat and sell it to dog owners; Dead animals in field are left for dogs and birds to scavenge on them	The Maasai and small-scale farmers slaughter their sick animals, mix their carcass with some herbs and consume it; Very sick beef cattle may be sent to slaughter quickly without any treatment; Sick animals that do not respond to treatment may be sent to the slaughterhouse (to enter the food chain); Maasai bring animals from outside Nairobi to graze in the city for up to 3 month until they are slaughtered and, therefore, can transmit diseases to other animals in the area; Farmers do not observe the antibiotic withdrawal period before taking the animals to the slaughterhouse; Beef keepers use antibiotics carelessly; Beef keepers do not notify the authorities of the presence of notifiable diseases
Pigs	In slums, dead pigs are sold secretly for consumption; Dead pigs parts are boiled and used to feed other pigs; In dumping site, dead pigs are eaten by the homeless people; Farmers do not eat dead pigs, as they fear them (their meat); Thrown to dumping site for other pig and vulture birds to scavenge on them; Farmers with land bury the dead pigs	In slums, sick pigs may be slaughtered and its meat sold; Farmers do not want to incur on extra costs of treatment of sick pigs; Adult pigs are slaughtered in backyard areas without any inspection; Meat inspectors cannot inspect all pigs that are home slaughter (about 5% are not inspected); Pig feeds that are collected from markets may be contaminated; Farmers like feeding their pigs in the dumpsite and these can therefore transmit pathogens to people through contact or consumption
Poultry	Indigenous dead chickens are thrown into dumping sites for dogs to eat; Vets come to do postmortem of dead birds; When massive deaths occurs (more than 50 birds), these are sold to pig farmers; Single dead birds are cooked and fed to dogs; Small and medium-scale farmers sell dead birds to consumers; In large-scale farms, dead birds are buried; Some people throw them onto the roadside; Layer and broiler farmers do not consume dead birds because of fears of getting sick	Slaughtering is done on farm without any inspection, except for large companies; Inspection at slaughter only done when selling to big outlets (supermarkets and large processors); Hygiene of the farms and of the birds are not inspected; Source and quality of water for slaughtering and washing of carcass cannot be verified; Water contamination at transport level; Antibiotic withdrawal period is not followed by some farmers; Farmers do not wait for sick animals to die, they eat them
Rabbits	Rabbit meat is not very popular, and dead animals are not eaten; Dead rabbits are fed to dogs; Dead rabbits are not eaten even in slums and dumping sites	No inspection of rabbits is done at slaughter except when selling to reputable retailers; There are minimal food safety issues with rabbits because these are fed relatively safe feeds; Farmers do not observe antibiotic withdrawal periods after treatment, and do this knowingly; Rabbits are housed in poor structures and with poor hygiene; Rabbit feed mixes with the urine and suffer from diarrhea

urban pork consumption, proximity to established breeders from a large company and closeness to the feed manufactures (8). However, LPO perceived that the important population of pigs kept in informal scavenging systems creates consumer aversion to pork consumption (as these are perceived as dirty animals and consumer do not trust their meat), presenting therefore an important barrier for its commercialization. Nonetheless, scavenging pigs, and indigenous chickens, are relatively easy to sustain due to lack of cost on feed and housing (pigs fed and live in dumping site areas) and could represent an important source of income and/or food security to their owners living in these settlements (20, 21). On the other hand, formal pig systems are hindered by the lack of pig abattoirs, feelings of being outlaws and the dominance of one large company. Beef and small ruminant
production were reported mostly as fattening and short-term activities, and mainly associated with terminal markets in the city. Indigenous chicken and small ruminants small-scale systems were supported based on rural origin of urban dwellers and mainly for consumption in festive seasons. All these reasons in combination with the analysis of the supply chains help to explain the role, existence, and evolution of different livestock keepers in Nairobi.

Nairobi was designed originally, in its master plan in 1964, as a green city, with large open spaces, to facilitate malaria control. This was reported as an important historical factor that explains the growth of urban agriculture and livestock keeping in the city (7). However, urban livestock keeping is an activity that is usually unplanned and uncontrolled by the state (7, 15). The role of urban livestock production in food security and livelihood presents, therefore, important tradeoffs with risks of pathogens transmission and environmental contamination, exacerbated with rapid informal urban growth (4, 18). Human contact with livestock in Nairobi is potentially important based on informal systems that keep animals scavenging outdoors, living inside households or in close proximity to these, but also based on continuous movement of animals for grazing (especially by ruminant from terminal markets) or in transit within the city. In addition, many of the farms kept in zero-grazed systems are fed with market waste, swirl from restaurants, and/or grass cut on road sides, and therefore increasing movement of pathogens throughout the city. Supply chain analysis indicates large numbers of animals being slaughtered in the households or retailer backyards, with little inspection and generating possible environment contamination to humans, wildlife, and other urban livestock. Moreover, water and sewage systems in the city are not designed for livestock production. Nairobi rivers that are polluted by industrial effluents and human waste are used and contaminated by livestock (7, 17, 22). Furthermore, results in this study indicate important waste management hazards, with cadavers disposed on roads and in many occasions sold and/or consumed, with existence of organized black markets. Manure disposal also was reported to be dumped along roadsides by some farmers. Results on the use of health managers illustrate these problems, with many small livestock keepers not treating their sick animals and slaughtering them, doing self-treatment, or getting advice from untrained health managers. This potentially contributes to generate several of the food safety risks occurring and shown in Table 2. There is, therefore, important scope to generate policies and city planning that can regulate these practices and minimize pathogens transmission.

As consequence of these risks, Nairobi by-laws (dating from 1961) declare that livestock production within city boundaries is an illegal activity, which can only be licensed under specific strict conditions (7). However, law enforcement has reported to be weak (17) and contradictory (3). In this study, LPOs reported that livestock keepers are continuously "being harassed by the city council," while other government officers (such as LPOs and Government Veterinarians) provide advice on how to start a farm and also on husbandry and disease management practices. This system dysfunctionality and conflicting structures have been described as a common pattern in developing urban cities, as

"holistic solutions are not part of public administrators mandate nor these have been trained to do so" (18, 23). Furthermore, urban livestock is often seen as a sign of "backwardness," with authorities remaining hostile to these activities and few central government policies supporting it (18, 23). The situation for livestock keepers become even more difficult in informal settlements, where conflicts are created with food vendors and other business due to livestock eating their products or contaminating their environment (22). In Nairobi, control of these livestock keepers was reported in this study to present an important challenge, due to their "outlaw" status in the city, that makes them to avoid contact with government officers and generate "lack of trust"; their "general lack of training"; the "farmers lack of financial capabilities," especially those small scale and/or in informal settlements; and their "inaccessibility" due to "insecurity" of those located in informal settlements or because they are "temporal" or "transit" farmers and not always present or available. "Presence of NGOs that give money to farmers" was also another challenge reported, as these livestock keepers expect payment in training activities organized by the government. "Lack of funding," "government understaffing," and "officers lack of transport" were other factors mentioned related to poor regulation and training of livestock keepers. Since 2013, with the new constitution in Kenya and the devolution laws, Nairobi County has maintained the existing laws regarding urban livestock keeping and, hence, continue to be an illegal activity. However, LPO reported that attitude of the city council is currently changing as they "see them now as business and food security entities." Currently, new policies that will designate "areas for livestock farming" were reported to be under consideration, but it is unsure if these would be effective. However, in the authors' opinion, even though urban livestock could cause food safety and environmental risks, these could be taken care of through better management and educational programs. The importance of urban livestock to food security and livelihoods means that an outright ban should not be considered. Instead, policies aiming to educate farmers on the importance on animal and environmental health management and that can facilitate enforcement and access of government officer could potentially help to minimize risk practices occurring in urban farms. In addition, continuing understanding the role and challenges of the different livestock keeper is paramount for the implementation of policies.

Livestock production officers reported several gender differences in each of the urban livestock systems. In small systems of dairy cattle, small ruminant (including meat and dairy goats), poultry, and rabbit, women were perceived to have an important role in managing the animals. However, only for dairy cattle, dairy goats, rabbits, and indigenous chicken, women were also responsible for the selling of the animals. This may have implication on food security, as woman have been reported to better use the benefits to meet household food security needs, but also to have higher rates on unemployment (24, 25). Men were perceived to participate in the management of beef and pig systems, but generally also to maintain ownership rights in most of other livestock species systems. They were also reported to be more involved in managing animals in large-scale farms. These findings are consistent with other gender studies conducted in Kenya and Africa (26). This understanding of gender differences is critical for designing policies and interventions aiming at reducing food safety and disease risks, but also at improving food security and other potential social issues associated with urban livestock keeping.

The information generated in this study summarizes LPOs experiences, knowledge, and perception of the livestock situation in the city. This represents the main limitation of the study, as other peoples' perceptions are not accounted for. Interpretation of the results, such as the existing food safety risks identified or the themes reported by LPOs on attitudes, behaviors, and beliefs of other stakeholders, should be interpreted with care, as larger field studies are needed to validate their representativeness. Some estimates obtained are, therefore, approximations on the overall patterns of livestock structure, supply chains, and disease management existing. Based on the size of Nairobi city, its diversity of settlements and the important population of urban livestock, this qualitative approach was required to understand the overall system. The role of LPOs in providing extension services (e.g., advice on housing, animal husbandry, hygiene, etc.) to farms and their contact with different types of livestock keepers situated them in an ideal position as key informants for this study. The results provided here represent a baseline structure that is useful to design future research focused on specific urban production systems or livestock species and that involves other stakeholders in the supply chain. These results are also useful for researchers and policy makers to further investigate and address potential issues on animal disease management and food safety risk practices of urban livestock keepers. Another limitation was the lack of time as many different species had to be investigated in each focus group. In this regard, information regarding multiple livestock species system could not be explored. Indeed, a common system observed in Nairobi is the combination of broiler, dairy, and pig keepers in peri-urban areas (authors' personal observations). Guendel (17) estimated that 50% of livestock keepers in Nairobi keep only one livestock species. The keeping of other exotic species, such as quails, ducks, and turkeys, in the city is also becoming popular and should be considered in future research studies.

The results obtained here provide a powerful background that can be used as a basis to design future studies aiming to investigate in more details the different urban livestock systems and their disease risks. The information obtained here is also crucial

REFERENCES

- Nyaga P. Poultry Sector Country Review: Kenya. Rome: FAO review (2007). Available from: ftp://ftp.fao.org/docrep/fao/011/ai379e/ai379e00.pdf
- Mireri PC. Assessment of the contribution of urban agriculture to employment, income and food security in Kenya: a case of Kisumu municipality. *Afr J Agric Res* (2013) 8(23):2884–96. doi:10.5897/AJAR10.656
- De Zeeuw H, Van Veehnhuizen R, Dubbeling M. The role of urban agriculture in building resilient cities in developing countries. *J Agric Sci* (2011) 149(S1):1–11. doi:10.1017/S0021859610001279
- Kariuki S, Onsare R, Mwituria J, Ng'etich R, Nafula C, Karimi K, et al. Improving food safety in meat value chains in Kenya. *Food Prot Trends* (2013) 33(2):172–9.

for policies aiming to control urban livestock and their possible impact on zoonotic disease transmission, environmental pollution, and food security.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The manuscript was written and the data analysis was done by PA and PM. The Data collection was done by PA, PM, MM, JA, and SK. Data entry was done by PM, SK, and MM. The discussion and interpretation of the results was done by PA, JR, and EF. The study design was done by PA, JR, and EF.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank the Livestock production officers for the participation in our study. We thank also the help and support from the Department of Veterinary Services within the Kenya Ministry of Livestock Development, especially from Dr. Gachoya. We are grateful for the additional support of the CGIAR Research Program on Agriculture for Nutrition and Health, led by IFPRI. Funding was also obtained from the Leverhulme Centre for Integrative Research in Agriculture and Health (London, UK). We are also grateful to Mr. Jusper Kiplimo (ILRI) and Dr. Tim Robinson (ILRI) for their help in producing the map of Nairobi.

FUNDING

This work was funded by the Medical Research Council, Natural Environment Research Council, Economic and Social Research Council, and the Biotechnology and Biosciences Research Council through the Environmental and Social Ecology of Human Infectious Diseases Initiative (ESEI), Grant Reference: G1100783/1. The work was also funded by the Leverhulme Center for Integrated Research in Agriculture and Health and by the CGIAR Research program on Agriculture for Nutrition and Health (A4NH), led by the International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI). The authors also acknowledge the CGIAR funder donors (http://www.cgiar.org/about-u/our-funders/).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at http://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fvets.2017.00171/ full#supplementary-material.

- Robinson T, Pozzi F. Mapping Supply and Demand for Animal-Source Foods to 2030. Animal Production and Health Working Paper. No. 2. Rome (2011).
- 6. Thuo ADM. Urbanization in Nairobi's rural-urban fringe: consequences of land-use conversion. ISHS Acta Horticulturae 1021: International Symposium on Urban and Peri-Urban Horticulture in the Century of Cities: Lessons, Challenges, Opportunitites, Dakar, Senegal (2014).
- Foeken D, Mwangi AM. Farming in the City of Nairobi. Leiden, The Netherlands: African Studies Centre (1998). Available from: http://www. ascleiden.nl/pdf/wp30.pdf
- MoLD. Nairobi Province Annual Report 2012. Nairobi: Department of Livestock Production. Ministry of Livestock Development (MoLD) (2013).
- Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol (2008) 3(2):77–101. doi:10.1191/1478088706qp063oa

- Alarcon P, Fèvre EM, Murungi MK, Muinde P, Akoko J, Dominguez-Salas P, et al. Mapping of beef, sheep and goat food systems in Nairobi – a framework for policy making and the identification of structural vulnerabilities and deficiencies. *Agric Syst* (2017) 152:1–17. doi:10.1016/j.agsy.2016. 12.005
- de Bon H, Parrot L, Moustier P. Sustainable urban agriculture in developing countries. A review. Agron Sustain Dev (2010) 30(1):21–32. doi:10.1051/ agro:2008062
- Armar-Klemesu M. Urban Agriculture and Food Security, Nutrition and Health. (1999). Thematic paper 4. Availavle from: http://www.ruaf.org/sites/ default/files/Theme4_1_1.PDF
- Randolph TF, Schelling E, Grace D, Nicholson CF, Leroy JL, Cole DC, et al. Invited review: role of livestock in human nutrition and health for poverty reduction in developing countries. *J Anim Sci* (2007) 85(11):2788–800. doi:10.2527/jas.2007-0467
- 14. Lwasa S, Waha B, Mugagga F, Simon D, Fragkias M, Griffith C, et al. *The Role of Urban and Peri-Urban Agriculture in Enhancing Food Security and Climate Change Resilience in East and West African Cities.* (2012). Final Project Report for 2011 START Grants for Global Change Research in Africa.
- Mboganie-Mwangi A, Foeken DWJ. Urban agriculture, food security and nutrition in low income areas of the city of Nairobi, Kenya. *Afr Urban Q* (1996) 11(2 and 3):170–9.
- IFAD. IFAD's Livestock Position Paper: Livestock Planning, Challenges and Strategies for Livestock Development in IFAD. (2010). Available from: http:// www.ifad.org/lrkm/factsheet/livestockpaper.pdf
- Guendel S. Peri-Urban and Urban Livestock Keeping in East Africa A Coping Strategy for the Poor? Scoping study commissioned by the Livestock Production Programme (LPP) (2002). Available from: http://r4d.dfid.gov.uk/ PDF/Outputs/ZC0201a.pdf
- FAO. Livestock Keeping in Urban Areas: A Review of Traditional Technologies Based on Literature and Field Experience. (2001). FAO ANIMAL PRODUCTION AND HEALTH PAPERS 151 [Consulted on Teh 23th December 2015 in Available from: http://www.fao.org/docrep/004/y0500e/ y0500e00.htm#toc]
- Omore A, Muriuki H, Kenyanjui M, Owango M, Staal S. The Kenyan Dairy Sub-Sector: A Rapid Appraisal. Smallholder Dairy (Research & Development)

Project Report. International Livestock Research Institute (1999). Available from: https://www.ilri.org/InfoServ/Webpub/fulldocs/InvestingInDairy/DOX/Omore%20et%20al-1999-Kenya%20dairy%20sector

- Kingori AM, Wachira AM, Tuitoek JK. Indigenous chicken production in Kenya: a review. Int J Poult Sci (2010) 9(4):309–16. doi:10.3923/ijps. 2010.309.316
- 21. FAO. *Pig Sector Kenya*. Rome: FAO Animal Production and Health Livestock Country Reviews No. 3 (2012).
- Ahmed S, Simiyu E, Githiri G, Sverdlik A, Mbaka S. Cooking Up a Storm: Community-Led Mapping and Advocacy with Food Vendors in Nairobi's Informal Settlements. London: IIED Working Paper, IIED (2015).
- Lee-Smith D. Cities feeding people: an update on urban agriculture in equatorial Africa. *Environ Urban* (2010) 22(2):483–99. doi:10.1177/ 0956247810377383
- UN. Kenya's Youth Employment Challenge. (2013). Available from: http://www. undp.org/content/dam/undp/library/Poverty%20Reduction/Inclusive%20 development/Kenya_YEC_web(jan13).pdf
- FAO. Notes on Livestock, Food Security and Gender Equity. (2011). Available from: http://www.fao.org/docrep/014/i2426e/i2426e00.pdf
- Kristjanson P, Waters-Bayer A, Johnson N, Tipilda A, Njuki J, Baltenweck I, et al. *Livestock and Women's Livelihoods: A Review of the Recent Evidence*. Nairobi, Kenya: International Livestock Research Institute (2010). Discussion paper No.: 20.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Alarcon, Fèvre, Muinde, Murungi, Kiambi, Akoko and Rushton. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





One Health Integration: A Proposed Framework for a Study on Veterinarians and Zoonotic Disease Management in Ghana

Sophie Françoise Valeix*

Institute of Development Studies, University of Sussex, Brighton, United Kingdom

In parallel with the recent world-wide promotion of One Health (OH) as a policy concept, a growing body of social science studies has raised questions about how successful OH policies and programs have been in managing some global health issues, such as zoonotic diseases. This paper briefly reviews this literature to clarify its critical perspective. Much of the literature on OH also is focused on health management at an international level and has paid less attention to implementation programs and policies for OH at the national and local levels, especially in low-and-middle-income countries (LMICs). Programs to implement OH often are linked to the concept of "integration", a notion that lacks a universal definition, but is nonetheless a central tenet and goal in many OH programs. At the local and national levels, strong differences in perspectives about OH among different professions can be major barriers to integration of those professions into OH implementation. Policies based on integration among professions in sectors like animal, human and environmental health can threaten professions' identities and thus may meet with resistance. Taking into account these criticisms of OH research and implementation, this paper proposes a research framework to probe the dominant social dimensions and power dynamics among professional participants that affect OH implementation programs at the local and national levels in a low-income country. The proposed research focus is the veterinary profession and one aspect of OH in which veterinarians are necessary actors: zoonotic disease management. Results from research framed in this way can have immediate application to the programs under study and can inform more expansive research on the social determinants of successful implementation of OH programs and policies.

Keywords: veterinarians, ghana, one health, zoonoses, perspectives, practices, relationships, integration

Accepted: 03 April 2018 Published: 02 May 2018

Citation: Valeix SF

(2018) One Health Integration: A Proposed Framework for a Study on Veterinarians and Zoonotic Disease Management in Ghana. Front. Vet. Sci. 5:85. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00085 SOME CRITIQUES OF ONE HEALTH

Human health is a globalized societal concern subject to complex global governance. It is replete with "wicked problems" underpinned by complexity, uncertainty and competing goals that resist straightforward understanding and resolution (1). One such wicked problem is emerging and re-emerging zoonotic diseases or zoonoses¹ which threaten the health of populations as well as economies, livelihoods, and even political regimes (2, 3).

¹Zoonotic diseases can be defined as infections naturally transmitted between vertebrate animals and humans. Zoonotic

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Séverine Thys, Institute of Tropical Medicine Antwerp, Belgium

Reviewed by:

Monique Sarah Léchenne, Swiss Tropical and Public Health Institute, Switzerland Simon Rodrigo Rüegg, Universität Zürich, Switzerland Michel De Garine-Wichatitsky, Centre de coopération internationale en recherche aaronomique pour le développement (CIRAD), France

*Correspondence:

Sophie Francoise Valeix s.valeix@sussex.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Veterinary Epidemiology and Economics. a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 30 August 2017

The concept of One Health (OH) became popular as a new health policy framework in the first decade of the 21st Century, initially to manage emerging disease threats. OH can be defined as "*a generalised and flexible term that captures the will to address the complexities and interrelations that exist between human, animal and ecological health*" (4). The OH concept is not new. It developed from the term "one medicine", which was coined by Calvin Schwabe in the 20th Century to signify the paradigmatic similarity between human and animal medicine and their mutual benefits (5). By 2004, the concept of OH was being promoted all over the world and significantly gained traction after the pandemics of SARS² (2003) and Avian Influenza (2005–2007) when the need for more multifaceted approaches in zoonoses research, policy and management was widely recognized (6).

A growing body of social science studies has raised questions about how successful OH policies and programs have been or can be in managing some global health issues, such as zoonotic diseases. Some see OH as a "*fragmented intellectual project*" used by different actors for different outcomes (7). Indeed, while a powerful rhetoric of advocacy for OH was developing internationally, with OH being portrayed as a methodology, approach, movement, strategy, or paradigm shift, critical views of OH were also emerging (8, 9).

The concept of "integration" is embedded in many policies and implementation strategies associated with OH. Integration is a notion that lacks an agreed-to definition but is nonetheless a central tenet and goal in many OH program plans. From a social point of view, integration can be defined simply as "*a way of describing the established patterns of human relations in any given society*", which does not imply that integration is either negative (implying conflict) or positive (implying order) (10). Integration can more usefully be defined as "*developments that determine connections of related diverse elements into the social whole, system, community, or other unit*" (11).

Many OH scholars treat integration as a positive goal, with more integration representing better organization of people in policies and actions around a particular OH goal (10). While there is no universal definition of "integration,", papers on OH often use the word interchangeably with "collaboration", and, to a lesser extent, with "cooperation" or "coordination," generally with respect to actors belonging to the domains of animal, human and environmental health. Thus, collaboration, cooperation and coordination are all seen as elements of, or complementary to, integration (12, 13). For the professionals engaged in OH programs, integration may lead to financial savings through sharing costs or to "holistic" thinking, planning across organisational hierarchies and paradigms via transdisciplinary work and consensus (14). It may also result in inclusion of the OH concept in training programs in many disciplines (15) and in recognising and articulating the "implications of uncertainty on, and potential conflicts between, human values and political *processes*" involving human, animal and environmental health (16).

Implementation of OH can be challenging. To start with, achieving integration among program actors is not always straightforward:

"...studies emphasize how the goals of collaboration and coordination are a good deal easier said than done. Professional competition, conflicting priorities, institutional inertia and myriad other factors in diverse contexts make the implementation of OH projects a major undertaking" (7).

The majority of publications frame OH policies and programs as being international in scope, viewing zoonotic disease management, for example, as a problem best tackled through high-level international coordination (17, 18). Less attention has been paid to how the OH concept resonates in various national and local settings, beyond some broad recommendations on changing national health systems (19, 20, 21), and little has been published about how the global OH agenda fits into existing national or local structures and practices (22, 23). Yet, important components of OH, such as zoonosis management, are fundamentally determined by what happens at the national level (6, 17). As an example, the case of the 2014 epidemics of Ebola in West Africa emphasizes the critical importance of local health structures (24).

Hinchliffe (25) worries that emphasizing the global dimension of OH promotes narrow approaches to OH implementation that fail to account for the diversity within global health issues. Giles-Vernick et al. (26) and Coffin et al. (27) recommend that OH research consider a wide range of knowledges that people from different locations and lifestyles have developed and transmitted in local contexts, and that such OH research should focus on lowand-middle-income countries (LMICs). Health policy in LMICs, where resources are limited and the responsibilities for public health often are divided among various government sectors and non-governmental agencies, is poorly studied and requires special attention in relation to OH (6, 28).

Axelsson and Axelsson (12) propose that the biggest barriers to achieving integration in health programs are differences in values, cultures, interests and commitments among the principal actors, and these differences often are very specific to each particular profession. Significant differences of perspectives on OH issues and their solutions can be expected across the veterinary, medical and environment sectors (29).

Kingsley and Taylor (7) recommended studying integration through a systemic approach that takes complexity into account because policies and actions can be intertwined through non-linear complex systems and processes which are embedded in the dynamics of power and politics vis-avis policy making and implementation in local, national and global contexts (30). It has been recommended that these complex processes be studied in a development context with an ethnographic approach that captures the social dimensions underpinning interactions between multiple actors from various institutions (31, 32).

agents are bacteria, viruses, fungi or other communicable disease agents (WHO). In 2008, zoonoses were shown to represent at least 60% of infectious human diseases and over 75% of emergent infections (39).

²Severe acute respiratory syndrome.

A RESEARCH FRAMEWORK TO EXPLORE THE SOCIAL DIMENSIONS OF ONE HEALTH IMPLEMENTATION

To address some of the criticisms of OH research and implementation, and in recognition of the potential utility of a better understanding of integration in the OH context, this paper offers a research framework to probe the dominant social dimensions and power dynamics among professional participants that affect OH implementation programs at the local and national levels in a low-income country. This framework is essentially the research plan for an on-going study of aspects of OH implementation in Ghana for which the results and analysis are not yet complete. The research focus is the Ghanaian veterinary profession and one aspect of OH policy and programs in which the veterinary profession is a necessary actor: zoonotic disease management. The overall objective of this research framework is to document how one professional group perceives and participates in management of zoonoses and the nature and dimensions of the relations veterinarians³ have with other professions and with each other.

Portrayed as one of the "historical One Health actors" and "super One Health professionals," veterinarians already are dominant players in OH research internationally (13, 33–37). However, and particularly in LMICs, veterinarians generally are in short supply, are under-resourced, and their contributions to public health are underestimated (35, 38). There is little in the literature on the complexities of the context in which the veterinary profession operates and strives to achieve OH outcomes in policy and practice. An understanding of the roles veterinarians play among other stakeholders in managing zoonotic diseases and how their roles might be enhanced at a national and local scale in LMICs is a missing piece of the information with respect to integration in OH.

Situated on the Gulf of Guinea in West Africa, a "hotspot" for zoonotic disease emergence (39), Ghana is a low-income country in which zoonotic disease risk is of substantial concern (40, 41). Ghanaian veterinarians have been involved in research on emerging and endemic zoonoses and in programmes that emphasize the need for integration in zoonosis surveillance and control, such as the WHO/AFRO strategy for Integrated Disease Surveillance and Response (1998); the assessment of the Ghanaian veterinary services by the OIE-PVS⁴ (2011); and the creation of the Ghana Field Epidemiology and Laboratory Training Programme, FELTP (2007). Nevertheless, Ghana does not have an organization, government department, or official plan with a clear mandate to pursue OH.

To identify the social dimensions influencing integration of veterinarians and other relevant professionals within policies and programs for zoonotic disease management in Ghana, this research framework proposes data collection on three main topics. The first is differences in professional **perspectives** on zoonoses associated with the variability of how knowledge and expertise are shaped in different branches of the contemporary natural sciences (42). The second is the professional **practices** by which veterinarians engage with the OH concept, with each other and with other professionals, and through which the concept of OH is transformed into field activities (43). The third is the **relationships** between veterinarians and other relevant professionals such as physicians and environmental scientists. These relationships are critical factors in the dynamics of integration and are the medium through which veterinarians as well as other professionals must broker and translate their technical knowledge to other actors in networks (31).

Thus, the proposed research framework provides an approach to the study of OH integration in terms of how veterinarians, as a professional group, think about their role(s) (perspectives), practically manage (practices) and interact (relationships) in their day-to-day routines in relation to zoonotic disease management in a LMIC. This research framework thus seeks to determine how veterinary perspectives, practices and relationships concerning policy and action around zoonoses can influence the scope of One Health integration.

CONCEPT 1: PERSPECTIVES

Background: OH integration requires that actors from different professions work together towards common OH goals, but professions differ in their perspectives on why and how to apply the OH concept operationally.

Analyses of the political economies of epidemics have shown that zoonoses and the associated policy responses to them may be understood differently by people and institutions with different interests and priorities (44, 45). Thus, different, and potentially contradictory, framings and agendas can create tensions regarding the implementation of OH in specific contexts. Competing narratives which called for different sets of policy responses have been noted in disease outbreaks (45). Differences in perspectives about zoonoses also are manifest in differences between international and local discourses (46).

While veterinary perspectives on health and disease management are expected to differ from those of other professionals (29), very few studies have carefully examined how in-country scientists or other professionals embedded within a national context frame zoonoses and OH (47, 48). Professional perspectives also can interfere with OH integration policy processes through divergent framings among disciplines (30, 49). For example, new acute zoonotic diseases potentially leading to pandemics may compete as priorities with endemic zoonoses in LMICs where both are present (32). Furthermore, dealing with major outbreaks through emergency-oriented and short-term interventions can occur at the expense of long-term, crucially-needed, health measures in LMICs (50).

Research framework: The data that will be most informative regarding veterinary perspectives on OH will be those documenting (1) the values and interests of veterinarians as a profession, (2) competencies attributed to veterinarians, including technical skills

³In this paper, "veterinarian" is defined broadly to include people who have graduated (or are about to graduate) with a degree in animal health and are practising animal medicine and/or the management of animal diseases in an official government position or in private practices. This broad definition includes para-professionals, also known as technicians.

⁴Tool for the Evaluation of Performance of Veterinary Services developed by the World Organization of Animal Health (OIE).

and knowledge, (3) historical evolution of veterinary institutions and attitudes toward these institutions and (4) effects of these veterinary perspectives on veterinary integration in zoonotic disease management programs.

To a large extent, professional values and interests derive from a profession's notion of professionalism. During acquisition of professionalism, people select particular sets of values, orientations and beliefs (51) which evolve along with changes in society (52). Professionalism also represents a form of social control, based on processes of inclusion and exclusion of individuals among categories within a bureaucratic structure according to recognized qualifications and standards (51, 53). For veterinarians, this professional control can be exerted, for example, via veterinary associations (51). In Ghana, animal health services can be delivered by practitioners with different qualifications: veterinary surgeons, technicians, and community animal health workers (54). Elsewhere, the roles of these different kinds of veterinary service providers have been shown to overlap and to create tensions (55, 56). Thus, inquiry into veterinarians' views of their own professionalism offers an entry point for documenting veterinary perspectives.

Inquiry into veterinary competences is another point of entry for research (57). Such competences entail both systems and interdisciplinary thinking, and the development of highly technical skills for multi-species health and illness through veterinary training (58–60). Data on how veterinarians define their professional competences, whom they view as having them and whom not, and how this differs among different veterinary employment scenarios will be key to assessing the social dimensions of OH integration.

Galaz and colleagues have written that perspectives on integration in OH have been driven by "*the legacy of each profession's embedded histories*" (45; 61). For example, when veterinary medicine was institutionalized in Ghana, government veterinarians were within the Ministry of Health. After Ghana's independence in 1957, they were transferred to the Ministry of Food and Agriculture (MoFA) (62), a change that very likely influenced veterinary perspectives regarding OH. Elsewhere in Africa, the veterinary profession has been shaped by institutional reforms such as decentralisation and privatisation (63–65) which likely also contribute to current veterinary perspectives. In this research framework, information on the history of veterinary institutions in Ghana - governmental, educational and professional - is to be gathered to serve as essential background information for evaluating current veterinary perspectives on OH.

CONCEPT 2: PRACTICES

Background: While some research has examined the influence of OH concepts on professional practices (66), the influence of routine professional practices on the implementation of OH programs at local and regional levels often has been overlooked in the literature (23, 67). Hamilton (68) argues that looking at the importance that "material things" play in practices helps explain veterinary attitudes on the ground; in an ethnographic study of British farm veterinarians, she showed that material items, like faecal samples, were linked to particular meanings and to prestige

differences within veterinary teams in which people had different qualifications.

Veterinary practice often includes considerable discretion, practitioners acting in ways that do not strictly fit official procedures in order to privilege certain interests, be they their own personal gain, the interests of certain clients, or public health interests (69–71). Discretionary behaviours in veterinary practice could either favour or impede veterinary integration in zoonosis management by implementing national guidelines versus emphasising local needs which may contradict these guidelines. As street-level bureaucrats (SLB), veterinarians often must find intermediary positions between compassion and flexibility that comes with caring for the circumstances of their local context, and impartiality with its rigid application of orders coming from top managers (69; Hasenfeld, 1992 in 71).

The notion of street-level discretion is generally portrayed as a negative factor that undermines policy implementation. Some recent studies, for example, have revealed resistance by local stakeholders, for socio-economic reasons, to cooperating in surveillance operations for avian influenza, which thereby limited the detection of avian influenza cases (38, 72). However, other studies of local health practitioners as SLB suggest a more positive impact of discretion vis-à-vis policy implementation. For example, Axelsson and Axelsson (12) argue that SLB in public health are likely to "*identify more with their clients than with their parent organisation*" and that the clients thus empowered represent opportunities for bottom-up policy integration. (73 showed that medical doctors in rural South Africa used discretion to "*align their practices with policies*" and "*compensate for inefficiencies and failures … in how the system functioned*".

Zoonotic disease management is based on animal disease surveillance programmes aimed at early detection of zoonotic pathogens in domestic and wild animal populations in order to prevent outbreaks in humans. Public veterinarians⁵ are key actors in this surveillance, which involves continuous monitoring of the health of human or animal populations and evaluation of associated disease risk factors (74). The success of surveillance operations at the local level depends on the active collaboration of multiple stakeholders on the ground, such as veterinarians, farmers, traders and abattoir workers.

Research framework: The key research approach proposed to study current veterinary practices in Ghana and their influences on veterinary integration in zoonotic disease management is an observation of the routine practices of a sample of veterinarians. Important areas of inquiry within this observation include (1) the veterinarians' interactions and views of the material components of their practices, (2) practitioners' identification of, and values attributed to, major veterinary competences and different levels of training of veterinary service providers, (3) characterisation of veterinarians' discretionary judgements and actions and the effects these may have on practices and on practitioners, and (4) the alignment or otherwise of current practices with effective zoonotic disease surveillance and potentially other forms of disease management.

⁵In Ghana, like in many other LMICs, most veterinarians work for the government and thus they work at the interface between citizens and the veterinary service bureaucracy.

CONCEPT 3: RELATIONSHIPS

Background: Relationships between OH actors, such as policymakers, practitioners and researchers, in professional networks are a key dimension of the power dynamics at play in policy processes (30). Studies of professional relationships and OH generally have targeted large international networks (75) or international research activities (13, 37). Very few papers on OH have examined how interdisciplinary, cross-sectoral and inter-professional relationships actually work to advance OH integration in OH programs, particularly at a local or national level.

Work relationships are a form of social capital, which can be defined as "*the sum of the actual and potential resources embedded within, available through, and derived from the network of relationships possessed by an individual or social unit*" (76). Social capital can lead to collective action (77) and to integration of knowledge across organizations (78). Therefore, social capital is a useful window through which to study inter-professional relationships in the context of OH.

While social capital has been categorized according to various typologies, such as structural, relational and cognitive (76), or opportunity, motivation and ability-related dimensions (79), two main aspects of social capital cut across these typologies and are particularly relevant to the analysis of relationships in regard to veterinarians: (1) the social network and its structure, and (2) the potential benefits and assets mobilized through that network (76).

Social capital may favour or impede integration of veterinarians into zoonotic disease management. On the one hand, research has shown that relationships across sectors can facilitate collaboration on common issues even in the absence of formal structures and platforms for such collaboration. Inter-sectoral policy integration requires relationships which involve rational dialogue and mutual agreement (80). This link between dialogue and inter-sectoral collaboration has been picked up in the literature on integration in healthcare practice and is imbedded in the notions of "mutual adjustment" (81) and "power-sharing" (82). Vandersmissen and Welburn (75) consider "soft governance," which relies on self-organisation in networks independent of control through hierarchy or legislation, to underpin OH, and Glouberman and Mintzberg (81) write:

"(The notion of networks) suggests the linking together of interdependent organizations in all kinds of ways; to foster better communication in order to solve mutual problems. In between the authority of the hierarchy and the competition of the market sits the network of mutual relationships."

All these positive views of social capital express the idea that, assuming a good level of communication and trust exists between different health professionals, networks will spontaneously organise and engage actors in collaborative practices.

On the other hand, relationships in OH may not be associated with positive outcomes for integration. Binot et al. (13) remarked that long-term and collaborative relationships between veterinarians and professionals in other sectors, like agriculture, rural development or the environment, were insufficient globally. In the literature on health systems, inter-professional relationships often are presented as tense negotiation processes among different sectors' interests through sectoral advocacy (83), with relationships framed as competitions in which power dynamics do not facilitate collaboration. In such advocacy coalition framing, relationships are competing networks of alliances. In conflicts over policy issues, the most powerful coalition will decide rather than decisions being based on a consensus achieved through collaboration (84).

Research framework: To explore the social capital present in the relationships of veterinarians among themselves, with other professionals, and with any other people or groups, data are needed that qualify and quantify (1) the social networks of veterinary relationships that exist and (2) the positive and negative impacts of these relationships on the OH focus of this research framework: zoonotic disease management. The first aspect, the network and its social structure, can be approached by determining (a) the presence or absence of relationships and how actors are connected, and (b) which relationships function within veterinary social networks, why they function as they do, and at what frequency of interaction (85, 86). Relationships with frequent interactions between veterinarians and other professionals associated with zoonosis management are an important focus for study because these may offer particular insight into the scope for OH integration in Ghana (13, 48, 87, 88).

The second aspect requires assessment of the quality of relationships (hostile or positive) in terms of facilitating or impeding actions and achievements which depend on these relationships. What do veterinarians' relationships with other professionals mean to the veterinarians themselves and what assets do they represent vis-à-vis potential collaboration in zoonosis management? Data are required on how veterinarians maintain relationships with other professionals and whether these relationships are based on trust and reciprocity (77).

CONCLUSION

This paper explores recent criticisms of OH implementation and the theoretical foundations for research on the notion of integration in OH. To respond to concerns that much of the research on OH has targeted international programs aligned with the priorities of wealthy nations, a research framework is proposed that targets implementation of OH at local and national levels in a low-income country. The proposed research framework offers an approach to qualifying and quantifying the social dimensions of OH implementation by investigating the professional perspectives, practices and relationships of veterinarians associated with their roles in zoonotic disease management in Ghana.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SV designed and implementated the research as well as wrote the manuscript.

FUNDING

Financial support was provided by the Economic and Social Research Council (UK) under the STEPS Centre project, University of Sussex/Institute of Development Studies, grant code: ES/ J500173/1 (2012-2016).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I thank Linda Waldman, Hayley MacGregor, and Ted Leighton for their guidance and assistance. Thanks to Christian Stein, Ian

REFERENCES

- 1. Rittel HWJ, Webber MM. Dilemmas in a general theory of planning. *Policy Sci* (1973) 4(2):155–69. doi: 10.1007/BF01405730
- Grace D, Gilbert J, Randolph T, Kang'ethe E. The multiple burdens of zoonotic disease and an Ecohealth approach to their assessment. *Trop Anim Health Prod* (2012) 44:67–73. doi: 10.1007/s11250-012-0209-y
- Zanella JRC. Emerging and reemerging zoonoses and their importance for animal health and production. *Pesquisa Agropecuaria Brasileira* (2016) 51:510– 9.
- Craddock S, Hinchliffe S. One world, one health? Social science engagements with the one health agenda. Soc Sci Med (2015) 129:1–4. doi: 10.1016/j. socscimed.2014.11.016
- Zinsstag J, Schelling E, Waltner-Toews D, Tanner M. From "one medicine" to "one health" and systemic approaches to health and well-being. *Prev. Vet. Med.* (2011) 101(3-4):148–56. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2010.07.003
- 6. Okello A, Vandersmissen A, Welburn SC. "One health into action: integrating global health governance with national priorities in a globalized world,". In: Zinsstag J, Schelling E, Waltner-Toews D, Whittaker M, Tanner M, editors. One Health: the theory and practice of integrated health approaches. (2015). p. 283–303.
- Kingsley P, Taylor EM. One Health: competing perspectives in an emerging field. *Parasitology* (2017) 144(1):7–14. doi: 10.1017/S0031182015001845
- Mutsaers I. One-health approach as counter-measure against "autoimmune" responses in biosecurity. Soc Sci Med (2015) 129:123–30. doi: 10.1016/j. socscimed.2014.09.042
- Wolf M. Is there really such a thing as "one health"? Thinking about a more than human world from the perspective of cultural anthropology. *Soc Sci Med* (2015) 129:5–11. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.06.018
- 10. de Alcántara CH. Social integration: approaches and issues. *Dev Pract* (1995) 5(1):61–3. doi: 10.1080/0961452951000157004
- 11. Beresnevièiûtë V. Dimensions of social integration: Appraisal of theoretical approaches. *Ethnicity Studies* (2003):96–108.
- Axelsson R, Axelsson SB. Integration and collaboration in public health--a conceptual framework. *Int J Health Plann Manage* (2006) 21(1):75–88. doi: 10.1002/hpm.826
- 13. Binot A, Duboz R, Promburom P, Phimpraphai W, Cappelle J, Lajaunie C, et al. A framework to promote collective action within the One Health community of practice: Using participatory modelling to enable interdisciplinary, crosssectoral and multi-level integration. One Health (2015) 1:44–8. doi: 10.1016/j. onehlt.2015.09.001
- Rüegg SR, Mcmahon BJ, Häsler B, Esposito R, Nielsen LR, Ifejika Speranza C, et al. A Blueprint to Evaluate One Health. *Front Public Health* (2017) 5:20. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2017.00020
- Xie T, Liu W, Anderson BD, Liu X, Gray GC. A system dynamics approach to understanding the One Health concept. *PLoS ONE* (2017) 12(9):e0184430. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0184430
- 16. Degeling C, Johnson J, Kerridge I, Wilson A, Ward M, Stewart C, et al. Implementing a One Health approach to emerging infectious disease: reflections on the socio-political, ethical and legal dimensions. *BMC Public Health* (2015) 15:1307. doi: 10.1186/s12889-015-2617-1
- Figuié M. Global health risks and cosmopolitisation: from emergence to interference. *Sociol Health Illn* (2013) 35(2):227–40. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9566.2012.01539.x
- Smith J, Taylor EM, Kingsley P. One World-One Health and neglected zoonotic disease: elimination, emergence and emergency in Uganda. *Soc Sci Med* (2015) 129:12–19. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.06.044
- Degeling C, Johnson J, Kerridge I, Wilson A, Ward M, Stewart C, et al. Implementing a One Health approach to emerging infectious disease: reflections on the socio-political, ethical and legal dimensions. *BMC Public Health* (2015) 15:1307. doi: 10.1186/s12889-015-2617-1

Scoones and Erik Millstone for insights and discussions that contributed to developing my ideas on this topic. Financial support was provided by the Economic and Social Research Council (UK) under the STEPS Centre project, grant code: ES/J500173/1.

- Queenan K, Garnier J, Rosenbaum N, Buttigieg S, de Meneghi D, Holmberg M. Roadmap to a One Health agenda 2030. *CAB Reviews* (2017) 12(014):1–17. doi: 10.1079/PAVSNNR201712014
- Meisser, A. and Goldblum, A.L., 31. Operationalizing One Health for Local Governance. One Health: The Theory and Practice of Integrated Health Approaches. (2015). 374 p.
- Lee K, Brumme ZL. Operationalizing the One Health approach: The global governance challenges. *Health Policy Plan* (2013) 28(7):778–85. doi: 10.1093/ heapol/czs127
- 23. Bardosh K. "Unpacking the politics of zoonosis research and policy,". One Health: Science, Politics and Zoonotic Disease in Africa. (2016). p. 1–20.
- 24. Jacobsen KH, Aguirre AA, Bailey CL, Baranova AV, Crooks AT, Croitoru A, et al. Lessons from the ebola outbreak: Action items for emerging infectious disease preparedness and response. *Ecohealth* (2016) 13(1):200–12. doi: 10.1007/s10393-016-1100-5
- Hinchliffe S. More than one world, more than one health: re-configuring interspecies health. Soc Sci Med (2015) 129:28–35. doi: 10.1016/j. socscimed.2014.07.007
- 26. Giles-Vernick T, Owona-Ntsama J, Landier J, Eyangoh S. The puzzle of Buruli ulcer transmission, ethno-ecological history and the end of "love" in the Akonolinga district, Cameroon. Soc Sci Med (2015) 129:20–7. doi: 10.1016/j. socscimed.2014.03.008
- Coffin JL, Monje F, Asiimwe-Karimu G, Amuguni HJ, Odoch T. A One Health, participatory epidemiology assessment of anthrax (Bacillus anthracis) management in Western Uganda. Soc Sci Med (2015) 129:44–50. doi: 10.1016/j. socscimed.2014.07.037
- Gilson L, Raphaely N. The terrain of health policy analysis in low and middle income countries: a review of published literature 1994-2007. *Health Policy Plan* (2008) 23(5):294–307. doi: 10.1093/heapol/czn019
- 29. Stephen C, Karesh WB. Is One Health delivering results? Introduction. *Rev Off Int Epizoot* (2014) 33(2):375–92.
- 30. Keeley J, Scoones I. Understanding environmental policy processes: Cases from Africa. UK: Earthscan (2012).
- Mosse D, Lewis D. Theoretical approaches to brokerage and translation in development. Development brokers and translators: The ethnography of aid and agencies (2006). p. 1–26.
- Kay A, Williams O. "Introduction: the international political economy of global health governance,". In: *Global Health Governance*. Springer (2009). p. 1–23.
- Hannah HW. Legal responsibilities of veterinarians in the control of zoonotic diseases. Vet Clin North Am Small Anim Pract (1987) 17(1):27–37. doi: 10.1016/ S0195-5616(87)50603-9
- Belino ED. Organisation of veterinary public health in Africa. Rev Off Int Epizoot (1992) 11(1):99–116. doi: 10.20506/rst.11.1.595
- Rosol TJ, Moore RM, Saville WJ, Oglesbee MJ, Rush LJ, Mathes LE, et al. The need for veterinarians in biomedical research. J Vet Med Educ (2009) 36(1):70– 5. doi: 10.3138/jvme.36.1.70
- Marsh AE, Babcock S. Legal implications of zoonotic disease transmission for veterinary practices. Vet Clin North Am Small Anim Pract (2015) 45(2):393– 408. doi: 10.1016/j.cvsm.2014.11.008
- Valeix S, Stein C, Bardosh K. "Knowledge flows in one health: The evolution of scientific collaboration networks,". One Health: Science, Politics and Zoonotic Disease in Africa. (2016). p. 38–57.
- Safman R. The political economy of avian influenza in Thailand. STEPS Working Paper 18. Brighton: STEPS Centre (2009).
- Jones KE, Patel NG, Levy MA, Storeygard A, Balk D, Gittleman JL, et al. Global trends in emerging infectious diseases. *Nature* (2008) 451(7181):990–3. doi: 10.1038/nature06536
- Otupiri E, Adam M, Laing E, Akanmori BD. Detection and management of zoonotic diseases at the Kumasi slaughterhouse in Ghana. *Acta Trop* (2000) 76(1):15–19. doi: 10.1016/S0001-706X(00)00083-8

- Jarikre T, Emikpe B, Folitse R, Odoom T, Fuseini A, Shaibu E. Prevalence of brucellosis in small ruminants in three regions of Ghana. *BJVM* (2015) 18(1):49–55. doi: 10.15547/bjvm.828
- Knorr Cetina K. Epistemic cultures: How the sciences make knowledge. Harvard University Press (1999).
- 43. Mosse D. Introduction: The anthropology of expertise and professionals in international development. In: Adventures in Aidland: The Anthropology of Professionals in International Development. Oxford & New York: Berghahn (2011). p. Vol. 6. 1–31.
- 44. Leach M, Scoones I, Stirling A. Governing epidemics in an age of complexity: Narratives, politics and pathways to sustainability. *Global Environmental Change* (2010) 20(3):369–77. doi: 10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2009.11.008
- Galaz V, Leach M, Scoones I. "Global narratives: The political economy of one health,". In: One Health: Science, Politics and Zoonotic Disease in Africa. (2016). p. 21–37.
- 46. Millstone E, Odame H, Okumu O, Bardosh K. "Stepping towards a policy response to Rift Valley fever: Pastoralists and epidemic preparedness in Kenya,". In: One Health: Science, Politics and Zoonotic Disease in Africa. (2016). p. 95–116.
- Grant C, Anderson N, Machila N. Stakeholder Narratives on Trypanosomiasis, Their Effect on Policy and the Scope for One Health. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* (2015) 9(12):e0004241. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0004241
- Musoke D, Ndejjo R, Atusingwize E, Halage AA. The role of environmental health in One Health: A Uganda perspective. *One Health* (2016) 2:157–60. doi: 10.1016/j.onehlt.2016.10.003
- 49. Lélé S, Norgaard RB. Practicing Interdisciplinarity. Bioscience (2005) 55(11):967–75. doi: 10.1641/0006-3568(2005)055[0967:PI]2.0.CO;2
- 50. Leach M, Dry S. *Epidemics: Science, governance, and social justice*. UK: Taylor & Francis Group Ltd (2010).
- Noordegraaf M. From "pure" to "hybrid" professionalism present-day professionalism in ambiguous public domains. Adm Soc (2007) 39:761–85.
- Cruess SR, Cruess RL. Professionalism as a Social Construct: The Evolution of a Concept. J Grad Med Educ (2016) 8(2):265–7. doi: 10.4300/JGME-D-16-00102.1
- Castellani B, Hafferty FW. "The complexities of medical professionalism,". In: *Professionalism in medicine*. Springer (2006). p. 3–23.
- Mockshell J, Ilukor J, Birner R. Providing animal health services to the poor in Northern Ghana: rethinking the role of community animal health workers? *Trop Anim Health Prod* (2014) 46(2):475–80. doi: 10.1007/s11250-013-0518-9
- 55. Catley A, Leyland T, Mariner JC, Akabwai DM, Admassu B, Asfaw W, et al. Para-veterinary professionals and the development of quality, self-sustaining community-based services. *Rev Off Int Epizoot* (2004) 23(1):225–52. doi: 10.20506/rst.23.1.1476
- 56. Woodford JD. Synergies between veterinarians and para-professionals in the public and private sectors: organisational and institutional relationships that facilitate the process of privatising animal health services in developing countries. *Rev Off Int Epizoot* (2004) 23(1):115–35. doi: 10.20506/rst.23.1.1472
- 57. Roder C, Whittlestone K, May S. Views of professionalism: a veterinary institutional perspective. Veterinary Record, vetrec-2012-101008. (2012).
- 58. Leighton FA. Veterinary medicine for a world in crisis. *Can Vet J* (2007) 48(4):379.
- 59. Knopf L. Rabies, animals and veterinarians in a globalized context-new visions for an old disease? (2011). p. 28–34.
- Dhama K, Chakraborty S, Kapoor S, Tiwari R, Kumar A, Deb R, et al. One world, one health-veterinary perspectives. *Adv Anim Vet Sci* (2013) 1:5–13.
- Mitsuda T. Entangled Histories: German Veterinary Medicine, c.1770-1900. Med Hist (2017) 61(1):25–. doi: 10.1017/mdh.2016.99
- 62. Oppong E. Veterinary Medicine in the Service of Mankind: From Its Earliest Beginnings to Cloned Sheep and Mad Cow Disease. Ghana Academy of Arts and Sciences (1999).
- Leonard DK. Structural Reform of the Veterinary Profession in Africa and the New Institutional Economics. *Dev Change* (1993) 24(2):227–67. doi: 10.1111/ j.1467-7660.1993.tb00485.x
- Turkson PK, Brownie CF. Perceived constraints to privatization of delivery of veterinary services in Ghana. *Trop Anim Health Prod* (1999) 31(2):103–14. doi: 10.1023/A:1005167724020
- 65. Amankwah K, Klerkx L, Sakyi-Dawson O, Karbo N, Oosting SJ, Leeuwis C, et al. Institutional dimensions of veterinary services reforms: responses to

structural adjustment in Northern Ghana. International Journal of Agricultural Sustainability (2014) 12(3):296–315. doi: 10.1080/14735903.2014.909635

- 66. Leung Z, Middleton D, Morrison K. One Health and EcoHealth in Ontario: a qualitative study exploring how holistic and integrative approaches are shaping public health practice in Ontario. *BMC Public Health* (2012) 12:358. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-12-358
- Biehl J, Petryna A. Peopling global health. Saude Soc (2014) 23(2):376–89. doi: 10.1590/S0104-12902014000200003
- Hamilton L. The magic of mundane objects: Culture, identity and power in a country vets' practice. Social Rev (2013) 61(2):265–84. doi: 10.1111/1467-954X.12017
- 69. Lipsky M. Street level bureaucrats. Nova York: Russel Sage (1980).
- Ballard BM. Farm-level bureaucrats in action (and inaction): the distribution of veterinary services in Laos and Cambodia. PhD Thesis. Massachusetts Institute of Technology (2005). https://dspace.mit.edu/handle/1721.1/33021
- Meyers MK, Vorsanger S. Street-level bureaucrats and the implementation of public policy. *The handbook of public administration*. (2007). p. 153–63.
- Paul MC, Figuié M, Kovitvadhi A, Valeix S, Wongnarkpet S, Poolkhet C, et al. Collective resistance to HPAI H5N1 surveillance in the Thai cockfighting community: Insights from a social anthropology study. *Prev Vet Med* (2015) 120(1):106–14. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2015.02.021
- 73. Gaede BM. Doctors as street-level bureaucrats in a rural hospital in South Africa. *Rural Remote Health* (2016) 16(1):3461.
- 74. Dufour B, Hendrickx P. Surveillance épidémiologique en santé animale. 3e édition. Éditions Quæ (2011).
- Vandersmissen A, Welburn SC. Current initiatives in One Health: consolidating the One Health Global Network. *Rev Off Int Epizoot* (2014) 33(2):421–32. doi: 10.20506/rst.33.2.2297
- 76. Nahapiet J, Ghoshal S. Social capital, intellectual capital, and the organizational advantage. *Academy of management review* (1998) 23:242–66.
- 77. Krishna A. Active social capital: Tracing the roots of development and democracy. Columbia University Press (2002).
- Bhandar M. A framework for knowledge integration and social capital in collaborative projects. *Electron J Knowl Manag* (2010) 8:267–80.
- Adler PS, Kwon S-W. Social capital: Prospects for a new concept. Academy of management review (2002) 27:17–40.
- Shannon MA, Schmidt CH. Theoretical approaches to understanding intersectoral policy integration. In: *Cross-Sectoral Policy Impacts on Forests*. European Forest Institute Joensuu (2002). p. 15–26.
- Glouberman S, Mintzberg H. Managing the care of health and the cure of disease—Part II: Integration. *Health Care Manage Rev* (2001) 26(1):70–84. doi: 10.1097/00004010-200101000-00007
- Orchard CA, Curran V, Kabene S. Creating a culture for interdisciplinary collaborative professional practice. *Med Educ Online* (2005) 10(1):4387–13. doi: 10.3402/meo.v10i.4387
- Collins C, Green A. Valuing health systems: A framework for low and middle income countries. SAGE Publications India (2014).
- 84. Sabatier P, Weible C. Theories of the policy process. Westview Press (2014).
- 85. Kayunze KA, Kiwara A, Lyamuya E, Kambarage DM, Rushton J, Coker R, et al. Practice of one health approaches: bridges and barriers in Tanzania. *Onderstepoort J Vet Res* (2014) 81(2):E1-8. doi: 10.4102/ojvr.v81i2.733
- Mackenzie JS, Mckinnon M, Jeggo M. "One health: From concept to practice,". In: Confronting Emerging Zoonoses: The One Health Paradigm. (2014). p. 163–89.
- Weick KE. The social psychology of organizing. Addison Wesley Pub. Co. (1979). https://books.google.co.uk/books?id=nCm3AAAAIAAJ
- Grant S, Olsen CW. Preventing zoonotic diseases in immunocompromised persons: the role of physicians and veterinarians. *Emerging Infect. Dis.* (1999) 5(1):159–63. doi: 10.3201/eid0501.990121

Conflict of Interest: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Valeix. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





A Systems Approach to Evaluate One Health Initiatives

Simon R. Rüegg¹*, Liza Rosenbaum Nielsen², Sandra C. Buttigieg³, Mijalche Santa⁴, Maurizio Aragrande⁵, Massimo Canali⁵, Timothy Ehlinger⁶, Ilias Chantziaras⁷, Elena Boriani^{8,9}, Miroslav Radeski¹⁰, Mieghan Bruce¹¹, Kevin Queenan¹² and Barbara Häsler¹²

¹ Vetsuisse Faculty, University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland, ² Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark, ³ Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Malta, Msida, Malta, ⁴ Faculty of Economics – Skopje, Saints Cyril and Methodius University of Skopje, Skopje, Macedonia, ⁵ Department of Agricultural and Food Sciences, University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy, ⁶ Center for Global Health Equity, University of Wisconsin Milwaukee, Milwaukee, WI, United States, ⁷ Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium, ⁸ Global Decision Support Initiative (GDSI), Technical University of Denmark, Kongens Lyngby, Denmark, ⁹ National Food Institute, Technical University of Denmark, Kongens Lyngby, Denmark, ¹⁰ Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Saints Cyril and Methodius University of Skopje, Skopje, Macedonia, ¹¹ School of Veterinary and Life Science, Murdoch University, Perth, WA, Australia, ¹² Royal Veterinary College, London, United Kingdom

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Saraya Tavornpanich, Norwegian Veterinary Institute, Norway

Reviewed by:

Eystein Skjerve, Norwegian University of Life Sciences, Norway Fernanda Dorea, National Veterinary Institute, Sweden Madelaine Norström, Norwegian Veterinary Institute, Norway

*Correspondence: Simon R. Rüegg srueegg@vetclinics.uzh.ch

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Veterinary Epidemiology and Economics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 12 September 2017 Accepted: 05 February 2018 Published: 09 March 2018

Citation:

Rüegg SR, Nielsen LR, Buttigieg SC, Santa M, Aragrande M, Canali M, Ehlinger T, Chantziaras I, Boriani E, Radeski M, Bruce M, Queenan K and Häsler B (2018) A Systems Approach to Evaluate One Health Initiatives. Front. Vet. Sci. 5:23. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00023 Challenges calling for integrated approaches to health, such as the One Health (OH) approach, typically arise from the intertwined spheres of humans, animals, and ecosystems constituting their environment. Initiatives addressing such wicked problems commonly consist of complex structures and dynamics. As a result of the EU COST Action (TD 1404) "Network for Evaluation of One Health" (NEOH), we propose an evaluation framework anchored in systems theory to address the intrinsic complexity of OH initiatives and regard them as subsystems of the context within which they operate. Typically, they intend to influence a system with a view to improve human, animal, and environmental health. The NEOH evaluation framework consists of four overarching elements, namely: (1) the definition of the initiative and its context, (2) the description of the theory of change with an assessment of expected and unexpected outcomes, (3) the process evaluation of operational and supporting infrastructures (the "OH-ness"), and (4) an assessment of the association(s) between the process evaluation and the outcomes produced. It relies on a mixed methods approach by combining a descriptive and qualitative assessment with a semi-quantitative scoring for the evaluation of the degree and structural balance of "OH-ness" (summarised in an OH-index and OH-ratio, respectively) and conventional metrics for different outcomes in a multi-criteria-decision-analysis. Here, we focus on the methodology for Elements (1) and (3) including ready-to-use Microsoft Excel spreadsheets for the assessment of the "OH-ness". We also provide an overview of Element (2), and refer to the NEOH handbook for further details, also regarding Element (4) (http:// neoh.onehealthglobal.net). The presented approach helps researchers, practitioners, and evaluators to conceptualise and conduct evaluations of integrated approaches to health and facilitates comparison and learning across different OH activities thereby facilitating decisions on resource allocation. The application of the framework has been described in eight case studies in the same Frontiers research topic and provides first data on OH-index and OH-ratio, which is an important step towards their validation and the creation of a dataset for future benchmarking, and to demonstrate under which circumstances OH initiatives provide added value compared to disciplinary or conventional health initiatives.

Keywords: transdisciplinary, integrated approaches to health, evaluation framework, one health, one health index, one health ratio

INTRODUCTION

Many current health challenges, such as spread of zoonotic infectious diseases, environmental pollutants, antimicrobial resistance, climate or market-driven food system changes with consequences on food and feed supplies, malnutrition including obesity and many more arise from the intertwined spheres of humans, animals, and the ecosystems constituting their environment (1, 2). They are recognised to be wicked problems and need to be tackled using integrated approaches to health (3-5). Here, we consider integration as inter-T1 or transdisciplinaryT1 (annotated terms are explained in detail in Table 1) approaches. Such approaches consider the needs, values, and opinions of multiple disciplines and sectors. They also bring together the scientific and non-scientific communities, influencing, or influenced by, the challenge and their combined know-how and resources (6-8). Due to the existing, historically contingent, separation of sectors and disciplines, developing integrated approaches is difficult, and the realisation of benefits can be delayed. There is a need to provide evidence on the added value of these integrated and transdisciplinary approaches to governments, researchers, funding bodies, and stakeholders (9-11).

For One Health (OH), as a typical integrated approach to health, the COST Action TD1404 "Network for Evaluation of One Health"1 (NEOH) was initiated to develop a science-based evaluation framework and apply it to a set of case studies (21). The NEOH framework uses a systems approach and regards the context of an OH initiative as the system within which it operates, and the initiative itself as a subsystem, which has a potential to affect the system to a smaller or larger degree. Drivers, operations, supporting infrastructure, and outcomes were identified as fundamental characteristics of any OH initiative (7). The NEOH evaluation framework relates the aspects of operations (i.e., OH thinking, OH planning, and OH working) and supporting infrastructure (i.e., systemic organisation, learning, and sharing) summarised as OH process characteristics ("OH-ness"), to changes and outcomes evoked by a specific initiative. This is an important step towards identifying added value arising from integration across disciplines and sectors (i.e., transdisciplinarity).

PROPOSED EVALUATION FRAMEWORK

Overview

Figure 1 provides an overview of the NEOH evaluation framework. There are four overarching Elements (grey boxes) in the evaluation process, namely:

Element 2: assessing expected outcomes based on the theory of change (TOC) of the initiative, and collecting

unexpected outcomes emerging in the context of the initiative;

- **Element 3:** assessing the "OH-ness", i.e., the implementation of operations and infrastructure contributing to the OH initiative; and
- Element 4: comparing the degree of "OH-ness" and the outcomes produced.

The framework relies on a mixed methods approach that combines a descriptive and qualitative assessment with a semi-quantitative evaluation (scoring) for the evaluation of the "OH-ness" with an OH-index, while including conventional metrics for outcomes in a multi-criteria-decision-analysis.

The framework can be used for either external or self-evaluation. It is recommended that the evaluator is comfortable with systems thinking (14, 22) to approach the complex structures and dynamics of OH initiatives and their context. Data and information can be gathered from actors^{T1} and stakeholders^{T1} using methods such as open or semi-structured interviews, focus group discussions, or other qualitative data collection approaches. These can stem from resources used or produced by the initiative (23), and related (external) primary or secondary datasets.

In the present manuscript, we describe a concept for the process of generating evaluation data (Elements 1-3), while Element 4 is analytical and is described in the evaluation handbook of the NEOH (for details see text footnote 1). The text is conceived as a set of short theoretical and methodological syntheses for each of these Elements. For their implementation, we present an exemplified application of Element 1 (definition of the initiative and its context) with a description and an illustration; an overview of categories of outcomes to consider in Element 2 (TOC and assessment of outcomes); and a short description of a consolidated file with six evaluation protocols (Table S1 in Supplementary Material) including OH-index calculations for Element 3 (assessment of OH-ness). For examples that apply the method presented here, the readers can refer to the case studies included in this Frontiers research topic on "Concepts and experiences in framing, integration and evaluation of OH and EcoHealth".² Paternoster et al. evaluated integrated surveillance of West-Nile virus (24), Radeski et al. applied the framework to an animal welfare centre (25), Léger and co-workers evaluated a research project on antimicrobial resistance involving four faculties, the industry, and health authorities,³ Buttigieg et al. compared control strategies for Brucellosis in Serbia and Malta,⁴ Muñoz-Prieto et al. assessed a study on factors affecting obesity in dogs and dog-owners,5 Laing et al. evaluated a

Element 1: defining and describing the OH initiative and its context (i.e., the system, its boundaries, and the OH initiative as a subsystem), providing information for the further Elements;

¹http://neoh.onehealthglobal.net.

²https://www.frontiersin.org/research-topics/5479.

³Léger A, Stärk K, Rushton J, Nielsen LR. A one health evaluation of the University of Copenhagen Research Centre for Control of Antibiotic Resistance. *Front Vet Sci* (2017). (under review in this Research Topic).

⁴Buttigieg SC, Savic S, Cauchi D, Lautier E, Canali M, Aragrande M. Comparing the control and eradication of brucellosis in Malta and Serbia: a one health evaluation. *Front Vet Sci* (2017). (under review in this Research Topic).

⁵Muñoz-Prieto A, Nielsen LR, Martinez-Subiela S, Mazeikiene J, Lopez Jornet PL, Savic S, et al. Evaluation of one health operations and supporting infrastructure in a questionnaire-based study of obesity among dogs and their owners in 11 European countries. *Front Vet Sci* (2017). (under review in this Research Topic).

TABLE 1 | Glossary of terms and abbreviations used in this manuscript.

Term	Abbreviation	Explanation	Reference	
Multi-disciplinary MD		The multi-disciplinary approach is typically understood as the sequential or additive combination of ideas or methods	(8), or http://www.arj. no/2012/03/12/disciplinarities-2/	
Interdisciplinary ID		The interdisciplinary approach involves the integration of perspectives, concepts, theories, and methods to address a common challenge	(8, 12), or http://www.arj. no/2012/03/12/disciplinarities-2/	
Transdisciplinary TD		The transdisciplinary approach entails not only the integration of approaches, but also the creation of fundamentally new conceptual frameworks, hypotheses, and research strategies that synthesize diverse approaches and ultimately extend beyond them to transcend pre-existing disciplinary boundaries. The term transdisciplinarity refers to scholarship that transgresses the boundaries between academia and communities outside academia. By doing so, OH enables inputs and scoping across scientific and non-scientific stakeholder communities and facilitates a systemic way of addressing a challenge	(8, 12)	
Sector		A sector is an area of activity aimed at benefits to society, characterised by common processes and institutions. Examples include agriculture, health, transportation, education, and environment. Sub-sectors would be units within the sector; for example, in agriculture these could be livestock, crops, agro-forestry, fishing, and aquaculture		
System, social- ecological system	SES	A system is a set of interacting, interrelated, or independent components that form a complex and unified whole (13). Human made systems are usually conceived to achieve a defined aim (14). However, this may not be the case for social-ecological systems (SES), which were defined as a hierarchy of subsystems and internal variables at multiple levels analogous to organisms composed of organs, organs of tissues, tissues of cells, etc. The core subsystems of an SES are resource systems, resource units, governance systems, and users (15)	(13–15)	
Component		Systems are composed of a set of interacting or interdependent components that form a complex whole. Components may be tangible (e.g., humans, animals, forests, lakes) or intangible (e.g., cultural behaviours, values, norms, language expressions) and are linked by interactions	(13, 16)	
Context		The system or SES within which the initiative is aiming to evoke change towards a health outcome		
Resource system		Resource systems are core subsystems of an SES such as forested areas, wildlife, water systems, national parks, etc. We extend the idea of Ostrom and consider social systems as resource systems too, e.g., health care system, local community, food chains, etc. They "provide" or host resource units such as trees, shrubs, susceptible persons, traders, food items, etc. which contribute to the system	(15)	
Resource units		Resource units are product or component of the resource system and represent a link of the resource system to other components. In contrast to Ostrom, we do not differentiate between users and resource units, because users may represent a resource from, e.g., a disease perspective	(15)	
Governance system		Governance systems are a further core subsystem of a social-ecological system and represent the system that is managing specific resource systems.	(15)	
Stakeholder		Stakeholder is "any individual, group or organisation who may affect, be affected by, or perceive themselves to be affected by a decision or activity"	(17)	
Actor		Actors are a subgroup of stakeholders such as "any individual, group or organisation who acts, or takes part" in the context of the OH initiative	(17)	
One Health	ОН	OH emphasises the commonalities of human, animal, plant, and environmental health. In this perspective, it can be regarded as an "umbrella" term that captures integrative approaches to health across these highly interlinked components	(7)	
One Health OH initiative initiative		Any initiative, such as research projects, developmental programmes, policy, etc. that relies on the concept of OH as described above. In a generic way, an OH initiative aims at generating change in a SES (context) towards improved health of humans, animals, and/or ecosystems. We do <i>not</i> refer to the <i>pro bono</i> Kahn–Kaplan–Monath–Woodall– Conti "One Health Initiative" at http://www.onehealthinitiative.com	(7)	
Network for evaluation of One Health	NEOH	A network funded by the European Cooperation in Science and Technology (TD1404) with the aim to enable future quantitative evaluations of OH activities and to further the evidence base by developing and applying a science-based evaluation protocol in a community of experts	http://neoh. onehealthglobal.net	
Evaluation design		A plan for conducting an evaluation		

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

Term	Abbreviation	Explanation	Reference
Scale		Identical to level. Systems are organised in hierarchical order. This hierarchy implies that different levels of the hierarchy can be in the focus of attention. As an example in the hierarchy of life, one can look at individuals, populations, communities, or ecosystems, i.e., different scales of the same quality (life)	(18)
Level		Used as synonym to scale	
Dimension		Systems are organised in hierarchical order. Hierarchies depend on a fundamental quality that defines this order. Examples for dimensions are life with its different organisational levels; within the semantic space (dimension) expands the hierarchy of meanings of words; within the dimension of faith various beliefs are organised within larger clusters, but also governance, time, geographical space, and many more are dimensions	(18)
Space		Here used as synonym to dimension	
Theory of change	TOC	The TOC explains all the different pathways that might lead to the desired effect of an initiative. It not only shows the outputs, outcomes, and impact of an initiative, but also requires outlining (and explaining) the causal linkages. Each effect is shown in a logical relationship to all the others	(19) and http://evaluation.lshtm. ac.uk/process-evaluation/#toc
Logic model		Logic models graphically illustrate the components (inputs, activities, outputs, outcomes, impacts) of a programme in a structured, logical, and sequential way	http://www.theoryofchange.org/ wp-content/uploads/toco_library, pdf/TOCs_and_Logic_Models_ forAEA.pdf
Impact		Positive and negative, primary, and secondary long-term effects produced by a development intervention, directly or indirectly, intended or unintended	(20)
Output		The products, capital goods, and services which result from an OH initiative; may also include changes resulting from the intervention which are relevant to the achievement of outcomes	(20)
Outcome		The likely or achieved short-term and medium-term effects of an OH initiative's outputs	(20)
Outcome mapping		An approach used for planning and assessing programmes that focus on change and social transformation. It provides a set of tools to design and gather information on the outcomes, defined as behavioural changes, of the change process	https://www. outcomemapping.ca/

project mitigating the effects of the unexpected domestic re-use of containers employed for organophosphates in a tick control programme (26), Fonseca et al. applied the framework to evaluate a cross-sectoral observatory of taeniasis and cysticercosis,⁶ and finally Hanin et al. evaluated an international and inter-sectoral centre for infectious disease surveillance (27).

Definition of the Initiative and Its Context

Before designing an evaluation, the evaluation question(s) must be clearly stated. To answer these questions and to select an adequate evaluation design^{T1}, it is then important to gain a principle understanding and overview of the activities to be evaluated (28). The framework presented here uses a systems approach and regards the context^{T1} of an OH initiative^{T1} as the system^{T1} within which it operates, and the initiative itself as a subsystem conceived to induce change in this context. Systems have been defined in many different disciplines and frameworks [e.g., Ref. (14, 21–24)]. A fundamental feature is that systems are composed of a set of interacting or interdependent components^{T1} that form a complex whole (13). This implies a hierarchical organisation and a concept of levels $^{{\scriptscriptstyle T}{\scriptscriptstyle 1}}$ or scales $^{{\scriptscriptstyle T}{\scriptscriptstyle 1}}$ within different dimensions $^{{\scriptscriptstyle T}{\scriptscriptstyle 1}}$ (18). Although the term "level" is used ambiguously in science, the concept used here is that of "grades of being ordered," which captures what biologists and social scientists refer to as "levels of organisation" (29). Three such grades or levels can be identified at which OH outcomes are usually measured: individual level of health, population level of health, and ecosystem level of health (30). Systems can be considered as a network of components^{T1}, which can be tangible (e.g., humans, animals, forests, and lakes) or intangible (e.g., cultural behaviours, values, norms, and language expressions) and which are linked by interactions (13, 16). The system's components depend on the perspective and determine its boundaries, which are important for evaluation (23). While the perspectives of stakeholders (and thus system boundaries) may differ, the stakeholders may become agents of change or part of a pathway towards successful solutions (24, 26, 28). OH initiatives might create additional opportunities to produce relevant-expected as well as unexpected-outcomes by including stakeholders and system boundaries explicitly (Figure 1).

Element 1 of the evaluation framework (**Figure 1**) consists of a general overview (see the section "The General Overview"), a visual representation and a textual description of the system in which the initiative operates (see the section "Visual Representation and Textual Description of the Context"), and an analogous illustration and description of the initiative within

⁶Fonseca AG, Torgal J, De Meneghi D, Gabriel S, Coelho AC, Vilhena M. One health ness evaluation of the surveillance design of Taeniasis and Cysticercosis in Portugal (a neglected disease in Europe). *Front Public Health* (2017). (under review in this Research Topic).



(white boxes). In Element 1, the initiative and its context are described to inform Elements 2 and 3. Element 2 relies on a theory of change to identify expected outcomes and collects unexpected outcomes through non-linear impact assessment. In Element 3, the implementation of operations and infrastructure contributing to the OH initiative is assessed. The two assessments are compared in Element 4.

this context (see the section "Illustration and Description of the OH Initiative within the Context"). They do not need to be developed in sequence, but may evolve iteratively, and may be developed by a group of evaluators or by the stakeholders of the initiative, or by the two groups in collaboration.

The General Overview

For the general overview, the evaluator should put together a concise description of the background, objectives, key features,

and rationale of the OH initiative under evaluation so that the user is aware of the important characteristics that can affect the evaluation.

Visual Representation and Textual Description of the Context

Here, the focus is specifically on the system targeted by the OH initiative; in other words, the wider context within which the initiative operates. We will describe the initiative itself later. For



the visual representation of the system, we propose a combination of the socio-ecological system framework by Ostrom and a causal loop diagram (13, 15).

To capture the socio-ecological system, three core subsystems are plotted first (Figure 2): the resource systems^{T1} (blue ovals), the resource units^{T1} they provide (dark blue boxes), and the governing systems T1 (grey boxes). In the next step, further tangible and intangible components relevant to the system (white ovals, e.g., use of antibiotics, effectiveness of antimicrobials) are added. For legibility of the graph, it is recommended to use nouns that fit into phrases such as "the level of ...," to avoid verbs and to use neutral terms, e.g., "use of antimicrobials" rather than "increase of antimicrobial use." Finally, relationships are added as arrows, namely governance relations (grey), membership relations (black), and causal relations (blue). For causal relations, it is useful to note the relation using S for "same direction change" and O for "opposite direction change," in order to identify later reinforcing and balancing loops. Subscripts and explanatory text as well as annotations of time delays can be convenient for later reference.

Visual representation is powerful, but lacks any dimension beyond the plane and therefore hinders the depiction of overlapping subsystems or nested hierarchies. Hence, to explore further the system in which the OH initiative operates, it is recommended to include a textual description. It is guided by three questions formulated by Williams (28): (A) to understand interrelationships: what is the reality we are dealing with? (B) to engage with perspectives: how do we understand/how do we see that reality? (C) to reflect on boundaries: how do we decide to do what needs to be done? (28). In **Table 2**, we adapted the tabular system description by Boriani et al. (31) for a broader application. It allows capturing the aim of the system, the stakeholders and actors and their interactions, the system dimensions with corresponding boundaries, and the system evolution.

The aim and/or indicators of the system are not to be confused with the aim of the initiative and should answer the question "why does the system exist?" or "what does it produce?" e.g., the result of a food chain may be to "produce Salami." A social-ecological system may not have an explicit aim, but it can be characterised by indicators that allow describing selected attributes, such as resilience, productivity, or health. In this evaluation framework, we differentiate among the declared aim by the system and the observed, enacted, and the perceived aims. The declared aim of a veterinary practice may be to provide animal health services. However, this will be enacted within a socio-economic context, which may result in therapeutic choices that prioritize practice income over animal welfare. These actions may be observed by a subset of clients, while others do not notice them. Each stakeholder may have a different perception of the declared aim and again, each of them can have a different way to interpret how the system is performing in relation to its aim (13). In socioecological systems, the perceptions differ mainly in regard to the way one verifies whether the system is healthy and/or intact. This is important as it explains the motivational background and sets

Aspect	Description	Secondary questions	Evolution
Aims	What is the context of the OH initiative— why does this system exist? What does it produce? For social-ecological systems that have no explicit aim, what are indicators that the system is intact/healthy?	Perspectives What does the system declare to do? Are there different declarations? What do the actors and stakeholders perceive the system does and how do those perceptions differ? (For social-ecological systems: how do the actors and stakeholders perceive/evaluate that the system is intact/ operational?) Are there measurable outcomes/indicators of the system? How do the declared, perceived and measured aims/ outcomes relate?	Do the various aims/indicators change as the system evolves with time?
Actors	Who are the actors? Who acts within the system?	Relationships How do they affect the other actors/stakeholders and the aim of the system? How are they affected by the other actors/stakeholders and the aim/indicators of the system? How are the relationships distributed/arranged? Which are the most important links? What are the processes between the related components? How can the links be characterised (slow/fast, strong/weak)?	Do the actors change their activity and behaviours as the system evolves (new trade-offs)? Does the system have secondary effects on the actors?
Stakeholders	Who are the stakeholders? Who is affected by the system?	Relationships How are they affected by the actors and the dynamics of the system? How are the relationships distributed/arranged? Which are the most important links? What is the nature of the processes between the related components? How can the links be characterised (slow/ fast, strong/weak)?	Does the system have secondary effects on the stakeholders?
Geographical dimension	Which geographical space does the system occupy and where is it situated (surface concerned, climate, and location)?	Boundaries How is the system delimited in geographical area? How do these boundaries affect the system aims/ indicators and dynamics?	Does the system have secondary effects in geographical space within the boundaries? Does the system produce "externalities" in geographical space?
Temporal dimension	Which is the most important time scale in which events are happening in the system (e.g., minutes, months, and years)? Are there other important time scales?	Boundaries How is the system delimited in time? Is it infinite, terminated, transient? How does this time limit affect the system aims/indicators?	Does the system affect the frequency of events or its own time limit? Does the system produce "externalities" in time (accelerating or slowing down external systems)?
Governance/ institutional dimension	Which governance entities/levels are involved (shire, agglomeration, state, nation, or international space)? What institutional structures (companies, corporations, and organisations) play a role?	Boundaries How is the system delimited in the governance/ institutional dimension? How do these boundaries affect the system aims/indicators?	Does the system have secondary effects in the governance/institutional dimension within the boundaries? Does the system produce "externalities" in the governance/institutional dimension?
Further dimensions	How does the system extend within this dimension and how many levels of this dimension are part of the system?	Boundaries How are these dimensions delimited? How do these boundaries affect the system aims/indicators?	Does the system have secondary effects in these dimensions within the boundaries? Does the system produce "externalities" in these dimensions?

TABLE 2 | An overview of how to describe the system at which the One Health (OH) initiative is targeted, i.e., the context of the initiative.

of values of the concerned stakeholders. Indicators specific for the system aim should be identified in a participatory process and compared with indicators used by different stakeholders to assess their perceived aim(s), thereby shedding light on discrepancies and ways of resolving them.

Following the interactive terminology for Europe (17), we define *stakeholders*^{T1} as "any individual, group, or organisation who may affect, be affected by, or perceive themselves to be affected by a decision or activity," while $actors^{T1}$ are a subgroup of stakeholders such as "any individual, group, or organisation who acts,

or takes part" in system activities. To gain clarity about roles of stakeholders, we recommend referring to the visual representation of the system exemplified in **Figure 2** and probe for "who is involved in the system as an *actor* and who is merely *affected*?" For example, the pharmaceutical industry produces a certain compound, people can decide whether to take that compound or not, while animals are affected by a certain preparation distributed to them by an actor in the system (e.g., veterinarian or owner). An overview of relevant actors and stakeholders allows delimiting further the system under evaluation. Stakeholders could be actors at the same time, and in these situations, it should be differentiated in what capacity a group represents a stakeholder or actor, respectively.

In order to understand the context of the OH initiative, it is important to understand how the components of the system are arranged or interact (28). There are four aspects of relationships that should be considered and described: (a) the structure or arrangement of the links between the components (topology); (b) the nature of the processes between the components (e.g., information flow, transfer of goods, etc.); (c) the characteristics of the links (slow/fast, strong/weak, antagonistic/synergistic, etc.); and (d) identifying the links that are most important in the system.

Dimensions^{T1} are defined as spaces in which levels of organisation according to Bunge occur (29). In other words, entities within a dimension feature the same quality (e.g., metric) but to a different degree. Examples include geographical space, time, governance/institutional, economic, linguistic, faith, and value dimensions. Within these dimensions, we consider scales^{T1} or levels T1 of analysis, e.g., cell-organism-population in the dimension of life (18). These levels are important, because they will determine the relation between the resolution of the analysis and the resolution of observations and what can be measured or evaluated in the system in a particular dimension. Due to their importance, geographical, temporal, and governance/institutional dimensions are included in Table 2. Particularly time is related to the scale in other dimensions, i.e., the larger the system the larger its characteristic time, which is the time at which the average change occurs (e.g., cells react within milliseconds, individuals within minutes to hours, ecosystems is within years or decades, the same applies to the adaptability of laws at different scales or the frequency that vocabulary is used in a language) (18). Together with geographical space, time is a particularly important dimension, because it will characterise if the system is evolving over seconds, hours, days, years, decades, or even longer. It can be considered in the past, present, or future, and opportunities to affect the system are highly dependent on time due to the system disposition (the same intervention may have different effects when applied at different times). Furthermore, causes and effects may occur in different time scales, where short actions may result in effects with a time lag of years. The governance/institutional dimension will determine which organisational levels (ranging from international governance mechanisms to household structures) are represented and addressed in an initiative. Considering scales is important, because initiatives may aim to change systems at different levels than where the necessary governance could be influenced and consequently, well intended initiatives may remain ineffective if they do not address all appropriate levels.

Further dimensions are the *Dimension of Life* (or Biology) comprising nested living entities from cells to biosphere with levels such as "cell," "organ," and "individual," the *Economic Dimension* defined by rules and institutions involved in decisions on production, trade, and exchange of goods and services, the *Linguistic Dimension* delimited by languages and dialects used, the *Faith/Value Dimension*, which represents the values and beliefs underlying the system. Other dimensions may also be relevant to the system, such as communication, transportation, legal frame, sociocultural dimensions, and many others.

The primary importance of a systems approach to evaluation implies less the idea of being comprehensive, but rather being "thoughtful, smart, and aware about what you are leaving out" (28). The evaluator(s) will need to be transparent about the consequences of choices and declare their relation to the initiative, the system, and the evaluation per se. Although the dynamics and boundaries and stakeholders of a system are clear, they will be constrained by physical limits (e.g., a mountain range, river), social limits (e.g., country, community), regulations (e.g., quotas, prohibitions), and/or other norms (e.g., social norms, religious norms) that are either imposed by the systems nature or selected by the evaluators (23). Many restricting factors will lie in one of the system dimensions identified earlier. For example, a food system can be limited due to production regulations (e.g., the previous milk quotas system in Europe), food hygiene standards (e.g., restrictions on raw milk consumption), or cultural practices (e.g., no pork consumption in certain faith groups). The system boundaries characterise the interaction between the context of the initiative with the broader world in which it is imbedded, and determine how this affects the aim of the system (23). Finally, dimensions can also interact and may even be so closely correlated that it may not be useful to differentiate them (e.g., when religious beliefs are prescribed by the law).

The *evolution of a system* can be regarded as interaction of time with other dimensions in terms of iterations and pathways along those dimensions and time. Apart from the aim of the system, the interactions in the system may produce secondary effects within the system and "externalities" beyond the boundaries as it evolves. Highly self-organising systems may even change their (aim) dynamics and boundaries as time goes by.

Illustration and Description of the OH Initiative within the Context

In a next step, the OH initiative can be added to the visual representation of the context to illustrate its effects on various components^{T1} and their interactions. If an affected component is missing, it is added and the system graph corrected accordingly. In the example in **Figure 2**, we have included a hypothetical OH initiative that involves new antimicrobial treatment guidelines for veterinarians and general practitioners (prescribers) that are assumed to impact directly on the amount and distributions of types of antimicrobials used in the system.

The user should now have a clear understanding of the system in which the OH initiative is situated. Next, the initiative itself is described using the template in **Table 2** in analogy, namely as a nested subsystem of the context, which it aims to change. Many elements may be congruent, but the boundaries of the initiative will inevitably be smaller and there will be fewer actors, stakeholders, and more limitations than in the description of the system. Care should be taken, as actors and stakeholders and their particular roles, may not be identical in the initiative and in the wider system. The initiative may be likely to consider fewer dimensions compared with the system, but it is important to identify how it will influence the context and what the limitation of the actions are. A key question in this description is: how is OH conceptualised by the various participants and is there a common understanding?

TOC and Assessment of Outcomes

Element 2 involves elaborating the TOC^{T1}, which helps to explain how an initiative is intended to produce the desired (or expected) outcomes. It is an important step to define the evaluation question and to choose the evaluation methods and metrics. It entails generating hypothesis about the causal mechanisms by which the components and activities of the initiative produce outcomes by asking pertinent questions about: (A) why people expect the initiative to bring about the change(s) and the outcome(s) they seek, (B) to question their assumptions about how the change process will unfold, and (C) to be clear about how they are selecting outcomes for the evaluation. Identifying and developing a theoretical understanding of the likely process of change is critical when evaluating complex initiatives (32). Measuring (or assessing) change in multiple outcomes, facilitates the evaluation of whether the OH initiative works as intended and whether it is cost-effective. In addition, unexpected outcomes may arise from an OH initiative. A good description and understanding of the system and OH initiative in

Element 1 facilitates the identification of interactions and dynamics that may lead to unexpected and indirect outcomes not specified by the TOC. This framework standardises the evaluation through a systematic approach based on the TOC, while explicitly remaining open for potentially emerging systemic effects through the non-linear impact evaluation (**Figure 1**).

Description of the TOC

Essentially, the TOC presents a roadmap with all building blocks required to bring about a desired (long-term) goal and hence spells out the logic behind the initiative. The presentation of the TOC can be assisted by a graphical presentation (e.g., **Figure 3**), or its description can refer back to the illustration of the system used in Element 1.

The impact T1 is defined as the long-term effects (or goals) to be induced by an OH initiative. It is a change that continues to exist after the end of the initiative, and can be direct (first order) or indirect (second order) impacts. Outcomes^{T1} are changes



FIGURE 3 | The change pathway for a fictive One Health research initiative aiming to mitigate the development of antimicrobial resistance in a transdisciplinary process. It illustrates the inputs from science and society to co-produce outputs that are taken up by society and the scientific community and disseminated through a specific discourse before resulting in first- and second-order impacts and scientific progress. On the way to impact(s) several iterations with new inputs and outputs of the transdisciplinary process may be needed.

(e.g., improvement, learning) resulting from the initiative that can be considered to be stepping stones for progress towards the longer-term goals. In a transdisciplinary process, the outcomes are situated in societal and scientific practice and can be of multiple natures (e.g., technical, economic, social, sanitary, and political) (33). Outputs^{T1} are products, goods, and services, which result from the transdisciplinary process of an OH initiative and are necessary for the achievement of outcomes. For illustration, we use an example from a fictive research project aiming to produce new knowledge and methods to combat the development of antimicrobial resistance (Figure 3): OH research outputs (new data and knowledge) result in new treatment guidelines (outcome for societal practice) leading to new regulations restricting (and hence lowering) the use of specific antimicrobials in farmed animals (first-order impact of political nature), which then may reduce the development of antimicrobial resistance in farmed animals and the associated transmission to people (second-order societal impact). The impacts can be realised at different political levels (e.g., individual, institutional, regional, national, and international) and can consist of different types of effects (positive or negative; direct or indirect). Outcomes for societal and scientific practice (e.g., an improved integrated surveillance programme for antimicrobial resistance or a new simulation model, respectively) are disseminated, adapted, and applied by other actors to result in societal impact or scientific progress. Between the initial problem formulation and the expected impact(s), new inputs might be required as a result of intermediary outcomes and will feed a further iteration of knowledge co-production. An example could be new research collaborations as the outcome of an OH initiative, which may lead to new knowledge or tools for improved control of infectious diseases in a second initiative. The sequence of inputs (i.e., resources needed to perform the actions), outputs, outcomes, and impact can be graphically represented by a change pathway also known as an impact pathway (34) or a logical framework^{T1} or logic model^{T1}, which presents the flows in a "logical," sequential way (19). Importantly, the classification into outputs, outcomes, and impacts depend on the perspective that is taken for the evaluation and may differ among stakeholders (35). It is therefore important to elaborate the TOC in collaboration with the entity contracting the evaluation.

A methodology related to the TOC is outcome mapping^{T1}, which can be used for planning and assessing (development) activities focusing on change and social transformation. It places people and learning at the centre of development and conceptualises unanticipated changes as potential for progress and innovation. Consequently, it can be a useful tool to use for OH initiatives, either in combination with TOC or on its own if it fulfills key assumptions of dependence on human behaviour, limits to the influence of interventions, active contribution of people to their well-being, co-existence of differing yet valid perspectives, and resilience dependent on interrelationships (36).

Expected Outcomes and Impacts

The description and definition of outcomes and impacts are dependent on the problem the OH initiative is addressing and the associated boundaries of the system, objective, rationale, and consequently the resulting TOC. Given the diversity of OH initiatives, there is no single outcome that summarises OH endeavours, but rather a wide range of different outcomes (37–39). However, at the longer-term impact level, there are commonalities OH endeavours appear to strive for (7). The outcomes and impacts to be measured need to be selected as best fit for the specific OH initiative and its TOC. Because of their nature, OH initiatives will commonly span different sectors and disciplines and therefore are likely to produce disciplinary, interdisciplinary, and OH outcomes and impacts. Evaluators consequently need to be aware of disciplinary paradigms, data, and approaches as well as methods of combining outcomes from different disciplines.

Disciplinary outcomes relate to outcomes that are measurable within a distinct discipline or sub-speciality within the natural or social sciences. Examples of disciplinary outcomes include health outcomes such as decreased levels of non-communicable or infectious diseases; nutrition outcomes such as reduced levels of undernutrition or obesity; economic outcomes such as increased productivity or savings in the health care system; social outcomes such as improved societal stability; and ecological outcomes such as slower rates of biodiversity reduction or improved water or air quality. Importantly, these outcomes can be achieved in disciplinary or sectoral approaches (e.g., promotion of a new anti-diabetes treatment or childhood vaccination in a national health service), but more often, they rely on collaborations across disciplines and sectors. Interdisciplinary activities by definition have an impact on multiple fields or disciplines and produce results that feed back into and enhance disciplinary or sectoral work. In these instances, the pathway to the outcome may be characterised by collaboration and contributions from different disciplines and sectors, but the outcomes may still be conceptualised (and consequently measured) at the level of a field or discipline. Combining these disciplinary outcomes in methods such as multi-criteria decision analysis gives a solid basis for an assessment of the achievements of the OH initiative. In interdisciplinary outcomes, individuals from different disciplines create new knowledge and understanding through sharing of ideas and bringing together different perspectives result in a product or measure, which explicitly reflect the shared responsibility among disciplines for outcomes (16, 22, 40). Consequently, interdisciplinary outcomes occur in the realm of at least two disciplines simultaneously, e.g., food security as an interdisciplinary outcome of successful alignment of multiple sectors (i.e., food availability, food access, and food utilisation), which contribute different skills and expertise (41). Other examples are the human development index, the environmental performance index, and the planetary boundaries, which combine a diversity of indicators into a single or a few measure(s). An improvement in the index cannot be achieved with a disciplinary approach, but needs activities in health (e.g., investment in health service capacity, public awareness campaigns), education (e.g., build infrastructure, attracted attract talented teachers, and provide incentives for school attendance), social protection (e.g., policies to reduce poverty and vulnerability of disadvantaged population groups), and economics (e.g., promotion of efficient labour markets, robust governance). Interdisciplinary outcomes are ideally measured in a common metric, i.e., they should rely on a consensus on how to assess and weigh the particular outcomes.

Such metrics are even more policy relevant and effective if they are produced and measured in a transdisciplinary process, which transcends both horizontal boundaries between scientific disciplines, and vertical boundaries between science and other societal fields (private sector, public agencies, and civil society) (42). Like this, stakeholders share different perspectives and can therefore improve the contextualization of the problem and its potential solutions and targets (43).

One Health outcomes or impacts occur as result from a broader integration of activities in the system at stake. The main domains of OH outcomes are the three pillars of sustainability, i.e., society, environment, and economy. Typical examples are interspecies equity, health stewardship, human and animal welfare, efficiency, and effectiveness (7). Clear causal attribution to the OH initiative may be difficult, but a contribution of the OH initiative can be assessed.

Given the perspective chosen and the resource availability for the evaluation, the description of the TOC, and the selection of associated outcomes may be more or less comprehensive and complex. However, the evaluator should make sure to pay careful attention to the contributions from different disciplines and sectors, their integration and the resulting positive and negative effects.

Unexpected Outcomes and Impacts

By definition, unexpected outcomes and impacts cannot be planned or covered by a TOC, even though attempts are sometimes made to capture a wide range of eventualities. Throughout an OH initiative within its system, interactions among components and feedback loops frequently produce rapid, non-linear, and unanticipated changes (23, 44, 45). Typically, integrated approaches in complex systems generate unexpected added value, e.g., a new stakeholder organisation, but may also result in unexpected negative impacts, e.g., discrimination among stakeholders (23), which is why capturing unexpected outcomes constitutes an essential process of OH evaluation. Other examples would be emerging diseases due to new contact rates or closer contact between previously isolated populations, or due to new social behaviours in urbanised environments (46). If unexpected outcomes are not captured, evaluation fails in informing adaptive management that seeks to improve outcomes in complex dynamic environments (47). An expanding array of qualitative and quantitative methods for complexity-enabled monitoring, evaluation and learning is available for use in the fields of development and peacebuilding (48-50), many of which can be contextually adapted for OH projects and programmes.

Assessment of OH-Ness

Aspects of implementation of initiatives (i.e., the structures, resources, and processes through which delivery is achieved, and the quantity and quality of what is delivered); mechanisms of impact (i.e., how activities, and participants' interactions with them, trigger change); and context (i.e., how external factors influence the delivery and functioning of activities) are examined through process evaluation (51, 52). Process evaluations allow seeing how an initiative develops, its structures, environment, and associated activities like communications

and marketing. An implicit characteristic of any OH initiative is its focus on sharing, exchanging, collaborating, learning (from each other), reflecting and generating change across disciplines, and sectors in an enabling environment (7). Consequently, this affects the delivery of an OH initiative (e.g., availability of training, learning about other fields, provision of resources), the mechanisms of impact (e.g., the responses of participants and their interactions with the initiative), and context factors (e.g., shaping of theories on how an initiative works). We refer to the sum of these characteristics as OH-ness composed of six aspects outlined below and hypothesise that they need to be an integral element of any (process) evaluation in OH. We collate scores and indices that have been suggested in a variety of contexts, adapt them to OH, and combine them in a OH-index (OHI) and OH-ratio (OHR) for a holistic appreciation. The six assessment tools have been standardised for use and are made available together with the calculation of the indices and automatic spider diagrams in an Excel workbook for download (Table S1 in Supplementary Material). Each assessment tool consists of a series of up to 17 questions to be answered and an associated scoring system with values between 0 and 1 as well as spider diagrams. The questions were developed by working group 1 of the NEOH and probe for the specificities of each aspect (outlined below) that can be captured in a semi-quantitative way. They are based on the concept of SMART goals (specific, measurable, achievable, relevant, and timely) and wherever appropriate, were adapted from existing evaluation tools. They were then circulated in the NEOH community and revised in several workshops throughout the Action. The scoring recommendations were determined so that scores close to one reflect a high degree of realisation of the different OH characteristics. Here, it must be emphasised that the authors do not presume that a high degree of implementation necessarily results in a high impact or effectiveness and underline that at this stage, the benchmark still needs to be established. Each question has the same weight, with exception of the learning assessment, where different levels of organisational learning are weighted according to their level of influence on institutional learning. Consequently, care was taken to balance the number of questions across all assessment tools to provide equal representation in the overall OHI. The underlying assumption is that each question contains equivalent information to describe the OH initiative. However, because there is no measurable gold standard for each of the questions, the questionnaire and primarily the OHI, and OHR are then assessed for their usefulness and representativeness using case studies as outlined in the overview and a meta-analysis of further published studies. Similar to Element 1, the assessment of the characteristics in this element should ideally be informed by a group of evaluators or (preferably) by relevant stakeholders identified in Element 1.

OH Thinking: System Thinking and Match between Context and Initiative

One Health as a systemic approach with corresponding methodology is of little worth if not based on a foundation of systems thinking (14). This tool assesses how an OH initiative conceptualises the system in which it operates and in how far it considers features specific to complex adaptive systems. The fundamental idea is that a complex initiative addresses multiple dimensions of the system in which it operates (see Element 1 above). The first set of questions (Table S1 in Supplementary Material) measure the number of dimensions and the scales within each to gain a semi-quantitative appreciation of the context and the embedded OH initiative. The following questions assess the match between the dimensions of the initiative and its context. Particular attention is given to the scales in different dimensions and whether the initiative reflects the reality of the context in which it operates. A third set of questions probes for concepts and thoughts typically contained in a systems approach (13, 53). To assess systems thinking in written documents, e.g., in a retrospective evaluation or in a proposal, we refer to a method based on statistical semantics proposed by Whitehead and Scherer (54).

OH Planning: Cross-Sectorial, Integrated Planning

One Health planning is essentially the unfolding of the OH thinking into operational features of the initiative that should facilitate OH working towards achieving the aims and objectives during as well as after the OH initiative. The planning of OH initiatives go beyond the type of planning that is required for disciplinary and interdisciplinary projects in which it might be easier to maintain control of what tasks, engagement, and resources are required. For instance, OH initiatives typically require human resources with competences in transdisciplinary working methods and excellent communication skills to bridge disciplines and sectors (8). It is important that the planning includes appropriate methods to engage all of the essential actors and stakeholders, who should be aiming to reach a common goal. Part of the planning evaluation is to assess whether the planned structure, location, and timing of the initiative support the OH outcomes aimed for. Due to the complex and trans-domain characteristics of OH challenges, another important aspect of OH initiatives is the ability to self-assess, learn, reflect, and adapt to new knowledge and changing conditions, constraints, and opportunities over time (55). Therefore, adaptability features prominently in the evaluation of the planning of OH initiatives. Finally, the planning evaluation helps assessing the tasks and resources allocated to each task employed to achieve the specified objectives of the initiative. The questions in Table S1 in Supplementary Material were developed to probe if the challenges of complex initiatives described here are addressed in the planning phase and if funding as well as organisational aspects are set up to accommodate adaptive behaviour by the participants. High scores are recommended for a strong support of adaptability and flexibility.

OH Working: Transdisciplinarity

Interdisciplinary collaboration brings together people with different skills and expertise to tackle complex problems, which often have a high-societal stake and require an understanding of the human behaviour (9, 56, 57). Appreciating potential contributions of multiple disciplines requires examining the limits imposed by a discipline, and rejecting or accepting different disciplinary theories based on their relevance and credibility in order to gain a new understanding about the defined challenge (12, 58). In the context of OH, interdisciplinarity^{T1} has developed towards a participatory approach in the form of transdisciplinarity^{T1} (57). Both inter- and transdisciplinarity rely on appropriate leadership and management to promote strategic dialogue and shared decision-making (40, 59), which in turn will foster a non-hierarchical relationship between the different disciplines and members within the team. It must also allow for self-reflection, flexibility, and recursiveness (40, 42, 57, 60), to be able to challenge and modify underlying assumptions and concepts and thereby enrich understanding. It must be emphasised that such transdisciplinary work demands a high level of commitment and collaboration of all participants to establish personal relationships founded within a climate of trust (9, 42, 59). The questions probing for transdisciplinarity (Table S1 in Supplementary Material) focus on disciplinary diversity, team building, and adaptability and were adapted based on the work cited above.

Further aspects of trans- and interdisciplinarity may be assessed, namely for (A) evaluating (academic) participants and (B) assessing scientific outputs of an OH initiative. However, because individuals may have different roles in an OH initiative, assessing their trans- and interdisciplinary capacity may not always be required or relevant. Also, printed scientific output may not be a primary objective of an OH initiative and occurs with some delay, thereby contributing more to the assessment of outputs than to the implementation *per se*:

- (A) The transdisciplinarity of (academic) participants may be assessed based on the interdisciplinarity of publications [see method (B) below]; interdisciplinarity of teaching, other academic activity (e.g., teaching experience in other disciplines than the own, co-teaching with experts from other disciplines/sectors, etc.); previous experience with various non-academic communities (e.g., public debate, main stream media, sports and leisure organisations, politics, NGOs, volunteering, etc.); involvement in other disciplinary and interdisciplinary networks (e.g., social and natural science networks other than the own expertise, explicitly interdisciplinary initiatives, science policy, etc.);
- (B) A framework to evaluate the interdisciplinarity of knowledge production based on citation network analysis can be found here: https://www.mcgill.ca/msr/msr-volume-4/evaluatingknowledge-production-systems. It must be emphasised that this only represents the written knowledge published in peer reviewed journals, which does not reflect the actual knowledge production occurring in the field.

Systemic Organisation: Adaptive and Shared Leadership

In many complex settings, change-oriented leadership has helped to overcome the fallacies of conventions, norms, and traditions (61, 62). Complex systems have leverage points where they can be influenced according to their potential to modify a systems behaviour (53). The use of these points by an OH initiative determines the dimension(s) and scales at which the initiative is effective. However, in order to be effective, the implementation of the initiative needs to be facilitated by corresponding leadership behaviour. Yukl classifies leadership into four meta-categories with specific objectives (62): for (A) task-oriented behaviour, the primary objective is to accomplish work in an efficient and reliable way. For (B) relations-oriented behaviour, the primary objective is to increase the quality of human resources and relations, which is sometimes called "human capital." For (C) change-oriented behaviour, the primary objectives are to increase innovation, collective learning, and adaptation to the external environment. For (D) external leadership behaviour, the primary objectives are to acquire necessary information and resources, and to promote and defend the interests of the team or organisation. These leadership behaviours can be related to the leverage points in a system according to their objectives (**Table 3**).

Yukl emphasises that all leadership behaviours and particularly their flexible applications are relevant for effective leadership. The table simply illustrates that the lack of a particular leadership behaviour may hamper the implementation of a well-conceived OH initiative. The effectiveness of leadership behaviours also depends on the extent to which the leader is trusted by people to be influenced. Most types of leadership behaviours can be used in ethical or unethical ways. Moreover, a leader, who is not trusted because of unethical behaviour will have less influence. Values, namely honesty, altruism, compassion, fairness, courage, and humility may further catalyse effects of good leadership behaviour. In contrast, excessive institutional structure and organisation can nullify these effects (62). Rooke and Torbert identify further common personality traits of leaders that effectively manage wicked problems: they can challenge the prevailing view without provoking outrage or cynicism; they can act on the big and small picture at the same time, and change course if their chosen path turns out to be incorrect; and they lead with inquiry as well as advocacy, with engagement as well as command, operating all the while from a deeply held humility, and respect for others (63).

A further challenge for leading OH projects is that there may be less interest, commitment, and collaboration if one discipline dominates. Consequently, other disciplines may retract their activity and reinforce the disciplinary silo mentality. To ensure that disciplines are effectively engaged and involved in decision-making from the planning to the implementation stages of projects, shared/distributed leadership, and governance should be implemented involving all stakeholders (64, 65).

Consequently, the selection of questions for the systemic organisation of OH initiatives focuses on the structure of teams, as well as management, social, and leadership skills of key players and its implementation (Table S1 in Supplementary Material). The questions were taken from the leadership assessment tools and the published questionnaires on team work and transdisciplinarity described in Section "OH Working: Transdisciplinarity". High scores were recommended for strong teams, change-oriented leadership skills, clear competences, goals, and criteria of success.

Learning Infrastructure

Learning is a change in cognition, potential behaviour or actual behaviour through better knowledge, and understanding (66, 67). Organisations, such as OH initiatives, learn when they "encode inferences from history into routines that guide behaviour" (68). This is achieved when discoveries, evaluations, and insights by individuals are successfully embedded in the organisation's mental models or cognitive systems and memories (69). This requires that organisational learning takes into account the learning that takes place at the individual, group, and organisational levels (70) and the interplay between them (69). The three levels of learning work together and influence each other and are thus not clearly distinct and mutually exclusive (71). Nevertheless, each level of learning has its characteristics for evaluation.

Individuals can engage in single-loop or double-loop learning. Single-loop learning happens when the output is corrected or existing competences, procedures, technologies, and paradigms are improved, without necessarily examining or challenging the underlying beliefs and assumptions. In contrast, double-loop learning involves seeing beyond the situation and questioning operating norms. It results in modification of the organisation's underlying norms, policies, and objectives.

TABLE 3 | Ranked list of leverage points at which to intervene in complex systems, from least to most effective, according to Meadows (53), in relation to leadership behaviour according to Yukl (62).

Leverage point	Leadership behaviour	
Constants, parameters, numbers (such as subsidies, taxes, and standards)	Task-oriented leadership: clarifying, planning, monitoring, and problem solving	
The sizes of buffers and other stabilising stocks, relative to their flows		
The structure of material stocks and flows (such as transport networks, population age structures)		
The lengths of delays, relative to the rate of system change	Relation-oriented leadership: supporting,	
The strength of negative feedback loops, relative to the impacts they are trying to correct against	developing, recognising, and empowering	
The gain around driving positive feedback loops		
The structure of information flows (who does and does not have access to information)		
The rules of the system (such as incentives, punishments, and constraints)		
The power to add, change, evolve, or self-organise system structure	Change-oriented leadership: advocating change, envisioning change, encouraging innovation, and facilitating collective learning	
The goals of the system		
The mindset or paradigm out of which the system—its goals, structure, rules,	Change-oriented and external leadership: networking, external monitoring, and representin	
delays, parameters—arises		
The power to transcend paradigms		

Individual learning is not a sufficient condition for organisational learning (72). Teams enable the interplay between individual and organisational learning, because they can better share the knowledge (72–74) and include more people in the learning process. As a result, team members share awareness of each individual member's expertise, knowledge, and skills, and build a transactive memory system (8). Thus, the evaluation should examine the knowledge shared through teams, to what extent it is shared and how it is shared. The conclusion should show whether the teams provide the appropriate interplay between the individual and the OH initiative. Without supporting the development of a transactive memory system within and across teams, the initiative may have individuals who learn, but it cannot engage in organisational learning (75). It is important to assess how knowledge is gathered, stored, and distributed within an OH initiative (76), and if and how it provides working environments, technology, rewards, systems, structures, and policies that will support learning (73).

Finally, the context in which the OH initiative is located has influence on the organisational learning (77). The context can be divided into the direct system in which it operates and general environment (78). The direct system consists of other components with which the initiative interacts, e.g., actors and stakeholders with various relationships. The general environment consists of less specific elements that might affect learning like economic, technological, sociocultural, and other factors. The questions probing for learning are taken from a tool to change organisations towards learning organisations (79) and focus on the frequency single-loop and double-loop learning occur at the level of individuals, teams, and the OH initiative, as well as how the system and broader environment support learning (Table S1 in Supplementary Material).

Sharing Infrastructure and Processes

In a broad sense, data and information sharing is a catalyser of knowledge generation (80). Data are often a pre-requisite for the operational gears to function. In OH initiatives, data and information are often the "raw material" that ultimately will lead to better understanding and a more inclusive and sustainable way of tackling the challenge. If managed appropriately, data and unbiased information sharing can foster trust between participants, as well as minimise misconduct in data management and reporting (81, 82). Additionally, this process can avoid duplication of data collection, ensuring an optimisation of resources (83).

A central benefit of data sharing is that the data can be analysed to a much greater extent than if only the data owner examines them. This brings benefits to the data owners themselves, as the analysis of others might lead them to further develop their knowledge on the systems the data originated from or the strengths and limitations of their datasets, as well as raising the awareness of the existence of the data in the wider community (80, 84, 85). Despite these benefits, data and information sharing often lead to barriers for establishing collaborations (86) and are hampered by confidentiality issues, time delays, and even mistrust in established collaborations. Consequently, data sharing is not as frequent as desirable, and needs to be incentivised to become a natural part of the science and governance cultures. For example, in some countries research relies on a tripartite agreement to share information and collaborate between academia, government institutions and industry, but public access to data may also be reinforced through legislation.

A frequent barrier to data procurement is the bureaucratic process to access data, particularly its complexity and duration. Moreover, fees and technical constraints may arise (87), and often too little resources are set aside to for data extraction from databases. Data accessibility and ownership are further critical factors, with data owned by collaborating parties contributing more to knowledge generation than public data or data owned by third parties. Data confidentiality may affect its sharing, as participant consent is usually collected for a specific purpose. This consent might not extend to new studies or alternative purposes, and therefore, security measures may be required to warrant confidentiality. Sharing sensitive data and information within a broader group might entail higher risks for confidentiality breaches (88). Alternatively, anonymization may reduce that risk, but may also reduce the utility of the data. Finally, it needs to be stressed that knowledge about the data origin and data collection processes is key for the quality and usefulness of stored data, and respective documentation must be available. For example, without knowledge about potential bias throughout the data generating process, it is extremely challenging to merge or combine data from multiple sectors in an OH initiative. The questions in Table S1 in Supplementary Material derive from a workshop held by NEOH on data and information sharing, in which critical aspects of data sharing were discussed. High scores are recommended for strong facilitation of sharing. The questions focus on the sharing mechanisms, available resources, data quality and accessibility, storage, and the resilience of these to change in the system.

OH Index and Ratio

Given the lack of current, commonly accepted benchmarks and the fact that OH initiatives are strongly context specific, it is recommended to assess them in relation to a context-specific benchmark. Hence, the evaluator should determine what the perfect situation in the given context would look like (using benchmarking data where they exist) and what proportion of this maximum is achieved with the OH initiative.

The aim of the OH-index (OHI) is to combine the assessments conducted in the previous sections of Element 3. To visualise the six assessments, we suggest a spider diagram (**Figure 4**), in which each assessment is represented by a spoke. The diagram depicts the operational aspects "OH thinking," "OH planning," and "OH working" opposed to the infrastructure for "learning," "sharing," and "systemic organisation." Thus, the operational aspects on the top left of the diagonal are opposed to the infrastructure on the bottom right. Each spoke is scaled to cover a range of values between 0 and 1. Consequently, the plot not only illustrates the degree of integration by the surface, but it also shows the balance between the operation and the supporting means through its symmetry over the diagonal, numerically represented as the OHR.



In **Figure 4**, two exemplary fictive projects are depicted, an example with real data of a comparison of two OH initiatives can be found in the article by Buttigieg et al. (see text footnote 4). The fictive Project 1 depicted here has a highly developed transdisciplinary team with a very comprehensive multidimensional approach. However, it appears to lack learning and sharing infrastructure and has a mismatch between the responsibilities, authorities, and means which affects the transdisciplinary working and hence potentially the OH outcomes. On the other hand, Project 2 has well-developed infrastructure and well-defined tasks with sufficient funding, but does not explore the interdisciplinary space nor does it aim at serving multiple species.

The OHI corresponds to the ratio of the surface enclosed by the lines to the surface enclosed if all spokes were equal to 1 (a detailed derivation is provided in Data Sheet S1 in Supplementary Material). Thus, the OHI is

$$OHI = \frac{\left\{ (Sc_P \times Sc_L) + (Sc_L \times Sc_P) + (Sc_S \times Sc_L) \\ + (Sc_O \times Sc_S) + (Sc_W \times Sc_O) + (Sc_T \times Sc_W) \right\}}{6}$$
(1)

where Sc_P is the score obtained in OH planning, Sc_L is the score obtained in learning infrastructure, Sc_S is the score from sharing infrastructure, Sc_O is the score from systemic organisation, Sc_W is the score from OH working, and Sc_T is the score from OH thinking.

The OH-ratio (OHR) is the relation of the surface covered in the top left of the diagonal to the one in the lower right (a detailed derivation is provided in Data Sheet S1 in Supplementary Material). To compute the OHR, the surface of the top left surface (SUR_{operation}) is calculated

$$SUR_{Operations} = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{4} \left\{ \left(\frac{Sc_{O} \times Sc_{W}^{2}}{Sc_{O} + Sc_{W}} \right) + (Sc_{W} \times Sc_{T}) + (Sc_{T} \times Sc_{P}) + \left(\frac{Sc_{P}^{2} \times Sc_{L}}{Sc_{P} + Sc_{L}} \right) \right\}$$
(2)

and divided by the surface of the lower right (SUR_{infrastructure})

$$SUR_{Infrastructure} = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{4} \left\{ \left(\frac{Sc_P \times Sc_L^2}{Sc_P + Sc_L} \right) + (Sc_L \times Sc_S) + (Sc_S \times Sc_O) + \left(\frac{Sc_O^2 \times Sc_W}{Sc_O + Sc_W} \right) \right\}$$
(3)

resulting in the following equation:

$$OHR = \frac{(Sc_{O} \times Sc_{W}^{2}/(Sc_{O} + Sc_{W})) + (Sc_{W} \times Sc_{T})}{(Sc_{P} \times Sc_{L}^{2}/(Sc_{P} + Sc_{L})) + (Sc_{P}^{2} \times Sc_{L}/(Sc_{P} + Sc_{L}))}$$
(4)
+(Sc_{S} \times Sc_{O}) + (Sc_{O}^{2} \times Sc_{W}/(Sc_{O} + Sc_{W}))

DISCUSSION

This new evaluation framework for OH relies on a systems approach to characterise OH (7) and elaborate guidance for its evaluation. Although several of the identified approaches and methods were established and used previously, their combination in the context of OH is new. Moreover, several modifications and enhancements were made to take into account OH specific characteristics and provide a foundation for comparison across different initiatives and the generation of new insights into the implementation of OH initiatives. The systems approach to evaluation presented here does not resolve the problem of delimitation, partiality, and bias, but the framework helps to address these factors explicitly. It also shows that the evaluator(s) is (are) part of the system of which they try to gain an understanding, as much as an OH initiative is not external to the system it tries to affect. This is particularly important when considering stakeholder perspectives, because the relationship between the evaluator(s) and the informant has an influence on the content of the feedback. Consequently, the framework formalises reflections on system dynamics and includes emerging properties in all elements. Further, it consolidates thinking, planning, working, sharing, learning, and systemic organisation in a single OHI and OHR. However, these aspects may also be investigated separately for specific circumstances. Like many systems approaches the implementation of the NEOH framework is limited by resources, but also by political and managerial endorsement. Constructive use of the evaluation framework presented demands advanced leadership skills and a facilitating learning environment. The scope of the evaluation and delimitation of the system are pivotal for the outcome of the evaluation and it is eminently important to declare how these choices impact on the results. In analogy to systems thinking in public health the concept relies critically on multi-stakeholder endorsement (89) and is vulnerable to misconceptions and misapplications (90).

Finally, care must be taken not to prejudge that a higher OHI would mean a "better" OH initiative. The authors hypothesise

that there may be an optimal range of values for the OHI, outside which too little or too strong integration may hamper implementation at both ends. Also, the optimal OHR remains to be identified. As outlined earlier, the case studies reported in the present Frontiers special topic (24-26, 27), show practical applications of the evaluation framework for a variety of contexts and in different types of OH initiatives. They also provide first data on OHI and OHR, which is an important step towards their validation and the creation of a dataset for future benchmarking. Importantly, they highlighted that the qualitative evaluations are equally important to understanding the context-relevant shortcomings and strengths of the individual initiatives. However, qualitative evaluations are more difficult to compare in a meta-study compared with quantitative data due to their heterogeneity in findings. Despite this limitation, the case studies provide the foundation to improve the framework further and validate it, as they highlight ambiguities and shortcomings in practical application.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The manuscript bases on extracts of an iterative process for the production of the handbook for evaluation of One Health of the COST Action TD1404 "Network for Evaluation of One

REFERENCES

- Food and Agriculture Organization. In: Raney T, editor. *The State of Food and Agriculture*. Rome, Italy: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (2013). Available from: http://www.fao.org/docrep/018/i3300e/ i3300e00.htm
- Jones KE, Patel NG, Levy MA, Storeygard A, Balk D, Gittleman JL, et al. Global trends in emerging infectious diseases. *Nature* (2008) 451:990–4. doi:10.1038/nature06536
- Pfeiffer DU. From risk analysis to risk governance—adapting to an ever more complex future. *Vet Ital* (2014) 50:169–76. doi:10.12834/VetIt.313. 1220.3
- Whitmee S, Haines A, Beyrer C, Boltz F, Capon AG, de Souza Dias BF, et al. Safeguarding human health in the anthropocene epoch: report of the Rockefeller Foundation–Lancet Commission on planetary health. *Lancet* (2015) 6736:1–56. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60901-1
- Romanelli C, Cooper D, Campbell-Ledrum D, Maiero M, Karesh WB, Danny H, et al. *Connecting Global Priorities: Biodiversity and Human Health—A State of Knowledge Review*. Geneva (2015). Available from: https:// www.cbd.int/health/SOK-biodiversity-en.pdf
- Zinsstag J, Schelling E, Waltner-Toews D, Tanner M. From "one medicine" to "one health" and systemic approaches to health and well-being. *Prev Vet Med* (2011) 101:148–56. doi:10.1016/j.prevetmed.2010.07.003
- Rüegg SR, McMahon BJ, Häsler B, Esposito R, Rosenbaum Nielsen L, Ifejika Speranza C, et al. A blueprint to evaluate one health. *Front Public Health* (2017) 5:20. doi:10.3389/fpubh.2017.00020
- Stokols D, Hall KL, Vogel AL. Transdisciplinary public health: definitions, core characteristics and strategies for success. In: Haire-Joshu D, McBride TD, editors. *Transdisciplinary Public Health: Reserach, Methods and Practice*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass (2013). p. 3–30.
- Ledford BYH. How to solve the world's biggest problems. Nature (2015) 525:308–11. doi:10.1038/525308a
- Rabinowitz PM, Kock R, Kachani M, Kunkel R, Thomas J, Gilbert J, et al. Toward proof of concept of a one health approach to disease prediction and control. *Emerg Infect Dis* (2013) 19:e130265. doi:10.3201/eid1912. 130265

Health." The working group preparing the handbook was co-lead by SR, while the COST Action was chaired by BH. SR prepared the manuscript, which was revised primarily by LN and BH. Conceptual and text contributions were made by SB, MS, MA, MC, TE, IC, EB, MR, KQ, and MB.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was conducted in the frame of the European Cooperation on Science and Technology (COST) Action TD 1404 "Network for Evaluation of One Health." The authors wish to particularly thank Sara Savić, Uffe Braae, and the NEOH working group 2 for reviewing the paper and giving valuable feedback on the methodology. Furthermore, we extend our gratitude to the NEOH participants at the workshop and meetings since 2015 that provided methods, data, and discussions converging in this manuscript.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at http://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fvets.2018.00023/ full#supplementary-material.

- Stokols D, Fuqua J, Gress J, Harvey R, Phillips K, Baezconde-Garbanati L, et al. Evaluating transdisciplinary science. *Nicotine Tob Res* (2003) 5:21–39. doi:10. 1080/14622200310001625555
- Lattuca LR, Knight DB, Bergom IM. Developing a measure of interdisciplinary competence for engineers. *Conference Proceedings 2012 of the American Society for Engineering Education*. p. 1–19. Available from: https://peer.asee. org/21173
- Anderson V, Johnson L. Systems Thinking Basics: From Concepts to Causal Loops. Acton, USA: Leverage Networks Inc (1997).
- Whitehead NP, Scherer WT, Smith MC. Systems thinking about systems thinking. *IEEE Syst J* (2015) 9:1117–28. doi:10.1109/JSYST.2014.2332494
- Ostrom E. A general framework for analyzing sustainability of socialecological systems. *Science* (2009) 325:419–22. doi:10.1126/science.1172133
- WHO. In: de Savigny D, Taghreed A, editors. Systems Thinking for Health Systems Strengthening. Geneva: World Health Organisation (2009). Available from: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/44204/1/9789241563895_ eng.pdf
- 17. Anonymous. Interactive Terminology for Europe. (1999). Available from: http://iate.europa.eu
- Pumain D, Pavé A, Venant FA, Verdier N, Victorri B, West GB. *Hierarchy in* Natural and Social Sciences. 1st ed. Dorderecht, The Netherlands: Springer (2006).
- Brown A-M. Differences between the Theory of Change and the Logic Model. (2016). Available from: https://www.annmurraybrown.com/single-post/2016/03/20/ Theory-of-Change-vsThe-Logic-Model-Never-Be-Confused-Again
- OECD. Glossary of Key Terms in Evaluation and Results Based Management. (2010). 38 p. Available from: http://www.oecd.org/dac/evaluation/2754804.pdf
- Haxton E, Sinigoj S, Rivière-Cinnamond A. The network for evaluation of one health: evidence-based added value of one health. *Infect Ecol Epidemiol* (2015) 5:28164. doi:10.3402/iee.v5.28164
- Trochim WM, Cabrera DA, Milstein B, Gallagher RS, Leischow SJ. Practical challenges of systems thinking and modeling in public health. *Am J Public Health* (2006) 96:538–46. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2005.066001
- 23. Garcia JR, Zazueta A. Going beyond mixed methods to mixed approaches: a systems perspective for asking the right questions. *IDS Bull* (2015) 46:30–43. doi:10.1111/1759-5436.12119

- Paternoster G, Tomassone L, Tamba M, Chiari M, Lavazza A, Piazzi M, et al. The degree of one health implementation in the West Nile virus integrated surveillance in Northern Italy, 2016. *Front Public Health* (2017) 5:236. doi:10.3389/fpubh.2017.00236
- Radeski M, O'Shea H, De Meneghi D, Ilieski V. Positioning animal welfare in the one health concept through evaluation of an Animal Welfare Center in the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Skopje, Macedonia. *Front Vet* (2017) 4:238. doi:10.3389/fvets.2017.00238
- 26. Laing G, Aragrande M, Canali M, Savic S, De Meneghi D. Control of cattle ticks and tick-borne diseases by acaricide in Southern Province of Zambia: a retrospective evaluation of animal health measures according to current one health concepts. *Front Public Health* (2017). doi:10.3389/fpubh.2018.00045
- Hanin MCE, Queenan K, Savic S, Rüegg SR, Häsler B. A one health evaluation of the Southern African Centre for Infectious Disease Surveillance. *Front Vet Sci* (2017). doi:10.3389/fvets.2018.00033
- Williams B. Using Systems Concepts in Evaluation Desing: A Workbook. 1st ed. Kyoto (2016). Available from: http://www.bobwilliams.co.nz
- Bunge M. Levels: a semantical preliminary. *Rev Metaphys* (1960) 13:396–406. doi:10.1177/0306312708091929
- Lerner H, Berg C. The concept of health in one health and some practical implications for research and education: what is one health? *Infect Ecol Epidemiol* (2015) 5:25300. doi:10.3402/iee.v5.25300
- Boriani E, Esposito R, Frazzoli C, Fantke P, Hald T, Rüegg SR. Framework to Define Structure and Boundaries of Complex Health Intervention Systems: The ALERT Project. Front Public Heal (2017) 5. doi:10.3389/fpubh.2017.00182
- Craig P, Dieppe P, Macintyre S, Michie S, Nazareth I, Petticrew M. Developing and evaluating complex interventions: the new medical research council guidance. *Int J Nurs Stud* (2013) 50:587–92. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu. 2012.09.010
- Lang DJ, Wiek A, Bergmann M, Stauffacher M, Martens P, Moll P, et al. Transdisciplinary research in sustainability science: practice, principles, and challenges. Sustain Sci (2012) 7:25–43. doi:10.1007/s11625-011-0149-x
- 34. Taplin DH, Clark H, Collins E, Colby DC. Theory of Change: Technical Papers: A Series of Papers to Support Development of Theories of Change Based on Practice in the Field. (2013). 23 p. Available from: http://www.theoryofchange. org/wp-content/uploads/toco_library/pdf/ToC-Tech-Papers.pdf
- INTRAC. Outputs, Outcome and Impact. (2015). Available from: https:// www.intrac.org/wpcms/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/Monitoring-and-Evaluation-Series-Outcomes-Outputs-and-Impact-7.pdf
- Deprez S. The 5 Key Assumptions of Outcome Mapping. (2014). Available from: https://www.outcomemapping.ca/nuggets/the-5-key-assumptions-ofoutcome-mapping
- Häsler B, Cornelson L, Bennani H, Rushton J. A review of the metrics for one health benefits. *Rev Sci Tech* (2014) 33:453–64.
- Baum SE, Machalaba C, Daszak P, Salerno RH, Karesh WB. Evaluating one health: are we demonstrating effectiveness? *One Health* (2016) 3:5–10. doi:10.1016/j.onehlt.2016.10.004
- Falzon L, Lechner I, Chantziaras I, Collineau L, Courcoul A, Filippitzi M, et al. The Quantitative Outcomes of a "One Health" Approach to Study Global Health Issues: A Systematic Review. *EcoHealth* (2018). doi:10.1007/ s10393-017-1310-5
- Strang V, McLeish T. Evaluating Interdisciplinary Research: A Practical Guide. Report (2015). p. 1–20. Available from: https://www.dur.ac.uk/ias/ news/?itemno=25309
- Ingram J, White R. Inaugural lecture—food systems: challenges, concepts and communities. *Lecture* (2015). Available from: http://ifstal.ouce.ox.ac.uk/ news-and-events/recent-events/
- 42. Lélé S, Norgaard RB. Practicing interdisciplinarity. *Bioscience* (2005) 55:967. doi:10.1641/0006-3568(2005)055[0967:PI]2.0.CO;2
- Hirsch Hadorn G, Hoffmann-Riem H, Biber-Klemm D, Grossenbacher-Mansuy S, Joye W, Pohl C, et al., editors. *Handbook of Transdisciplinary Research*. 1st ed. Springer (2008). Available from: https://link.springer.com/ book/10.1007/978-1-4020-6699-3
- Reynolds M. (Breaking) the iron triangle of evaluation. IDS Bull (2015) 46:71–86. doi:10.1111/1759-5436.12122
- Fath BD, Dean CA, Katzmair H. Navigating the adaptive cycle: an approach to managing the resilience of social systems. *Ecol Soc* (2015) 20:art24. doi:10.5751/ES-07467-200224
- 46. Wallace RG, Wallace R, editors. Neoliberal Ebola. Cham: Springer (2016).

- Mowles C. Complex, but not quite complex enough: the turn to the complexity sciences in evaluation scholarship. *Evaluation* (2014) 20:160–75. doi:10.1177/1356389014527885
- Chigas D, Ehlinger T, Befani B, Docherty J, Michaels J, Smith R, et al. Non-linear Impact Assessment: Challenges, Approaches and Tools. Honolulu, Hawaii (2014).
- Befani B, Ramalingam B, Stern E. Introduction—towards systemic approaches to evaluation and impact. *IDS Bull* (2015) 46:1–6. doi:10.1111/1759-5436. 12116
- Britt H. Discussion Note: Complexity-Aware Monitoring. Washington, DC (2016). Available from: https://usaidlearninglab.org/library/complexity-awaremonitoring-discussion-note-brief
- Moore G, Audrey S, Barker M, Bond L. Process Evaluation of Complex Interventions. (2014). Available from: http://decipher.uk.net/wp-content/ uploads/2014/11/MRC-PHSRN-Process-evaluation-guidance.pdf
- Moore GF, Audrey S, Barker M, Bond L, Bonell C, Hardeman W, et al. Process evaluation of complex interventions: medical research council guidance. *BMJ* (2015) 350:h1258. doi:10.1136/bmj.h1258
- 53. Meadows DH. In: Wright D, editor. Thinking in Systems—A Primer. Chelsea Green Publishing Co (2008). Available from: https://books.google.ch/ books?hl=en&lr=&id=CpbLAgAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PR9&dq=Donella+Maedows+thinking+in+systems&ots=LypcqbwER1&sig= f-9XJp4hf9FLf6IWgQkMEXg6GI8&redir_esc=y#v=onepage&q=Donella Maedows thinking in systems&f=false
- Whitehead NP, Scherer WT. Quantifying the quality of a systems approach. 2015 Annual IEEE Systems Conference (SysCon) Proceedings (IEEE). Vancouver, BC (2015). p. 44–9.
- Gunderson LH, Cosens B, Garmestani AS. Adaptive governance of riverine and wetland ecosystem goods and services. *J Environ Manag* (2016) 183:353–60. doi:10.1016/j.jenvman.2016.05.024
- 56. In praise of soft science. Nature (2005) 435:1003. doi:10.1038/4351003a
- Hadorn Hirsch G, Hoffmann-Riem H, Biber-Klemm S, Grossenbacher-Mansuy W, Joye D, Pohl C, et al. *Handbook of Transdisciplinary Research*. Springer (2007). Available from: http://www.springer.com/gb/ book/9781402066986
- Nikitina S. Pathways of interdisciplinary cognition. Cogn Instr (2005) 23:389–425. doi:10.1207/s1532690xci2303_3
- Nancarrow SA, Booth A, Ariss S, Smith T, Enderby P, Roots A. Ten principles of good interdisciplinary team work. *Hum Resour Health* (2013) 11:19. doi:10.1186/1478-4491-11-19
- 60. Aragrande M, Canali M. An operational tool to enhance one health interdisciplinarity. *Proceedings 3rd GRF One Health Summit.*
- Thygeson M, Morrissey L, Ulstad V. Adaptive leadership and the practice of medicine: a complexity-based approach to reframing the doctor-patient relationship. *J Eval Clin Pract* (2010) 16:1009–15. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2753.2010.01533.x
- Yukl G. Effective leadership behavior: what we know and what questions need more attention. *Acad Manag Perspect* (2012) 26:66–85. doi:10.5465/amp.2012. 0088
- Rooke D, Torbert WR. Seven transformations of leadership. *Harv Bus Rev* (2005). Available from: https://hbr.org/2005/04/seven-transformations-of-leadership::x00023::
- Scott L, Caress A-L. Shared governance and shared leadership: meeting the challenges of implementation. J Nurs Manag (2005) 13:4–12. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2834.2004.00455.x
- Houghton JD, Pearce CL, Manz CC, Courtright S, Stewart GL. Sharing is caring: toward a model of proactive caring through shared leadership. *Hum Resour Manag Rev* (2015) 25:313–27. doi:10.1016/j.hrmr.2014.12.001
- Fiol MC, Lyles MA. Organizational learning. Acad Manag Rev (1985) 10:803–13. doi:10.5465/AMR.1985.4279103
- Tsang EWK. Organizational learning and the learning organization: a dichotomy between descriptive and prescriptive research. *Hum Relat* (1997) 50:73–89. doi:10.1177/001872679705000104
- Levitt B, March JG. Organizational learning. Ann Rev Soc (1988) 14:319–40. doi:10.1146/annurev.so.14.080188.001535
- Argyris C. On Organizational Learning. 2nd ed. Oxford, UK: Wiley-Blackwell (1999).
- Giesecke J, McNeil B. Transitioning to the learning organization. *Libr Trends* (2004) 53:54.

- 71. Redding JC, Catalanello RF. Strategic Readiness: The Making of the Learning Organization. Jossey-Bass (1994).
- 72. Gould N. Becoming a learning organisation: a social work example. *Soc Work Educ* (2000) 19:585–96. doi:10.1080/02615470020002317
- Watkins KE, Marsick VJ. Sculpting the Learning Organization: Lessons in the Art and Science of Systemic Change. 1st ed. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass (1993).
- 74. Guns B. The Faster Learning Organization. 1st ed. Jossey-Bass (1998).
- 75. Garvin DA. Learning in Action: A Guide to Putting the Learning Organization to Work. Boston, MA: Harward Business Press (2000).
- 76. Huysman M. Balancing biases: a critical review of the literature on organizational learning. In: Easterby-Smith M, Araujo L, Burgoyne J, editors. Organizational Learning and the Learning Organization: Developments in Theory and Practice. London: SAGE (1999). p. 59–74.
- Santa M. Learning Organisation Review a "Good" Theory Perspective. The Learning Organization (2015) 22(5):242–70. doi:10.1108/TLO-12-2014-0067
- Santa M. Framework for Multivariate Continuous Transformation Towards Learning Organization [Ph.D. thesis]. Paris: Pantheon-Sorbonne University (2014).
- Santa M. Chapter 5 the Learning Organization Atlas Framework [Ph.D. thesis]. (2001).
- Piwowar HA, Day RS, Fridsma DB. Sharing detailed research data is associated with increased citation rate. *PLoS One* (2007) 2:e308. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0000308
- Schelling E, Zinsstag J. Transdisciplinary research and one health. In: Zinsstag J, Schelling E, Waltner-Toews D, Whittaker M, Tanner M, editors. *One Health: The Theory and Practice of Integrated Health Approaches*. Oxfordshire: CABI (2015). p. 366–73. Available from: www.cabi.org
- Walter AI, Helgenberger S, Wiek A, Scholz RW. Measuring societal effects of transdisciplinary research projects: design and application of an evaluation method. *Eval Program Plann* (2007) 30:325–38. doi:10.1016/j. evalprogplan.2007.08.002
- Tenopir C, Allard S, Douglass K, Aydinoglu AU, Wu L, Read E, et al. Data sharing by scientists: practices and perceptions. *PLoS One* (2011) 6:e21101. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0021101

- Piwowar HA, Chapman WW. Public sharing of research datasets: a pilot study of associations. J Informetr (2010) 4:148–56. doi:10.1016/j.joi.2009.11.010
- Piwowar HA, Becich MJ, Bilofsky H, Crowley RS. Towards a data sharing culture: recommendations for leadership from academic health centers. *PLoS Med* (2008) 5:1315–9. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.0050183
- Chokshi DA, Parker M, Kwiatkowski DP. Data sharing and intellectual property in a genomic epidemiology network: policies for large-scale research collaboration. *Bull World Health Organ* (2006) 84:382–7. doi:10.2471/ BLT.06.029843
- Houe H, Gardner IA, Nielsen LR. Use of information on disease diagnoses from databases for animal health economic, welfare and food safety purposes: strengths and limitations of recordings. *Acta Vet Scand* (2011) 53(Suppl 1):S7. doi:10.1186/1751-0147-53-S1-S7
- Borgman CL. Scholarship in the Digital Age: Information, Infrastructure, and the Internet. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press (2010).
- El-Jardali F, Adam T, Ataya N, Jamal D, Jaafar M. Constraints to applying systems thinking concepts in health systems: a regional perspective from surveying stakeholders in Eastern Mediterranean countries. *Int J Health Policy Manag* (2014) 3:399–407. doi:10.15171/ijhpm.2014.124
- Canyon DV. Systems thinking: basic constructs, application challenges, misuse in health, and how public health leaders can pave the way forward. *Hawaii J Med Public Health* (2013) 72:440–4.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The reviewer MN and handling Editor declared their shared affiliation.

Copyright © 2018 Rüegg, Nielsen, Buttigieg, Santa, Aragrande, Canali, Ehlinger, Chantziaras, Boriani, Radeski, Bruce, Queenan and Häsler. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Brucellosis Control in Malta and Serbia: A One Health Evaluation

Sandra C. Buttigieg^{1,2*}, Sara Savic³, Daniel Cauchi⁴, Elaine Lautier⁴, Massimo Canali⁵ and Maurizio Aragrande⁵

¹ Department of Health Services Management, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Malta, Msida, Malta, ² School of Social Policy, College of Social Sciences, University of Birmingham, Birmingham, United Kingdom, ³ Scientific Veterinary Institute "Novi Sad", Novi Sad, Serbia, ⁴ Department for Health Regulation, Health Promotion and Disease Prevention, Ministry for Health, Valletta, Malta, ⁵ Department of Agricultural and Food Sciences, University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Beatriz Martínez-López, University of California, Davis, United States

Reviewed by:

Simon Rodrigo Rüegg, Universität Zürich, Switzerland Anke Wiethoelter, University of Melbourne, Australia Andres M. Perez, University of Minnesota Twin Cities, United States

*Correspondence:

Sandra C. Buttigieg sandra.buttigieg@um.edu.mt

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Veterinary Epidemiology and Economics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 02 October 2017 Accepted: 12 June 2018 Published: 03 July 2018

Citation:

Buttigieg SC, Savic S, Cauchi D, Lautier E, Canali M and Aragrande M (2018) Brucellosis Control in Malta and Serbia: A One Health Evaluation. Front. Vet. Sci. 5:147. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00147

Brucellosis, also known as "undulant fever" or "Malta fever", is a zoonotic infection caused by microorganisms belonging to Brucella, a genus of gram-negative coccobacilli that behave as facultative intracellular pathogens of ruminants, swine and other animals. Brucellosis is a threat to public health, hence identifying the optimal way of preventing disease spread is important. Under certain circumstances, integrated, multidisciplinary "One Health" (OH) initiatives provide added value compared to unidisciplinary or conventional health initiatives. Conceptualizing and conducting evaluations of OH approaches may help facilitate decisions on resource allocation. This article historically describes and compares Malta's 1995–1997 with Serbia's 2004–2006 brucellosis control programmes and quantitatively assesses the extent to which they were compliant with a OH approach. For both case studies, we describe the OH initiative and the system within which it operates. Characteristic OH operations (i.e., thinking, planning, working) and supporting infrastructures (to allow sharing, learning and systemic organization) were evaluated. We scored the different aspects of these programmes, with values ranging from zero to one (1 = strong integration of OH). Malta demonstrated a higher OH index (0.54) and ratio (1.37) than Serbia (0.49 and 1.14 respectively). We conclude that context and timing are key to determining how, when and why a One Health approach should be applied. The adoption of a true OH approach that involved systemic organization, leadership clarity and transdisciplinary communication, collaboration, and co-ordination was essential to Malta's successful eradication of brucellosis after several failed attempts. In contrast, contextual factors in Serbia permitted the successful adoption of a primarily sectorial approach for short term control of brucellosis. However, while a fully-fledged transdisciplinary OH approach was not initially required, it is likely to be key to maintenance of brucellosis control in the medium and long term. Through these two case studies, we demonstrate that One Health initiatives should be applied at the right place, at the right time, with the right people and using the appropriate conditions/infrastructure. Lastly, OH evaluations should include economic assessments to identify optimal of resources in these situations, thereby justifying funding and political support required.

Keywords: brucellosis, control, evaluation, Malta, one health, Serbia, zoonosis

INTRODUCTION

Brucellosis is one of the most common zoonotic infections worldwide, and remains a major public health concern (1-4). Known variously as "Mediterranean fever," "undulant fever," or "Malta fever," the infection is caused by microorganisms belonging to Brucella, a genus of gram-negative coccobacilli that behave as facultative intracellular pathogens of ruminants, swine and other animals (4). Currently at least 8 species of Brucella are known, of which four, namely Brucella melitensis, Brucella suis and Brucella abortus and Brucella canis are known to have moderate to high human pathogencity. Brucella melitensisthe most frequent aetiological agent in sheep and goats (5)-is the main pathogen responsible for human brucellosis, followed by Brucella abortus and Brucella suis. The disease causes clinical morbidity in humans, as well as a considerable loss of productivity in animal husbandry in the developing world (5, 6). Animal infection is characterized by increased likelihood of abortion, impaired fertility and reduced milk production, with serious potential financial consequences for the individual livestock holder and communities (7). Humans are accidental hosts, who readily acquire brucellosis through consumption of unpasteurized dairy products; direct contact with infected animals, placentas or aborted fetuses; or inhalation of aerosols (4, 5, 7). The disease typically manifests in humans as an acute febrile illness which may progress to a chronically incapacitating illness with severe complications (5). Any organ and system of the human body may be implicated, yet it is often unrecognized and frequently goes unreported (4). Osteoarticular and reproductive disease are most common complications, whereas endocarditis remains the principal cause of mortality if the disease is not adequately treated by protracted, combined antibiotic administration (2, 4, 5). Relapses, at a rate of around 10%, may occur in the first year after infection as a result of inadequate treatment (5). Its duration and associated prolonged convalescence period means that brucellosis has important medical, as well as economic implications, such as infected persons' absenteeism from work. Brucellosis is considered to be an occupational hazard in shepherds, abattoir workers, veterinary surgeons, workers in the dairy industry, and microbiological laboratory personnel (4). Vaccination is the cornerstone of control programs in livestock; vaccines for cattle, sheep and goats have been developed, however a human vaccine for brucellosis does not yet exist (8).

Brucellosis is still endemic in many parts of the world, particularly where geographical and climatic conditions together provide the perfect medium leading to dissemination of the disease. Factors contributing to these conditions include poor grazing lands that do not permit the grazing of cattle (but are favorable for sheep and goats), and situations where farm animals are kept in close proximity to humans (9). The epidemiology of human brucellosis has changed drastically in recent decades as a result of political and socioeconomic factors, improved surveillance systems, animal-based control programs, and growing international tourism and migration (7, 10). While there are no reliable data on the global burden of brucellosis, a figure of 500,000 new cases per year is usually accepted as a global estimate (1). Although there has been significant progress in controlling the disease in many countries, areas where the infection persists in domestic animals remain. Consequently, transmission to humans is common, particularly in Mediterranean countries, north and east Africa, the Middle East, south and central Asia, and Central and South America (4). Few countries are officially free of the disease (1, 7).

The prevention, control and eradication of brucellosis typically require collaboration across a number of sectors (4). According to the One Health Initiative (www.onehealthinitiative. com), "One Health" is an umbrella term referring to the commonalities between people, animals, plants and the environment. It recommends integrative approaches to health by expanding interdisciplinary collaboration across these highly interlinked components (11-13). The participation of representatives from Malta and Serbia in the EU COST action TD 1404 "Network for Evaluation of One Health"these being two countries where efforts to control or eradicate brucellosis have been mostly successful: in Malta during the last decade of the twentieth century after several failed attempts (9, 14), and in Serbia during the first decade of the twenty first century (15, 16)-led to this study. The objectives of this comparative study are 2-fold. First, we aim to provide a short historical account of the process and co-ordination of actions in both countries, and compare Malta's 1995-1997 with Serbia's 2004-2006 control and eradication programmes. It should be noted that contextual and temporal differences between the two countries led to the adoption of substantially different approaches to brucellosis control. Furthermore, in June 1999 the "United Nations Security Council resolution 1244" established the United Nations Interim Administration Mission in Kosovo (17). Subsequently, brucellosis data from Serbia did not include Kosovo. Any mention of Kosovo in this manuscript therefore refers solely to pre-1999 data, when Kosovo was administratively part of Serbia. Second, we will quantitatively evaluate "One Health-ness" of the programmes through the calculation of an index and ratio-developed by the Network for Evaluation of One Health-to assess the extent to which they were compliant with a One Health (OH) approach. For both case studies, we describe the OH programme or initiative (i.e., drivers, operations, supporting infrastructure and outcomes) and the system (i.e., dimensions, boundaries, aim, actors, and stakeholders) within which it operates (12). The major elements evaluated through the One Health framework are social, environmental, and economic in nature. Different characteristic OH operations (i.e., thinking, planning, working) and supporting infrastructures (to allow sharing, learning and systemic organization) are also examined (12, 13).

Successful control of brucellosis in Malta and Serbia was only achieved and maintained when the strategy to address the infectious disease in both countries demonstrated OH characteristics of leadership clarity and transdisciplinary communication, collaboration, and co-ordination. This evaluation is intended to inform scholars, practitioners, and communities involved in the surveillance, control and management of brucellosis about the salient features and potential usefulness of adopting the OH approach. Although, the evaluation is being conducted retrospectively, it should provide a useful roadmap prospectively.

Historical Account

The following is a historical commentary upon the two countries' brucellosis control strategies, approached primarily from a social and environmental perspective. In Malta, the eradication process was steered by the Ministry of Health's Public Health Department, whereas the Ministry of Agriculture's Directorate for Veterinary Medicine led the Serbian control initiative. This is primarily because Malta lacks an academic department for veterinary science, and control of infectious diseases is the legal responsibility of the Superintendent of Public Health. Brucellosis is a notifiable disease in both Malta and in Serbia, hence reporting the disease is mandatory if it is suspected or diagnosed in humans or animals.

Malta

Brucellosis (namely Brucella melitensis), had long been endemic in Malta, to the point where it was known as "Malta fever" (9). From an environmental perspective, Malta has poor grazing lands that are only favorable for the herding of small domesticated ruminants (sheep and goats]. The proximity of humans to these animals and regular consumption of unpasteurized goat milk was highly prevalent in Malta at the beginning of the twentieth century, resulting in a continuous potential source of infection for the general population. Despite seminal work on the pathogenesis of the disease carried out by Sir Themistocles Zammit-a Maltese doctor-which led to the identification of unpasteurized goat milk as the major source of infection in 1905 (18, 19), there was a lack of knowledge among the general population that goats were the primary reservoirs of infection. Furthermore, throughout the twentieth century there was persistent cultural resistance to the notion that unpasteurized goat's milk and related productstypically considered to be "healthy" and "wholesome"-were in any way related to the disease (9). Goat herders in particular were notoriously reluctant to comply with authorities, and a portion of the population persisted in consuming raw milk (9). This unwillingness among the population to change traditional behavior was the primary reason for multiple failed attempts at eradication during the twentieth century, in addition to a Brucella melitensis eradication programme launched in 1956 which was never properly implemented (9).

During the late 1980s, several Government departments including the Public Health, Veterinary Services, Agriculture and Consumer Affairs departments—worked together in an attempt to secure the entire production chain of fresh cheeselets (small round cheeses made from milk, salt and rennet) and milk. Policy makers were highly engaged in the process and introduced effective legislation that required the registration of all herds in Malta. In 1987, the Veterinary Services Department (VSD) launched the "Test and Slaughter" scheme (20) across all milkproducing herds in Malta. Goats and sheep above 6 months of age were identified through ear tagging or freeze branding, thus facilitating a more effective, systematic 6-monthly screening process. Infected animals were slaughtered within 14 days. If more than 10% of animals in a herd were infected, the herd was depopulated and the farm disinfected (21, 22). The Director of Agriculture issued new regulations making it obligatory for farmers to notify any movement of animals from one farm to another and supported the tattooing, freeze-branding or eartagging of the animals (22). Between 1986 and 1996, prevalence of infection within herds fell from 23 to 1% (22). However, despite these initiatives, an outbreak of the disease occurred in 1995, when around 238 cases of human brucellosis were diagnosed (22). The 1995 outbreak revealed weaknesses in the system, demonstrating that more work needed to be done to achieve control of brucellosis.

Following the 1995 outbreak, an intersectoral outbreak committee was set up. The Ministry of Health and the Department of Public Health led the brucellosis eradication initiative of 1995-1997, which was characterized by interdisciplinary collaboration between the major stakeholders. These included public health inspectors, public health doctors, microbiologists, medical doctors, the police, and veterinary surgeons. A clear case definition for identification of brucellosis in humans was established. Any person presenting with one of the following symptoms: fever; weakness; headache; chills; arthralgia; localized suppurative infection or encephalopathy, who also had a *Brucella* antibody titer of > 1 in 320 dilution or a positive culture of B. melitensis, or who had a member of their household with a *Brucella* antibody titer > 1 in 320 dilution (with or without symptoms), was classified as a case. The Disease Surveillance branch of the Department of Public Health extensively sampled and tested cheeselets sold in shops, street vendors and supermarkets across the Maltese islands. The Department of Agriculture was subsequently notified regarding suspect herds, which were examined further and blood testing carried out (21). The main source appears to have been three farmers who kept so-called "phantom" herds concealed from routine VSD inspections. Further spread to other herds occurred when these owners fragmented their unregistered herds and sold them off cheaply in order to avoid depopulation (22).

The outbreak committee also communicated regularly with the general public and issued several press releases during this time. The Public Health Department also delivered a mass media educational campaign to foster awareness of the potential illeffects of consuming unpasteurized cheeselets among the general public. Additionally, the Agriculture Department organized a series of talks delivered to farmers and herders that focused on hygiene and the importance of pasteurization. Detailed leaflets regarding the best method of manufacturing cheeselets were prepared. The national dairy company offered pasteurization services to the producers and created its own branded cheeselets, marketing them as "guaranteed safe" to reassure the public. Draft regulations were implemented to control the hygienic processing, transport and sale of cheeselets: new packaging and labeling practices required the introduction of a "lot" number, "best before" dates, the producer of the cheeselets and whether they were made from pasteurized or unpasteurized milk (9). The sale of fresh unlabeled cheeselets by weight was banned. Although the outbreak committee focused primarily on human infection, its efforts were supported by a highly active health inspectorate who confiscated 930 kg of cheeselets from 27 producers, 12 wholesalers and 384 retailers during this period, as well as VSD staff who destroyed 116 caprines, 68 bovines and 43 ovines after screening 3,416 herds in Malta and 1,449 herds in Gozo (9). Malta was declared free from locally acquired human brucellosis in 2005 (23), and from bovine brucellosis in 2016 (24).

Serbia

A lack of knowledge about the mechanisms of spread of B. melitensis and B. abortus among animals and in humans, and non-regulated import of infected animals from neighboring countries, characterized the Serbian scenario. In the former Yugoslavia, brucellosis was reported for the first time in the district of Istra in 1947, but was eradicated within a few years (15, 25). It reappeared in the 1960s, in Macedonia, probably through sheep imported from Israel (26). By the late 1970s, sheep-borne Brucellosis had appeared in most territories of Macedonia, in Kosovo and Metohija, as well as in south Serbia (27). While the epidemiological situation in the Republic of Serbia was relatively stable up to the 1980s, with around 40 human cases identified between 1951 and 1970 (27), this was not maintained over the following two decades. Incidence increased from 1985 and peaked in 1991 (25). During the 1990s, brucellosis spread to central and north Serbia as a consequence of armed conflicts and uncontrolled movement of infected sheep (15). The disease has also spread to south Serbia, in the region bordering with Kosovo and Metohija, in recent years (15).

A critical increase in cases of Brucellosis was observed in the territories of Kosovo and Metohija, with 241 cases being reported in 1991 (28). The disease also reappeared in areas that had previously been considered to be free of the disease. For example, brucellosis had not been diagnosed in either humans or animals in Vojvodina, a province in the northern part of Serbia, during a thirty-year period from 1971. However, a positive diagnosis was made in two farm workers in the South Banat district of Vojvodina in 1999 (15). Subsequently, foci of brucellosis continued to multiply and spread to neighboring counties, probably due to the uncontrolled movement of infected herds (e.g., illegal trade, nomadic livestock herding) compounded by poor implementation of countermeasures ordered by the Veterinary Service. Farm workers were exposed to infected animals, and consumers of milk products-such as cheese produced from unpasteurized sheep milk-were also infected. There was also some cross-species spread, as brucellosis was identified in other farm animals such as swine and dogs (28). By late 2004, new foci had been identified in five counties, and human brucellosis cases had been diagnosed in 12 settlements. Overall, 1,521 cases of human brucellosis were identified between 1980 and 2008 in Serbia (25).

The Ministry of Agriculture led the Serbian control programme of 1999–2005 through the Directorate of Veterinary Medicine, in collaboration with other actors including policy makers, veterinarians, medical doctors and police. In Serbia, the outbreak committee mostly focused on animals. An outbreak committee consisting of veterinary health specialists, veterinary inspectors, public health doctors, and microbiologists who established the case definition (i.e., any animal presenting with

symptoms of fever, weakness, and/or abortions, with a positive antibody test of B. abortus, B. melitensis, or B. suis) was set up. During this period, a "test and slaughter" programme similar in scope to that described for Malta was established. Overall, the veterinary services destroyed 1,497 animals (cattle, pig, sheep and goats) in the northern part of Serbia after screening 1,485,702 animals. No data is available for the southern part of Serbia. The number of infected humans and animals significantly decreased in northern Serbia (Vojvodina province) after 2006, and in southern Serbia after 2009, and overall Brucellosis incidence now shows a declining trend (16). In Serbia, brucellosis may still occur in animals if these are illegally imported in the country (7). Controlling the trade in animals is likely to be a key method of controlling and preventing the spread of brucellosis (25). However, there are reports that wild boars and rabbits are reservoirs of B.suis, whereas dogs are reservoirs of B. canis in Serbia (29).

METHODS

We applied methods developed by the EU COST action TD 1404 "Network for Evaluation of One Health" (NEOH, http://neoh. onehealthglobal.net) (12). The NEOH evaluation framework is a mixed method approach that covers the definition of the initiative and its context, the theory of change (TOC), the process evaluation of operational and supporting infrastructures ("the One Healthness"), and an assessment of the association(s) between the process evaluation and the outcomes produced (12). This comparative case study retrospectively identifies drivers, outcomes, operations and infrastructure of the One Health approach to Brucellosis eradication and control (as applied in Malta and Serbia respectively) in an integrated manner, namely through the holistic assessment of these aspects. This analysis includes a historical account intended to offer insight into the geopolitical context of Brucellosis outbreaks and to identify and delimit the systems within which the OH initiatives were developed to differing extents. The TOC (30) underlies this process. To aid our analysis, we developed a visual approach for system identification and delimitation (see Figures 3, 4, below) and the further identification of costs related to Brucellosis in humans and animals (Figures 6, 7).

Theory of Change

Within a OH approach, the TOC defines the objectives of the initiative, as well as the changes required to achieve these goals (13). Therefore, in line with NEOH guidelines, the TOC for brucellosis eradication and control provides a conceptual framework that enables retrospective analysis of the control and eradication committees' actions in both countries and definition of the short-, medium-, and long-term objectives that ultimately led to successful control (in Serbia) and eradication (in Malta). **Figures 1**, **2** illustrate the pathway of change (representing the TOC) applied to brucellosis eradication in Malta between 1995 and1997 (**Figure 1**), and brucellosis control in Serbia between 2004 and 2006 (**Figure 2**). For inputs, activities and surveillance, Serbia mainly relied on the veterinary services and lessons learnt from other countries. Although the 2004–2006 brucellosis







(feedback) of local brucellosis reservoir due to the use of pastureland.



outbreak in Serbia was ultimately controlled, the risk of infected animals being illegally brought into the country remains high, hence it is difficult to declare the country entirely free of brucellosis.

Search Strategy

A non-systematic literature search around brucellosis was conducted between January 2016 and April 2016 using Google Scholar, PubMed and EMBASE to identify scientific articles and gray literature that would inform the background of this study. The following search terms and key words were used: Brucell* AND Malta OR Serbia. Furthermore, the bibliography of articles emerging from the search were reviewed to identify additional potentially relevant literature.

Data Collection

Using a case study approach, the authors obtained information primarily through 15 documented interviews carried out in both countries. In Malta, these interviews were recorded and transcribed by John Rizzo Naudi prior to 2005 (9) and involved key stakeholders across several disciplines, including main actors in animal health, human/public health and food safety/consumer health. A mix of telephone and face to face interviews with key stakeholders in Serbia were conducted by SS between 2015 and 2017. In both Malta and Serbia, a purposive sampling approach was adopted. This is a non-probability sampling technique, used when there are limited primary data sources available, that was judged by the researchers to be the most appropriate in order to identify relevant stakeholders in the brucellosis control programmes. All participants consented to be interviewed. With regard to animal health in particular, officials from the Veterinary Services Department (Ministry of Agriculture), veterinary service practitioners, and farm/animal owners in Malta were interviewed; whereas the Directorate of Veterinary Medicine (Ministry of Agriculture) as well as veterinary service practitioners and farm/animal owners were the interviewees in the case of Serbia. In view of potential biases arising from interviewees by virtue of the discipline they represent, we triangulated the data and information arising from the interviews using document analysis of legal documents, archival material from public health and veterinary sources, and other published material (9, 15). Document analysis is a component of qualitative research that involves in-depth assessment and interpretation of documents so as to substantiate the accounts provided by the interviewees (31).

We therefore retrospectively identified and discussed the various steps and systemic changes that needed to take place for brucellosis eradication or control to be achieved. Assessment of the following aspects: Thinking, Planning, Working, Sharing, Learning and Systemic organization-was conducted. The dimensions within each aspect-where each "dimension" refers to an entity that can be captured by the same metric or concept, such as geographical space or time-were scored in increments of 0.2 (where 0 = not considered; 1 = essential) by SB for Malta and SS for Serbia. Information on the scales for the different dimensions can be found in the appendices. Scoring of the NEOH evaluation tool (13) was then carried out by a focus group involving six professionals involved in public health and veterinary science in both countries. SB and SS were participants in this focus group. Ultimately, comparable OH-indices and ratios for the initiatives in Malta and Serbia were derived.

Lastly, a conceptual essay for economic evaluation that assesses the flow of cost and benefits is provided. This offers a basis for further evaluation aiming at assessing the advantages of the OH approach in comparison with traditional approaches toward disease control and eradication.

RESULTS

The Public Health Department (Ministry of Health) was the main actor for Malta, whereas the Directorate of Veterinary Medicine was the main actor for Serbia. Public health services in both countries included reference laboratories for human diagnostics; physicians, and hospitals. The Public Health Department assumed responsibility for these services in Malta, whereas Local Health Authorities were responsible for public health services in Serbia. Food safety/consumer health was only relevant to the Maltese scenario and involved the Superintendence of Public Health and Department of Consumer Affairs. Other major stakeholders included health education/promotion and policy makers from the Health, Agriculture, Justice and Internal Affairs Ministries in the case of Malta; and policy makers from the Ministry of Agriculture and Ministry of Internal Affairs in the case of Serbia.

System Dimensions and Boundaries

Meadows and Wright define a system as a "set of elements or parts that is coherently organized and interconnected in a pattern or structure that produces a characteristic set of behaviors, often classified as its 'function' or 'purpose."" (32). The application of this definition to the two country cases being analyzed led to the identification of the main elements that determined the emergence of the disease and its perpetuation. We outlined the system and the system boundaries in the two cases using a comparative approach, stressing similarities and differences. Figures 3, 4 schematically visualize the basic epidemiological models in Malta and Serbia respectively. We expanded the basic scheme of an epidemiological model to outline links and feedback loops connecting the emergence of brucellosis to the overall systemic contexts, identifying in particular both environmental and social factors. In the case of Malta (Figure 3) the presence of Br. in herd animals is a consequence of its endemic presence and the specific characteristic of the breeding system, based on the use of environmental resources (feeding on pastureland) where Br. is spread, reinforcing the emergence of the disease (blue dashed arrows). Environmental, breeding and distribution sub-systems transmit the disease to human beings via direct contact and food (i.e., the use of non-pasteurized milk in processing). Social practices and behaviors, as well as the general state of knowledge about mechanisms of disease spread, are of relevance to the wider socio-cultural sub-system which determines the insurgence and the persistence of the disease in the society (i.e., interaction between humans and animals inside and outside breeding places; traditional food distribution and consumption habits; and the misleading representation of product authenticity).

Other relevant elements of the system could not be shown in **Figure 3**, namely:

- The institutional framework, i.e., the institutions charged with solving the *Br*. problem, their organization and strategies (i.e., policy measures). The institutional framework can be considered to be a sub-system permeating and affecting the functioning of the basic system outlined in **Figures 3**, **4**, thus enlarging its boundaries.

- The evolution of the institutional framework over time. Together with geographic space, time is a relevant dimension of the system, particularly because of the sequence of repeated attempts to control *Br*., the accumulation of scientific knowledge and of what was effective (i.e., through the failures of prior intervention measures) and the increase in social awareness, finally leading to the implementation of the OHlike model of intervention.

In the case of Serbia (**Figure 4**), the same approach was adopted, but some differential elements contributed to the identification of the system.

Based on the system identification process outlined above, we developed a comparative approach between the two cases. General similarities between the two countries include the basic contextual units of the system, such as the general epidemiological features of the disease and—assuming that the geopolitical territory of Malta and Serbia respectively represents the spatial limits of each system—its dissemination to human beings via direct contact and through the food supply chain (i.e., milk or milk products such as consumption of unpasteurized fresh cheese). Additional similar elements include:

- i. Local breeding systems reliant on the use of pastureland by different herds moving across the countryside (which promotes the dissemination of the disease within farms or family production units), characterized by prolonged close contact between animals and humans;
- ii. The health system, in particular the lack of effective countermeasures and governance to address brucellosis;
- iii. Limited knowledge regarding the risks related to brucellosis among the general population, which in turn determines local practices and behaviors in production, processing and consumption. In the case of Malta, this explained the social mis-representation of dairy product safety and led to the persistence of traditional processing and consumption practices, despite health measures implemented several times over a number of decades.

On the other hand, some features uniquely characteristic to each country may explain, at least in part, differences in the timeline and key characteristics of brucellosis development in the Maltese and Serbian systems. In particular, the unique geographical characteristics of the two countries resulted in different patterns of disease emergence and resilience to eradication and control, particularly in combination with:

- i. The differences in the political context (e.g., in Serbia, movement of people and herds during the conflict made it difficult or impossible to control the importation of infected animals from neighboring countries)
- ii. The differences at institutional or organizational levels (i.e., animal health research capability; human health systems and public health systems)
- iii. The greater relevance of traditional consumption habits in Malta, in comparison to Serbia, which resulted in a greater emphasis on the food supply chain for OH initiatives in that country

iv. Last but not least, Malta had a pioneering role in the discovery of brucellosis epidemiology. This probably contributed to the differences in timing and method of intervention strategies between the two countries.

A further step in system identification concerns the institutional and governance aspects of the health measures adopted in 1995– 1997 and 2004–2006 in Malta and Serbia respectively. While Serbia's strong Veterinary Services played a leading role in the control of brucellosis, Malta's veterinary services were not developed to an equivalent extent and hence could not lead the control and eradication programme. Instead, Malta relied on a historically powerful public health sector, which was in a position to take on a leadership role in the most recent outbreak. These have been amply described in this paper.

 Table 1 below synthetically compares the relevant systemic elements of the case studies.

Drivers and Rationale

The rationale of the eradication and control processes in both countries was to address the infectious disease, with efforts primarily focused on systemic organization, leadership clarity and transdisciplinary communication, collaboration, and coordination. The following drivers spurred the intensity of efforts to control brucellosis in the two countries:

- i. *Economical*: high health care cost of treating human brucellosis; costs of surveillance; costs of government subsidies to farmers whose animals are eliminated because of the disease
- i. *Emotional/Psychological*: suffering of patients (humans, animals) affected by brucellosis; suffering of family and friends, particularly in fatal cases. Human cases of brucellosis were more prominent in Malta than in Serbia, where the disease seemed to have caused substantial emotional and psychological distress
- iii. *Geographical*: Malta's island status contributed to the recognition of disease vectors and also helped to contain and maintain eradication of the disease. This driver was more of a challenge in Serbia, since the importation of infected animals was facilitated by porous land borders. Hence geographical location is a crucial consideration—Serbia depended on the actions of neighboring countries to manage its Brucellosis control process, whereas this was not the case for Malta
- iv. Social: Malta's sister island—Gozo seemed to be less receptive to public health warnings regarding brucellosis, as manifested by the lingering belief that aseptic (clean) farming and retail environments were sufficient to ensure food safety of milk/products. The social driver in Serbia was primarily related to the country's post-war relations with neighboring countries and the lack of communication and trust between people from different (Former Yugoslavia) regions.

Evaluation of "One Health-ness"

This section of the results deals with the quantitative evaluation of the "One-Health Index." Each of the six assessments outlined below is represented by a spoke in the spider diagrams for Malta
TABLE 1 | Synopsis of case studies comparison.

Relevant elements/sub-systems of the system	Malta	Serbia
Br. origin	Endemic, probably imported	Uncontrolled herd flows due to regional conflict
Breeding system	Family breeding, pre-industrial Transhumance	Family breeding, pre-industrial Transhumance
Environmental system	Use of common pastureland	Use of common pastureland
Processing system	Use of unpasteurized milk to produce traditional cheeselets	Use of unpasteurized milk in dairy products
Transmission mechanism	Direct contact	Direct contact
Social and cultural system	Traditional consumption habits Mis-representation of product authenticity Lack of scientific knowledge Lack of social awareness	Traditional consumption habits Lack of social awareness
Institutional system	Department of Public and Environmental Health as leader, in close collaboration with Departments of Agriculture and Veterinary Services, consumer Affairs, Justice and Police	Directorate for Veterinary Services as leader and prime mover, collaborating with Public Health, and Police
Policy and measures	Laws of Malta: Measures for the eradication of Brucellosis, Tuberculosis and Leucosis S.L. 437.86. Law transposed into policies across Government Departments for continued control and surveillance. The scope of these rules is to implement the rules contained in the European Union Council Directive 77/391/EEC concerning the introduction of Community measures for the eradication	Record keeping on brucellosis cases exists since 1984, when the Law on Infectious Diseases was passed. European Union (EU) has implemented various laws and restrictions regarding import and export of cattle and pig (EC 64/432), sheep and goats (EC 91/68), as well as regulations regarding products of animal origin, animal identification, and tagging

and Serbia (**Figure 5**) where thinking, planning and working (operational aspects) on the top left of the diagonal contrast with learning, sharing and systemic organization (infrastructural aspects) on the bottom right. The hexagonal surface represents the degree of integration, calculated as the One Health Index (OHI), whereas its symmetry or otherwise represents the balance between the operation and the supporting means of the OH initiative. This symmetry is numerically represented as the One Health Ratio (OHR) (13). Each assessment and its component dimensions are outlined in further detail below and in the appendices. Figure 5 shows that Malta and Serbia had identical scores for all assessments except for thinking, where Serbia scored lower. The details of the workings pertaining to Malta and Serbia can be found in the Supplementary Material.

Thinking

Thinking refers to the way actors and stakeholders think within and about the system and the One Health initiative. This includes an assessment of how the dimensions and scales under consideration (e.g., local, regional or global scales within geographical space; an understanding of the timeframe of the initiative; life; network or organization; economy; legislation; governance; and value constructs such as interest groups) may support or limit the outcomes and impacts of the initiative. The overall scores are 0.80 for Malta and 0.60 for Serbia. A major strength for both countries was the integrated health approach adopted during the eradication process. The lower overall score for Serbia is attributed to the lower sub-scores in the different dimensions' coverage and balance, and to sustainability and socio-ecological considerations. The focus in Serbia was timely control of the disease in animals before it spread to humans, hence fewer dimensions were covered and less importance was given to sustainability once there was successful control and effective law enforcement by the Veterinary Service. Although Malta's score for thinking is higher, this was mainly due to Malta's previous failed attempts at eradicating the disease, and reflects the fact that more stakeholders needed to be involved in order to finally achieve success.

Planning

One Health planning requires that aims, problem formulation, responsibilities, resource allocation and financing of the initiative are systematically organized. It also requires clarity in establishing roles, tasks, responsibilities, and competencies of participants (13). In this case study, this included consideration of whether stakeholder engagement during the process of Brucellosis control and eradication was planned, and whether mechanisms existed to feedback stakeholders' knowledge into the governance of the initiative. Such questions and other elements underpin the OH approach and contribute directly to OH outcomes, therefore planning may influence other assessments of the OH initiative under consideration (such as working, sharing, learning and systemic organization). The overall score for both Malta and Serbia was 0.80. In the case of Malta, the main focus of planning during the eradication process was the control of human disease and protection of consumers (i.e., from ingesting infected dairy products) while attempting to eradicate brucellosis in animals. In contrast, the major focus for Serbia included identification and registration of animal herds, rigorous blood sampling of animals and strict annual surveillance, led by the veterinary services.





Working

This assessment explores the extent to which engagement in the OH initiative was interdisciplinary and participatory (i.e., transdisciplinary) (13). Transdisciplinarity relies on appropriate leadership and management (i.e., system organization) to promote the establishment of non-hierarchical relationships, strategic dialogue, and shared decision-making between team members coming from different disciplines. The overall scores are 0.80 for both Malta and Serbia. Malta scored higher on collaboration between all the major stakeholders involved in policy, human health, animal health, retailing and consumer protection. Serbia scored higher for flexibility and adaptation, reflecting the successful leadership of the veterinary services.

Sharing

Sharing refers to the information and data-sharing infrastructures in One Health initiatives (13). Elements that were considered in this assessment include whether appropriate internal or external mechanisms were used for sharing information; whether resources were allocated to facilitate and ensure sharing of data; and what mechanisms in place for safeguarding access to data. The overall scores are 0.60 for both Malta and Serbia. Malta's scoring showed some resistance in sharing data and information, which partly explains prior failed attempts and the difficulties with law enforcement, particularly in Gozo.



Learning

The learning infrastructure within the One Health initiative comprises the learning style (i.e., whether basic, adaptive or generative) and setting (i.e., at the individual, team and organizational level). It also encompasses the type of environment: namely the stakeholders involved ("direct" environment), and the cultural, economic, and political situation surrounding the OH initiative ("general" environment). Our assessment considered whether these learning styles and environments supported a OH approach. The overall scores are: 0.60 for Malta and 0.60 for Serbia. Malta showed slightly greater emphasis on adaptive and generative individual, team and organizational learning, as a result of the crisis that ensued following the emergence of Brucellosis in humans.

Systemic Organization

This assessment probes whether implementation of the OH initiative was facilitated by change-oriented leadership and effective teamwork, and therefore is closely related to and influenced by OH Planning. The overall scores are 0.80 for both Malta and Serbia. Despite differences in the methods leading to control and eradication, both countries manifested a rather strong sense of systemic organization as reflected by social and leadership structures and skills, team structures, competence and focus on innovation.

Table 2 shows that the overall Index and Ratio are slightly higher for Malta. This is attributed to the higher score of "thinking," as well as to the greater degree of transdiciplinarity.

Measured or Estimated Outcomes of the Initiative or Programme Malta

Following the 1995 outbreak in Malta and subsequent efforts to eradicate the disease, there have been no cases of brucellosis in humans recorded since 1997. The control

TABLE 2 "One-Healthness" of	of the systems in	Malta and Serbia.
-------------------------------	-------------------	-------------------

	Malta	Serbia
One health index	0.54	0.49
One health ratio	1.37	1.14

of the process, including monitoring and pasteurization of milk and cheese production and the enforcement of labeling and packaging is now co-ordinated by four collaborating departments: The Veterinary Services Department, the Public Health Directorate, the Agricultural Department and the Department for Consumer Affairs. Sharing and linking of information in inter/trans-disciplinary groups was well established in the 1995–1997 outbreak, which ultimately led to successful eradication. The information was successfully shared by representatives of disciplines on the outbreak committee and also to the non-scientific communities through information packages released by Ministries of Health and Agriculture.

Seminars and education activities are organized in order to increase the knowledge on the disease and involve stakeholders in surveillance activities, e.g., seminars and courses targeting official veterinarians and practitioners, medical doctors in hospitals and family doctors, and educational outreach campaigns targeting the general public.

Serbia

Sharing and linking of information between the Ministry of Health and Ministry of Agriculture was not carried out officially. While annual reports on zoonotic disease cases in humans (including brucellosis) are publicly available online, annual reports on animal screening from the Directorate of Veterinary Medicine are not publicly available. The yearly prevalence of brucellosis in animals can be found on the web site of the World Organization for Animal Health. Therefore, in contrast to Malta's isolation as an island state, which facilitated control of Brucellosis, Serbia remains susceptible to importation of the disease unless strict, vigilant border control is continuously maintained.

Conceptual Framework for Economic Evaluation

This section focuses on the economic outcomes of brucellosis. It is likely that political support is more forthcoming when the adoption of an approach like One Health translates into economic gains. Although this study involves a conceptual, rather than an empirical, economic evaluation, potential economic impact of brucellosis may be identified through the schematic models in Figures 6, 7. For the sake of simplicity, we will start by making reference to the common traits of the system outlined for the two cases, assuming a static view concerning the pre-OH initiative scenario. Economic impacts are described starting from the boxes "Brucellosis in animals" and "Brucellosis in humans" of Figures 3, 4 above respectivelythese represent the relevant outcomes of the epidemiologic models in Malta and Serbia, and the critical points of economic impact for the breeding system and the social system (i.e., households), according to the dissemination mechanism. White boxes in Figures 6, 7 represent the series of sequential effects stemming from Br. in animals and humans (indicated by the blue arrows between boxes). Signs in brackets show the direction of the effect (positive or negative) on the subsequent effect (see detailed explanation below). In particular, brucellosis in animals is responsible for the flow of effects along the food supply chain, starting from primary production and finally affecting consumers through processing and distribution). Brucellosis in humans concerns the effects of human infection across society (stemming from the consumption of unpasteurized milk and cheese and from direct contact between animals and humans).

Figure 6 outlines the potential economic effect of brucellosis at farm and sectoral level (where the sector is composed of the multiplicity of farms that breed sheep and goats). Brucellosis in animals leads lowered milk and meat production [as shown by (-) signs in brackets] due to premature births in infected animals. Fertility is also impaired, resulting in a lower natality rate that in turn also negative impacts milk and meat production. These effects result in a global reduction of farm production, which negatively affects sales and farmers' revenue. Depending on the relevance of the breeding to the local economy, this may have broader economic implications. At sectoral level, it could result in a global reduction of output, leading to a decline in competitivity of the local sector in comparison with other production areas. Consumers' welfare may be reduced, including through reduced product availability or diversity (not mentioned in Figure 6), but higher prices may induce substitution imports of similar products from elsewhere and/or determine product substitution [i.e., consumers would demand similar products to compensate for the original missing products, e.g., cheese and meat of other species, as indicated by the (+) signs]. Substitution imports may have negative macroeconomic outcomes—for example, through a worsening of the country's import/export balance—whereas product substitution may paradoxically benefit other competing sectors.

As shown in **Figures 3**, **4**, brucellosis is a food borne disease that spreads across the food supply chain. It emanates from the production system (which is a part of the supply chain) and ultimately affects humans by way of direct contact, food processing and distribution, and consumption of dairy products. As outlined earlier, **Figure 7** starts from the final box of **Figures 3**, **4** (brucellosis in humans) and further identifies the economic consequences of the disease across society. In simplistic terms, brucellosis in humans may translate into increased morbidity and mortality rate [as shown by (+) signs], which put an increased economic burden [marked by (+) signs] on private and public costs:

- Public costs: arrows commencing from these boxes list the type of public costs, mainly incurred by the public health system (i.e., Hospital care for infected people; Informational campaign costs (mass media emissions, printed matter, direct information to communities, etc. to inform about the risk of, and avoid the persistence of, inappropriate practices); and Disease containment (such as food safety control; geographical delimitation of the infected area; field and laboratory analysis; implementation of active strategies to address the disease post-containment etc.)
- *Private costs*: similarly, arrows staring from these boxes list the types of private costs (i.e., Therapies and family assistance (e.g., health care costs of the households, time spent for assistance at home); Loss of revenue due to temporary or permanent disability, which translates into costs for individuals, families and society, depending on the social relevance of the disease; Adoption of good practices in milk/dairy product preparation and consumption; and Psychological suffering due to uncertainty around health status).

The positive and negative economic impacts outlined in Figures 6, 7 typically occur simultaneously (e.g., product substitution may benefit the producers of substitute products). The sum of these costs/benefits should be contrasted with the possibility of avoiding the negative effects (costs) altogether by intervening at an early stage, before disease spread. This is considered to be a benefit of any potential intervention. Economics provide different criteria to categorize intervention costs and related benefits, however a more detailed economic evaluation would focus the costs and benefits the OH-ness and its main dimensions (thinking, planning, working, sharing, learning, systemic organization). Though economic evaluation is not a key aim of this article, the concepts above offer a more precise idea of the complexity of the economic evaluation in the context of One Health, as well as a preliminary agenda for further development of the evaluation process to include OH-ness evaluation as briefly described in this article.

DISCUSSION

These two case studies, despite their common goal of eradicating or controlling Brucellosis, have quite diverse backgrounds and show different degrees of "One Health" thinking in their respective approaches. In both countries, control was only possible due to constant reminders to farmers and animal owners that the disease could easily spread to humans, together with strict enforcement of legislation. The Malta case study spans a century of failed measures and setbacks, and demonstrates a paradigm shift in the approach to brucellosis eradication over time. The measures implemented ranged from initially relatively isolated actions such as processing of milk through pasteurization (introduced prior to the second World War), to a more sectorial approach adopted in the 1980's. However, it was only upon the adoption of a true "One Health" transdisciplinary approach in the mid-1990's that Brucellosis eradication was successfully achieved and maintained. Enforcement of existing and newly implemented legislation was crucial to this success, and required collaboration by all stakeholders involved including public health, veterinary health, policy-makers and legislators, as well as farmers and consumers' representatives.

The Serbian context differed from the Maltese scenario. Serbia did not have a long history of brucellosis, which was largely sporadic before the mid-1990's and became endemic only as a result of the non-regulated importation of infected cattle and sheep from neighboring countries. There was no cultural resistance to the destruction of potentially infected herds of cattle and sheep, and a greater willingness to accept the scientific rationale for culling within the general population. Additionally, Serbia was able to capitalize on the experience and knowledge of OH thinking adopted in other countries, which explains the somewhat predominantly sectorial approach adopted by the Veterinary Directorate. This proved effective, so that escalation to a fully-fledged transdisciplinary OH approach was not required. It should be noted that the geopolitical conflict in Serbia that ultimately led to "United Nations Security Council resolution 1244" (17) meant that there is a lack of brucellosis-related data for Kosovo after 1999. Given this situation, any challenges regarding brucellosis in Kosovo could not be followed up to the period under study, representing a gap in our assessment.

While brucellosis control was the primary concern in the short term, surveillance and ongoing monitoring remain important medium and long term concerns. This is also reflected in the timing and extent of adoption of OH thinking in the two countries: in Serbia a true OH approach was not required for control, however it is likely to be key to its maintenance in the medium and long term. In Malta, the OH approach was critical in the short term in order to eradicate brucellosis, and together with strict enforcement of legislation remains key to ensuring that the disease does not return. The strength of the OH approach has been tested in recent years. In 2012 a "phantom" herd of unregistered (hence illegal) sheep was identified in Gozo, leading the Veterinary Services Directorate to commence testing and culling of 216 potentially infected sheep. The farmer launched a court case to prevent the remainder of the herd from being depopulated, and a series of appeals and counter-appeals followed with the farmer, the Attorney General, the Police Commissioner and the Director General of Veterinary Services as the main protagonists (33).

There are several lessons to be learnt. In these two case studies, we hope to showcase that One Health initiatives should be applied at the right place, at the right time, with the right people and using the appropriate conditions/infrastructure. One should not adopt a OH approach purely for its own sake or rather wait for all the disciplines to be involved before concrete action is taken. In other words, the One Health transdisciplinary action should not replace but should reinforce the unidisciplinary initiatives taken at the stages of problem identification and action. For example, on the one hand, in the case of Malta, because of the failed attempts at eradication due to fragmented unidisciplinary efforts, only when the Maltese rigorously adopted the OH approach in a transdisciplinary manner, namely by also actively involving the non-scientific community, did they achieve success. The Serbian case study on the other hand showed that the health and agricultural authorities could rely on the aggressive action taken by the Directorate of Veterinary Medicine before moving onto the One Health approach mainly for surveillance prevention. It was the case because most of the infection appeared in animals and number of infected humans was not as high as in Malta. The disease mostly developed in cattle and sheep leaving most of the consequences in economic losses in animal breeding.

The timing of the OH approach is particularly important: in Malta, the right conditions took decades to develop and lessons were painfully learnt over a long period of time, whereas in Serbia the OH approach followed the drastic intervention and leadership of the veterinary department. Sustaining the processes that prevent the re-emergence of brucellosis, however, are likely to require a OH approach.

Limitations

There are a number of limitations to the method used in this study, including potential bias in the selection of interviewees. In both countries, the fact that the interviewers were "insiders"members of the outbreak teams-might have influenced the purposive sampling approach used in this study (34). Further limitations include recall bias during interviews, even though we made every attempt to counteract this by triangulating interview data with data mainly from legal documents, archival material from public health and veterinary sources. The application of the NEOH evaluation framework (12) is a novel approach to evaluating One Health and is only recently published. Our experience of using this evaluation tool, is that it requires substantial specific data that is not all available, in particular in view of the retrospective nature of this study. Therefore, some degree of inaccuracy may have resulted in the scoring. The NEOH evaluation tool is based on the systems theory and applies mixed methods, namely descriptive and qualitative with a quantitative scoring. Therefore, capturing the diversities that exist between Malta and Serbia regarding the various sections of the NEOH tool proved to be challenging despite our effort in ensuring rigor throughout the comparative exercise. This case study is one in a series of case studies published under the same research topic that have utilized the NEOH evaluation

tool, all providing the first results on One Health Index and One Health Ratio for various One Health initiatives. This will enable validation of the NEOH framework and tool by providing comparisons on the use of the tool and the challenges faced during evaluation and scoring. One Health evaluation should therefore be complemented with other evaluation models for example cost-benefit analysis (costs and benefits expressed in monetary terms) and cost effectiveness analysis (costs vs. project results in units).

CONCLUSION

This comparative case study shows that context and timing are key to determining how, when and why a One Health approach should be applied. We conclude that one need not wait for the start of a fully-fledged One Health approach to address a potential health crisis. Instead, each relevant discipline should be on the alert and perform its key responsibilities at an early stage, before scaling up to a transdisciplinary level becomes necessary. Nevertheless, as evident in this article, adopting a OH approach has provided added value not only during the periods of crisis but also in the medium and long term, particularly in the areas of disease prevention and control, surveillance, health promotion and health education. Adopting a OH approach may also translate into cost savings. We therefore propose that OH evaluations should include economic assessments, in order to be able to better understand the optimal use of resources in these situations, thereby justifying funding and political support required.

REFERENCES

- Pappas G, Papadimitriou P, Akritidis N, Christou L, Tsianos EV. The new global map of human brucellosis. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2006) 6:91–9. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(06)70382-6
- Ariza J, Bosilkovski M, Cascio A, Colmenero JD, Corbel MJ, Falagas ME, et al. Perspectives for the treatment of brucellosis in the 21st century: the ioannina recommendations. *PLoS Med.* (2007) 4:e317. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0040317
- 3. Corbel M. Brucellosis: an overview. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (1997) 3:213–21. doi: 10.3201/eid0302.970219
- 4. Corbel MJ. Brucellosis in Humans and Animals. Geneva: World Health Organization (2006).
- Pappas G, Akritidis N, Bosilkovski M, Tsianos E. Brucellosis. N Engl J Med. (2005) 352:2325–36. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra050570
- Franc KA, Krecek RC, Häsler BN, Arenas-Gamboa AM. Brucellosis remains a neglected disease in the developing world: a call for interdisciplinary action. *BMC Public Health* (2018) 18:125. doi: 10.1186/s12889-017-5016-y
- Dean AS, Crump L, Greter H, Schelling E, Zinsstag J. Global burden of human brucellosis: a systematic review of disease frequency. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* (2012) 6:e1865. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0001865
- Godfroid J, Scholz HC, Barbier T, Nicolas C, Wattiau P, Fretin D, et al. Brucellosis at the animal/ecosystem/human interface at the beginning of the 21st century. *Prev Vet Med.* (2011) 102:118–31. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2011.04.007
- 9. Rizzo Naudi J. Brucellosis The Malta Experience: A celebration 1905 2005. San Gwann: PEG (2005).
- Memish ZA, Balkhy HH. Brucellosis and international travel. J Travel Med. 11:49–55. doi: 10.2310/7060.2004.13551

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SB and SS were responsible for data collection and providing the first framework of the paper. SB, SS, DC, and EL were responsible for preparing the first draft. MC and MA were responsible for the system dimensions, boundaries, elements, relationships, and functioning, as well as the theoretical perspective regarding an economic evaluation and providing advice in the early stages of formulating the case study. All authors contributed in the preparation of the manuscript for submission.

FUNDING

This article is based upon work from COST Action (Network for Evaluation of One Health, TD1404), supported by COST (European Cooperation in Science and Technology).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank John Rizzo Naudi for sharing his wealth of knowledge and documentation on Brucellosis, in particular related to his role in eradicating Brucellosis in Malta.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fvets. 2018.00147/full#supplementary-material

- Gibbs EPJ. The evolution of One Health: a decade of progress and challenges for the future. *Vet Rec* (2014) 174:85–91. doi: 10.1136/vr.g143
- Rüegg S, Rosenbaum Nielsen, L Buttigieg S, Santa M, Aragrande M, Canali M, et al. A systems approach to evaluate One Health initiatives. *Front Public Health* (2018) 5:23. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00023
- Rüegg SR, McMahon BJ, Häsler B, Esposito R, Nielsen LR, Ifejika Speranza C, et al. A blueprint to evaluate one health. *Front Public Health* (2017) 5:20. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2017.00020
- EFSA. Trends and Sources of Zoonoses and Zoonotic Agents in Foodstuffds, Animals and Feedingstuffs. (2015). Available online at: https://www.efsa. europa.eu/sites/default/files/zoocountryreport15mt.pdf
- Djuricic B. Brucellosis in the republic of serbia-the epizootiological situation. Maced J Med Sci. (2010) 3:246–50. doi: 10.3889/MJMS.1857-5773.2010.0128
- Strbac M, Ristic M, Petrovic V, Savic S, Ilic S, Medic S, et al. Epidemiological characteristics of brucellosis in Vojvodina, Serbia, 2000-2014. *Vojnosanit Pregl.* (2017) 74:1140-7 doi: 10.2298/VSP160212311S
- United Nations Security Council. Security Resolution 1244. (1999) Available online at: https://undocs.org/S/RES/1244(1999) (Accessed June 8, 2018).
- Wyatt HV. How themistocles zammit found malta fever (brucellosis) to be transmitted by the milk of goats. J R Soc Med. (2005) 98:451–4. doi: 10.1258/jrsm.98.10.451
- Wyatt HV. Brucellosis and Maltese goats in the Mediterranean. J. Maltese History. (2009) 1:4–18. Available online at: www.maltesehistoryonline.com
- Blasco JM, Garin-Bastuji B, Marin CM, Gerbier G, Fanlo J, Jiménez de Bagués MP, et al. Efficacy of different Rose Bengal and complement fixation antigens for the diagnosis of Brucella melitensis infection in sheep and goats. *Vet Rec.* (1994) 134:415–20.
- 21. Abela B. Epidemiology and control of brucellosis in ruminants from 1986 to 1996 in Malta. *Rev Sci Tech.* (1999) 18:648–59.
- 22. Amato Gauci A. The return of Brucellosis. Malta Med J. (1995) 7:7-8.

- 23. Wyatt HV. Lessons from the history of brucellosis. *Rev Sci Tech.* (2013) 32:17–25.
- 24. Official Journal of the European Union. Commission Implementing Decision (EU) 2016/448 of 23 March 2016 amending Annexes I and II to Decision 2003/467/EC in relation to the official tuberculosis-free and brucellosisfree status of Malta as regards bovine herds. European Commission (2016). Available online at: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?qid= 1506285654803&uri=CELEX:32016D0448 (Accessed September 24, 2017).
- Cekanac R, Mladenović J, Ristanović E, Lazić S. Epidemiological characteristics of brucellosis in Serbia, 1980-2008. Croat Med J. (2010) 51:337-44. doi: 10.3325/CMJ.2010.51.337
- Petrović M, Cvetnić Ž. Brucellosis the past, the present, the future. IOP Conf Ser Earth Environ Sci. (2017) 85:012019. doi: 10.1088/1755-1315/85/1/ 012019
- 27. Federal Institute for Health Protection. *Annual Reports for Health Status and Health Care of the Population 1951- 1998.* Belgrade (2000).
- Petrovic M, Spasic M, Djuricic B, Ignjatovic R. Epizootiological and epidemiological picture of brucellosis at the teritory of Niš and South Morava epizootiological Region from 2000-2002. *Vet J Repub Srp Banja Luka* (2003) 3:14–16.
- Zutic J, Cvetojevic D, Veljovic L, Radanovic O, Stanojevic S, Kureljusic B. First report of Brucella suis biovar 2 in outdoor reared pigs (Sus scrofa domesticus) in Serbia. *Turkish J Vet Anim Sci.* (2017) 41:700–4. doi: 10.3906/vet-1702-15
- Connell JP, Kubisch AC. "Applying a Theory of Change Approach to the Evaluation of Comprehensive Community Initiatives: Progress, Prospects, and Problems," in *New approaches to evaluating community initiatives*, 1–16.

Available online at: http://www.dmeforpeace.org/sites/default/files/080713 %20Applying+Theory+of+Change+Approach.pdf (Accessed September 17, 2017).

- Bowen GA. Document analysis as a qualitative research method. Qual Res J. (2009) 9:27–40. doi: 10.3316/QRJ0902027
- 32. Meadows DH, Wright D. *Thinking in Systems: A Primer*. Hoboken, NJ: Taylor and Francis (2009).
- 33. Camilleri N. Sheep farmer Ganni Attard loses appeal as court says harsh conditions are justified and necessary. *Times of Malta* (2016). Available online at: http://www.independent.com.mt/articles/2016-11-25/local-news/Sheepfarmer-Ganni-Attard-loses-appeal-as-court-says-harsh-conditions-arejustified-and-necessary-6736167114
- Merton RK. Insiders and outsiders: a chapter in the sociology of knowledge. Am J Sociol. 78:9–47. doi: 10.2307/2776569

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Buttigieg, Savic, Cauchi, Lautier, Canali and Aragrande. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Degree of One Health Implementation in the West Nile Virus Integrated Surveillance in Northern Italy, 2016

Giulia Paternoster^{1,2*†}, Laura Tomassone^{3*†}, Marco Tamba¹, Mario Chiari¹, Antonio Lavazza¹, Mauro Piazzi⁴, Anna R. Favretto⁵, Giacomo Balduzzi⁶, Alessandra Pautasso⁷ and Barbara R. Vogler⁸

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Flavie Luce Goutard, Agricultural Research Centre for International Development, France

Reviewed by:

William Augustine Toscano, University of Minnesota, United States Michael Jeroen Adjabeng, Ghana Health Service, Ghana

*Correspondence:

Giulia Paternoster giulia.paternoster@gmail.com; Laura Tomassone laura.tomassone@unito.it

⁺These authors have contributed equally to this work.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Public Health Education and Promotion, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

Received: 15 June 2017 Accepted: 21 August 2017 Published: 05 September 2017

Citation:

Paternoster G, Tomassone L, Tamba M, Chiari M, Lavazza A, Piazzi M, Favretto AR, Balduzzi G, Pautasso A and Vogler BR (2017) The Degree of One Health Implementation in the West Nile Virus Integrated Surveillance in Northern Italy, 2016. Front. Public Health 5:236. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2017.00236 ¹ Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale della Lombardia e dell'Emilia-Romagna (IZSLER), Brescia, Italy, ² Department of Diagnostic Medicine/Pathobiology, College of Veterinary Medicine, Kansas State University, Manhattan, KS, United States, ³ Dipartimento di Scienze Veterinarie, Università degli Studi di Torino, Grugliasco, Italy, ⁴ Servizio di Riferimento Regionale di Epidemiologia per la Sorveglianza la Prevenzione e il Controllo delle Malattie Infettive (SeREMI), Alessandria, Italy, ⁵ Dipartimento di Giurisprudenza e Scienze Politiche, Economiche e Sociali, Università del Piemonte Orientale, Alessandria, Italy, ⁶ Dipartimento di Scienze Politiche e Sociali, Università degli Studi di Pavia, Pavia, Italy, ⁷ Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale del Piemonte, Liguria e Valle d'Aosta (IZSTO), Turin, Italy, ⁸ Department of Poultry Diseases, Institute of Veterinary Bacteriology, Vetsuisse Faculty, University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

West Nile virus (WNV) is endemic in the Po valley area, Northern Italy, and within the legal framework of the national plan for the surveillance of human vector-borne diseases, WNV surveillance has over time been implemented. The surveillance plans are based on the transdisciplinary and trans-sectorial collaboration between regional institutions involved in public, animal, and environmental health. This integrated surveillance targets mosquitoes, wild birds, humans, and horses and aims at early detecting the viral circulation and reducing the risk of infection in the human populations. The objective of our study was to assess the degree of One Health (OH) implementation (OH-ness) of the WNV surveillance system in three North Italian regions (Emilia-Romagna, Lombardy, Piedmont) in 2016, following the evaluation protocol developed by the Network for Evaluation of One Health (NEOH). In detail, we (i) described the OH initiative (drivers, outcomes) and its system (boundaries, aim, dimensions, actors, stakeholders) and (ii) scored different aspects of this initiative (i.e., OH-thinking, -planning, -sharing, -learning, transdisciplinarity and leadership), with values from 0 (=no OH approach) to 1 (=perfect OH approach). We obtained a mean score for each aspect evaluated. We reached high scores for OH thinking (0.90) and OH planning (0.89). Lower scores were attributed to OH sharing (0.83), transdisciplinarity and leadership (0.77), and OH learning (0.67), highlighting some critical issues related to communication and learning gaps. The strengths and weaknesses detected by the described quantitative evaluation will be investigated in detail by a qualitative evaluation (process evaluation), aiming to provide a basis for the development of shared recommendations to refine the initiative and conduct it in a more OH-oriented perspective.

Keywords: One Health, evaluation, West Nile virus, integrated surveillance, zoonoses, Northern Italy

INTRODUCTION

West Nile virus (WNV) is endemic in the Po valley area, Northern Italy. Within the legal framework of the national plan for the surveillance of human vector-borne diseases (WNV disease, chikungunya, dengue, Zika virus disease), WNV surveillance has over time been implemented in this area. Such surveillance is based on the transdisciplinary and trans-sectorial collaboration between regional institutions involved in public, animal, and environmental health. This integrated surveillance targets mosquitoes, wild birds, humans, and horses and aims at early detecting the viral circulation and reducing the risk of infection in the human population. Moreover, it is expected to enhance the surveillance efficiency and to save resources, by implementing targeted measures. To improve the surveillance sensitivity, data sharing mechanisms have been established among North Italian regions in 2016.

Considering the complex transmission cycle of WNV (see Identification of the System), a multi-disciplinary approach and a cross-sectoral collaboration between institutions involved in public, animal, and environmental health (i.e., a "One Health" approach) are better in obtaining knowledge on WNV circulation and subsequently prevent WNV transmission, as compared to a single-discipline and a uni-sectoral approach.

By following the evaluation protocol developed by the Network for Evaluation of One Health (NEOH), our evaluation quantitatively assessed how far the WNV surveillance system in 2016 is compliant with a One Health (OH) approach ("One Health-ness"), by considering three regions of Northern Italy (Emilia Romagna, Lombardy, and Piedmont). In detail, we quantified different aspects of the OH approach: the thinking and planning at the basis of the implementation of the surveillance system ("OH thinking" and "OH planning"); the commitment and involvement of actors and the infrastructure enabling a collaborative working and information sharing ("Transdisciplinarity and leadership" and "OH sharing"); and the individual and institutional gain in knowledge ("OH learning") resulting from the initiative.

This quantitative evaluation of OH-ness, also in combination with other evaluation approaches (e.g., a process evaluation or a cost-benefit evaluation) enables the detection of strengths and weaknesses of the surveillance system and may thus be a basis for fine-tuning and implementing the initiative in a more OH-oriented perspective.

IDENTIFICATION OF THE SYSTEM

West Nile virus is a flavivirus maintained in a transmission cycle between wild birds and mosquitoes. While birds usually act as non-affected reservoirs, some mammalian species such as horses and humans may develop neurological disease (1). WNV was first described in 1937 after its isolation from a febrile woman in the West Nile region of Uganda but has been detected in Europe starting with an outbreak in horses and humans in the Camargue region, France, in 1962/63 (2). To date, WNV is endemic in several south European countries including Italy, where it first appeared in 1998 (3, 4) and then re-emerged

in 2008 (5, 6). The transmission cycle of WNV is complex: it involves wild birds and mosquitoes, including their respective habitat, and humans and horses are at risk to develop (sometimes fatal) neurological disease. A holistic approach is thus needed to comprehend and influence the transmission system.

Over time, WNV-integrated surveillance was implemented by the regional health authorities in several regions of Northern Italy: Emilia-Romagna, Lombardy, Piedmont, Veneto, Friuli Venezia-Giulia. The rationale of the surveillance initiative is to use a multi-disciplinary approach to learn about all aspects of WNV circulation. The aim is the early detection of viral circulation in the species targeted by the surveillance activities, and subsequently reducing the infection risk in humans.

Infection in humans is mainly due to mosquito bites, but additional risks are related to infected blood transfusions and solid organ transplantations. Mitigating the risk of new WNV infections in the human population results in increased welfare (fewer individuals to suffer from West Nile disease) and consequently in reduced health care costs.

In our evaluation, we consider Emilia-Romagna, Lombardy, and Piedmont regions (study area), that cover the larger part of Italy's Po Valley, a suitable breeding habitat for mosquitoes. The surveillance systems were implemented since 2009 in Emilia Romagna, and since 2014 in Lombardy and Piedmont. The evaluation will focus on 2016, when all three regions participated in the surveillance initiative with similar plans, and data sharing mechanisms among regions started (7–9).

All regions have the same sociocultural background and Italian is the main language. Additionally, the jurisdiction for all three regions is comparable for both animal health (veterinary national plan for arthropod-borne diseases in horses, national plans for wild and domestic birds, regional plans on wild animals) and public health (national plan to prevent transmission of WNV -and other arboviruses- by blood transfusion and organ transplantation).

Since WNV transmission is facilitated by mosquitoes as vectors, the transmission season for WNV overlaps with the activity of *Culex pipiens*, the main vector of WNV. Therefore, the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (1) assumes a theoretical transmission season for WNV from May to October. Accordingly, surveillance activities targeting wild birds, mosquitoes, humans, and horses are focused on that season (described in Section "Detailed Description of the Initiative and Scientific Background").

DESCRIPTION OF THE INITIATIVE

The Initiative within the System

Detailed Description of the Initiative and Scientific Background

To conform with the complex transmission cycle of WNV, involving birds, mosquitoes, and dead-end hosts, the initiative is comprised of four complementary parts: (i) active surveillance of avian target species, and passive surveillance of wild birds found dead (ii) active surveillance of mosquito target species, (iii) active and syndromic surveillance of horses with neurologic disease, and (iv) syndromic surveillance of human patients with neurologic disease.

All diagnostic tests are performed in public laboratories. Tests on avian species, horses, and mosquitoes are carried out by the official animal-health laboratories [Istituto Zooprofilattico Sperimentale (IZS)]. Tests on human samples (blood donations, organs, and samples collected from patients with neurological disease) are run in the reference laboratories of the Regional Health Services.

Avian target species (Eurasian magpies, *Pica pica*; carrion crows, *Corvus corone*; Eurasian jays, *Garrulus glandarius*) are shot within specific wildlife population control programs for agricultural pests, approved by the Italian Institute for Environmental Protection and Research. A fixed monthly number of these birds is collected, depending on their respective regional population size, density and distribution, and is submitted to the laboratory from each administrative province (from May to October in Emilia-Romagna, April to November in Lombardy, August to November in Piedmont). Brain, spleen, heart, and kidney samples are collected and analyzed using real-time RT-PCR, sequencing, and lineage determination. The sample is supplemented by passive surveillance of wild birds found dead.

Mosquito target species (*Culex pipiens, Cx. modestus*) are trapped from June to October. In Emilia-Romagna and Lombardy, the surveillance is carried out in the plain area, which is split into 11 and 20 km grid cells, respectively. In Piedmont, mosquitoes are trapped in plains and foothills, and surveillance areas (20 km grid cells) were selected by a risk-based approach. One entomological trap is placed in each cell or area under surveillance, for a total of 182 georeferenced stations. Collection is carried out fortnightly using CDC-CO2 dry ice-baited traps, BG-sentinel and gravid traps. Pools are analyzed using real-time RT-PCR, sequencing, and lineage determination.

Syndromic surveillance of neuroinvasive disease in dead-end hosts is carried out continuously throughout the year in all the three regions.

All horses with neurological signs are mandatorily notified to the veterinary authorities. From suspect cases, a blood sample is taken by the official veterinarian and tested for the presence of antibodies against WNV (IgM ELISA), and for the presence of virus specific RNA (real-time RT-PCR). In positive cases, this is followed by sequencing and lineage determination. In Lombardy, passive surveillance is supplemented by active surveillance on blood sera collected from horses in non-endemic provinces.

Syndromic surveillance of neuroinvasive disease in human patients is carried out continuously throughout the year in all three regions. All human patients with fever and one symptom of neuroinvasive disease [e.g., acute flaccid paralysis, acute polyradiculoneuritis ("Guillain–Barré syndrome"), aseptic meningitis, or encephalitis] are considered suspect cases of West Nile neuroinvasive disease (WNND). Plasma, serum, and cerebrospinal fluid are tested using real-time RT-PCR. In positive cases, sequencing and lineage determination are performed. This surveillance for suspect autochthonous cases of WNND is intensified in the period overlapping with mosquito activity in the regional territories, and particularly following the first viral detection at local level. Adding to the complexity of the approach, not only the multispecies transmission cycle was taken into account when designing the surveillance system but also the different dimensions of life which should be targeted. The following dimensions were considered: populations (mosquito, bird, human, horse) to detect the infection rate; individuals (human, horse) to detect whether neurological signs may be due to a WNV infection; and tissues/ organs to detect whether blood reserves or organs allocated for donation are infected with WNV.

Three trans-disciplinary working groups were created, in which experts of every health sector (animal, public, environmental) are represented:

- (A) Animal health: IZSLER (IZS della Lombardia e dell'Emilia-Romagna, IZSLER, for Emilia-Romagna and Lombardy), IZSTO (IZS del Piemonte, Liguria e Valle d'Aosta, IZSTO, for Piedmont), Veterinary Services (Local Health Authorities— LHU); practitioners, horse owners, hunters, rangers.
- (B) Public health: Public Health Services (Local Health Authority and Units), regional blood centers, reference laboratories for human diagnostics; physicians, hospitals.
- (C) Environmental health: entomology centers (Centre for Agriculture and Environment, CAA, for Emilia-Romagna, Institute for Plants and Environment, IPLA, for Piedmont), IZSLER Virology and Epidemiology units collaborating with local Veterinary Officers for Lombardy.

The tasks to be carried out within this initiative were allocated to the named actors (defined as any individual, group, or organization who acts or takes part in the initiative and its context). The entomology centers (or local Veterinary Officers in Lombardy) are in charge of mosquito collection, while hunters with a specific permit and rangers collect the birds. The veterinary health institutions perform surveillance on animals and lab tests on animals and mosquitoes. The public health institutions are in charge of the surveillance in humans and testing of human samples. However, although each involved institution has specific tasks, they act for the common aim to early detect WNV circulation and reduce the risk of infection. The funding is provided by the respective Regional Health Services and, in Piedmont, also by research projects.

The initiative is guided by shared leadership between actors (veterinarians, medical doctors, biologists, and entomologists), who regularly meet in trans-disciplinary groups. Frequent regional (i.e., 3–4/year in Piedmont and Lombardy, 8–10/year in Emilia-Romagna) and plenary meetings are organized to allow actors to provide feedback. Joint activities among regions (i.e., sharing data on entomological traps at regional borders serving for surveillance for neighboring regions since 2016) are necessary for a complete coverage of the surveillance area, but also create team spirit and enhance communication.

Sharing and linking of information in inter-disciplinary groups within each region and communication between regions (meetings, periodic epidemiologic bulletin and updates on IZSLER website, email, phone calls) is well established. As described above, some information (i.e., lab test results on mosquitoes collected through entomological traps at regional borders) is shared among regions. In addition, in Lombardy, the results of the animal and mosquito surveillance are available online and updated daily.

Stakeholders of the initiative (defined as any individual, group, or organization who may affect, be affected by, or perceive themselves to be affected by the initiative) include human doctors, veterinary practitioners, hospital patients, and the general population. Seminars and educational activities are organized in order to increase the knowledge on the disease and involve stakeholders in surveillance activities, e.g., seminars and courses targeting official veterinarians and practitioners (especially horse veterinarians), medical doctors in hospitals and family doctors. The general population is involved through communication campaigns, websites, and informative leaflets and brochures. Reports of the activities are addressed to hunters and to individuals working with horses.

Drivers and Rationale

The initiative was started by the North Italian regions in response to recurring outbreaks of West Nile Disease and subsequent endemisation. Drivers for the initiative can therefore be assigned to four main categories: economical, emotional/psychological, environmental, and social:

- (A) Economical: West Nile neurologic disease causes high healthcare costs for human and equine patients. Moreover, it determines financial damage in the form of DALYs (Disease Adjusted Life Years) for affected humans, in terms of loss of manpower for employers and of investments for owners of commercially used horses. Additionally, a continuous screening of blood donations from previously affected areas during the entire WNV circulation period is costly.
- (B) Emotional/psychological: patients (human, horse) affected by neurologic disease are suffering. This suffering extends to the family and friends of the affected patients—especially in fatal cases.
- (C) Environmental: possibly due to climate and environmental changes, mosquitoes—including the ones carrying WNV have a higher chance of survival during winter (overwintering) leading to the establishment of WNV endemic areas in Northern Italy.
- (D) Social: there is a lack of knowledge in the general population, regarding mosquito biology, their breeding habitats and their potential to carry disease.

The rationale of the initiative is to use a multi-disciplinary approach to early detect viral circulation in the species targeted by the surveillance activities, and the subsequent reduction of the infection risk in humans. Thanks to this early WNV detection, preventative measures can be applied in a more targeted way. The screening of blood donations from previously affected areas may be reduced to the active transmission season, starting with the first seasonal evidence of virus circulation. Additionally, public awareness campaigns may be intensified for populations at risk, once seasonal WNV transmission is detected.

Theory of Change (TOC) of the Initiative

According to NEOH, the TOC is created for the actors to define the (long-term) goals of their initiative and the building blocks and resulting changes required to achieve these goals.

For the presented initiative, these building blocks, necessary changes, and goals have been described in detail in the previous parts of this document. However, to align with the other manuscripts from this series, a summary, following the more schematic approach of a TOC, and the resulting graphical version of the TOC, the "pathway of change" (Figure 1), is provided.

West Nile virus is endemic to Northern Italy, being maintained in a transmission cycle between birds and mosquitoes. Humans and horses are accidental hosts and may suffer from a febrile illness to sometimes fatal neurologic disease. Transmission to humans may occur *via* bites of infected mosquitoes or the reception of infected blood or organ donations. The general population is insufficiently aware of the infection risks and thus poorly educated regarding strategies to prevent infection.

The basis for the initiative is the identification of appropriate actors with knowledge on WNV transmission, and of the stakeholders of the initiative. The funding of actors, including the support of networking infrastructure and other material and personnel, is essential. Additionally, stakeholders have to be compliant and respond to educational campaigns provided by the actors, by taking personal actions to prevent mosquito bites and maybe even by reducing breeding habitat.

The intermediate aim of the initiative is to prevent humans from being bitten by infected mosquitoes and from receiving infected blood transfusions or organ transplants. By preventing an infection, the risk of developing WNV disease will be reduced, and therefore the ultimate aim will be achieved: to decrease suffering and health care costs due to WNV disease.

To achieve these aims, experts from public, animal, and environmental health are working together to early detect seasonal WNV transmission in birds and mosquitoes, and to detect infections in horses and humans. After the first seasonal detection of WNV, blood and organ donations will be routinely screened, to decrease transmission risk. Additionally, educational campaigns for the general population may be carried out timely when seasonal infection risk increases resulting in a better-informed public that may act promptly and on their own initiative to prevent mosquito bites and to reduce breeding habitats.

As the initiative is ongoing, there will be a consolidation of networking among actors and an increase in expert knowledge on WNV transmission and disease, which will both feed back into modifying the approaches to achieve the intermediate and ultimate goals of the initiative. This results in a resilient system which can change over time to adapt to unexpected challenges, and according to the evolution of the epidemiological situation.

An indicator to measure the performance of the initiative may be a reduced annual incidence of human WNV cases. Additionally, an increased knowledge regarding WNV transmission and mosquito biology within the general population, maybe assessed by a questionnaire, could be a measure of successful performance.



FIGURE 1 | Pathway of Change representing the theory of change applied to the West Nile virus (WNV) surveillance in Northern Italy in 2016: building blocks, goals, and resulting changes required to achieve these goals.

Assessment of the OH-Ness of the Initiative

In accordance with the evaluation protocol developed by NEOH, we first defined and later scored the five different aspects considered to be essential for a perfect OH approach: OH thinking, OH planning, Transdisciplinarity and leadership, OH sharing, and OH learning. Scores ranged from 0 (=no OH approach) to 1 (=perfect OH approach) and were allocated corresponding to the scoring key provided by the respective evaluation tool.

For the evaluation of OH thinking, different OH dimensions, i.e., geographical space and time frame of the initiative, the legislation it is based upon and which it may help to modify, the dimensions of life involved in the surveillance activity and the dimensions of life that the initiative may impact upon, were described. Also, we detailed the knowledge necessary for the creation and running of the initiative, the networking within and between groups and sectors, between actors and stakeholders as well as the influence of the economy upon the initiative (e.g., funding) and the impact of the initiative on the economy (e.g., reduction of health care costs). Scoring was based on different formulas considering the scales (e.g., local, national, global scale for the dimension "space") we attributed to the different dimensions. Formulas for scoring included the relevance (i.e., the effect of the exclusion of the dimension on the initiative, and the effect of the initiative on the dimension itself), the balance among dimensions (i.e., equal weight), the highest scale and the number of scales.

When evaluating OH planning, we described all tasks to be carried out within the initiative and defined the stakeholders and necessary material, including additional personnel and funding. The tasks were further subdivided into responsibilities (e.g., the handling of an animal during blood collection) and matched with the professional skills of the involved personnel. A perfect match between responsibility and professional skill was scored as 1.0.

In the evaluation of Transdisciplinarity and leadership, scores were given according to the involvement of stakeholders, the effective involvement and integration of different disciplines, the collaboration among actors, the flexibility of the initiative, the degree of open-mindedness and presence of hierarchies.

To evaluate and clarify the processes of OH sharing, the different aspects of communication and sharing mechanisms were elucidated. Aspects included the basis on which potential actors were identified at the start of the initiative, how strongly they are involved in it, to what degree knowledge (data, methods, results) is shared between actors. Additionally, the resilience to change of sharing mechanisms was evaluated.

The evaluation of OH learning was based on multiple-choice questionnairesfilled in by the actors of the initiative. Questionnaires were prepared in accordance to the ones provided by NEOH, translated into Italian and distributed to actors representing the different health sections (animal, public, environmental health) in each of the three regions. Scores were given as suggested by NEOH resulting in a mean score for all questionnaires.

RESULTS OF THE EVALUATION

Five assessments were conducted, resulting in a mean score for each OH aspect considered. We reached high scores for OH thinking (0.90) and OH planning (0.89). Lower scores were attributed to OH sharing (0.83), Transdisciplinarity and leadership (0.77), and OH learning (0.67). The results are depicted in a spider diagram (**Figure 2**) with the surface area and shape illustrating the degree of OH implementation and the balance between the operational and the supporting means. We can observe a weakness in the infrastructure and supporting means for the initiative (OH learning and sharing infrastructure), namely critical issues related to communication, and learning gaps. In contrast, the operational aspects (OH thinking and OH planning) of the initiative are its main strengths, indicating a developed transdisciplinary team and comprehensive multi-dimensional approach. The results of the scoring of each OH aspect are detailed below.

The mean score for OH thinking was 0.90. Among the different dimensions assessed, space, knowledge, and networks obtained the highest mean score (=1.0), followed by dimensions of life (0.92), time (0.82), economy (0.80), management (0.77), and legislative dimension (0.72).



The initiative is implemented in a relatively small spatial (local, subnational, national) scale. However, as an operational aspect, the OH thinking of the system is influenced and has an impact both at a local level (e.g., provinces) and at a national level. Local, subnational, and state bounded knowledge is crucial for the creation and running of the initiative. Knowledge resulting from it is broad and can be categorized as local, subnational, and state bounded as well as universal, since it is added to the body of knowledge about WNV and disease surveillance and applies to countries with similar societal and epidemiological characteristics. Networking in the initiative is relatively complex, including interaction within and between work groups, within and between stakeholders and the general population (trans societal). All scales were thus considered relevant.

Dimensions of life considered in the initiative include the gene, as well as the cell/organ, and population scale. In fact, humans, horses, wild birds, and mosquitoes are the target of the surveillance system (individuals, groups, populations). Samples of the above-named targeted species are tested for antibodies and/or gene sequences of WNV; after a first positive result in any species tested, human blood and organs are screened for WNV.

Time is of paramount importance in the planning of surveillance activities (e.g., organization, funding), therefore, surveillance plans are issued annually. However, the operational thinking required for their design (viral circulation in the geographical area, transmission season, vector and host distribution, etc.) can be independent from the time-frame of the plan implementation (e.g., 2, 5 years, etc.). Concerning the economic dimension, funding of the initiative is partly national (Ministry of Health) and partly regional. Both costs and benefits (e.g., reduction in welfare costs) of the initiative will impact at the regional and national level.

The management of the initiative is strategy-based and therefore rather broad and complex as compared to projects or work packages. Relevant legislation ranges from a rather low scale (operational rules, regional laws) to national and international regulations.

One Health planning was scored 0.89. A perfect match between responsibility and professional skill (score: 1.0) could be allocated to activities regarding the active surveillance on mosquitoes, surveillance of neuroinvasive disease in humans, laboratory tests on horses, wild birds, and mosquitoes, including species identification, laboratory tests on blood and organ donations, and on human suspects (WNND) samples, as well as activities regarding data sharing and communication. Surveillance on wild birds and passive surveillance on horses were considered as more critical and received a lower score, since such activities are partially carried out on a voluntary basis for lack of specific funding (**Table 1**).

Transdisciplinarity and leadership were given an overall score of 0.77. We considered the WNV transmission cycle, including the potential hazards for humans and horses (within this paragraph named the WNV "problem") as well presented to the society (score: 1.0), with all actors and stakeholders involved in the initiative although not all efficiently engaged (0.8). Transdisciplinarity is necessary to solve the problem (1.0), being relevant to the health of people, animals, and environment.

TABLE 1 | One Health (OH) planning.

Task			
Positioning of the entomological traps (active surveillance)			
Collecting mosquito traps and transfer to laboratories (active surveillance)	1.0		
Wild birds collection (trap/shoot) and transfer to the laboratories (active surveillance)	0.5		
Passive surveillance on wild birds found dead	0.8		
Passive surveillance in horses: reporting of suspect cases of WND (neurologic symptoms)	0.5		
Passive surveillance in horses: sampling of suspect cases of WND (neurologic symptoms)	1.0		
Active surveillance on horses	1.0		
Laboratory tests on horses, wild birds, and mosquitoes incl. species-ID	1.0		
Surveillance of neoroinvasive disease in humans	1.0		
Laboratory tests on blood and organ donations, and on human suspects (West Nile neuroinvasive disease) samples	1.0		
Data sharing and communication	1.0		
Overall score (mean) for OH planning	0.89		

Description of the different tasks of the West Nile virus surveillance in Northern Italy in 2016. Scores were given for the match between necessary skills, possessed skills, and available personnel, material and/or infrastructure. A perfect match was scored as 1.0.

Disciplines, methods, and scales of analysis have an intermediate diversity (0.6). The initiative is broad and inter-sectoral (0.9), but there is a low involvement of the non-scientific community (0.1). There is a good balance across different disciplines and they work well together (0.9), however, gender is slightly biased toward male (0.7). Few cultural issues are considered to affect the problem (0.7). Regarding the integration, there is a good degree of interactions among actors of different disciplines (0.9), although this combination of disciplines cannot be considered as innovative (0.5). There is also a lack of formulation of a common OH objective covering all disciplines (0.2), with the initiatives aim being very "human health-oriented," although such common objective could be a basis for knowledge integration. The project design has a very good flexibility at short, mid and long term (1.0). The initiative was considered as effective to contribute in detecting and solving the complex WNV problem (1.0). Although the management structure well supports the initiatives goal, with a good combination of disciplines/fields of expertise (0.9), leadership is task-oriented (0.1) with a limited open-mindedness (0.4)and rather static hierarchies. Different teams are working within the initiative and have a good level of cooperation (1.0) with fair inter-team relationships (0.8). Each team has clear objectives and their work is recognized at the organization level; however, they do not meet to discuss their effectiveness and how it could be improved. Competencies in the teams are appropriate to solve the problem (0.8). The initiative is very relevant to OH (1.0), and the problem is adequately translated to scientific questions (0.8) and has a solid scientific basis (1.0). Methods, collaboration, and integration fit the OH strategy (0.8) (Table 2).

We attributed a score of 0.83 to OH sharing. In detail, stakeholders and actors are described in the regional laws, although a specific process of identification is not foreseen by the initiative (0.8). The overall involvement of stakeholders in the initiative, namely the personnel and hunters with a specific permit involved **TABLE 2** | The Network for Evaluation of One Health questionnaire provided to assess transdisciplinarity and leadership was subdivided into different question complexes.

Question complex (no. of questions)		
Presentation of the societal problem within One Health (5)		
Assessing broadness to further classify the initiative (3)	0.53	
Assessing integration (10)	0.72	
Assessing reflection, learning, and adaptation (3)	1.00	
Assessing efficiency and effectiveness of the case study's problem solving (2)	1.00	
Assessing management, social and leadership skills (5)	0.35	
Assessing team structure (well-structured vs. pseudo team) (8)		
Actors and competencies (2)	0.80	
Problem formulation, focus, goals, and criteria of success (6)	0.92	
Overall score (mean) for transdisciplinarity and leadership		

For the West Nile virus surveillance in Northern Italy in 2016, the mean for each question complex was calculated.

in the surveillance activities and the general population, was scored as good (0.7). Actors of the surveillance systems are highly involved in the initiative (0.9) through regular meetings, emails, reporting/writing of the epidemiological bulletins.

There is a high level of internal information sharing (0.9), with meetings, epidemiological bulletins, and reports available to all actors. Surveillance results are published and an online information sharing platform exists (10). External sharing mechanisms are good (0.7), with the online publication of activities, and surveillance results, and information campaigns during fairs and markets. Data and information sharing are funded within the mandatory activities of the institutions involved, and data sharing agreements are stated in the regional regulations.

Data quality is high (0.9), since data are compiled by dedicated staff/data analysts belonging to the different institutions. Bulletins are revised from all stakeholders. Appropriate (institutional) structures, databases, and backup systems ensure an appropriate data storage (0.9). Data accessibility is good (0.6), especially regarding the internal accessibility to maps and data. However, there is a limited accessibility to the general population, and the way it is made accessible (e.g., websites or brochures) varies by region. There is a good level of data sharing (0.7) and a high level of methods (0.9) and results (0.8) sharing among all actors. Methods, data, and results are continuously stored, resulting in an increased expertise over time (0.9); however, due to financial constraints, trained fixed-term personnel is "lost" in the process of time. Knowledge derived from the initiative is disseminated through congresses, seminars, meetings, and educational activities (0.9).

The level of resilience to change is high (0.9). Data are collected because of public (regional) funding: they are owned by the authority, always accessible and independent from changes to the system (e.g., change of laboratories performing the analysis).

The multiple-choice questionnaires filled in by nine actors involved in the initiative (one entomologist, one veterinarian, and one medical doctor per region) gave a mean score of 0.67 for the OH learning. Entomologists gave a lower mean score (0.60), compared to veterinarians (0.70) and medical doctors (0.71) (**Figure 3**).





Although organizational, team, and individual learning levels are interconnected and influence each other, the highest mean score was obtained at the organizational level (0.81), followed by team (0.69) and individual (0.67) levels. Direct and general environments reached a mean score of 0.68 and 0.50, respectively.

These results show that organizations involved in the initiative (i.e., the different public institutions in the three regions) provide a high-level support for individual and team learning, and for their interplay within the context of the initiative. Specifically, this organizational support for learning reflects the existence of different resources to collect, store, and make available all existing information and knowledge to the individuals and teams involved. This enables possible modification of the organization's underlying norms, policies, and objectives, based on the existing and acquired knowledge, providing resilience to the initiative. Differences in the mean scores assigned to organizational learning were observed among the three regions. Actors of Lombardy and Emilia-Romagna gave higher scores (0.73 and 0.72) compared to their colleagues in Piedmont (0.56), highlighting a possible weakness in the resources available for the OH learning in the latter region.

The team level learning was perceived as good (mean score 0.69). The teams participating in the initiative regularly meet for reporting results, and for sharing different perspectives and ideas aiming at obtaining the best view to inform decisions. Therefore, this result indicates a good interaction between the individual and the organizational learning of this initiative.

Individual learning was perceived as good by the actors, obtaining a mean score of 0.67. This score included both adaptive learning (i.e., how much the learning obtained was used to correct and improve existing procedures, competencies, technologies,

and paradigms), and generative learning (how much the learning obtained was used to modify the organization's underlying norms).

Finally, the context of the initiative (i.e., direct and general environment) was found to be scarcely supportive for learning. Specifically, the general environment (i.e., non-specific elements of the organization's surroundings that might affect its learning like economic, technological, sociocultural, and others) obtained the lowest score (0.50). This could be due to the fact that society does not perceive governmental authorities as learning-oriented organizations.

FURTHER DEVELOPMENTS: PROCESS EVALUATION

In addition to the quantitative OH-ness evaluation presented in this study, an ongoing qualitative evaluation (process evaluation) will provide data to confront to the OH-ness evaluation results.

The objective of the process evaluation is to detect strengths and weaknesses of how the initiative is planned and implemented using the opinion of "privileged observers" involved. In detail, the process evaluation is investigating (i) how the initiative is conducted, and the importance/sense given to it; (ii) the legal framework of the initiative as shared reference to fully adhere to.

Privileged observers' opinions were collected in three focus groups, one for each region. Privileged observers are individuals having key roles in regional institutions involved in the WNV surveillance (regional Health Services; public health, animal health, and entomology centers). A maximum of eight participants attended each focus group, and they were selected among the actors involved in the initiative design and planning, and ideally represent the different disciplines involved (human and veterinary medicine, entomology).

Each focus group had a maximum duration of 90 min, was conducted by one moderator and one observer and recorded by an assistant. Specific questions on aspects considered important for the initiative were developed, as well as different documents to facilitate the discussion. These documents included a list of topics that should emerge with the questions, and prompt (solicitations) to make those topics emerge, if not spontaneously triggered by the questions. Fidelity questions were answered by participants using a flip board. Finally, general questions concerning the individual opinion on the initiative were submitted and answered in written form at the end of each focus group, in order not to influence the previous answers.

Preliminary results highlighted differences among Regions, mainly due to the different epidemiological situations (i.e., incidence of the disease in the human population). The critical points identified so far are related to communication and funding.

FINAL CONSIDERATIONS

Considering the complexity of the transmission cycle of WNV (see Identification of the System), a OH approach seems necessary to guarantee the efficacy of any surveillance and control activity. In fact, knowledge on WNV circulation in all the species involved in the transmission cycle, and the subsequent informed decisions for its prevention, would unlikely be obtained through a single-discipline and uni-sectoral approach.

An integrated animal-human-vector approach to face WNV was adopted in several European countries (Austria, France, Greece, Italy, and UK), with activities varying according to the epidemiological scenario. Such approach may improve efficiency and save resources, thanks to the implementation of targeted control measures (11). For example, studies in Italy showed that the integrated surveillance had several advantages, both at national (12) and regional level, i.e., Emilia-Romagna region [(13); Paternoster et al., under review]. These included an increased efficiency in detecting infected blood units, the adoption of evidence-based preventative public health measures, and a reduction in health costs, thanks to a targeted strategy for testing blood units.

The evaluation protocol developed by NEOH and applied in the present study represents an innovative tool to assess the degree of OH implementation of a health-related initiative. To our knowledge, transdisciplinarity, collaboration, and communication aspects have not been specifically addressed in other studies. Researches so far mainly focused on performances or economic aspects of integrated WNV surveillance systems. In example, Kolmenakis et al. (14) performed an economic appraisal of public health management interventions adopted in Central Macedonia, Greece, to tackle the 2010 WNV outbreak. A study in the United States, assessed the cost-effectiveness of alternative WNV blood-screening strategies (15). In the French Mediterranean coast, Faverjon et al. (16) assessed that a multivariate surveillance system, which combines different data sources for WNV syndromic surveillance (e.g., reports of nervous symptoms in horses and wild bird mortality) had a major sensitivity and specificity in detecting outbreaks compared to approaches using data sources separately. Although this study underlines the importance of developing a more collaborative work between existing surveillance networks, no attempt has been made to evaluate the degree of inter-disciplinary collaboration. Similarly, Chaintoutis et al. (17) highlighted the usefulness of the surveillance on pigeons to determine WNV geographical spread and for early warning in Greece but made no specific assessment of the degree of implementation of a OH approach.

Our OH-ness evaluation confirmed the presence of an established multi-disciplinary approach and cross-sectoral collaboration (i.e., OH approach) in Northern Italy (Emilia-Romagna, Piedmont, and Lombardy regions). Surveillance is based on the collaboration between different regional institutions involved in public, animal, and environmental health, both at a regional and inter-regional level (see Results of the Evaluation). Several actors and stakeholders are involved and communicate within a complex operational and institutional network (see Detailed Description of the Initiative and Scientific Background).

The operational aspects (OH thinking and OH planning) are the main strengths of the initiative. Weaknesses were detected in the infrastructure and supporting means (OH learning and sharing infrastructure), namely critical issues related to communication, funding, and learning gaps. These results can be used to modify the system and improving its critical elements. Indeed, the OH-ness evaluation enables the detection of the strength of a multi-disciplinary approach and cross-sectoral collaboration of integrated zoonosis surveillance, providing insights that are useful for its improvement. Moreover, this standardized evaluation can be combined with other evaluations (e.g., process evaluation, cost-benefit evaluation) to measure the impact of the OH approach on the initiative. Further information can arise by comparing the OH-ness assessments of surveillance activities in different geographical areas, socio-economic contexts, or for different vector-borne diseases.

As regards our case-study, an ongoing process evaluation will provide a more detailed analysis of the surveillance planning and implementation. Evaluation results could (i) be the basis for developing shared recommendations, (ii) be used by Animal and Public Health decision makers at national or regional level, and (iii) provide insights on the efficacy of integrated health systems for zoonoses mitigation.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GP, LT, and BV conceived and designed the work and drafted the manuscript. MT, MC, AL, MP, and AP provided part of the data. AF, GB, GP, LT, and BV designed and carried out the process evaluation. All authors contributed to the analysis and interpretation of data, participated in the revision for important intellectual content, and approved the final version to be published. All authors agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank the responders of the OH learning questionnaires and the participants to the focus groups, belonging to the following institutions: Emilia-Romagna, Lombardy, and Piedmont Regions; IZSLER and IZSTO; Centre for Agriculture and Environment (CAA G. Nicoli, Crevalcore, Bologna); Institute for Plants and Environment (IPLA Spa, Turin), Azienda Regionale Emergenza Urgenza (AREU, Milan), Amedeo di Savoia hospital (Turin), the Veterinary and Public Health Services, and regional blood centers of the three regions.

REFERENCES

- ECDC. West Nile Fever. (2017). Available from: http://ecdc.europa.eu/en/ healthtopics/west_nile_fever/pages/index.aspx
- Calistri P, Giovannini A, Hubalek Z, Ionescu A, Monaco F, Savini G, et al. Epidemiology of West Nile in Europe and in the Mediterranean Basin. Open Virol J (2010) 4(2):29–37. doi:10.2174/1874357901004020029
- Cantile C, Di Guardo G, Eleni C, Arispici M. Clinical and neuropathological features of West Nile virus equine encephalomyelitis in Italy. *Equine Vet J* (2000) 32(1):31–5. doi:10.2746/042516400777612080
- Autorino GL, Battisti A, Deubel V, Ferrari G, Forletta R, Giovannini A, et al. West Nile virus Epidemic in Horses, Tuscany Region, Italy. (Vol. 8). (2002). 12 p. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2738505/ pdf/02-0234_FinalR.pdf
- Monaco F, Lelli R, Teodori L, Pinoni C, Di Gennaro A, Polci A, et al. Re-emergence of West Nile virus in Italy. *Zoonoses Public Health* (2010) 57(7–8):476–86. doi:10.1111/j.1863-2378.2009.01245.x
- Macini P, Squintani G, Finarelli AC, Angelini P, Martini E, Tamba M, et al. Detection of West Nile virus infection in horses, Italy, September 2008. *Euro Surveill* (2008) 13(39):18990.
- Emilia-Romagna Region. Piano Sorveglianza Arbovirosi 2016. Arbovirosis Surveillance Plan 2016. (2016). p. 1–17. Available from: http://www.zanzaratigreonline.it/Portals/zanzaratigreonline/piano%20regionale/Piano%20 regionale%20arbovirosi%202016%20_completo.pdf
- Lombardy Region. Piano West Nile Disease 2016. West Nile Disease plan, 2016. (2016). Available from: http://www.vetinweb.it/cm_siv/?q=node/3264
- Piedmont Region. Piano regionale di sorveglianza e controllo dei casi umani di Dengue, Chikungunya, Zika, West Nile e altre arbovirosi. Regional Surveillance and Control Plan for Human Cases of Dengue, Chickungunya, Zika, West Nile and Other Arbovirosis. (2016). Available from: http://www.seremi.it/sites/ default/files/PIANOREGIONALEARBOVIROSIPIEMONTE2016.pdf
- IZSLER. West Nile Disease. (2017). Available from: http://www.izsler.it/pls/ izs_bs/v3_s2ew_consultazione.mostra_pagina?id_pagina=828
- Gossner C, Marrama L, Carson M, Allerberger F, Calistri P, Dilaveris D, et al. West Nile virus surveillance in Europe: moving towards an integrated animal-human-vector approach. *Euro Surveill* (2017) 22(18):30526. doi:10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2017.22.18.30526

Many thanks to Monica Marchino for her contribution to the regional focus groups, and to all the personnel and people involved in the WNV surveillance activities. We would also like to thank NEOH WG1 members for their help with the OH-ness assessments.

FUNDING

This article is based upon work from COST Action (Network for Evaluation of One Health, TD1404), supported by COST (European Cooperation in Science and Technology).

- Rizzo C, Napoli C, Venturi G, Pupella S, Lombardini L, Calistri P, et al. West Nile virus transmission: results from the integrated surveillance system in Italy, 2008 to 2015. *Euro Surveill* (2016) 21(37):30340. doi:10.2807/1560-7917. ES.2016.21.37.30340
- Bellini R, Calzolari M, Mattivi A, Tamba M, Angelini P, Bonilauri P, et al. The experience of West Nile virus integrated surveillance system in the Emilia-Romagna region: five years of implementation, Italy, 2009 to 2013. *Euro Surveill* (2014) 19(44):20953. doi:10.2807/1560-7917.ES2014. 19.44.20953
- Kolimenakis A, Bithas K, Richardson C, Latinopoulos D, Baka A, Vakali A, et al. Economic appraisal of the public control and prevention strategy against the 2010 West Nile virus outbreak in Central Macedonia, Greece. *Public Health* (2016) 131:63–70. doi:10.1016/j.puhe.2015.10.023
- Korves CT, Goldie SJ, Murray MB. Cost-effectiveness of alternative blood-screening strategies for West Nile virus in the United States. *PLoS Med* (2006) 3(2):e21. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.0030021
- Faverjon C, Gunnar Andersson M, Decors A, Tapprest J, Tritz P, Sandoz A, et al. Evaluation of a multivariate syndromic surveillance system for West Nile virus. *Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis* (2016) 16(6):382–90. doi:10.1089/ vbz.2015.1883
- Chaintoutis SC, Dovas CI, Papanastassopouloua M, Gewehr S, Danis K, Beck C, et al. Evaluation of a West Nile virus surveillance and early warning system in Greece, based on domestic pigeons. *Comp Immunol Microbiol Infect Dis* (2014) 37:131–41. doi:10.1016/j.cimid.2014.01.004

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Paternoster, Tomassone, Tamba, Chiari, Lavazza, Piazzi, Favretto, Balduzzi, Pautasso and Vogler. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





One Health-ness Evaluation of Cysticercosis Surveillance Design in Portugal

Ana Gloria Fonseca¹*, Jorge Torgal¹, Daniele de Meneghi², Sarah Gabriël³, Ana Cláudia Coelho⁴ and Manuela Vilhena⁵

¹ Public Health Department, NOVA Medical School, NOVA University of Lisbon, Lisbon, Portugal, ² Department of Veterinary Science, University of Turin, Grugliasco, Turin, Italy, ³ Department of Veterinary Public Health and Food Safety, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium, ⁴ Escola de Ciências Agrárias e Veterinárias, Universidade de Trás os Montes e Alto Douro (UTAD), Vila Real, Portugal, ⁵ Instituto de Ciências Agrárias e Ambientais Mediterrânicas (ICAAM), Universidade de Évora, Évora, Portugal

The increasing occurrence of human cysticercosis, a zoonotic neglected disease, is challenging the traditional prevention and control paradigm and calling for One Health (OH) solutions in industrialized countries. OH solutions for health interventions are increasingly being used to capture expected and unexpected outcomes across people, animals, and the environment. The Network for Evaluation of One Health (NEOH) proposes an evidence-based framework, relying on systems and mixed methods approaches to evaluate the One Health-ness. In this case study, this tool is used to evaluate the design of the Observatory of Taeniasis and Cysticercosis, as an example of intersectorial collaboration for surveillance in Portugal. The OH Initiative (drivers and expected outcomes) and its system (boundaries, aim, dimensions, actors, and stakeholders) were described. The different aspects of this Initiative were scored with values from 0 (=no OH approach) to 1 (=perfect OH approach). The OH index was 0.31. Its OH ratio is 1.98. Overall scores were as follows: OH thinking 0.75; OH planning 0.60; OH working 0.60; OH sharing 0.35; OH learning 0.50; and systemic organization 0.50. Operational levels of the Initiative are the main strengths, indicating a comprehensive multidimensional innovative approach and transdisciplinarity. Critical issues in the supporting infrastructure were observed, related to communication, learning and organizational gaps in the project, with the evaluation being conducted as the project is being designed and implemented. The strengths and weaknesses detected may be used to refine the Initiative. This case study therefore exemplifies and supports OH assessment also for ongoing projects, at design and early implementation stages for guiding and guaranteeing an OH-oriented perspective.

Keywords: One Health, case study, cysticercosis, evaluation, surveillance, neglected disease

INTRODUCTION

In European countries, emerging *Taenia solium* taeniasis and cysticercosis in urban areas is questioning the traditional disease paradigm as a zoonotic disease of developing countries, requesting for integrated approaches and One Health (OH) solutions (1, 2). Human cysticercosis is a preventable fecal-oral transmitted neglected parasitic infection caused by cysticerci of the tapeworm *T. solium*. Neurocysticercosis (NCC), the single major cause of adult onset seizures in endemic

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Sandra C. Buttigieg, University of Malta, Malta

Reviewed by:

Al F. Alassaf, American Institute for Healthcare Quality, United States Maurizio Aragrande, Università di Bologna, Italy

> *Correspondence: Ana Gloria Fonseca ana.fonseca@nms.unl.pt

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Public Health Education and Promotion, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

Received: 28 September 2017 Accepted: 26 February 2018 Published: 13 March 2018

Citation: Fonseca AG, Torgal J, de Meneghi D, Gabriël S, Coelho AC and Vilhena M (2018) One Health-ness Evaluation of Cysticercosis Surveillance Design in Portugal. Front. Public Health 6:74.

areas, occurs when cysticerci lodge in the central nervous system in humans (3).

In non-endemic settings, imported and autochthonous cysticercosis emergence is plausible, impacting on human, animal, and environmental health and welfare. In Portugal, 357 hospitalized NCC cases were detected during a retrospective study covering the 2006–2013 period (4). In the absence of legal notification or established surveillance system, the Observatory of Taeniasis and Cysticercosis (OTC) was designed.

The OTC aims for an OH-based national disease surveillance system, increasing knowledge and awareness for evidence-based interventions leading to disease control and eradication, based on sustainable solutions impacting on human, animal, environmental, societal, and economic health and welfare. The surveillance design is based on cross-sectorial and transdisciplinary collaboration between human and animal health institutions at local, regional, and national levels, targeting humans and pigs, aiming at detecting, and treating the tapeworm carriers, therefore reducing the risk of infection in the human and pig populations.

The OTC was evaluated using the innovative framework developed by the Network for Evaluation of One Health (NEOH), representing a case study illustrating the application of this methodology and grasping to what extent the underlying integration as a principle and approach is actually contributing to manage the health problem (5, 6).

BACKGROUND AND RATIONALE

In the *T. solium* life cycle and transmission, both pig and humans can be infected by the metacestode larval stages and develop disease. The infection results from the ingestion of *T. solium* eggs, shed in the feces of human tapeworm carriers, through contaminated food and water or by autoinfection: the eggs hatch, migrate, and lodge in the tissues, where they develop into cysticerci. Human become tapeworm carriers by ingesting undercooked pork meat containing viable cysticerci in muscle tissue. Cysticercosis clinical symptoms often appear months/years after the infection. The acute and chronic neurological symptoms/disease in humans determines health-care costs and suffering in the form of disease-adjusted life years.

Human cysticercosis has been primarily associated with rural and peri-urban areas of developing countries where sanitation is poor and pigs roam freely and eat human feces. In industrialized countries, cysticercosis, although rare, is increasingly being diagnosed and has been associated with migration and travel from endemic areas. However, it may occur in individuals with no history of pork consumption or travel to endemic areas (3, 7). Epidemiological studies have demonstrated tight clustering in households and suggest the most common source of infective eggs is an asymptomatic household tapeworm carrier (8).

In Portugal, cysticercosis was considered prevalent before 1975. Thereafter, improved sanitation and industrialized pig production under veterinary control made Portugal officially free of porcine cysticercosis; diagnosed human cases have been considered mainly imported (Statistics Portugal, www.ine.pt). As in most European countries, there is no NCC notification or surveillance. There is scarce and not updated data on human and porcine cysticercosis. While old, mostly rural human cases indicated probable autochthonous infection; nowadays, industrialized pig production in closed systems under veterinary control is rather generalized. Human disease cases tend to occur in 20–64 years age group (55.2%) in urban settings, indicating imported cases or the presence of tapeworm carriers infecting other people, without the presence of infected pig intermediate hosts (4).

Thus far, the disease control model has reflected a rural reality, where free-ranging pigs are raised, sanitation conditions are poor, and sanitary inspection measures are insufficient. Control tools generally include pig-oriented measures, human tapeworm treatments, health education, and sanitary improvements. Environmental contamination with Taenia spp. eggs is a key issue in most studies, influencing the presence of Taenia spp. antigens in both pigs and humans (9). Soil-related, socioeconomic, and behavioral factors are associated with the emergence of significant clustering of human cysticercosis (8, 9). However, very few studies have been produced in urban environment of developed countries. In this setting, transmission patterns are likely to relate more with behavior, housing conditions, water supply, basic sanitation, schooling and birthplace of the individual or relatives, human migration patterns, and food preparation; the role of free roaming pigs or soil conditions not being as obvious (10).

OTC in Portugal: The OH Initiative

The OTC was designed, aiming at the surveillance of taeniasis and cysticercosis, fostered by human health and animal health national authorities in collaboration, asking for cross-sectorial, inter, and transdisciplinary cooperation and networking at all stages of development and action. It aims to obtain essential information on the burden and epidemiology of cysticercosis in Portugal. Its final aim is sustainable health protection through cysticercosis prevention and control, focusing on human health and welfare without disregarding animal health and the ecosystem.

Main drivers of the Initiative are as follows: (i) the disease occurrence in migrants from endemic areas, whose access to health care may be compromised by legal and economic issues (illegal immigration and poverty) and, rarely, in non-migrants: 45 hospitalizations per year (4, 11–14); (ii) the unawareness of the disease burden due to absence of (systematic) human cysticer-cosis and pig cysticercosis data; (iii) the non-applicability of the traditional disease prevention and control tools (involving the pig as an intermediate host) to the current disease scenario (human-to-human transmission); and (iv) the fact that the disease can be effectively prevented by tapeworm eradication in human carriers (that is, preventing transmission).

The Initiative comprises the following core surveillance activities:

 Baseline characterization and thereafter monitoring of the national epidemiological scenario, by systematically obtaining and analyzing the available disciplinary administrative data, to identify possible geographic hotspots: (a) human health sector: human cysticercosis hospitalizations (Hospital Episodes Statistics); (b) animal health sector: pig cysticercosis diagnosis at slaughterhouses and at non-industrial pig distribution units (less than 100 animals); and (c) human social sector: Portuguese resident and foreign resident population data (Statistics of Portugal).

- (2) In the geographic hotspots, implementing a questionnairebased surveillance targeting health-care units to detect and monitor new human cysticercosis diagnosis (notification system) associated with an epidemiologic field survey to patients and contacts, exploring human, animal, and environmental factors, identifying possible human tapeworm carriers. It uses the structural resources and communication algorithms already in practice for other reportable diseases (national notifiable disease surveillance system) under the aegis of the public health national authority. It involves hospital and primary care physicians as primary reporting source and public health physicians at the local health department as primary level data recipients and reporting source for the epidemiologic field survey. Secondary level data recipients are national health authority and OTC.
- (3) In the geographic hotspots, implementing a questionnairebased surveillance targeting non-industrial porcine distribution units (less than 100 animals) to detect and monitor new pig cysticercosis diagnosis at slaughterhouses (notification system) associated with an epidemiologic field survey to the pig handlers, exploring human, animal, and environmental factors, identifying possible human tapeworm carriers. It uses the structural resources and communication algorithms already in practice for other reportable diseases under the aegis of animal health and food national authority and establishing a structured communication pathway between animal health and human health sectors in the reporting and surveillance system. It involves slaughterhouse inspectors as primary reporting source and public human health physicians at the local health department as primary level data recipients and reporting source for the epidemiologic field survey. Secondary level data recipients are the national health authority and the OTC.
- (4) Biological species diagnosis of tapeworm carriers in the reference laboratory, using *T. solium* taeniasis coproantigen detection test with molecular species confirmation among human cysticercosis cases and human case contacts identified in (2) and (3). Referral for laboratorial diagnosis is done through the local health department, involving primary care/hospital physicians and public health physicians, the reference laboratory also acting as a reporting source in the surveillance system. Secondary level data recipients are the national health authority and the OTC.
- (5) Hospital-based treatment for the identified human tapeworm carriers within the local health-care system. Referral for treatment is done upon laboratorial diagnosis through the local health department, involving primary care/hospital physicians and public health physicians.
- (6) Monitoring, stewardship and supervision of the reporting process, the field epidemiological surveys, and the referral for laboratorial diagnosis and treatment.
- (7) Yearly data management and analysis and report generation and dissemination, complying with the national standards of confidentiality, to the involved actors, stakeholders, and decision-makers.

The Initiative is led by human and animal health sectors in coordination under the aegis of Human and Animal Health Authorities. It fosters trans-sectorial communication and data sharing at different hierarchical and decision levels: human and animal health. Within each sector, the hierarchical channels and structural elements already in use for other purposes, namely, disease notification, are used. Innovation comes from (i) introducing human and pig cysticercosis as a notifiable disease and within the same surveillance process; (ii) triggering active human case detection (human tapeworm carrier) upon the diagnosis of a case of human or pig cysticercosis, active animal case detection in the affected non-industrial pig distribution unit also being also promoted; (iii) promoting detection and correct medical approach of tapeworm carriers, paving the way for control and eradication of humanto-human transmission (NCC disease transmission control); (iv) enforcing laboratorial technology, introducing the use of specific diagnostic tests beyond research purposes; (v) enforcing ongoing transdisciplinary and cross-sectorial networking, feedback, and collaboration; and (vi) harboring academic and field research purposes, through collaboration with postgraduate educational institutions.

The expected consequences of this Initiative are improvements at the level of the disease burden estimates, as well as at the level of the epidemiological and medical approach of each individual case, impacting on human, animal, and environmental health.

Planning surveillance should be an iterative process, requiring the regular reassessment of objectives and methods, to double check if the purposes of the surveillance system are being met. To gather consistent and systematic awareness data and identify the changes related to the organization of services, information systems, and institutional relationships, allowing for a complete outcome-based evaluation, the Initiative needs to be running 5 years minimum.

The Initiative was, however, designed considering OH concerns and approach to surveillance and problem solving. Therefore, OTC design was evaluated for its OH characteristics and One Health-ness (OH-ness).

The adhesion to OH protocol is often praised but not proved. The evaluation of OH-ness is hence an innovation in the OH context and a preliminary step to assess the real advantages of OH in comparison with the traditional approaches to health evaluation.

The evaluation question was the following: is the OTC designed according to OH characteristics and requirements? This evaluation is being conducted as the OTC is being implemented, in a feedback loop that allows for ongoing design and implementation readjustments to ensure effective and efficient OH action, in theory and practice. End users are the Human and Animal Health Directorates and the OTC itself. The Initiative and OH evaluation may provide an example of cross-sectorial and transdisciplinary collaboration at national level on how to manage a non-notifiable neglected zoonosis in a European country.

METHODS

For taeniasis and cysticercosis surveillance design evaluation, the Network for Evaluation of One Health (NEOH) evaluation framework was used (5). It uses a systems approach and aims to relate the OH process characteristics (OH-ness), namely, operational aspects (thinking, planning, and working) and supporting infrastructure aspects (sharing, learning, and systemic organization). It consists of a mix methods approach, including a descriptive and qualitative assessment with a semiquantitative scoring for the evaluation of the degree and structural balance of OH-ness. The six different aspects for a perfect OH approach of the Initiative were scored using standardized aspect-specific assessment tools: OH thinking, OH planning, OH working, OH sharing, OH learning, and systemic organization. Each one consisted of a series of up 17 questions and an associated scoring system with values between 0 and 1 as well as spider diagrams, with a score of 1 reflecting a full realization of the different OH characteristics (ideal scenario). OH thinking assesses the way actors and stakeholders think in and about the OH Initiative and the system in which it operates (the context) [scoring criteria: dimension coverage and balance; Initiative to environment match; integrative health approach; system features and target; sustainability and social-ecological considerations; perspectives and theory of change (TOC) factors]. OH planning evaluates planning and resource allocations in the Initiative (scoring criteria: common aims; stakeholder and actor engagement; self-assessment and plan revisions; and individual objectives). OH working assesses the interdisciplinary and participatory engagement in OH Initiatives (scoring criteria: broadness; collaboration; transdisciplinary balance; cultural and social balance; and flexibility and adaptation). OH sharing evaluates the extent and methods of information and data sharing infrastructures in OH Initiatives (scoring criteria: general information and awareness sharing; data and information sharing; methods and results sharing; and institutional memory and resilience to change). OH learning evaluates the learning infrastructure of the Initiative (scoring criteria: focus on adaptive and generative individual learning; focus on adaptive and generative team learning; adaptive and generative organizational learning; direct learning environment supportive of adaptive and generative learning; and general learning environment supportive of adaptive and generative learning). System organization assesses the systemic organization of the Initiative, focusing on leadership skills and criteria for effective teamwork (scoring criteria: team structure; social and leadership structures and skills; competence; and focus on innovation). Detailed scoring criteria, metrics, and results can be found in Supplementary Material.

The scores for each assessed OH aspect were plotted on to the spokes of a spider diagram to allow visualization of the overall project integration and balance between operational and infrastructure aspects. These scores were combined into quantitative OH index (OHI) and OH ratio (OHR) for a holistic appreciation. The OHI, reflecting the degree of integration of the operational aspects and infrastructure, was calculated from the area enclosed by the points when plotted onto de spider diagram according to the following equation:

$$OHI = \frac{\begin{cases} (ScP \times ScT) + (ScL \times ScP) + (ScS \times ScL) + (ScO \times ScS) \\ + (ScW \times ScO) + (ScT \times ScW) \end{cases}}{6}$$

where ScP is the score obtained in OH planning, ScT is the score obtained in OH thinking, ScL is the score obtained in OH learning, ScS is the score obtained in OH Sharing, ScO is the score from systemic organization, and ScW is the score obtained in OH working.

The OHR, reflecting the balance between operations and infrastructure, was calculated dividing the area enclosed by the points associated with OH operations by that associated with OH infrastructure, according to the following equation:

$$OHR = \frac{\left(\frac{ScO \times ScW^{2}}{ScO + ScW}\right) + (ScW + ScT) + (ScT + ScP) + \left(\frac{ScP^{2} \times ScL}{ScP + ScL}\right)}{\left(\frac{ScP \times ScL^{2}}{ScP + ScL}\right) + (ScL + ScS) + (ScS + ScO) + \left(\frac{ScO^{2} \times ScW}{ScO + ScW}\right)}.$$

The OH-ness evaluation was preceded by the system identification considering the OTC as a subsystem and the outline of the expected outcome based on the TOC of the Initiative, as proposed by the NEOH evaluation framework. The proposed quali-quantitative evaluation of OH-ness, also in combination with other evaluation approaches (e.g., a process evaluation or a cost–benefit evaluation) enables the detection of strengths and weaknesses of the Initiative. The combination of the six OH characteristics in single quantitative OHI and OHR associated with visual images contributes to objectivity when considering two or more OH Initiatives, although an optimal range for OHI, and not a higher value, may be indicative of a "better" OH Initiative (5).

The scope of the evaluation and delimitation of the system are considered pivotal for the outcome of the evaluation. The rationale behind this case study and the application of the evaluation framework were not to ascertain whether an already fully established and implemented Initiative meets OH characteristics, but rather to ensure that a newly started Initiative will achieve this on the longer term, by correcting its design on the way. The evaluation type was process self-evaluation. Three internal evaluators conducted the evaluation, and three external evaluators completed a general review of the evaluation. Data and information gathering relied mainly on focus group discussions and project documents.

RESULTS

Identification of the System and TOC

The system includes the OTC (OH Initiative) as a subsystem operating within the system, aiming at surveillance of taeniasis and cysticercosis, impacting on human, animal, and also environmental health.

System boundaries are determined by the following considerations:

- (i) Cysticercosis is emerging in European non-endemic countries, affecting humans, pigs, and environmental surroundings. Unawareness of disease risk, communicability, and costs is recognized. The Initiative is being set at national level, but the results may be valuable at European and International levels. These elements allow the identification of main geographical, life, and knowledge dimensions of the system.
- (ii) The disease (NCC) may be asymptomatic for long periods of time and may be associated with long-term sequela and disability. It can be acquired in foreign endemic countries, and human tapeworm carriers are usually asymptomatic,

thus favoring transmission. Any changes within the system will require years, all this allowing the identification of the main time dimension of the system and adding complexity to knowledge, life, and management dimensions.

(iii) The disease is preventable. However, there is no established surveillance for human disease, although it exists for other communicable diseases, and surveillance performs deficiently for animal disease. Hence, the importance legislative dimension of the system. The existing surveillance framework is disciplinary and sectorial in nature, cysticercosis successful surveillance and control requiring networking between actors and stakeholders at different organizational and operational levels. It brings together public health and veterinary authorities, academia, laboratories and hospitals, and medical and veterinary practitioners. These elements allow the identification of legislative and networking dimensions, also reinforcing management dimensions. A possible long-term impact on economy needs to be taken into account (economic dimension).

The actors and stakeholders are Human Health Directorate, Animal and Food Directorate, human and veterinary health academic institutions, public health and health care-providing institutions (hospitals and primary care facilities), practitioners in human and animal health, and laboratories in human and animal health. Stakeholders also include the community, patients, and political decision-makers.

The TOC for this case study is the awareness and knowledge on the epidemiology of cysticercosis in Portugal (Figure 1). In European countries, namely, Portugal, where basic sanitation and food chain quality control have long been achieved and consolidated, disease can be controlled and eradicated by efficient and correct identification and treatment of human tapeworm carriers. This can be achieved through an integrated human and animal health surveillance system that combines passive and active surveillance activities. Ecological and environmental variables favoring transmission are considered within these activities and subsequent intervention. The enhanced networking, knowledge, and results will allow greater collaboration with health systems at international level and the adoption of preventive measures, guiding future more informed and productive research and control solutions in a global space. Moreover, it will be of interest for national and European governments and policy makers.

Cysticercosis surveillance being an ongoing process at early implementation, only expected outcomes are outlined.



Disciplinary outcomes include the following: (i) disease awareness and determinants definition; (ii) disease burden (frequency, severity, health status, etc.); (iii) tapeworm carriers detected; and (iv) effective tapeworm carriers' treatments. Interdisciplinary outcomes are based on the Initiative innovation allowing for reporting practices, generation of new sources of data and networks, also creating a favorable environment for developing new operational projects, research projects, and national and international networking and collaboration. Also, the development of guidelines concerning case diagnosis, epidemiological case contacts' survey, and treatment is an interdisciplinary outcome. The evolving trans-sectorial and transparency at different levels and hierarchies within the system as well as the expected increased interest in OH approaches for solving complex health problems are OH outcomes of the Initiative. Moreover, innovation is brought by introducing a new model for control of a neglected disease in European settings, involving changing the disease control paradigm.

OH-ness

The OH index was 0.31. Its OHR is 1.98. The results were depicted in a spider diagram with the surface area and shape illustrating the degree of OH implementation and the balance between the operational and the supporting means (**Figure 2**). The operational levels of the Initiative are the main strengths, namely, OH thinking and OH working, indicating a comprehensive multidimensional approach and transdisciplinarity. On the other hand, weaknesses



in the supporting infrastructure, namely, OH sharing, team structure, and organizational learning were observed.

One Health thinking score was 0.75. Eight different dimensions were considered: space, time, life, knowledge, and network were considered crucial dimensions and obtained the highest score (=1), followed by economy (=0.4), and the passive recognition of management and legislative dimensions (=0.2). The scorings of the considered criteria were as follows: dimension coverage and balance 0.8; Initiative to environment match 0.7; integrative health approach 1.0; system features and target 0.7; sustainability and social–ecological considerations 0.8; and perspectives and TOC factors 0.4.

One Health planning score was 0.60. It was calculated according to the match between tasks, resources, and responsibilities. The scorings of the considered criteria were as follows: common aims 1.0; stakeholder and actor engagement 0.7; self-assessment and plan revisions 0.6; and individual objectives 0.4–1.

One Health working score was 0.60. The scorings of the considered criteria were as follows: broadness of the Initiative 0.8; collaboration 0.6; transdisciplinary balance 0.8; cultural and social balance 0.5; and flexibility and adaptation 0.8.

One Health sharing score was 0.35, reflecting overall data and information sharing infrastructure. The scorings of the considered criteria were as follows: general information and awareness sharing 0.3; data and information sharing 0.4; methods and results sharing 0.8; and institutional memory and resilience to change 0.1.

One Health learning score was 0.50, and it assesses the learning infrastructure. The scorings of the considered criteria were as follows: focus on adaptive and generative individual learning 0.5; focus on adaptive and generative team learning 0.7; adaptive and generative organizational learning 0.4; direct learning environment supportive of adaptive and generative learning 0.4; and general learning environment supportive of adaptive and generative learning 0.5.

Systemic organization score was 0.50, the tool focusing on leadership skills and criteria for effective teamwork. The scorings of the considered criteria were as follows: team structure 0.5; social and leadership structures and skills 0.7; competence 0.5; and focus on innovation 1.0.

DISCUSSION

The establishment of integrated surveillance programs focusing on tapeworm carriers' detection and treatment, for disease control and eradication, as the OTC program, may effectively tackle cysticercosis in industrialized countries. Adhesion to OH standards should guide surveillance program development at all stages. OH evaluation tools may play a role in certifying and guaranteeing adhesion.

In the evaluation performed, operational aspects were the main strengths (OH thinking, OH working, and OH planning) indicating a comprehensive transdisciplinary-integrated health approach, sustainability, and ecological consideration. Weakness in the infrastructure and supporting means for the Initiative (OH learning, OH sharing, and systemic organization) was detected, the most critical being related to information and data sharing and team structures. The six assessments were combined in an OHI of 0.31, reflecting the degree of integration of operational and infrastructure aspects of the Initiative, given by the proportion of the surface of the spider diagram hexagon covered (**Figure 2**). OHR was 1.98, reflecting the balance between operational and infrastructure aspects of the Initiative through its symmetry over the diagonal on the spider diagram (**Figure 2**). The optimal range for OHI and OHR has, however, not been established (5).

Considering the individual aspects assessment, the higher score was obtained for OH thinking (0.75). The Initiative is at designing and early implementation stages, the conceptualization of the Initiative and the thinking in an about the Initiative and the system being comparatively better consolidated. It has a highly integrated approach, covering diverse dimensions at differing scales and incorporating many perspectives. It aims to understand disease patterns and trends, identifying where to intervene to control disease transmission. It addresses mainly human, animal, and environmental concerns also being considered. It impacts on the tree pillars of sustainability (society, environment, and economy) although this cannot yet be captured. The knowledge resulting from the Initiative may apply internationally to countries with similar societal and epidemiological characteristics.

One Health planning aspect (0.60) analysis showed that essential stakeholders and sectorial and disciplinary actors are identified and described, but their full engagement is ongoing. The Initiative is planned to aim at sustainable health outcomes. Participating institutions from human and animal health sectors (national, regional, and local health authorities; health professionals working in human care, animal care and veterinary inspection; and academia and reference laboratory) and the formal and informal communication and networking generated are planned to achieve the aim. Planned formal and informal feedback communication loops and yearly formal reports' discussion with the national health authorities and their disclosing to other stakeholders and actors within the Initiative allow for underway corrections of the planned activities and involvement of new actors and stakeholders as needed. For each of the planned activities, according to the formulated objectives, matching of roles, responsibilities, and competencies was clearly established but resource allocation is ongoing.

One Health working (0.60) assessed the transdisciplinarity and the degree of cross-disciplinary working and leadership enabling an innovative approach to the problem. A flexible coordination between professionals coming from animal health and human health areas was developed, the environmental component being developed within these areas. The Initiative is broad and cross-sectorial, although human health and animal health sectors dominate; disciplines, methods, and scales of analysis are diverse. Disciplines involved include clinical medicine, laboratory and diagnostics, public health, and epidemiology (including field and applied epidemiology) from academic and non-academic, governmental and non-governmental fields in the human and animal health sectors. There is a reasonable degree of interaction between actors from the different disciplines. There are difficulties in enforcing the methodology of the Initiative and in the communication between governmental institutions, the Initiative not being considered a priority. The aim seemed clear to all, there were face-to-face meetings, but part of its implementation still lacks the approval of government institutions. The methodology

has been discussed with the actors and stakeholders, including the health authorities, and it has been adjusted to the work reality of each sector. Being a long-term systematic surveillance project at designing and early implementation phase, the project design can adapt to internal and external changes that may influence its implementation.

The lowest score obtained was in OH sharing (0.35). The Initiative does not yet have official mechanisms to facilitate sharing of information, although regular (annual) reports, newsletters, and workshops are to be implemented. Online and face-to-face meetings occur as deemed necessary. It uses peer-reviewed publications and conferences to share relevant data resulting in new knowledge production (4). Compliance with confidentiality and data protection issues need to be tackled since it may interfere with data sharing and accessibility. Within the Initiative, methods and results are to be discussed and shared. Institutional memory and safeguarding access to data and information in case of change are not yet organized.

Concerning OH learning infrastructure (0.50), the main focus was on adaptive and generative team learning, the team meetings consisting on information sharing, discussion, and analysis, enabling supportive decision-making and corrective approach. The Initiative aims that the stakeholders involved, namely, the health authorities and institutions, be focused on improving procedures and evolving effectively toward new intervention and approach strategies, but there is some inertia to changing more conservative disciplinary paradigms of health surveillance, even when this change is seen as advantageous and appropriate.

Systematic organization (0.50) assessed team structure, leadership, and focus. The Initiative depends on teamwork. Several teams are to be involved at different organizational and operational levels, although some teams' structure and objectives need to be further clarified. The Initiative is organized in interrelated and interdependent working packages, which may involve different sectors and disciplines from different fields of expertise within human and animal health. Disciplinarity and transdisciplinarity are being considered in team constitution that is still ongoing. Task-oriented, relationship-oriented, and change-oriented leaderships are present, although unbalanced: informal connections and face-to-face processes are privileged. The OH challenge, the mainstay of the Initiative, is translated into the scientific and developmental questions of the Initiative and the innovation in relation to the state of the knowledge.

Globally, the evaluation conducted indicates that OTC is being designed complying with OH characteristics. The Initiative introduces methodological innovation to which sectorial health authorities may not be completely receptive in practice even though considering the OH approach highly relevant on theoretical grounds. Considerable obstacles are deemed to occur; they need to be both reasoned beforehand and tackled as they arise. For instance, different governmental institutions have valuable data, potentially useful for surveillance, the data being, however, cumbersome to obtain and lacking transparency. Moreover, cysticercosis is a neglected and infrequent disease in Portugal, which may contribute to the general indifference and non-prioritization by the health authorities. However, the already available data suggest the disease burden and the social, ecological, and economic consequences along with the possibility of disease emergence may not be negligible, moreover, considering globalization and increasing human and animal mobility and trade (4, 15). The scientific community, including CYSTINET (European Network on Taeniasis/Cysticercosis), is actively urging to introduce and improve human and porcine cysticercosis surveillance and control practices in Europe (16). New knowledge concerning the national epidemiologic scenario of cysticercosis has already been produced. It was internally and externally disseminated in communications, conferences, and peer-reviewed international publications. The results produced are steps toward the mobilization and harmonization of working methodologies toward an OH model.

LIMITATIONS

The application of the NEOH evaluation framework to the ongoing design of the OTC proved challenging at times. It illustrates an innovative approach to the evaluation framework, this framework being itself pioneer in the context of OH evaluation. The timing of the evaluation allows for introduction of corrections and adjustments in the Initiative to ensure an OH-oriented implementation. However, NEOH tools require a large amount of specific data, some of it not available or feasible at the time, making the evaluation process laborious and hard to accomplish, especially considering the evaluation perspective in this case study. Information was gathered within the designing and coordinating teams that consist of elements from public health and epidemiology, medicine, and academia within human and animal health sectors. Some operational and structural aspects are still being considered and pushed forward. The engagement of actors and stakeholders is not complete. Some teams need structuring and to have their roles and tasks more clearly defined. The work is done primarily on voluntary basis or linked to other academic and non-academic institutional programs.

The scoring may be influenced by the conflict between what the Initiative will achieve if everything works out as planned and what is already achieved, namely, at infrastructure level. Even though the assessment tools seem a priori to be more suited for retrospective evaluation, the results of the evaluation provide a valuable contribution to the corrective action needed in the OH Initiative. The communication pathways and sharing mechanisms, key elements of the Initiative, need to be carefully reconsidered and reinforced before advancing further in the implementation. The same applies to team structuring, role definition, and communication between teams, at different organizational and executive levels. This feeds back into corrective action on the planning aspect, further defining and organizing the resources for each objective. Some items of learning and systemic organization should be more adequately assessed once the Initiative is fully implemented. It would be relevant to repeat full evaluation after at least 5 years of project implementation so that changes related to the organization of services, information systems, and institutional relationship can be identified, deeper knowledge has been produced, mechanisms for data information sharing have been implemented, and learning aspects can be effectively recognized.

The NEOH evaluation framework anchors on the system theory and combines descriptive and qualitative assessment with a semiquantitative scoring for the evaluation of the degree and structural balance of OH-ness, the individual analysis of the six assessment tools being also valuable. Putting the Initiative into its context, as a subsystem within the system, allowed a more complete understanding of the Initiative, its relevance, and the impact pathways. The completion of the assessment tools may be subject to bias toward the perception of a particular evaluator; furthermore, considering that this was a self-evaluation process. The review of the scoring criteria by several others evaluators, both internal and external and from different disciplines, helped to address this bias. Summarizing the six assessed OH aspects in a single quantitative and visual element, the OHI and OHR, is attractive as an objective evaluation result in itself and for comparing different Initiatives. Its meaning or interpretation, however, is not yet well defined. A higher OHI does not necessarily indicate a better OH Initiative, so it is difficult to draw conclusions of the results of this case study comparing to others (5). However, this case study is one in a group of case studies, providing the first data on OHI and OHR for various contexts and OH Initiatives. Data of the evaluation framework data from this case study will be compared with other case studies during validation of the framework and in creating benchmarks in the future. Complementary to OH evaluation, conventional evaluation models need to be considered, namely, process evaluation and cost-benefit evaluation, and will provide data to confront with OH-ness evaluation and will provide more detailed analysis on the surveillance planning, implementation and cost-benefit.

Considering the case study presented, NEOH evaluation framework comes forth as an interesting tool also to guide the design of OH Initiatives. In this perspective, operational aspects (OH thinking, OH planning, and OH working) are more tangible to assess. However, infrastructure aspects tools, less applicable, may display relevant information that if disregarded will compromise successful implementation of the Initiative, considering the OH goal.

Evaluation results enable redirecting of the Initiative toward a more OH-oriented perspective. Evaluation results can, moreover, contribute to (i) develop shared guidance and recommendations for surveillance, intervention, prevention, and control of cysticercosis; (ii) be used on Animal and Public Health policy and decision at regional and national level; and (iii) provide insight and an example on how to manage a non-notifiable neglected zoonosis in a European country.

CONCLUSION

The taeniasis and cysticercosis health challenge in industrialized countries, namely, Portugal among other European countries, urges OH solutions. This case study explores the reasoning behind the taeniasis- and cysticercosis-integrated surveillance challenge, within the United Nations 2030 agenda, considering the added value of OH for health and welfare in an ecological perspective.

It illustrates the successful application of the NEOH evaluation framework to the ongoing design of OTC in Portugal as a means to ensure adhesion to OH standards. Reflective and corrective action to strengthen team structure, beyond the human health and animal health sector, and communication and information sharing mechanisms is needed, therefore amplifying and clarifying the real scope of the OH concept. Health authorities' increased awareness is needed for the non-negligible health, social, ecological, and economic issues associated with the disease to further fuel effective sectorial collaboration, networking, and transparency. The institutions need reshaping to better facilitate transdisciplinary processes, promoting a health (human, animal, and environmental)centered approach. The use of the evaluation framework to guide OH Initiatives design requires that those involved in the process are comfortable with systems thinking to approach complex and dynamic structures. Some items of the assessment tools, namely, the infrastructure tools, may not be applicable at designing stages even though the attempt to complete them enforces the feedback loop leading to reconsideration or amendment of planning issues or other operational aspects. In future, this may evolve toward adjustments or adaptation of the framework to different evaluation contexts, or else, an evaluation framework-based comprehensive OH checklist to guide project development. Further context-specific research will help to clarify and better understand the strengths and weaknesses of the tool in the different settings.

In conclusion, the case study highlights and supports OH assessment also prospectively, that is, guiding and guaranteeing its planning, designing, and implementation in an OH-oriented perspective. Focusing on a systems approach, the use of this tool for prospective and retrospective evaluation and monitoring may prove a valuable addition in future health programs, strategies, and policies.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AF and MV conceived and designed the work and drafted the manuscript. AF, MV, and JT carried out the evaluation. AC, DM, and SG contributed to revising the evaluation. All the authors contributed to the analysis and interpretation of data, participated in the revision for important intellectual content, approved the final version to be published, and agreed to be accountable for the content of the work.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was conducted within the framework of NEOH, the Network for Evaluation of One Health (NEOH) COST Action TD 1404, and CYSTINET, the European Network on Taeniasis/ Cysticercosis COST Action TD 1302.

FUNDING

This article is based upon work from COST Action Network for Evaluation of One Health, TD1404, supported by COST (European Cooperation in Science and Technology).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at http://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh.2018.00074/ full#supplementary-material.

REFERENCES

- Fabiani S, Bruschi F. Neurocysticercosis in Europe: still a public health concern not only for imported cases. *Acta Trop* (2013) 128(1):18–26. doi:10.1016/j. actatropica.2013.06.020
- Kingsley P, Taylor EM. One Health: competing perspectives in an emerging field. *Parasitology* (2017) 144(1):7–14. doi:10.1017/S0031182015001845
- 3. White AC, Weller PF, Baron EL. In: Post T, editor. *Epidemiology, Transmission and Prevention of Cysticercosis.* Waltham, MA: UpToDate (2016). Available from: http://www.uptodate.com (accessed September 12, 2017)
- Vilhena M, Fonseca AG, Dias S, Marques da Silva J, Torgal J. Human cysticercosis in Portugal: long gone or still contemporary? *Epidemiol Infect* (2017) 145(2):329–33. doi:10.1017/S0950268816002284
- Ruegg SR, Nielsen L, Buttigieg S, Santa M, Aragrande M, Canali M, et al. A systems approach to evaluate One Health Initiatives. *Front Vet Sci* (2018) 5:23. doi:10.3389/fvets.2018.00023
- Rüegg SR, McMahon BJ, Häsler B, Esposito R, Nielsen LR, Ifejika Speranza C, et al. A blueprint to evaluate One Health. *Front Public Health* (2017) 5:20. doi:10.3389/fpubh.2017.00020
- Schantz PM, Moore AC, Muñoz JL, Hartman BJ, Schaefer JA, Aron AM, et al. Neurocysticercosis in an Orthodox Jewish community in New York City. N Engl J Med (1992) 327(10):692–5. doi:10.1056/ NEJM199209033271004
- Lescano AG, Garcia HH, Gilman RH, Gavidia CM, Tsang VCW, Rodriguez S, et al. *Taenia solium* cysticercosis hotspots surrounding tapeworm carriers: clustering on human seroprevalence but not on seizures. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* (2009) 3(1):e371. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0000371
- Wardrop NA, Thomas LF, Atkinson PM, de Glanville WA, Cook EAJ, Warnae CN, et al. The influence of socio-economic, behavioural and environmental factors on *Taenia* spp. transmission in Western Kenya: evidence from a crosssectional survey in humans and pigs. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* (2015) 9(12):1–16. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0004223

- Del Brutto OH. Neurocysticercosis in Western Europe: a re-emerging disease? Acta Neurol Belg (2012) 112:335–43. doi:10.1007/s13760-012-0068-3
- 11. Ferreira M, Brito MJ, Vieira JP, Salgueiro AB, Machado MC. Neurocisticercose em idade pediátrica. *Acta Pediatr Port* (2006) 2(37):48–55.
- 12. Caeiro AF, Ramilo I, Diniz-costa T. Doença inflamatória pélvica um desfecho inesperado. *Acta Obstet Ginecol Port* (2015) 9(1):83–6.
- Veiga A, Matas A, Gabriel J, Martins MR. Conus terminallis neurocysticercosis: a rare cause of lumbar radiculopathy. *J Neurol Neurophysiol* (2015) 6:265. doi:10.4172/2155-9562.1000265
- 14. Januario G, Fonseca L, Novais G, Correia M, Iraneta A, Roque P, et al. Neurocisticercose, uma série de 15 casos clínicos. 31º Congresso da Sociedade Portuguesa de Neurocirurgia. Porto (Portugal): Sociedade Portuguesa de Neurocirurgia (2015).
- Zammarchi L, Strohmeyer M, Bartalesi F, Bruno E, Muñoz J, Buonfrate D, et al. Epidemiology and management of cysticercosis and *Taenia solium* taeniasis in Europe, systematic review 1990–2011. *PLoS One* (2013) 8(7):e69537. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0069537
- Devleesschauwer B, Allepuz A, Dermauw V, Johansen MV, Laranjo-González M, Smit GSA, et al. *Taenia solium* in Europe: still endemic? *Acta Trop* (2017) 165:96–9. doi:10.1016/j.actatropica.2015.08.006

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Fonseca, Torgal, de Meneghi, Gabriël, Coelho and Vilhena. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





A One Health Evaluation of the Southern African Centre for Infectious Disease Surveillance

Marie C. E. Hanin¹, Kevin Queenan¹, Sara Savic², Esron Karimuribo³, Simon R. Rüegg⁴ and Barbara Häsler^{1*}

¹ Department of Pathobiology and Population Sciences, Veterinary Epidemiology Economics and Public Health Group, Royal Veterinary College, London, United Kingdom, ² Scientific Veterinary Institute Novi Sad, Novi Sad, Serbia, ³ Sokoine University of Agriculture, Morogoro, Tanzania, ⁴ Vetsuisse Faculty, University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

Rooted in the recognition that emerging infectious diseases occur at the interface of human, animal, and ecosystem health, the Southern African Centre for Infectious Disease Surveillance (SACIDS) initiative aims to promote a trans-sectoral approach to address better infectious disease risk management in five countries of the Southern African Development Community. Nine years after SACIDS' inception, this study aimed to evaluate the program by applying a One Health (OH) evaluation framework developed by the Network for Evaluation of One Health (NEOH). The evaluation included a description of the context and the initiative, illustration of the theory of change, identification of outputs and outcomes, and assessment of the One Healthness. The latter is the sum of characteristics that defines an integrated approach and includes OH thinking, OH planning, OH working, sharing infrastructure, learning infrastructure, and systemic organization. The protocols made available by NEOH were used to develop data collection protocols and identify the study design. The framework relies on a mixed methods approach by combining a descriptive and qualitative assessment with a semi-quantitative evaluation (scoring). Data for the analysis were gathered during a document review, in group and individual interviews and in an online survey. Operational aspects (i.e., OH thinking, planning, and working) were found to be balanced overall with the highest score in the planning dimension, whereas the infrastructure (learning infrastructure, systemic organization, and sharing infrastructure) was high for the first two dimensions, but low for sharing. The OH index calculated was 0.359, and the OH ratio calculated was 1.495. The program was praised for its great innovative energy in a difficult landscape dominated by poor infrastructure and its ability to create awareness for OH and enthuse people for the concept; training of people and networking. Shortcomings were identified regarding the balance of contributions, funds and activities across member countries in the South, lack of data sharing, unequal allocation of resources, top-down management structures, and limited horizontal collaboration. Despite these challenges, SACIDS is perceived to be an effective agent in tackling infectious diseases in an integrated manner.

Keywords: Southern African Centre for Infectious Disease Surveillance, One Health, evaluation, capacity, surveillance

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Aurelie Binot, Centre de coopération internationale en recherche agronomique pour le développement (CIRAD), France

Reviewed by:

Louise Taylor, Global Alliance for Rabies Control, United States Bouda Vosough Ahmadi, Scotland's Rural College, United Kingdom

> ***Correspondence:** Barbara Häsler bhaesler@rvc.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Veterinary Epidemiology and Economics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 03 November 2017 Accepted: 16 February 2018 Published: 16 March 2018

Citation:

Hanin MCE, Queenan K, Savic S, Karimuribo E, Rüegg SR and Häsler B (2018) A One Health Evaluation of the Southern African Centre for Infectious Disease Surveillance. Front. Vet. Sci. 5:33. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00033

Abbreviations: CoP, community of practice; ICT, information and communication technologies; NEOH, Network for Evaluation of One Health; OH, One Health; OHAE, One Health Analytical Epidemiology; OHMB, One Health Molecular Biology; RGMA, Research Governance, Management, and Administration; SADC, Southern African Development Community; SACIDS, Southern African Centre for Infectious Disease Surveillance.

INTRODUCTION

Emerging infectious diseases have always been, and are still today, a major burden for human populations (1). This burden is particularly high in low- and middle-income countries (2), and Africa is considered the continent to suffer the most from infectious diseases (3) and to have the least capacities to control them. More than 60% of human emerging infectious diseases are zoonotic, meaning they can be transmitted from animals to humans or vice versa (4). Our modern societies and new ways of life are changing the dynamics of zoonotic diseases transmission (5). Deforestation, international trade, hunting, or ecotourism are all factors that increase the likelihood of contacts between humans and wildlife facilitating potential spillovers of zoonotic pathogens from a wildlife reservoir to humans (6, 7). In addition, pathogens' and vectors' transmission cycles and ability to spread and adapt depend on the environment in which they evolve. Tackling emerging infectious diseases requires the study of environmental factors that lead to the modification of ecosystems, such as climate change, biodiversity loss, or other anthropogenic causes (1, 8).

Rooted in this understanding that emerging infectious diseases occur at the interface of human health, animal health, and ecosystem health (4), the Southern African Centre for Infectious Disease Surveillance (SACIDS) initiative aims to promote a trans-sectoral approach to address better infectious disease risk management in Southern African countries. SACIDS' vision was outlined in 2008 after a series of meetings and workshops held between five Southern African Development Community (SADC) countries and international partners. As defined at the inception of the initiative, SACIDS' mission is to "harness innovation in science and technology to improve Southern Africa's capacity (including human, financial, and physical) to detect, identify, and monitor infectious diseases of humans, animals, plants, and their interactions to better manage the risk posed by them" (9). The creation of SACIDS was in line with the gradual recognition of the One Health (OH) concept, which gained momentum at the beginning of the twenty-first century following the highly pathogenic avian influenza outbreaks (10, 11). Although it is hard to reduce this transdisciplinary approach to one definition, the description made by the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations gives a good idea of the OH principles: "A collaborative, international, cross-sectorial, multidisciplinary mechanism to address threats and reduce risks of detrimental infectious diseases at the animal-human-ecosystem interface" (11).

Nine years after its establishment, the SACIDS program benefited from an external evaluation. The added value arising from integration and its transdisciplinary approach was highlighted in the evaluation report (12). However, OH is still a relatively new concept, and few studies have been implemented to evaluate systematically OH initiatives (13). The Cooperation on Science and Technology Action Network for Evaluation of One Health (NEOH, http://neoh.onehealthglobal.net/, accessed April 17, 2017), is working toward the establishment of a science-based evaluation protocol to enable quantitative and qualitative evaluation of various OH activities. This protocol aims to provide an assessment of the strength of an OH initiative by confronting the OH process characteristics of operations (thinking, planning, and working) and supporting infrastructure (systemic organization, learning, and sharing) with achieved changes and comparing it to outcomes generated by the initiative (14).

With a focus on the surveillance of infectious diseases, this study aimed to evaluate the OH capacity building program SACIDS by using the framework developed by NEOH. The data used for the evaluation were collected from different SACIDS stakeholders and actors in Tanzania, Zambia, Mozambique, Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC), and the UK using different data collection approaches. We present the context in which SACIDS evolves, describe the theory of change and the outcomes of the initiative and the assessment of the different OH dimensions of SACIDS.

METHODS

General Overview

The evaluation questions for this study were as follows: *What is the context within which SACIDS operates and how does it link to this context? What is the SACIDS theory of change? What are the outputs and impact achieved? How can the different OH dimensions in SACIDS be characterized? Which elements were particularly strong and which could be improved to ensure that longer-term impacts can be realized?*

The Southern African Centre for Infectious Disease Surveillance was interested in supporting this evaluation to get an assessment of its OH dimensions and to understand which elements were working well and which ones could potentially be improved in the future. To achieve this, we conducted a process evaluation that was based on the One Healthness (OHness) framework from NEOH (14) and described the outcomes achieved by the program.

The protocols made available by NEOH (14) were used to develop data collection protocols and identify the study design. The NEOH framework relies on a mixed methods approach by combining a descriptive and qualitative assessment with a semiquantitative evaluation (scoring) for the evaluation of OHness with an OH index (OHI), while including conventional metrics on the outcomes' side. The descriptive part is based on systems thinking.

Data Collection

The data collection methods included a document review, faceto-face group and individual interviews, phone interviews, and an online survey. Data were collected between March and July 2017 during visits to Zambia and Tanzania as well as interviews conducted from the UK.

Documents for the document review were requested and obtained from SACIDS Executive Director and secretariat. They were asked to share any documentation including proposals, reports, presentations, peer-reviewed and lay publications that described the SACIDS program and journey from its inception to the end of the Phase 1 funding (i.e., 2008–2017).

Following the document review, two questionnaires were developed to gather insights and perspectives from SACIDS members. The first one was a questionnaire to be administered in face-to-face interviews to collect data on OH data sharing infrastructures, OH planning, and OH working components of SACIDS. The main goal of this questionnaire was to enable discussion between the participants and to capture the main issues on which people agreed or disagreed. The detailed question guide can be found in Table S1 in Supplementary Material. Target respondents were SACIDS members from all SACIDS active countries (i.e., Tanzania, Zambia, the DRC, Mozambique, South Africa, and the UK) with long-standing SACIDS experience, i.e., people who had been part of the program for at least 4 years. Moreover, different levels of seniority were aimed for with invited participants spanning postgraduate students, postdocs, community of practice (CoP) leaders, initiators, advisors, and management board members. The questionnaire was used in two group interviews in Morogoro, Tanzania with five SACIDS members, and in Lusaka, Zambia, with six SACIDS members. Moreover, individual interviews were conducted with the SACIDS Executive Director and a SACIDS smart partner in the UK (smart partnerships in SACIDS are partnerships with institutions that can provide specific input and expertise to the program) plus a representative from Mozambique. No partner from South Africa was interviewed due to resource constraints. The decision to interview people in either group or individual interviews, respectively, was made solely on practical considerations and the availability of people. People who could not be met personally were interviewed using the online application Skype 7.52; one person in the DRC and one person in the UK were interviewed in this way. The complete question guide for the personal interviews was too long to apply in the same detail to all respondents. Consequently, the interviewers allowed more time for the questions that the respondents seemed to be most knowledgeable about. Some of the questions on the management of SACIDS were skipped when participants (mostly MSc or PhD students) claimed that they did not know how exactly SACIDS was managed. When there was an unresolved disagreement in a group interview, the interviewer noted down both opinions.

The second questionnaire was an online survey in the software Google Forms to collect data on the dimensions of OH learning and OH thinking (Table S2 in Supplementary Material). The survey was widely distributed in the SACIDS community based on an email list shared by the SACIDS secretariat and followed-up by two personal reminders by email. The target respondents were the same as for the personal interviews. Apart from the online approach, the same questionnaire was used with individual SACIDS members, namely, four in Tanzania, eight in Zambia, and one in the UK.

All face-to-face interviews were held in English by the first and last author, respectively. Written notes were taken during the interviews and summarized afterward. Ethical approval for the interviews and the online survey was sought from the Royal Veterinary College (RVC) and was granted by its Social Sciences Research Ethical Review Board, number URN SR2017-1002.

Data Analysis

The context, the description of the initiative, and the theory of change were derived from the document review and refined based on information gathered during the interviews with SACIDS members. Outputs and outcomes were identified during the document review and complemented by information shared by respondents during the interview and surveys. The assessment of the outputs and outcomes was descriptive only.

After the data collection was completed, the extent of the OHness was assessed by following the recommendations developed in the NEOH tools (14); all dimensions, the information collected for each element, and the scoring can be found in Table S3 in Supplementary Material. The OHness is a sum of characteristics that defines an integrated approach and includes OH thinking, OH planning, OH working, sharing infrastructure, learning infrastructure, and systemic organization (14). The understanding and capacity to use the tools was enhanced by training future evaluators in July 2016, organized by NEOH.

Metrics are described and detailed in the NEOH tools (14), and a short summary of each element is provided below. Every question was scored based on a detailed explanation of the arguments gathered during the various interviews, and the reasoning for the score was presented. Each OH characteristic was described by a final score, summarizing the question-specific scores. In the end, an OH spider diagram was constructed, and an OHI and OH ratio (OHR) calculated using the equations presented in Ref. (14).

The data collection and assessment were mainly conducted by the first and last author, respectively, based on information shared by SACIDS members and the documents reviewed. Where there was a difference in the scoring, they discussed the discrepancy, presented their arguments, and agreed on a score. A general review of the evaluation was completed by the coauthors, all external to SACIDS, but with the Tanzanian coauthor closely collaborating with the initiative.

OH Thinking

Based on the assumption that the integration of human, animal, and ecosystem health requires systems thinking and the consideration of multiple dimensions, feedback loops, and interconnectedness (14), the questions probing for system thinking relied on the match between the dimensions of the initiative and its context as well as key elements of systems thinking. Particular attention was given to the scales in different dimensions, and that the initiative reflects the context in which it operates. The score given for the quantitative evaluation of SACIDS OH thinking resulted from the mean of six different categories: (1) the balance of consideration of the different dimensions by the initiative, (2) the match between the initiative and its context, (3) the initiative's integrated approach to health, (4) the system features targeted by the initiative, (5) the initiative's considerations of sustainability and socioecological factors, and (6) the consideration of different perspectives and factors that impact on the theory of change.

OH Planning

The planning score is built on the assumption that careful planning of tasks and activities in line with the initiative's objectives and goals in an OH way necessitates careful and balanced allocation of resources to all tasks and objectives under consideration of the integrated nature of the program. Consequently, this score includes the description of (1) common aims, (2) stakeholder and actor engagement, (3) self-assessment and plan revisions; and (4) matching of planning and resources for all objectives.

OH Working

Interdisciplinary collaboration brings together people with different skills, expertise, experience, backgrounds, and often from varying epistemologies with the aim to tackle complex problems with a high societal stake that require an understanding of the human behavior (15–17). In OH, interdisciplinarity has merged with a participatory approach in the form of transdisciplinarity (17), which relies on appropriate leadership and management that is visionary, supportive, and engaging (17, 18) to create a strategic dialog, shared decision-making, and non-hierarchical relationships and allows for self-reflection, flexibility, and recursiveness (17, 19–21). These considerations were the basis for the OH working assessment, which considered (1) the breadth of the initiative, (2) collaboration, (3) transdisciplinary balance, (4) cultural and social balance, and (5) flexibility and adaptation.

Sharing Infrastructure

In a broad sense, data and information sharing is a science catalyzer (22). However, data and shared information can also stimulate progress in both mandatory and voluntary interventions, surveillance and control programs, e.g., when used for certification, open-access reporting opportunities or surveillance, and benchmarking (23). A central benefit of data sharing stems from analyzing data more comprehensively and developing further knowledge and information. In the NEOH sharing tool, the following elements were considered: (1) general information and awareness of sharing, (2) data and information sharing, (3) methods and results sharing, and (4) institutional memory/ resilience.

Learning

Learning, a change in cognition, potential behavior, or actual behavior through better knowledge and understanding, can be achieved at the individual, group, and organizational levels (24), strongly influenced by the interplay between them (25). In other words, they work together and influence each other (26). The assessment of learning was done using the individual questionnaires. Five categories were evaluated, each one being composed of two to three questions: (1) adaptive and generative individual learning, (2) adaptive and generative team learning, (3) adaptive and generative organizational learning, (4) direct learning environment supportive of adaptive and generative learning, and (5) general learning environment supportive of adaptive and generative learning. For each of the 13 questions, the score given was the mean of the answers obtained in the individual questionnaires. Then, within a category, each question was weighted depending on its importance (questions relating to generative learning had more weight than questions relating to adaptive learning, which had more weights than the ones relating to basic learning).

Systemic Organization

In many complex settings, change-oriented leadership can overcome rigid conventions, norms, and traditions by targeting leverage points in systems to modify behavior. In OH, there is also the challenge that collaboration may be dominated by one discipline, which can reduce commitment, interest, and motivation. A solution is shared/distributed leadership and governance (27) to promote engagement of all disciplines and unlock creative potential, competence, and innovation. Consequently, the selection of questions for the scoring of the systemic organization of OH initiatives involved (1) team structures, (2) social and leaderships structures and skills, (3) competence, and (4) focus and innovation.

OHI and OHR

Once all scores for the six dimensions were available, the six assessments were illustrated in a spider diagram, in which each assessment was represented by a spoke. The diagram depicts the operational aspects "OH thinking," "OH planning," and "OH working" opposed to the infrastructure for "learning," "sharing," and "systemic organization." Based on this, the OHI is computed by calculating the proportion of the surface of the hexagon covered, while the OHR is the relation of the surface covered in the top left of the diagonal to the one in the lower right (14).

EVALUATION RESULTS

Definition of the Context and the Initiative General Overview

The Southern African Centre for Infectious Disease Surveillance is a regional consortium established and operating in Tanzania, Zambia, Mozambique, DRC, and South Africa. In addition to these five countries, SACIDS also engaged smart partnerships with institutions in Kenya and in the UK.

Several drivers motivated the creation of SACIDS and the willingness to adopt an OH approach. The main argument behind SACIDS inception was the understanding that zoonotic diseases increase both the human health burden and losses of animal production. The synergy of the health and economic consequences of such diseases, amplified by the poor governance systems and civil instabilities, the lack of participatory health policies, of personnel and of resources and the need for adequate leadership, exacerbates poverty (3, 28, 29). All of these factors call for a syndemic approach to tackle infectious diseases (30) through better collaboration between human health, animal health, environmental health, and socioeconomic sectors.

In each African participating country, several institutions from the academic, government, or research sectors participate in SACIDS activities and engage various actors with human health or animal health backgrounds. Following an OH approach, the main objectives of SACIDS are to enhance institutional capacities for African-led research, to promote collaboration between veterinary, medical, and other sectors involved, and to enable better sharing of information and resources between individuals and institutions at a national, regional, and international level. To reach these objectives, SACIDS' strategy is concentrated on five pillars, described as follows: (1) to enhance the capacity of institutions for the detection, identification, and monitoring of infectious diseases of both humans and animals, in a "one medicine" framework, (2) to enhance biosafety and quality management (BQM), (3) to enhance skills through taught and distance-learning programs, (4) to enhance information and communication technologies (ICT) to support learning and disease surveillance systems, and (5) to enhance skills through research. By promoting joint efforts in education, communication, research, and disease surveillance, SACIDS is a pioneer initiative in the adoption and application of OH principles for the surveillance of infectious diseases in Southern Africa.

Description and Visual Representation of the Context

The Southern African Centre for Infectious Disease Surveillance is an initiative that exists in five countries of the SADC,¹ which has been working toward the establishment of "economic development, peace and security, and growth" since the 1980s and aimed to "enhance the standard and quality of life of the people of Southern Africa and support the socially disadvantaged through regional integration" (31). Before the establishment of SACIDS, the SADC had already promoted some linkages and network building at a regional level, which was one of the reasons to select only SADC countries to build SACIDS.

The political context in which SACIDS evolves is a legacy of the post-colonial era. The whole process of political change in Africa took decades from the 1950s to the 1990s, and Southern African

countries were late in this transition. This has been an obstacle to the implementation of disease control programs in these countries. Political instabilities remain a challenge to long term policy planning, as in the DRC where the rapid turnover of governments makes it difficult to create solid links between individuals or institutions. Regarding capacity for the surveillance of infectious diseases, only South Africa had adequate tools and expertise to monitor and control human and animal emerging infectious diseases. The country had the ability, the infrastructures, and the capacity to guide the other countries that were too weak to match globally agreed standards.

Figure 1 gives an overview of the context within which SACIDS was developed. This provides a general impression of the interactions happening at a national level in the participating countries between human health, animal health, and environmental sectors and between governmental and academic institutions. Although each country has its own specificities, the overall academic and government structures used to shape SACIDS at the national level were found to be similar: a ministry of health, a ministry of agriculture/livestock, a government structure for the environment and/or the wildlife, national institutes for research in human and animal health, and universities with both schools of human medicine and veterinary medicine. Tanzania and Zambia already had some postgraduate programs at their universities and had started to create some connections between veterinarians and human doctors. In Mozambique and DRC, a crucial lack of institutional capacity was noted, with no scientific PhD programs in place in Mozambique and no veterinary school in Kinshasa, the capital city of DRC.



¹The SADC comprises 15 countries: Angola, Botswana, DRC, Lesotho, Madagascar, Malawi, Mauritius, Mozambique, Namibia, Seychelles, South Africa, Swaziland, United Republic of Tanzania, Zambia, and Zimbabwe.

Description of the OH Initiative in Relation to Its Context

The Southern African Centre for Infectious Disease Surveillance was created as a consortium in 2008 under the guidance of its present Executive Director. It was guided by two international foresight studies that called for action against infectious diseases (32, 33). Hence, it arose from the recognition that a majority of emerging infectious diseases were zoonotic, and that joint efforts from the human health and animal health sectors were necessary to control them effectively. As described in the first evaluation report of SACIDS, the initiative's main goal is "to enhance institutional capacities for intersectoral research approaches to tackling infectious disease priorities through 'One-Health' approaches in both universities and research institutes across southern Africa" (34).

From 2008 to 2016, SACIDS received funding from different organizations including the Wellcome Trust foundation, Google, the Rockefeller Foundation, the African Development Bank, and the International Research Centre. SACIDS was selected by the Wellcome Trust to be one of the seven consortiums that constitute the African Institutions Initiatives, which aim to improve research capacity and African-led research through networked approaches in 18 African countries and 51 institutions. SACIDS resulted in the partnership of five Southern African countries: Tanzania, Zambia, DRC, Mozambique, and South Africa. In total, 18 institutions engaged with SACIDS from the beginning, namely, in Tanzania: Sokoine University of Agriculture (SUA) in Morogoro, Muhimbili University of Health and Allied Sciences in Dar es Salaam, National Institute for Medical Research in Dar es Salaam, and Tanzania Veterinary Laboratory Agency in Dar es Salaam; Mozambique: Eduardo Mondlane University (UEM) in Maputo, Institute of Agricultural Research (Ministry of Agriculture) in Maputo, and National Health Institute (Ministry of Health) in Maputo; DRC: University of Kinshasa, Central Veterinary Laboratory in Kinshasa, and University of Lubumbashi; Zambia: University of Zambia (UNZA) in Lusaka, Central Veterinary Research Institute in Lusaka, and Tropical Diseases Research Institute in Ndola; and South Africa: National Institute for Communicable Diseases in Johannesburg, Veterinary Institute of the Agricultural Research Council in Pretoria, University of Pretoria, and Stellenbosch University. Each country therefore had at least one university, one human health, and one animal health institute engaged with SACIDS, which reflected the consortium's aim to encourage collaboration between human and animal health sectors and to promote scientific training at a postgraduate level.

The Southern African Centre for Infectious Disease Surveillance also engaged with external partner institutions that are not directly part of SACIDS but which collaborated on some specific research projects, helped on the establishment of training courses and gave external advice to the initiative over time. The main partners are the International Livestock Research Institute, Nairobi, Kenya; the RVC, London, UK; the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine (LSHTM), London, UK; and the London International Development Centre (LIDC), London, UK.

Figure 2 shows the effect of the SACIDS program within its context. Through the establishment of coordinating structures at

the national level, SACIDS created channels of communication between institutions from different sectors and enabled better collaboration between them. SACIDS aimed to tackle the existing silo structure and to create horizontal links between sectors both at the government and academic level. SACIDS also launched postgraduate training classes and encouraged research on emerging and vector-borne diseases, bacterial diseases (including foodborne diseases and antimicrobial resistance), viral diseases of food security importance, and cross-cutting OH sciences, which should not only have a positive effect on the control of emerging infectious diseases in Southern Africa but also create interdisciplinary networks among students—an important foundation for future collaboration between sectors. SACIDS' secretariat, based in Tanzania, acts as the principal coordinator between the participating countries and with SACIDS' external partners.

At the regional level, SACIDS' management structure is established according to inter-institutional agreements. At the beginning, SACIDS had an Executive Director assisted by two Deputy Directors of which one was responsible for animal health (from Tanzania) and another responsible for human health (from South Africa). Since 2016, through World Bank funding, SACIDS has been running two African Centres of Excellence (ACEs), namely, one in Tanzania at SUA and one in Zambia at the UNZA. Both ACEs report to SACIDS through the SACIDS Governing Board. Each ACE is led by a Centre Leader with a deputy. The Deputy Centre Leader in Tanzania is the same person as the SACIDS Executive Director. Moreover, SACIDS has a secretariat, composed (apart from the Executive Director) of a program operation manager, a "training and research support officer" and a finance unit (Figure 3). The coordination at the academic level is operated by three people: one in charge of the "training and research" section and two in charge of "innovation and technology development." To promote transdisciplinary research and capacity building at the regional scale, SACIDS created CoPs that encourage collaboration between institutions within or between member countries. Each CoP is led by two people, one from the medical side and one from the veterinary side, with the two leaders coming from different institutions and sometimes from different countries. The CoPs are organized around six research themes: (i) diseases of economic and food security importance, e.g., foot and mouth disease; (ii) emerging viral diseases, e.g., Ebola; (iii) bacterial zoonoses including food-borne diseases, e.g., tuberculosis; (iv) climate-dependent, vector-borne diseases, e.g., Rift Valley Fever; (v) bacterial rare diseases, e.g., plague; and (vi) cross-cutting OH issues, e.g., surveillance (which often require integrating different sciences). These communities of practice are composed of supervisors and mentors, postdocs, PhDs, and MSc students. Through research, everyone within a CoP should have the opportunity to interact and exchange with the other people of the CoP, to learn from them and to be a mentor for someone else.

At the national level, national coordination bodies are in place to ensure communication between the secretariat of SACIDS and the member institutions in the country (**Figure 4**). These structures, called the "NatCIDS," are composed of at least two people, one with an animal health background and the other with a human health background. These NatCIDS are the relay to enable



discussions between SACIDS and national stakeholders, which can facilitate the application of government decisions where necessary. They also have an important role in the communication between SACIDS countries, to facilitate the exchange of students for attending an MSc, PhD, or postdoc in another country.

Different funders provide funding at the level of the SACIDS secretariat for core functions for forum, coordination, communication, advocacy, and resource mobilization, among others. Each CoP is expected to mobilize their own resources and pay into the secretariat; in exchange they receive administration support from the SACIDS secretariat.

Theory of Change and Outcomes of the Initiative

Theory of Change

In the first years of SACIDS, a model for a theory of change was elaborated. Building a theory of change is valuable for the implementation of long-term projects as it helps planning, implementing, and monitoring the required steps to reach the desired outcomes. SACIDS theory of change's diagram, presented in **Figure 5** [designed from Ref. (34)], shows the initial inputs received by the initiative in terms of funding, infrastructures, institutional expertise, management structure, and program strategy.

The process phase reveals the tools that SACIDS planned to use to create change in the African research and academic setting in which it evolves. This involved mainly network promotion,

creation of communities of practice and teaching courses, and improvement of infrastructures and governance for research. The OH outputs that should arise from this process are core components to shape a compliant environment to conduce high-quality research at a regional level. From these, outputs should result in short-term expected outcomes, mainly structured in three categories: Expected Scientific Skills outcomes, Expected Research Governance, Management, and Administration outcomes, and Expected Infrastructures outcomes. In the long term, other outcomes and impacts on the socioeconomic sphere are expected to result from the SACIDS initiative. In the future, SACIDS initiative aims to lead to sustainable, well-funded, and wellmanaged African-led research, strong international scientific collaboration, as well as better consideration for research findings in policy adoption. However, these outcomes and impacts are for the moment only foreseen, and, at the time of the evaluation, SACIDS was still in the process of implementing changes at the institutional level and produce concrete outputs in the participating countries.

Measured or Estimated Outputs of SACIDS

At the time of this evaluation, SACIDS was still in early stages of program development; it has a long-term planning horizon and wants to continue building capacity for many years to come. Consequently, the timeframe to achieve outcomes and socioeconomic impacts as illustrated in **Figure 5** do not fall within this first phase of SACIDS but remain open to achievements in the future. Nevertheless, SACIDS produced a broad range of



outputs over the past 9 years. The key milestones put in place by SACIDS are presented for the main SACIDS' objectives (**Table 1**), namely, enhancing BQM, enhancing ICT to support learning and disease surveillance systems, enhancing skills through taught and distance-learning programs, and enhancing skills through taught and distance-learning programs. The data used for developing **Table 1** were extracted from yearly progress reports produced by SACIDS for the Wellcome Trust foundation.

Evaluation of the OHness of SACIDS OH Thinking

The overall OH thinking score was 0.56 with a wide diversity of scores for the different aspects, ranging from 0.4 for system features and targets as well as perspectives and TOC factors, to 1 for its perceived integrated approach of health (**Figure 6**).

OH Planning

The overall OH planning score was 0.8 with some variation across scores for the different aspects, ranging from 0.4 for Objective 2, i.e., *enhance BQM*, to 1 for Objective 5, i.e., *enhance skills through research apprenticeships* (**Figure 7**). Objective 1 was not scored because of a lack of information for this objective.

OH Working

The overall OH working score was 0.6 with some variation across scores for the different aspects, ranging from 0.4 for

broadness of initiative and collaboration, respectively, to 0.7 for cultural and social balance as well as transdisciplinary balance (**Figure 8**).

Sharing Infrastructure

The overall score for sharing information and data was 0.2 with little variation across scores for the different aspects, ranging from 0.2 for institutional memory/resilience to 0.4 for methods and results sharing (**Figure 9**).

Learning Infrastructure

The overall OH learning score was 0.74 with very balanced scores of either 0.7 or 0.8 for all aspects considered (**Figure 10**).

Systemic Organization

The overall score for the systemic organization in SACIDS was 0.8 with some variation across scores for the different aspects, ranging from 0.7 for social and leadership structures and skills as well as competence, to 1 for focus and innovation (**Figure 11**).

OH Index

Figure 12 depicts OH thinking, planning, and working opposed to learning infrastructures, sharing infrastructure, and systemic organization. The operational aspects on the left of the diagonal are opposed to the infrastructure on the right. Apart from a low



Institute for Communicable Diseases; VIAR, Veterinary Institute of the Agricultural Research Council; LIDC, London International Development Centre; RVC, Royal Veterinary College; LSHTM, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine; ILRI, International Livestock Research Institute; U., University.

sharing score, the two sides appear to be quite balanced. The OHI calculated was 0.359, and the OHR was 1.495.

Pros and Cons in the Implementation of the Initiative

Southern African Centre for Infectious Disease Surveillance program participants stated that the main advantage of the program was its great innovative energy in a difficult landscape dominated by poor infrastructure and its ability to create awareness for OH and enthuse people for the concept. Another major positive observation was SACIDS ability to train a range of people in OH thinking and working who can be local enablers and have the skills to facilitate progress and development. They were described to be the people who understand that changes are necessary and can act as local champions to drive OH research, capacity building, and development considering the important pillars of OH.

The main shortcoming described by various SACIDS members was the imbalance across the countries involved in the South. Several people commented on the success of SACIDS in Tanzania and to some extent in Zambia and South Africa, but the DRC and Mozambique seemed to have been left behind in the process and struggled to make the same progress as other countries. Other points of criticisms raised related to a lack of data sharing, unequal allocation of resources, top-down management structures, and limited horizontal collaboration.

DISCUSSION

Discussion of Evaluation Methodology

The evaluation and data collection process were well received by SACIDS participants. Both the SACIDS management and the secretariat were forthcoming in the engagement of respondents and supportive of the evaluation. All participants interviewed shared information, feedback, and opinions generously and appeared to answer questions honestly and trustfully. However, it was difficult to engage with more junior researchers in SACIDS, as they were busy with their projects or did not fulfill the inclusion criteria. The support of the SACIDS Executive Director was crucial in engaging SACIDS members and maximizing participation. Thus, the study has benefited from good representation of opinions across all SACIDS countries, apart from South Africa


for which we were not able to arrange an interview within the available time frame.

Given that this was an external evaluation, the collation of documents, document review, preparation of questionnaires, and interviews were time-consuming activities. The complete question guide for the personal interviews was too long and too detailed to apply in full for all respondents. The interviewers therefore needed some flexibility in the way the questions were selected and asked, according to the specific circumstances (in particular background, knowledge, and expertise) of the interviewee. If respondents did not have enough knowledge on a specific topic, the interviewers moved on to the next question. Where respondents had ample in-depth insights and knowledge, the interviewers allowed more time for their answers. Consequently, there was an imbalance in the time spent on individual questions per interview, but the interviewers made an effort to achieve an overall balance across all interviewees.

The systematic approach developed by NEOH allowed insights into a wide range of aspects in a structured way, which may otherwise have been missed. Interviewees volunteered a broad range of information to open questions, often reflecting on what was asked before providing in-depth answers. Often, people gave lengthy and detailed answers demonstrating their own experience, self-reflection, and opinion of the program. The semi-structured interview format was thus perceived to be beneficial, as it allowed the gathering of data that could not have been predetermined.

The evaluation was conducted primarily by the first and last authors, both of whom were external to SACIDS, although one assessor had collaborated with a SACIDS project previously. Consequently, there was no conflict of interest, and the assessors were able to conduct the study in an unbiased manner. The information shared was often based on personal experience and subjective impressions, but the approach to include a broad range of representatives from across SACIDS allowed to gain a comprehensive picture and a good understanding of the global functioning and processes of SACIDS. However, an even more detailed understanding of the theory of change, the SACIDS operations and some of the individual concerns reported could have been gained by using participatory approaches with representatives from all SACIDS institutions. Due to time and budgetary constraints, this was not feasible but would have provided further information on commonalities and differences in the vision and the implementation of SACIDS. The collection of such data could be considered during one of the SACIDS annual meetings in the future.

Finally, it was observed that the evaluation at the program level may not have captured some of the more integrated and transdisciplinary endeavors of single research projects. This indicates a methodological shortcoming of the NEOH framework for the

	Enhance biosafety and quality management (BQM)	Enhance information and communication technologies to support learning	Enhance skills through taught and distance-learning programs	Enhance skills through research apprenticeships
2010		SACIDS website developed and running as www.sacids.org (accessed April 17, 2017)		
2011	Gap analysis of BQM at the participating university faculties/departments was conducted through quality auditing visits to participating institutions to establish their status, gaps, needs, and requirements for implementation of BQM systems	Linking of SACIDS Secretariat to the host institution's financial system A website and a Facebook page were created to improve the consortium's web presence	Launching MSc in One Health Molecular Biology (OHMB) took place with an intake of 8 SACIDS sponsored students (2 from Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC), 2 from Zambia, and 4 from Tanzania) First One Health (OH) Conference in Africa took place on the 14th and 15th July 2011 at the National Institute for Communicable Diseases (NICD)-NHLS, Johannesburg, South Africa	All Postdoctoral Research Fellows have been appointed to work on the following (disease) themes: Filoviruses, FMD, Plague, RVF, and TB
2012	Nomination of biosafety focal points for participating universities in the four countries (DRC, Mozambique, Tanzania, and Zambia)	Setup of videoconference equipment at Sokoine University of Agriculture (SUA), to facilitate online lectures Setup of high availability server environment for hosting e-learning software Deployment of a Google App implementation to assist students and SACIDS staff in document sharing and other online activities	Launching of the MSc One Health Analytical Epidemiology (OHAE) at UNZA was done. Twelve students were admitted by the University to the course OH curriculum workshop between the Royal Veterinary College, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine (LSHTM) and SACIDS was held at the London International Development Centre (LIDC) on second April 2012 The First SACIDS Summer School 20–24th August 2012, SUA. This was the first One Health Summer School in Africa was jointly organized by SACIDS and LIDC	
2013		Two pilot e-learning systems were designed and deployed; custom made and open source (Moodle) Design, development, and deployment of a secretariat wide Intranet system as a tool to facilitate communication between and/or within the secretariat to improve data sharing capabilities and overall knowledge base	Second SACIDS Summer School Report of 20–24th August 2013, SUA	Research apprentices and their African and UK supervisors met on 14 April 2013 in Arusha for progress review, assessment of protocols and work plan development Six PhD students attended various transferable skill courses from 9th January to 8th February 2013 at the LSHTM
2014	Three mobile BSL-3 units for DRC (University of Kinshasa), Mozambique (Eduardo Mondlane University) and Tanzania (SUA) have been purchased to enhance biosafety for the diagnosis of and research on highly infectious diseases	Deployment of videoconference facility that assists students and research apprenticeships to virtual interaction with the supervisors and attend courses	Course modularization: modularization of MSc OHAE, modules for 7 courses have been written and finalized Third One Health Summer School August 25–30th 2014, SUA	The SACIDS community of practice (CoP) Leaders Meeting was held at the National Institute of Communicable Diseases of the National Health Laboratory Service (NICD-NIHLS), Johannesburg, South Africa from 30th to 31st January 2014
2015			The modularization of OHMB Course at SUA has been completed	The molecular biology platform at SUA is in place Novel FMDV genotypes/topotypes have been identified Development of monoclonal antibody based lateral flow diagnostics for Ebola and Marburg diseases Discovery of two lineages of Peste des Petits Ruminants (PPR) Virus and of African swine fever co-circulating Discovery of novel topotype of <i>Mycobacteria bovis</i> in Serengeti ecosystem Finding of increasing AMR prevalence in southern and East Africa

TABLE 1 | Southern African Centre for Infectious Disease Surveillance (SACIDS)' outputs by objective and year.

(Continued)

TABLE 1 | Continued

	Enhance biosafety and quality management (BQM)	Enhance information and communication technologies to support learning	Enhance skills through taught and distance-learning programs	Enhance skills through research apprenticeships
2016		A new data collection tool (AfyaData) has been developed under a leveraged project funded project by Skoll Global Threat Fund, which is being used as disease surveillance tool. This tool is an improved version of previous tools and will also be used for data collection for various research activities	OHMB: a total of 36 students were enrolled for MSc OHMB since year 2010. Out of the 36 students, 3 were discontinued from their studies OHAE: a total of 26 students were enrolled for MSc OHAE since year 2011. Only two OHAE have not graduated	A total of 13 postdocs were recruited since 2010. Eight have completed their Postdoctoral Research and five are in their final stages of research work A total of 10 Res MSc were recruited. Seven have graduated



evaluation of a large program aimed at capacity building. One of the respondents mentioned that there are fewer divisions between the different disciplines in Africa driven by "living in a disease rich environment, the economics, the malnutrition, the poverty and tough life in general" (respondent observation). Thus, researchers often have advanced skills working within communities, know alternatives to conventional medicine, and are more flexible to adapt to changing circumstances. These issues were poorly captured during the data collection for this evaluation.

Because of resource limitations, this study only listed outputs in relation to the theory of change but did not investigate outcomes achieved and their classification into disciplinary, interdisciplinary, or OH outcomes. At the level of the output, the OH concept is difficult to distil; interdisciplinarity is more likely to be noticeable at the level of the outcomes. In future research, efforts should be placed on the assessment of the outcomes achieved and the impact they may provoke.

Discussion of Results

This part refers to the OHness scores reported in the results section and the associated information and justification in Table S3 in Supplementary Material. SACIDS was a very ambitious and visionary program driven by the need to fill existing gaps in surveillance capacity of endemic, exotic, and emerging diseases in Southern African countries. Coordinating a program across different countries, sectors, and disciplines with different cultures and context comes with many challenges. The program planning was based on a needs assessment of surveillance capacity, and the acknowledgment that an integrated approach to health was called for. From the outset, SACIDS aimed to be an African-led initiative that would produce capacity to address issues of societal, environmental, economic, and health concerns through an interdisciplinary, OH approach. The program was complimented by many respondents for its ambition, the changes achieved and the effectiveness in bringing together disciplines and sectors in a shared program.

This evaluation was conducted at the level of the SACIDS program and not the individual projects. Consequently, the results do not report on the finer detail related to diseases, associated technical capacities, and field work that would be found at the level of research projects within the CoPs.

For most OHness dimensions, apart from information and data sharing infrastructure, SACIDS scored between 0.6 and 0.8.

With regards to OH working, SACIDS presented an effective and productive management structure that clearly addressed issues in the context it operates tackling underlying disconnect and silos among different sectors. Its setup spans different countries, sectors, and various types of institutions with the aim to build capacity in an integrated manner. An external feedback mechanism from the International Review Board promotes reflection and action for change when needed. SACIDS actors have proven to be flexible in their working and are able to react to changing circumstances, as observed by one interviewee: The director is able to change his thinking and his staff seem able to do the same. Despite the flexibility observed, there were some shortcomings in that the working was perceived to be rather hierarchical with little engagement of junior people in decision-making and no perceptible involvement of grass-root organization or communities in the coordination and management of the program.

While the teams were described to work very well within the CoPs, they existed as clear units within institutional teams with little interaction with other disciplines, although increasing interaction between the human and veterinary teams was reported to be developing. Increased interaction could be nurtured by having more dedicated staff members that would actively link members and encourage exchange and team building in an integrated way. Currently, there is only one person











acting as the main coordinator between SACIDS and consortium partners. This role could also extend to linking more effectively with Northern partners and promoting a professional collaboration based on equality. The current partnership was perceived by some to be unbalanced with behavior of superiority instead of equality. Nonetheless, the model of joint supervision with input from Northern partners was highly appreciated and perceived to be effective and beneficial.

The Southern African Centre for Infectious Disease Surveillance earned praise for its recruitment process of high academic quality postgraduate students. It was suggested to use a similar recruitment process within other SACIDS functions with the aim to increase the breadth of people from different countries, cultures, and expertise. In addition, this would enhance the transdisciplinary skills in the program (or as one respondent put it: allow SACIDS to have a cocktail of ideas and understandings) and reduce the bias toward selection from Tanzania. This could be achieved by promoting self-reflection and feedback in SACIDS. The current structures were found to be well established and working well with regards the implementation of the program and the technical considerations, but there seemed to be little input into management and organizational structures across all SACIDS members. Because transdisciplinarity is based on broad engagement of actors and stakeholders, such a move could help to create more ownership and networking. The respondents made several useful recommendations during the interviews on how the SACIDS organization could be improved. They included expanding of SACIDS to allow new institutions and people to join the program; a more communicative, engaging, and disseminative secretariat that would actively link all partners; a clear definition of roles and responsibilities for everybody involved; and promotion of a more participatory approach that would help establish consensus from a broad range of participants including people on the ground (as mentioned by one respondent *We need to get a degree of democracy within SACIDS. The ownership has to go to the people*). These examples show that there are several suggestions for change available in the consortium, and the program may benefit from harvesting the creative potential in a participatory way.

The lowest score overall was recorded for information and data sharing (score of 0.2). Several concerns were voiced relating to this issue. Although one of SACIDS' primary aims was to create a trans-national network to enable transdisciplinary collaboration between actors engaged in the control of infectious diseases, there is a lack of resources attributed to information and data sharing and the creation of institutional memory. Each CoP team is in charge of data quality, with combined responsibility from the supervisor and the team. To date, there is no student induction program, which means that the supervisor's research experience is relied on to ensure data quality, rather than a systematic approach, which can lead to variability in data quality between students and between projects. While there are some structured internal sharing mechanisms and established ways of communication between CoPs, SACIDS lacks a platform where data could be shared and made available among project partners in a standardized format that would reduce risks of duplication. In addition, there are no formal institutional arrangements that would support data and information sharing in a systematic way. Consequently, there is real risk that institutional memory may be lost if knowledgeable SACIDS members move to new jobs without passing on their knowledge to others. Currently, the program only has a repository for results (e.g., theses, publications) but could benefit from a common database or documentation that stipulates how data must be checked, prepared, and presented for sharing purposes. While the establishment of such a database can be resource and time consuming, the establishment of a shared archive may be more achievable. With such a resource, all SACIDS partners would have access to the outputs and would not need to go through the secretariat if they wanted to access certain information. A "read-only" database would minimize the risk of mistakenly deleting items from the repository or changing them. A benefit of such a database could be to make educational materials more widely available so that partners could use them for teaching and training purposes. Some respondents observed that SACIDS had contributed greatly to sharing of information between individuals or groups by enabling better cooperation and collaboration between them, but that there was large individual variability and many people or institutions were still reluctant to share data with others. This may be an indication of the tensions that may exist between individual interests for (academic) progress and a need to share information and data for the purpose of a common good, which should be an underlying principle of a program like SACIDS. Given the importance of data and information sharing in transdisciplinary programs and the efficiency loss associated with insufficient institutional memory, SACIDS may want to consider making an investment into formalizing and promoting such processes.

At the regional management level, certain processes were reportedly sluggish because of delays in implementation, substandard logistical processes, and unclear lines of command. Consequently, this affected the performance of researchers and projects, being unable to proceed due to delays in accessing the required materials. Previous evaluations of SACIDS already reported challenges related to the distribution of resources (12). Coupled with the perception that there is a bias in funds, staffing, and activity toward Tanzania, some participants suggested decentralizing some of the secretariat's activities and funding, to allow some national level management and facilitate resource allocation at country level. Because SACIDS only pays the secretariat and the Executive Director, some of the other SACIDS participants with in-kind contributions feel that they are undervalued for the time invested. Consequently, there was a call to generate more funding and create more paid positions across all SACIDS countries in a transparent way with the aim to institutionalize the program and reduce bureaucratic burden on SACIDS members.

The unequal success in the implementation of postgraduate programs across SACIDS countries can partly be explained by different institutional capacities at the start of the program. Unlike Zambia and Tanzania, DRC and Mozambique did not have any PhD programs in place before the start of SACIDS, and the implementation of such courses required more time and effort than in the other countries. In addition, Zambia and Tanzania institutions benefit from being designated as "African Centres of Excellence" by the World Bank, which reflects the high quality of research and educational programs in place in these countries. SACIDS seems aware of the necessity to address the need for better capacity building in DRC and Mozambique and is prioritizing this issue as a major objective for the next phase of the program.

Because this evaluation was conducted at a stage, where the program development had mainly focused on its establishment (e.g., network, training and capacity building, development of infrastructure and processes), there is currently a disconnect between the rationale and motivation for SACIDS and actual outcomes and impact. Consequently, there is no assessment of improvements in attributes that define infectious disease surveillance, such as performance or functional attributes of surveillance or their OH integration. To facilitate future program success and achievement of outcomes and impact, it is recommended that SACIDS develops measurable indicators in line with their theory of change and implements relevant data collection and evaluation activities. Such information will not only be important for the management of SACIDS but also enhance credibility among (future) funders.

Across the board, people perceived SACIDS to be a very positive and effective African-led initiative that helps bring together the disciplines of OH and allows important issues in the region to be addressed and to bridge funding gaps. Nowadays, there is a common understanding that we need both a quantitative and qualitative approach to understand, prevent, and control infectious diseases. This cannot be done with classical veterinary interventions alone, such as vaccination or other technical measures, but it is important to consider other perspectives as well in a systems approach. The focus of SACIDS has been primarily on technical capacity building and the shortcomings relating to environmental disciplines and the social sciences, which it aims to address, are acknowledged and will be addressed in the next phase of the program. SACIDS' vision and mission are important endeavors for capacity building in the region and its approach has the potential to promote progress and development. However, this evaluation has identified several issues in management, delivery, and OH integration that the program may want to address to promote success in the long term and realize the outcomes and impact envisaged in an efficient and effective manner. It is recommend that SACIDS continues to look at how the technical progress can be embedded in social aspects, local communities' practices and behaviors. Consequently, it may be important to look at other measures that may lead to changes in infrastructure, such as sewage and water systems, land management policies, and education. A prioritization approach based on participatory engagement with a wider representation of sectors and disciplines from all strata of society could inform a process of discussing strategic directions and grant applications for the future.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the ethics committee of the Royal Veterinary College with written or oral informed consent from all subjects. All subjects gave informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. Ethical approval for the interviews and the online survey was sought from the Royal Veterinary College and was granted by its Social Sciences Research Ethical Review Board, number URN SR2017-1002.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MH and BH conceptualized the study with guidance from SR and SS. MH, KQ and BH were responsible for data collection with EK facilitating access to data, reports, and networks. MH and BH had primary responsibility for data analysis and manuscript writing with all coauthors giving feedback and input.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank SACIDS for the support of this work and each of the interviewed SACIDS participants and stakeholders for providing valuable information.

FUNDING

This work was conducted in the frame of the European Cooperation on Science and Technology (COST) Action TD 1404 "Network for Evaluation of One Health" and cofunded by the Wellcome Trust grant WT087546MA.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at http://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fvets.2018.00033/ full#supplementary-material.

REFERENCES

- Morens DM, Folkers GK, Fauci AS. The challenge of emerging and reemerging infectious diseases. *Nature* (2004) 430(6996):242–9. doi:10.1038/ nature02759
- Molyneux D, Hallaj Z, Keusch GT, McManus DP, Ngowi H, Cleaveland S, et al. Zoonoses and marginalised infectious diseases of poverty: where do we stand? *Parasit Vectors* (2011) 4:106. doi:10.1186/1756-3305-4-106
- 3. Rweyemamu MM, Mmbuji P, Karimuribo E, Paweska J, Kambarage D, Neves L, et al. The Southern African Centre for Infectious Disease Surveillance: a One Health Consortium. *Emerg Health Threats J* (2013) 6. doi:10.3402/ehtj. v6i0.19958
- Jones KE, Patel NG, Levy MA, Storeygard A, Balk D, Gittleman JL, et al. Global trends in emerging infectious diseases. *Nature* (2008) 451(7181):990–3. doi:10.1038/nature06536
- Zinsstag J, Schelling E, Waltner-Toews D, Tanner M. From "One Medicine" to "One Health" and systemic approaches to health and well-being. *Prev Vet Med* (2011) 101(3–4):148–56. doi:10.1016/j.prevetmed.2010. 07.003
- Chomel BB, Belotto A, Meslin F-X. Wildlife, exotic pets, and emerging zoonoses. *Emerg Infect Dis* (2007) 13(1):6–11. doi:10.3201/eid1301. 060480
- Wolfe ND, Daszak P, Kilpatrick AM, Burke DS. Bushmeat hunting, deforestation, and prediction of zoonotic disease. *Emerg Infect Dis* (2005) 11(12):1822–7. doi:10.3201/eid1112.040789
- Epstein PR. Climate change and emerging infectious diseases. *Microbes Infect* (2001) 3(9):747–54. doi:10.1016/S1286-4579(01)01429-0
- Rweyemamu M, Musoke T. Southern African Centre for Infectious Disease Surveillance (SACIDS) – Report of the Inaugural Workshop Held at the HQ of the Agricultural Research Council of South Africa. Pretoria: COACTION (2008).
- Coker R, Rushton J, Mounier-Jack S, Karimuribo E, Lutumba P, Kambarage D, et al. Towards a conceptual framework to support one-health research for policy on emerging zoonoses. *Lancet Infect Dis* (2011) 11(4):326–31. doi:10.1016/ S1473-3099(10)70312-1
- Gibbs EPJ. The evolution of One Health: a decade of progress and challenges for the future. *Vet Rec* (2014) 174(4):85–91. doi:10.1136/vr.g143
- Marjanovic S, Diepeveen S, Hanlin R. Consortium Report: Southern African Centre for Infectious Disease Surveillance. Report No. PM(L)-3712-WT. Cambridge: RAND EUROPE (2011).
- Rüegg SR, McMahon BJ, Häsler B, Esposito R, Nielsen LR, Ifejika Speranza C, et al. A blueprint to evaluate One Health. *Front Public Health* (2017) 5:20. doi:10.3389/fpubh.2017.00020
- Rüegg SR, Rosenbaum Nielsen L, Buttigieg SC, Santa M, Aragrande M, Canali M, et al. A systems approach to evaluate One Health initiatives. *Front Vet Sci* (2018). doi:10.3389/fvets.2018.00023
- Anonymous. In praise of soft science. Nature (2005) 435(7045):1003. doi:10.1038/ 4351003a
- Ledford H. How to solve the world's biggest problems. Nature (2015) 525:308-11. doi:10.1038/525308a
- Hadorn Hirsch G, Hoffmann-Riem H, Biber-Klemm S, Grossenbacher-Mansuy W, Joye D, Pohl C, et al. *Handbook of Transdisciplinary Research*. Dordrecht: Springer (2007).
- Nancarrow SA, Booth A, Ariss S, Smith T, Enderby P, Roots A. Ten principles of good interdisciplinary team work. *Hum Resour Health* (2013) 11(1):19. doi:10.1186/1478-4491-11-19
- 19. Aragrande M, Canali M. An operational tool to enhance One Health interdisciplinarity. *Proceedings 3rd GRF One Health Summit.* Davos (2015).

- Lélé S, Norgaard RB. Practicing interdisciplinarity. *Bioscience* (2005) 55:967. doi:10.1641/0006-3568(2005)055[0967:PI]2.0.CO;2
- Strang V, McLeish T. Evaluating Interdisciplinary Research: A Practical Guide. Report. Durham: Institute of Advanced Study, Durham University (2015). p. 1–20
- Piwowar HA, Day RS, Fridsma DB. Sharing detailed research data is associated with increased citation rate. *PLoS One* (2007) 2(3). doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0000308
- 23. Houe H, Nielsen LR, Nielsen SS. *Control and Eradication of Endemic Infectious Diseases in Cattle*. 1st ed. London: College Publications (2014).
- 24. Giesecke J, McNeil B. Transitioning to the learning organization. *Libr Trends* (2004) 53:54.
- 25. Argyris C. On Organizational Learning. 2nd ed. Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell (1999).
- 26. Redding JC, Catalanello RF. *Strategic Readiness: The Making of the Learning Organization*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass (1994).
- Scott L, Caress A. Shared governance and shared leadership: meeting the challenges of implementation. *J Nurs Manag* (2005) 13(1):4–12. doi:10.1111/ j.1365-2834.2004.00455.x
- Lopez AD, Mathers CD, Ezzati M, Jamison DT, Murray CJL. Global and regional burden of disease and risk factors, 2001: systematic analysis of population health data. *Lancet* (2006) 367(9524):1747–57. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736 (06)68770-9
- Anderson PK, Cunningham AA, Patel NG, Morales FJ, Epstein PR, Daszak P. Emerging infectious diseases of plants: pathogen pollution, climate change and agrotechnology drivers. *Trends Ecol Evol* (2004) 19(10):535–44. doi:10.1016/j. tree.2004.07.021
- Karimuribo ED, Sayalel K, Beda E, Short N, Wambura P, Mboera LG, et al. Towards One Health disease surveillance: the Southern African Centre for Infectious Disease Surveillance approach. *Onderstepoort J Vet Res* (2012) 79(2):31–7. doi:10.4102/ojvr.v79i2.454
- Marmot M. Social determinants of health inequalities. Lancet (2005) 365(9464):1099-104. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(05)74234-3
- Schneider H, Blaauw D, Gilson L, Chabikuli N, Goudge J. Health systems and access to antiretroviral drugs for HIV in Southern Africa: service delivery and human resources challenges. *Reprod Health Matters* (2006) 14(27):12–23. doi:10.1016/S0968-8080(06)27232-X
- Rock M, Buntain BJ, Hatfield JM, Hallgrímsson B. Animal-human connections, "One Health," and the syndemic approach to prevention. Soc Sci Med (2009) 68(6):991–5. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.12.047
- Southern African Development Community: SADC Objectives [Internet]. (2017) [cited July 10, 2017]. Available from: http://www.sadc.int/about-sadc/ overview/sadc-objectiv/

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling editor and author SR declared their involvement as coeditors in the Research Topic and confirm the absence of any other collaboration.

Copyright © 2018 Hanin, Queenan, Savic, Karimuribo, Rüegg and Häsler. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Control of Cattle Ticks and Tick-Borne Diseases by Acaricide in Southern Province of Zambia: A Retrospective Evaluation of Animal Health Measures According to Current One Health Concepts

Gabrielle Laing¹*, Maurizio Aragrande², Massimo Canali², Sara Savic³ and Daniele De Meneghi⁴*

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Simon Rodrigo Rüegg, University of Zurich, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Katharina Stärk, Safoso, Switzerland Serge Morand, Centre national de la recherche scientifique (CNRS), France Katinka De Balogh, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, Italy

*Correspondence:

Gabrielle Laing gabslaing@yahoo.co.uk; Daniele De Meneghi daniele.demeneghi@unito.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Environmental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

Received: 30 September 2017 Accepted: 07 February 2018 Published: 27 March 2018

Citation:

Laing G, Aragrande M, Canali M, Savic S and De Meneghi D (2018) Control of Cattle Ticks and Tick-Borne Diseases by Acaricide in Southern Province of Zambia: A Retrospective Evaluation of Animal Health Measures According to Current One Health Concepts. Front. Public Health 6:45. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2018.00045 ¹ Department of Epidemiology and Population Health, University of Liverpool, Liverpool, United Kingdom, ² Department of Agricultural and Food Sciences, University of Bologna, Bologna, Italy, ³ Scientific Veterinary Institute "Novi Sad", Novi Sad, Serbia, ⁴ Department of Veterinary Science, University of Turin, Grugliasco-Torino, Italy

One health thinking for health interventions is increasingly being used to capture previously unseen stakeholders and impacts across people, animals, and the environment. The Network for One Health Evaluation (NEOH) proposes a systems-based framework to quantitatively assess integration and highlight the added value (theory of change) that this approach will bring to a project. This case study will retrospectively evaluate the pioneering use of a One Health (OH) approach during an international collaboration (satellite project to tackle production losses due to tick-borne disease in cattle in Southern Zambia in late 1980s). The objective of the evaluation is twofold: retrospective evaluation the OH-ness of the satellite project and identification of costs and benefits. Data for evaluation was recovered from publications, project documents, and witness interviews. A mixed qualitative and quantitative evaluation was undertaken. In this case study, a transdisciplinary approach allowed for the identification of a serious public health risk arising from the unexpected reuse of chemical containers by the local public against advice. Should this pioneering project not have been completed then it is assumed this behavior could have had a large impact on public wellbeing and ultimately reduced regional productivity and compromised welfare. From the economic evaluation, the costs of implementing this OH approach, helping to avoid harm, were small in comparison to overall project costs. The overall OH Index was 0.34. The satellite project demonstrated good OH operations by managing to incorporate the input across multiple dimensions but was slightly weaker on OH infrastructures (OH Ratio = 1.20). These quantitative results can be used in the initial validation and benchmarking of this novel framework. Limitations of the evaluation were mainly a lack of data due to the length of time since project completion and a lack of formal monitoring of program impact. In future health strategy development and execution, routine monitoring and evaluation from an OH perspective (by utilizing the framework proposed by NEOH), could prove valuable or used as a tool for retrospective evaluation of existing policies.

Keywords: public health, environmental impact, economic evaluation, OH index, one health

INTRODUCTION

Within global health, there is a move toward more integrated planning and delivery approaches that can yield more efficient, effective, and equal outcomes than traditionally siloed approaches to health challenges. The use of One Health thinking to identify stakeholders and capture impacts across people, plants, animals, and the environment has the potential to avoid harm and identify benefits otherwise unseen. The Network for One Health Evaluation (NEOH) proposes a novel evidence-based framework to quantitatively assess integration and highlight the unique benefits (theory of change) that this approach will bring to a project (1, 2).

In 1987, Italian development and research institutions (Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Development Cooperation Office and the Istituto Superiore di Sanità, Roma: ISS, Rome) responded to an emergency call of the Zambian government (Ministry of Agriculture, Department of Veterinary Services) for help to control deaths and production losses in cattle caused by Theileria parva infection, also known as Malignant Theileriosis, transmitted by Rhipicephalus appendiculatus ticks. This Animal Health Programme (AHP) took place in the Southern Province of the country and continued until 1992, but here we concentrate on a 2-year (1988-1989) satellite project (One Health Initiative, OHI). The OHI assessed the implications of the AHP for other stakeholders and implemented public health education and risk mitigation activities in support of the main project. The information and data reported in this paper, concerning the activities of the AHP and OHI are based on the following publications and project reports by Ghirotti et al. (3, 4), De Meneghi et al. (5-7), Camoni et al. (8), Scorziello et al. (9), and to which reference will be made throughout the text.

The Animal Health Programme

The expected outcome of the AHP was to reduce tick-borne diseases (TBD) in cattle, in particular Theileriosis, to avoid losses and increase cattle productivity. The expected impact was to increase animal welfare and stabilize or increase farmers' income. The AHP was conceived as a typical animal health intervention meaning that animal health was the focus of the emergency project with no other initial considerations made for other dimensions of the intervention (**Figure 1**).

The AHP required farmers to attend communal dipping tanks (DTs) with their cattle on a weekly basis during peak tick season (i.e., November–May, 7 months), according to a strategic dipping regime. Approximately 530,000 cattle (45% of the national herd) attended 130 communal dip-tanks in Southern Province over the study period. Cattle would approach the dip-tank in single file along a race and make a small jump into the tank so that head and body would be briefly but completely submerged in an acaricide solution. Cattle would exit into a draining area where excess fluid would drain back into the tank. The dipping liquid contained an organophosphate (OP; in this case, chlorphenfinvos) as the active ingredient against ticks. The dipping process thus required transport, stocking, and handling of OP by dip-tank operators (DTOs). Stocks of concentrated dip fluid were stored in a main central storehouse, and in small buildings at each Veterinary



District Office in Southern Province, and transported in 5 l canisters from district storage points to the dip-tanks. Often this was by hand, bicycle, or motorbike. In order to prepare the fluid for the dip-tank, concentrated fluid from the canister had to be diluted with water according to the manufacturer's instructions. At the end of each season the dip-tanks were emptied of fluid (and occasionally this was also performed during the season if the tank became too contaminated). Existing disposal procedures were to discard fluid directly onto fallow land or via a decantation pit (where available) to allow degradation of active ingredients. Operation and maintenance of dip-tanks, preparation of diptank fluid, and provision of DTOs fell under the responsibility of the Zambian authorities. All staffing, testing, and transport costs associated with the satellite project were covered by Italian sources. Farmers paid a small fee toward cost of treating their cattle on a cost-recovery basis (approximately Zambian Kwacha 50 cents per dip, 0.04 USD in 1988).

The Acaricide Active Ingredient and Potential Health Risks

The OP based acaricide used in the AHP was Steladone 300 EC (Ciba-Geigy) and provided by the Italian Cooperation Programme, who also offered technical assistance. OPs have been successfully used to control vectors of animal disease and plant pests elsewhere. The active ingredient used, Chlorfenvinphos, acts as a cholinesterase inhibitor in ticks but this also occurs in humans, affecting both the peripheral and central nervous system. Toxicity may occur following direct contact, ingestion, or inhalation of fumes (10). The use of this and other OPs in developing countries worldwide had been associated with 3 million acute poisoning cases per year (at the time of the original study), including 220,000 yearly fatalities (11). Risks associated with long-term exposure to small doses are also expected to have some human health impacts but there is little existing literature and risks are largely un-quantified in developing nations (12).

Residues of OPs are expected in soils, water, and animal products such as milk, and maximum limits for residues have been set by the Codex Alimentarius (13). Signs of acute toxicity can range from mild to severe. Severe intoxication can result in generalized convulsions and death through respiratory or cardiac failure but mild intoxication may be difficult to diagnose. Signs of mild intoxication include nausea, headache, miosis, vomiting, weakness, and giddiness (10).

The highest risk of toxicity occurred when staff were handling concentrated acaricide fluid or during storage in poorly ventilated facilities. There was also a smaller risk associated with exposure to the diluted dip-tank solution, especially as the dipping process often results in large amounts of displaced fluid around the tank onto surrounding staff or from the risk of staff accidentally falling into the tank. Reducing the risk of intoxication was achieved through limiting direct contact, inhalation or ingestion of concentrated acaricide by the use of personal protective equipment (PPE), and practice of safe operating procedures for DTOs. An antidote (atropine) can be administered for incidents of acute poisoning, and this was distributed by the satellite project (OHI) to the district veterinary offices, local health-care centers, and district hospitals. There were two recorded incidences where people fell into dip-tanks during the study period, but swift action to clean the acaricide off prevented illness (9).

The Satellite Project (One Health Intervention: OHI)

The implementation of the AHP had effects beyond those directly expected from the dipping of cattle in OPs. As mentioned above, the dipping process requires that fluids used to treat animals be normally disposed onto fallow land at the end of the dipping period, but OPs can persist in soil for up to 30 weeks. Thus, it was assumed the disposal method adopted in the dipping process negatively impacted environmental health and could potentially be a source of contamination of ground water, agriculture, or wildlife. The OHI provided instructions to DTO and stakeholders to implement a decantation pit step in the disposal procedure where toxic substances could degrade before disposal onto fallow land (7, 9).

A second aspect concerned the disposal of OP canisters. The initial agreement with DTOs was to give empty canisters to the district offices. However, local community members were permitted to reuse the canisters to store fuel (i.e., kerosene, petrol, lubricant oil). In spite of recommendations, it was noted that containers were sometimes being used also to store consumables. Toxicology testing showed that even after repeated washing, consumables such as water stored in the canisters, had unsafe residue limits and may be putting the public at risk of acute toxicity. The reuse of these canisters for consumables was an unexpected outcome of the AHP.

Additionally, instructions to farmers not to use milk produced by cattle for at least 12 h after dipping were commonly disregarded. Milk testing showed unsafe residue limits for human consumption until 18–24 h post-dipping and withdrawal times for milk for animal consumption, mainly suckling calves, were only deemed safe 5 h post-dipping (8). Finally, it was noted by the dipping process managers that people (DTOs and farmers) view the risk to their personal health from exposure to acaricide as low. This was suggested to arise from the perception that the acaricide is a form of "medicine" and that the causal pathway between exposure and illness is not always obvious. Alongside a lack of awareness of the risks from exposure, the (initial) unavailability of PPE was also thought to be a barrier for practice of safe behaviors by DTOs.

Education campaign messages used a variety of multimedia materials, including leaflets, community meetings and radio and TV programs, in particular a radio drama aiming to raise awareness of exposure risks from post-dipping milk consumption and acaricide canister reuse. Means were adapted for use in local, regional, and national education campaigns.

This case study aims to demonstrate how typical intervention strategies for animal health may result in unexpected social impacts due to the insufficient or poor consideration of intervention complexity in the specific social context, e.g., local cultural attitudes to the acaricide and canister reuse, exposing local operators, people, and the environment to increased risk of poisoning and pollution. In this respect, an *ex post* re-consideration of the satellite project may show features of the current OH approach, that we want to evaluate.

The objective of the evaluation is twofold:

- (a) retrospective evaluation of the OH-ness of the satellite project
- (b) identification of the costs and benefits of the satellite project, and their quantification, where possible with the data available.

This will be a mixed qualitative and quantitative evaluation, based on the reconstruction of the cost of the satellite project and a quantitative consideration of the benefits for the population and the on-site health management system.

The objective of the evaluation can be structured according to the following evaluation questions:

- a. what is the degree of OH-ness of the satellite project according to the main components of OH outlined in the NEOH framework?
- b. did the use of an OH approach to an animal health and a veterinary public health intervention prove valuable over a siloed disciplinary approach (theory of change)?
- c. what were the costs of the satellite project?
- d. what were the benefits?

MATERIALS AND METHODS

OH-ness Evaluation: Systems Map, One Health Index, and One Health Ratio (OHR)

The evaluation method follows guidelines outlined in the journal's introductory paper (1). The first aspect for the evaluation was the identification of the system, its dimensions, boundaries, and potentially relevant interacting or independent components. In this case study, the system includes the AHP and satellite project as a subsystem (including their functional links). The system also defines stakeholders as "any individual, group or organization who may affect, be affected by, or perceive themselves to be affected by a decision or activity" and then a subgroup of actors "who act or take part" in the system. The dimensions characterize the system and may take place at different scales (e.g., the geographical dimension includes various levels of scale, from local to international). Dimensions also take account of the social context in which they operate (people, society, institutions) and their behavior in the context of OP use (including the related structure, infrastructure, and equipment). The sequence of inputs, outputs, outcomes, and impact pathways were plotted graphically in a logical framework. Outcome mapping was used in building the logical framework, grouping outcomes as disciplinary or interdisciplinary and sequential impacts as first or second order. The contribution of the OHI will be compared to the three pillars of sustainability: society, environment, and economy, such as interspecies equity, human welfare, and efficiency in this example. A theory of change was described from the added value the OHI contributed in the system.

Recovery of data from the satellite project for OH-ness evaluation was through publications, project documents still available, and witness interviews including contributions by one of the coauthors (Daniele De Meneghi) and colleagues formerly working in the AHP. These data were analyzed during the evaluation process in accordance with the recommendations and tools set out in the NEOH handbook.1 Briefly, process evaluation was through semi-quantitative assessment under six major themes, split into operational aspects (thinking, planning, working) and infrastructure (learning, sharing, systemic organization). OH thinking explores the dimensions and scales within the system and the context-specific suitability of the OHI in matching these. OH planning assesses resource allocation and appropriateness and adaptability of plans to address the objectives of a transdisciplinary project. OH working focuses on the disciplinary diversity and placement of appropriate leadership and management to promote non-hierarchical relationships and transdisciplinary working within the team and for project outputs. In a similar line, systemic organization looks at the implementation of shared leadership and governance involving all stakeholders and engaging those from all to avoid a silo mentality. Evaluation of learning examines knowledge exchange infrastructure and how this supports learning within the system and in the broader environment. Finally, evaluation of sharing infrastructure looks to reward projects where there is facilitation for good quality data sharing, for example, where data are presented with recognition of potential bias; in a suitable format to allow merging of data from multiple sectors; and with appropriate measures to uphold confidentiality.

Scores were allocated following review of criteria relevant to each theme and compared to a context-specific benchmark as determined by the evaluator as appropriate to the project under review; where full realization of the ideal scenario was worth 1.0. The scores for each theme were plotted onto the spokes of a spider diagram to allow visualization of overall project integration and the balance between operational and infrastructure elements. As outlined in the introductory article by Rüegg at al., a quantitative overall One Health Index was calculated as a ratio of the area enclosed by the points when plotted onto the spider diagram to the area enclosed if all spokes were equal to 1, according to the following formula:

OH Index =
$$\frac{\left[(ScP \times ScT) + (ScL \times ScP) + (ScL \times ScS) + (ScO \times ScS) + (ScO \times ScO) + (ScT \times ScW) \right]}{6}$$

where ScP is the score obtained in OH planning, ScL is the score obtained in learning infrastructure, ScS is the score from sharing infrastructure, ScO is the score from systemic organization, ScW is the score from OH working, and ScT is the score from OH thinking.

A comparison between the OH operations and infrastructure was made by dividing the area enclosed by the points associated with OH operations by that for the infrastructure, which gives the OHR:

$$OHR = \frac{\left(\frac{ScO \times ScW^{2}}{ScO+ScW}\right) + \left(ScW \times ScT\right) + \left(ScT \times ScP\right) + \left(\frac{ScP^{2} \times ScL}{ScP+ScL}\right)}{\left(\frac{ScP \times ScL^{2}}{ScP+ScL}\right) + \left(ScL \times ScS\right) + \left(ScS \times ScO\right) + \left(\frac{ScO^{2} \times ScW}{ScO+ScW}\right)}{ScO+ScW}$$

An external evaluator (Gabrielle Laing) consulted with the internal evaluator (Daniele De Meneghi) to compile the information for evaluation with guidance from Maurizio Aragrande and Massimo Canali. Stakeholders Dr. Maria Scorziello Biocca (MD, formerly at Ministry of Health as public health specialist seconded to the ISS Rome) and Dr. Prof. Silvana Diverio (DVM, former grantee of the *Istituto Italo-Africano*, now at the University of Perugia), assisted in data recovery and contributed to OH-ness scoring. Evaluation criteria were described by Gabrielle Laing and scoring for each question reviewed by Daniele De Meneghi, Maurizio Aragrande, and Massimo Canali. A fourth external evaluator (Sara Savic) was asked to review the scoring and criteria based on only the information presented in this paper.

Economic Evaluation

In order to measure interdisciplinary outcomes and translate evaluation findings in a transdisciplinary way (i.e., between disciplines and societal fields such as the private and public sector), it is desirable to use a common metric. In this instance, an economic evaluation was selected.

According to a consolidated and widely accepted definition, the full economic evaluation of an intervention requires the identification of its costs and outcomes and the comparison with the costs and outcomes of one or more alternative actions (being the situation without any intervention one of the possible alternatives). Partial economic evaluations are performed when one of those conditions is not fulfilled, i.e., only costs or only outcomes can be evaluated, or alternative solutions are not examined [about the distinction between full and partial economic evaluations, see Ref. (14–21)].

¹Rüegg S, Häsler B, Zinsstag J. A Handbook for Evaluation of One Health – Draft Version, November 2016. (unpublished/under preparation).

For the satellite project, it was only possible to retrieve data on the expenditure of the intervention from the archives of the institutions concerned and from documentation provided by experts who participated in the project planning and implementation at different levels. Available data on the outcomes are incomplete as an *ex post* evaluation was not planned for this OHI, partly because of the emergency nature of the main AHP project and partly because it was not an ordinary practice for this type of project at that time. The time elapsed and the poor follow-up of the project also hindered the identification of such data within the framework of the current evaluation. This makes a comparison with costs and outcomes of alternative actions impossible.

This evaluation, therefore, reports the description of the expenditure and outputs of the satellite project, identifying the benefits to the population of the beneficiary country, based on the information presented and on estimations about acaricide use in the targeted DT stations.

RESULTS

Systems Map and Theory of Change

A systems map for the AHP and OHI, based on the elements outlined in the Section "Introduction" and in particular

- the technological specification of the dipping process and its aim,
- the social and physical environment of the process,
- the objective risks related to OP use,
- the practices actually adopted by the operators and the local population linked to DTs operations and OP handling and related material and facilities (storage facilities, empty canisters, the environment, etc.)

were used to draw the series of consequences (impact pathway) started by the AHP and shown by the logical framework in **Figure 2**.

The system includes both the AHP and the satellite project as the former involved or induced the latter, in the sense that the existence of the satellite project strictly depends on the implementation of the AHP, its limits, and unexpected consequences. System boundaries are determined by the considerations below:

- (i) The fact that the AHP was targeted to a specific region of Zambia (Southern province) by a technical and political decision, exogenously established a geographical limit of the system. This decision formed an initial assumption for the next steps of the system identification process. Together with the dimension of the cattle herds treated (traditional livestock breeding system), these elements allowed for the identification of the main geographical, social, and physical dimensions (boundaries) of the system.
- (ii) The dipping process was implemented within these boundaries, allowing for the identification of technological specifications and organization (e.g., the number of risk animals to be treated, the number, dimension, and location of DTs, period and frequency of treatment, dipping routine, use of inputs, etc.). DTs are the technological devices at the core of a process. They imply the use of inputs, the production of outputs, and a flow of actions and consequences (see above AHP process description), and they can be considered basic units of a system characterized by strategy (reducing or eliminating Theileriosis in cattle) and aims (increasing cattle productivity and farmers' revenue). Starting from these elementary units, risk factors can be analyzed for people directly involved in the dipping process.





(iii) The observation of social behaviors related to the dipping process (as described in Section "Introduction") allowed for the identification of current and potential risk originating from the AHP but affecting greater dimensions. This expanded the complexity of the system also including other relevant local social units (mainly consumers of milk from treated cows, users of disposed canisters to store food, farmers, and villagers in general) beyond the DTOs, who were identified as the people at highest risk. The observation of the real dipping process development in different treatment sites allowed for the identification of actions, behaviors, and consequences according to a model which can be conceptualized using a systems-based approach.

The satellite project (OHI) is the initiative operating within the system shown in **Figure 2** and described in **Table 1**. The OHI aimed to reduce or eliminate exposure to the risks of OP use, which were interdisciplinary alongside any unexpected impacts of the dipping process in the context of the AHP. The main stakeholders were the DTOs, the population of Southern province, and the local ecosystem.

The theory of change for this case study is the avoidance of harm to people, plants, animals, or environment that may have arisen if an animal health driven programme of dipping cattle in OPs was implemented alone. The OHI helped to increase the sustainability of the AHP, alongside improved efficacy and efficiency for the Zambian Government looking to increase productivity in the agricultural sector. This was in addition to greater interspecies equity and better health and welfare of people, plants, animals, and the environment through the avoidance of harm and the poor welfare and financial implications such harm could have

TABLE 1 | Main characteristics of the system and impact pathways for the animal health programme (AHP) and satellite project (OHI)—(+) indicates a positive or additive interaction and (–) indicates a negative or inhibitory interaction direction.

	АНР			Satellite project (OHI)
Drivers	Cattle disease			Avoid AHP unexpected outcomes
Means, measures	(+) Dipping process (traditional sectoral approach)			(+) Integrated approach (inter- and transdisciplinary, OH precursor)
1° order outcomes	(-) Cattle disease		1	(+) Establishment of good practices
2° order outcomes	(+) Cattle productivity and welfare(+) Farmers revenue		1	(+) Public health (–) Environment pollution
System outcomes	n.a.		1	(–) Insufficient follow-up from local institutions
Unexpected outcomes	 (+) Occupational risk (+) Environmental pollution (-) Public health (chronic and acute disease) 	_		 (+) Knowledge exchange (+) Institutional learning (+) Health policy effectiveness

inflicted. It was also of interest to the national government and potentially international policy makers as results may be suitable for extrapolation to other countries.

OH-ness Evaluation, OH Index, and OH ratio

The system was scored on the six elements as set out in the NEOH framework. The spider diagram (**Figure 3**) demonstrates the scores for assessment of the One Health operations and infrastructure present in the initiative. The point on each spoke of the spider diagram is set from a score for OH thinking (0.63), OH planning (0.60), OH working (0.55), OH learning (0.50), OH sharing (0.55), and systemic organization (0.60) for the satellite project. Scores were allocated out of 1.0, where a high score was perfect OH criteria achieved and 0.0 was no OH criteria achieved. Scoring criteria are outlined in Tables S2a–g in Supplementary Material.

The mean score for OH thinking (0.63), as established by qualitative questionnaire review (Table S2a in Supplementary Material), was moderately high for this satellite project. The initiative had a highly integrated health approach, covering a variety of dimensions at differing scales and incorporating many perspectives. However, there was a weaker match of initiative aimed at the environment. The geographical dimension of the project targeted a global health challenge, enacted by those from multiple countries, but conducted across a short timescale.



FIGURE 3 | Spider diagram showing the One Health (OH) Index scores assigned for the different elements of the One Health-ness evaluation. The overall OH Index calculated from the area enclosed (shown in red) = 0.34. The hexagon is made up from the scores allocated to the OH operations (thinking = 0.63, planning = 0.60, working = 0.60) and OH infrastructures (learning = 0.55, sharing = 0.50, systematic organization = 0.60). The scores were compared to the ideal scenario (score 1.0). The One Health Ratio is calculated as a comparison of operational scores against infrastructure scores and is 1.20.

Despite the initiative impacting on whole ecosystems, these impacts were not captured. The results of this satellite project could have international economic consequences but were only utilized to inform national protocols.

An extended initiative timescale and more balanced perspective could have captured long-term impacts important for public health and other wider impacts, thereby better serving the global context of OP use to control TBD in cattle.

The mean score for OH planning (0.60) was calculated according to the match between tasks, resources and responsibilities as shown in Table S2b in Supplementary Material. Many specialist staff were utilized effectively in their areas of expertise, for example the toxicologist testing residue samples and the translation of safety advice into broadcast materials by media experts. However, there were many roles completed by those with expertise in animal health that could be more suited to human health experts or social scientists. It was noted, however, that veterinarians held a great deal of professional respect in the communities where they were operating, meaning that it was generally accepted that they had authority to deliver safety information for animal products and treatments and one veterinarian had further training in human and occupational health. A bottom-up approach to the project was utilized with stakeholders actively involved in identifying risks (interviews, etc.) and developing solutions (educational material content and discussions for lack of behavior change following delivery of education). Interaction with local medical centers was only through veterinary staff and there was a lack of follow-up so numbers of possible patients associated with OP use were unknown. However, accident-at-work reporting from the dip-tanks was monitored and captured direct exposure and inhalation toxicities. The project also aimed to build an intersectoral network.

One health working assessed the transdisciplinarity (0.60) and measured the extent to which there was cross-disciplinary working and leadership that enabled an innovative approach to the challenges in this case. The initiative was broad and flexible but suffered from an imbalance of actors. There were a larger number of those from animal health throughout but these contributors came from across multiple dimensions and scales, from local to international, with successful collaboration. Table S2c in Supplementary Material shows how stakeholders worked in an interdisciplinary way across these different dimensions to address issues impacting people, plants, animals, and the environment. There were innovative outcomes arising from the transdisciplinarity of the project through the collaboration with media and communication experts in the production of education materials for a community safety campaign. However, the satellite project may have suffered from a lack of representatives from social science and Zambian public health expertise. The initiative did, however, receive crucial input in the planning phase from an Italian doctor of public health, trained in public health promotion techniques. Despite there being warning labels for harmful exposure routes on the acaricide canisters, the identification of risk behavior and interventions to reduce it, required the involvement of a range of stakeholders and transdisciplinary working. Given the time when the satellite project was performed (late 1980s), a high level of leadership was required to both conceive of, and get accepted by both national governments, such a pioneering project. It also demonstrated adaptability by responding to results as they emerged, allowing unexpected outcomes to be captured while building a network and culture of cooperation through annual conferences.

One health learning infrastructures (0.50) scored moderately compared to the ideal adaptive and generative learning that could occur. It was more favorable at individual level with some adaptive learning, but the application of learned knowledge at individual, team, and organization level was limited (Table S2e in Supplementary Material). Feedback from end-users was readily received during several community "meetings under the tree" allowing for adaptation but was not applied during the initiative. Multimedia educational material received participation from experts and local stakeholders. There was established a yearly seminar for the provincial veterinary staff in Zambia, which also included local experts to disseminate information. Peer-to-peer learning was carried out between the Zambian animal health workers but facilitated by the Italian Institute. Institutional learning also occurred for the Italian vets working mostly for the first time in Zambia under field conditions, meaning exposure to novel challenges. Following the satellite project and AHP any continued collaboration was not formally recorded and thought to be only on a personal level. Up-dates on the present disease extent and on the methods to control Theileriosis, implemented after the termination of the Italian project, were obtained through publications, reports by FAO and Belgian Cooperation projects, and via personal communications with veterinary consultants who used to work in the Country. Feedback was gathered at the time of the project during face-to-face meetings, and a final handing-over project report but it has not been taken since the project ended (7).

Another moderately scored aspect of this case study was OH sharing (0.55) as outlined in Table S2d in Supplementary Material. There was good appreciation of the potential stakeholders to be involved in the project but, as previously discussed, those from human health could have played a greater role to enhance the outcomes of the project further. Data quality was variable, with some elements of the OHI being published in peer-reviewed journals (e.g., toxicology data and public health promotion activities) but in other areas there were qualitative risk assessments with no baseline case numbers for harm arising from the AHP. The full impact of the OHI was not captured adequately with only anecdotal evidence collected. However, resources were provided to allow wider sharing of risk behavior data and methods for risk mitigation both internally and externally with staff and regional animal health workers. Frequent and routine meetings were held between Zambian field staff, with provincial Zambian staff invited to a biannual meeting with national Zambian staff. There were also yearly expert missions from ISS Rome that included laboratory technicians, development cooperation, and administrative staff. Findings were used to inform a radio and television program to share findings with the public with the aim of reducing risk behavior but it is unknown if these resource intensive outputs were used after the conclusion of the project.

Systemic organization (0.60) assessed team structure, leadership and focus as outlined in Table S2f in Supplementary Material. There were multiple teams acting in the initiative with fairly clear objectives; however, some teams were of limited size and lacked formal structure for inter-team relations. The bias toward animal health sector actors was a limiting factor but despite this, the initiative was successful in utilizing an integrated system and yielded interdisciplinary outcomes.

The overall OH Index = 0.34 was calculated from the area enclosed by the points of the spider diagram (**Figure 3**; Table S2g in Supplementary Material). The OHI demonstrated moderate success in most areas of One Health integration. A comparison of the satellite project's OH operations to infrastructure elements showed slightly better operational scores by managing to incorporate the input across multiple dimensions. The ratio of OH operations and infrastructure was estimated by the OHR = 1.20.

Economic Evaluation

Table 2 shows the breakdown of the total expenditure supported by financing organizations for the satellite project, by type of activity and relevance.

Educational and training activities covered 57.2% of the total satellite project's expenditure; the evaluation, monitoring, and prevention of intoxication risk 39.4%; and the other type of expenditure 3.5%. Total expenditure equaled about 2% of the overall budget for the AHP.

The identification of the project benefits for local communities was preceded by estimations on the acaricide use during the AHP implantation in the 90 DT stations initially targeted. According to technical data provided by project experts, in the two years of AHP and OHI operation it can be calculated that 10,035 kg of acaricide active ingredient were used, resulting in the disposal of 6,690 empty canisters and 2,430,000 l of end-of-season DT fluid containing approximately 1,020 kg of active ingredient (see Annexe A1).

TABLE 2 | Breakdown of the expenditure supported by financing organizations for the implementation of the satellite project by type of activity.

Activities	USD ^a	%
Educational and training activities (sub-total)	30,559	57.2%
 Training activities and conferences 	11,971	22.4%
 Radio program concept and development 	4,448	8.3%
 Radio program production and broadcast 	4,818	9.0%
 Production of dip-tank operator procedural manual 	4,138	7.7%
 4-month fellowship by Istituto Italo-Africano for 	3,569	6.7%
veterinarian counseling to the radio program production		
 Production of educational leaflets 	1,615	3.0%
Evaluation, monitoring and prevention of intoxication risks (sub-total)	21,041	39.4%
- Residue testing and analysis	8,911	16.7%
 Assessment of occupational hazards 	7,485	14.0%
 Provision of personal protective equipment 	4,487	8.4%
 Provision and distribution of atropine to hospitals 	159	0.3%
Other (sub-total)	1,859	3.5%
- Staff support at ISS Rome and WHO/FAO collaborating center	1,859	3.5%
Total expenditure	53,460	100.0%

^aOriginal values in old Zambian Kwacha (ZMK) were converted into US Dollars: average exchange rate from January 1, 1988, to December 21, 1989, 1 USD = 11.8679 ZMK (source: www.fxtop.com, accessed on September 23, 2017).

The project output included production of educational activities and training materials, laboratory services, hazard assessment, and the provision of protective equipment and antidotes. This contributed to reduce the cases of OP poisoning and the environmental hazard arising from the implementation of the AHP and other similar initiatives, as well as from the general use of pesticides in the impacted area (see Annexe A2).

Annexe A3 summarizes the economic benefits of the project for the population of the beneficiary country consisting of the incomes directly and indirectly generated by employment of local staff and local purchases of goods and services, the willingness to pay of local population for the avoided cases of OP poisoning in humans and the related resource savings for the public health system, the patients and their families, and the willingness to pay of local population for the reduction of health and environmental hazards (see Annexe A3).

Due to a scarcity of data, it has not been possible to appraise the monetary value of such benefits within this study. The estimation of the incomes generated for the local population, beyond the information from the project's technical and financial reporting, would have required other evaluations based on macroeconomic statistics of the benefited country regarding foreign trade and intermediate and final consumption of goods and services at that time (22, 23). A quantification of the prevented OP poisoning cases and an assessment of the reduced health and environmental impacts would have opened the possibility to evaluate, through the available methodologies, both: the willingness to pay of the impacted population for such benefits and the saving of resources obtained (16, 24, 25).

DISCUSSION

Application of this newly described framework for evaluation of integrated health projects has shown the added benefits (theory of change) from taking this pioneering approach in an earlier animal health intervention. The OHI in this case study achieved moderate success in all six evaluation themes, but failed to demonstrate long-term change or continued learning beyond its own system. As highlighted in the introductory chapter by Ruegg et al., a higher OH index does not necessarily indicate a "better" OH initiative, so it is difficult to draw comparisons of results of this case study with others at this time. However, data from this case study can and will be compared to others during further verification of the framework and in creating benchmarks in the future. Despite limited resources allocated to the completion and data collection for evaluation and the long time elapsed since project completion, it is hoped that the qualitative evaluation approach utilized here proves important in understanding short-comings and strengths of initiatives in a context-specific way.

The case study highlights clearly the wider impacts and unintended consequences that even a simple and well-established technology, such as applied for animal health here, may have on other aspects of society. The introduction of an animal health strategy in this local context (dipping and, in particular, acaricide products) did not consider relevant cultural aspects of the society such as perceptions the local population held on the level of potential risks when using an acaricide. Cultural determinants are relevant aspects of the system as they determine credence, behaviors, and material practices. This emphasizes the need to put health measures in their social context before implementation, i.e., taking a One Health approach to risk analysis and impact assessment. In this case study, AHP managers and local and national authorities were obliged to intervene due to the unexpected consequences (i.e., reuse of acaricide canisters) emerging from the AHP. It was not possible to quantitatively assess the benefits of the satellite project for the reasons already outlined. However, based on the national incidence of signs arising from the misuse of OP and related facilities, it makes sense to affirm that consequences might occur if no measures (the satellite project) were adopted. A lesson that seems still appropriate today.

The evaluation was made challenging by a lack of monitoring data to assess impacts arising from the One Health initiative. Evidence for harm arising from exposure to OPs is widely recognized in the medical literature and thus a logical model of harmful impacts was assumed based on areas where exposure was a risk. Although an integrated approach was not necessary for these harms to be predicted, the identification of risk behavior within the system would have been limited by a siloed disciplinary approach. In this case study, researchers were mostly from the animal health sector but had suitable understanding to allow detection of risks. These initial risk assessments were then supported through transdisciplinary working to develop and deliver intervention strategies.

The OHI was seemingly successful in transfer of knowledge but local stakeholder attitudes to the risks identified and communicated were "rather unmodified." However, this was based on personal observations only. It was generally acknowledged that there was free provision of protective equipment for DTOs but its uptake was not formally recorded or successful on 100% of observations. There was also no formal recording on container reuse following modified advice, but this was sporadically observed (at least 4–5 times) suggesting a <100% success in adhering to warning messages.

The retrospective nature of the OH evaluation limited the potential impact of results. If the OH approach had been taken earlier in the intervention then it may have aided the decisionmaking in the planning stages, for example, taking into consderation costs or benefits arising from economical, social, and sustainability perspectives in a final decision as to the interventions viability or ethical conflicts.

The imminent health risk multiplier related to the acaricide was identified due to a mostly effective collaboration in an international, multi-disciplinary and multi-institutional team. After the implementation of the satellite project, no trace of this experience reportedly remained encoded in a structured model of institutional cooperation to ensure a similar integrated approach may be used for other problems. This underlines some relevant aspect of OH: (i) interdisciplinary and institutional cooperation is fundamental to get the advantages of OH operation; (ii) individual cooperation does not necessarily translate into institutional structures suitable for facing new problems in an effective way.

The evaluation framework according to the NEOH handbook (see text footnote 1) was applied retrospectively in this case study.

This required a great deal of specific data for what was a delayed evaluation (more than 25 years after project implementation) of an informally monitored initiative. This proved challenging at times and limited the involvement of stakeholders to just a few. However, information and data were gathered for the evaluation by way of review of published and gray literature, original documentation from the initiative and semi-structured interview. Attempts to contact other stakeholders and to measure long-term impacts were unsuccessful, but the delay in evaluation in this case study is likely exceptional. It is, therefore, not suggested that this is a failing of the framework.

The AHP and the satellite project were not shaped and managed in order to provide data and information to perform current OH-ness or economic evaluation. Some data about cost were available but benefits can only be assessed in a qualitative and hypothetical way. Organizational and institutional settings adopted for the management of the satellite project are relevant for the assessment of OH-ness. They have been reconstructed through interviews with the people involved with project implementation and most of them could not be reached after approximately 25 years. Available information was compiled independently from the completion of questionnaire tools in the first instance. This allowed a more complete understanding of the initiative but this approach was time consuming and a targeted plan for information gathering to occur throughout the initiative may be desirable. The completion of the evaluation questionnaire by an external evaluator helped to reduce bias but could be vulnerable to misinterpretation on the part of the evaluator. The review of evaluation scoring criteria by multiple other evaluators, both internal and external and from differing disciplines, helped to address any bias toward the perspective of a particular evaluator. This approach proved feasible and practical for the geographically isolated evaluators in this case study. It is proposed that completion of similar evaluations could be done by external evaluators in isolation from stakeholders (thereby reducing resources required), if there existed good processes for information gathering in planning and completion of the initiative. A retrospective evaluation in this instance, therefore, proved limiting. The process of system mapping as an initial stage of evaluation lends itself well to the review of One Health initiatives. In this example, little specific data were available to map a broad system, but the mapping process allowed for assumed impact pathways (based on existing knowledge) to be used to better illustrate the context surrounding the initiative.

CONCLUSION

The satellite project used a pioneering *ante-litteram* OH approach many years before the present OH definition was set and a more structured OH approach was implemented. This case study highlights the risk of implementing health interventions without consideration of the wider context and potential impacts for indirect stakeholders. The avoidance of harm and improved species equity achieved when using a One Health approach is achieved through effective transdisciplinary collaboration. In this case study, the costs of implementing such an approach were small in comparison to overall project costs, but are proposed to have had large potential impacts. This supports the implementation of One Health assessments as part of larger health programs as good value. It is recommended, however, that there be greater attention paid to determining the system, processes for monitoring and effective influence points in the planning stages to take the greatest benefit of such an approach. Routine monitoring and evaluation from a One Health perspective by utilizing the framework proposed by NEOH, could prove a valuable addition in future health strategies and as a tool for retrospective evaluation of existing policies.

ETHICS STATEMENT

No personal information was used in this evaluation and methods used retrospective evaluation only meaning no ethical consent was sought/required for completion.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DM: general contribution in the study design; providing all background info and data concerning the AHP and the OHI activities which he carried out as (former) project consultant in Zambia; contribution in attributing the OH-ness scores; collaboration in revising, editing the manuscript; GL: primary external OH-ness and economic evaluator; SS: tertiary external OH-ness evaluator; MC: secondary external OH-ness evaluator; co-responsible of the section on "Economic evaluation"; MA: secondary external OH-ness evaluator; co-responsible of the section on "Economic evaluator; co-responsible of the section on "Economic evaluation"; contributor to the section "System map and Theory

REFERENCES

- Rüegg SR, McMahon BJ, Häsler B, Esposito R, Nielsen LR, Ifejika Speranza C, et al. A Blueprint to Evaluate One Health. *Front Public Health* (2017) 5:20. doi:10.3389/fpubh.2017.00020
- Rüegg SR, Nielsen LR, Buttigieg S, Santa M, Aragrande M, Canali M, et al. A systems approach to evaluate One Health initiatives. *Front Vet Sci* (2018) 5:23. doi:10.3389/fvets.2018.00023
- Ghirotti M, Griffiths RB, Mungaba FN, editors. Proceedings of 1st National Seminar on Dip Management and Tick Control; 1987 Oct 29–31, Mazabuka, Zambia. Rome, Italy: Veterinary Public Health Report/Rapporti di Sanità Pubblica Veterinaria, ISS/WHO/CC/89.6 (1989).
- Ghirotti M, Mwanaumo B, De Meneghi D. A Manual on Dip-Tank Management for Field Staff. Rome: Veterinary Public Health Report/Rapporti di Sanità Pubblica Veterinaria, ISS/WHO/FAO-CC/IZSTe/90.12 (1990).
- De Meneghi D, Griffiths RB, Pini A, Mungaba FN, editors. Proceedings 2nd National Seminar on Dip Management and East Coast Fever-Corridor Disease; 1998 Sep 26–30; Katete, Zambia. Rome, Italy: Veterinary Public Health Reports/ Rapporti di Sanità Pubblica Veterinaria, ISS/WHO/CC/90.10 (1990).
- De Meneghi D, Sinyangwe P, Singh S. Field experiences in theileriosis control in Zambia. Vet Ital (1994) 11:24–30.
- De Meneghi D, Stachurski F, Adakal H. Experiences in tick control by acaricide in the traditional cattle sector in Zambia and Burkina Faso: possible environmental and public health implications. *Front Public Health* (2016) 4:239. doi:10.3389/fpubh.2016.00239
- Camoni I, Ghirotti M, De Meneghi D, Diverio S, Generali T, Izzo P, et al. Chlorfenvinphos residues in milk from traditionally managed cows in Southern Province, Zambia. Vet Res Commun (1990) 14(6):503–6. doi:10.1007/ BF00367062
- Scorziello M, Mantovani A, De Meneghi D, Diverio S, Masunu P. Occupational health promotion amongst cattle farmers in Zambia. *Health Promot Int* (1993) 8(2):103–10. doi:10.1093/heapro/8.2.103

of Change"; all authors: drafting, editing, and reviewing the final version of the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This paper is dedicated to the memory of Prof. Adriano Mantovani, former Director of the Laboratory of Parasitology, ISS Rome, Director of the WHO/FAO/OIE Collaborating Centre for Research & Training in VPH, Scientific responsible of the AHP in Zambia, and one of the father of Veterinary Public Health (VPH). The Authors greatly acknowledge the invaluable contribution by: (i) Dr. Maria Scorziello Biocca, MD, formerly at Ministry of Health as Public health specialist, seconded to the ISS Rome; (ii) Dr. Prof. Silvana Diverio, DVM, former grantee of the *Istituto Italo-Africano*, now at the University of Perugia, for their help to retrieve old data/info about the "satellite project" (OHI) and for participating in the scoring exercise of the OH evaluation.

FUNDING

This article is based upon work from COST Action (Network for Evaluation of One Health, TD1404), supported by COST (European Cooperation in Science and Technology).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at http://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh.2018.00045/ full#supplementary-material.

- Kaloyanova F. Toxicity of selected groups of pesticides: organophosfates. In: World Health Organization, Regional Office for Europe, editors. *Toxicology of Pesticides*. Copenhagen, Denmark: WHO (1982). p. 133–144. Health Aspects of Chemical Safety; Interim Document No. 9.
- Ratanen J. Occupational health and safety—a global overview. Proceedings of the NIVA Course on Occuptional Safety and Health Work in Developing Countries; 1988 Nov 14–18; Stockholm (Sweden). Helsinki: African Newsletter on Occupational Health and Safety (1989).
- Jeyaratnam J. The use of pesticides in developing countries. Proceedings NIVA Course on Occupational Safety and Health Work in Developing Countries; 1988 Nov 14–18; Stockholm. Helsinki: African Newsletter on Occupational Health & Safety (1989).
- Codex Alimentarius. Codex Maximum Limits for Pesticide Residues. 1st ed. (Vol. 13). Rome: FAO/WHO, CAC (1983).
- Drummond MF, Jefferson TO. Guidelines for authors and peer reviewers of economic submissions to the BMJ. The BMJ Economic Evaluation Working Party. *BMJ* (1996) 313(7052):275–83. doi:10.1136/bmj.313.7052.275
- 15. Thoma A, Sprague S, Tandan V. Users' guide to the surgical literature: how to use an article on economic analysis. *Can J Surg* (2001) 44(5):347–54.
- Drummond MF, Sculpher MJ, Torrance GW, O'Brien BJ, Stoddart GL. Methods for the Economic Evaluation of Health Care Programmes. 3rd ed. New York: Oxford University Press (2005).
- Higgins J, Green S, editors. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions. Version 5.1.0 [updated March 2011], The Cochrane Collaboration. (2011). Available from: www.handbook.cochrane.org
- Mayer S, Kiss N, Łaszewska A, Simon J. Costing evidence for health care decision-making in Austria: a systematic review. *PLoS One* (2017) 12(8):e0183116. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0183116
- Rezapour A, Jafari A, Mirmasoudi K, Talebianpour H. Quality assessment of published articles in Iranian journals related to economic evaluation in health care programs based on Drummond's checklist: a narrative review. *Iran J Med Sci* (2017) 42(5):427–36.

- MurthyS, John D, Godinho IP, Godinho MA, Guddattu V, Nair NS. A protocol for a systematic review of economic evaluation studies conducted on neonatal systemic infections in South Asia. Syst Rev (2017) 6:252. doi:10.1186/ s13643-017-0648-7
- Bampoe S, Odor PM, Ramani Moonesinghe S, Dickinson M. A systematic review and overview of health economic evaluations of emergency laparotomy. *Perioper Med (Lond)* (2017) 6:21. doi:10.1186/s13741-017-0078-z
- Dufumier M. Les projets de développement agricole: manuel d'expertise. Paris: Karthala (1996). Available from: http://www.karthala.com/104-projets-dedeveloppement-agricole-manuel-dexpertise-9782865376810.html
- 23. Bridier M, Michaïlof S. Guide pratique d'analyse de projets: évaluation et choix des projets d'investissements. 5th ed. Paris: Economica (1995).
- 24. Travisi MC, Nijkamp P, Vindigni G. Pesticide risk valuation in empirical economics: a comparative approach. *Ecol Econ* (2006) 56(4):455–74. doi:10.1016/j.ecolecon.2004.06.026
- Tago D, Andersson H, Treich N. Pesticides and health: a review of evidence on health effects, valuation of risks, and benefit-cost analysis. In: Blomquist GC,

Bolin K, editors. Preference Measurement in Health (Advances in Health Economics and Health Services Research, Volume 24). Bingley (UK): Emerald Group Publishing Ltd (2014). p. 203–95. Available at: http://www.emeraldinsight.com/doi/10.1108/S0731-219920140000024006

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Laing, Aragrande, Canali, Savic and De Meneghi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

APPENDIX

ANNEXE A1 | Technical data and estimations on acaricide use in the DT stations targeted by the satellite project.

- 90 DTs, mean number of operational DTS/each dipping season (average volume 16,000 l) for about 2 million cattle dips/year;
- DT fluid removed by dipping = 2.5 I per each cattle dip;
- DT replenishment after 1,000 dips = 2,500 l of DT fluid/replenishment;
- Total number of DT replenishments = (2 million cattle dips per year/1.000 dips) 90 first charging = 1,910 replenishments per year;
- Acaricide dilution in DT fluid: 1 | acaricide/600 | of water for initial DT charging; 3 | acaricide/1,000 | of water for DT replenishments;
- Total acaricide utilized = (16,000 × 90 × 1/600) I + (2,500 × 1,910 × 3/1,000) I = 16,725 I per year (containing 5,017.5 kg of active principle);
- Acaricide canisters (5 | volume) to be disposed = 16,170/5 = 3,345canisters per year;
- End-of-season disposal of DT fluid by using decantation pits before dispersal on fallow land = (16,000 - 2,500) I × 90 DTs = 1,215,000 I per year (containing about 610 kg of active principle).

Source, Ref. (3-7) and own evaluations.

ANNEXE A2 | Output description of the satellite project.

(B) Output description of the satellite project

- Staff trained: 95 operators of the 90 targeted DT stations, 20 Veterinary assistants, 5 laboratory assistants;
- 2. Two national seminars organized for veterinarians and livestock officers;
- 3. One radio program produced and broadcasted twice;
- 4. Procedure manual for DT operators produced and 250 copies printed;
- 5. Educational leaflets produced and 300 copies printed;
- 6. Project report produced and 150 copies printed;
- Residues analysis in milk samples from 10 cows x 4 subsequent samplings after dipping, plus testing residues in empty canisters used to transport water and other food stuffs
- 8. Assessment of occupational hazards in DT stations
- Personal protection equipment provided to the DTOs at the operational DTS;
- 10. Atropine distributed to vet offices, health centers and hospitals in the 5 District under the AHP assistance
- Potential avoidance of OP poisoning cases due to implementation of the AHP and similar interventions, and more generally for pesticide use in the impacted area.
- 12. Potential reduction of health and environmental risks:
 - 12.1. Reduction of the risk of acute and chronic intoxication of DT stations' staff caused by mishandling and bad practices in DT operations (handling of about 9,700 kg of acaricide active principle during the 2-year project period in the 90 targeted DT stations);
 - 12.2. Reduction of the risk of acute and chronic intoxication of herders and local population caused by utilization of empty acaricide canisters for transportation and storage of water, milk, and other liquids for food and domestic uses (about 6,690 empty canisters to be disposed during the 2-year project period in the 90 targeted DT stations);

(Continued)

ANNEXE A2 | Continued

- Reduction of the risks of acute and chronic intoxication of herders caused by cattle cares and operations practiced within 5 h after DT dipping;
- 12.4. Reduction of the risks of acute and chronic intoxication of herders and local population caused by human consumption of milk produced within 24 h after DT dipping;
- 12.5. Reduction of the risks of active principle dispersion in the environment caused by direct disposal of end-of-season DT fluid into fallow land without previous decantation (25,430 hl of DT fluid containing about 1,020 kg of active principle during the 2-year project period in the 90 targeted DT stations);
- 12.6. Improved skills of DT stations' staff and awareness of local herders and population reduced the general risks of active principle dispersion in the environment (10,035 kg of acaricide active principle were used during the 2-year project period in the 90 targeted DT stations);
- 12.7. Improved skills of DT stations' staff and awareness of local herders and population permanently reduced the risks listed from point *Error! Reference source not found.* to point *Error! Reference source not found.* for similar initiatives undertaken after the end of the project and more generally for pesticide use and handling in the impacted area.

Source Ref. (7–9), and own elaborations.

ANNEXE A3 | Summary of the satellite project's benefits for the population of the beneficiary country.

- (i) Incomes generated by the project:
 - salaries and other incomes of local staff directly employed by the project;
 incomes generated to local population by project's purchases of goods
 - and services in the territory of the beneficiary communities;
 income generated to local population by project's foreign staff personal purchases of goods and services in the territory of the beneficiary
 - communities;
 increased income derived by the reduced cattle mortality and increased productivity
- (ii) Willingness to pay for improvements in the health state of the population consequent to implementation of the AHP and more generally to TBD control practices and pesticide use:
 - potentially avoided cases of acute and chronic OP poisoning in humans related to the AHP and to similar interventions;
- (iii) Resource saved from potentially avoided cases of acute and chronic OP poisoning in humans:
 - resource saved in the public health care sector;
 - resource saved by patients and their households;
 - avoided productivity losses.
- (iv) Willingness to pay for reduced environmental and health hazards consequent to implementation of the AHP:
 - reduced risks of acute and chronic OP poisoning in humans;
 - reduced risks of OP dispersion in the environment;
- (v) Willingness to pay for reduced environmental and health hazards consequent to TBD control practices and pesticide use beyond the AHP:
 - reduced environmental and health hazards from general improvement of local skills and awareness regarding TBD control practices and pesticide use.

Source: Own elaborations.





A One Health Evaluation of the University of Copenhagen Research Centre for Control of Antibiotic Resistance

Anaïs Léger^{1*}, Katharina D.C. Stärk¹, Jonathan Rushton² and Liza R. Nielsen³

¹ SAFOSO AG, Bern, Switzerland, ² Faculty of Health and Life Science, Institute of Infection and Global Health, University of Liverpool, Liverpool, United Kingdom, ³ Department of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences, University of Copenhagen, Frederiksberg, Denmark

We applied the evaluation framework developed by the EU COST Action "Network of Evaluation of One Health" (NEOH) to assess the operations, supporting infrastructures and outcomes of a research consortium "University of Copenhagen Research Centre for Control of Antibiotic Resistance" (UC-CARE). This 4-year research project was a One Health (OH) initiative with participants from 14 departments over four faculties as well as stakeholders from industry and health authorities aiming to produce new knowledge to reduce the development of antimicrobial resistance (AMR). This was a case study focusing on assessing beneficial and counter-productive characteristics that could affect the OH outcomes. The study was also used to provide feedback to NEOH about the evaluation framework. The framework and evaluation tools are described in the introduction paper of this special journal issue. Data for the evaluation were extracted from the funding research proposal, the mid-term UC-CARE project evaluation report and supplemented with opinions elicited from project participants and stakeholders. Here, we describe the underlying system, theory of change behind the initiative and adapted questions from the NEOH tools that we used for semi-open interviews with consortium members throughout the evaluation process. An online survey was used to obtain information from stakeholders. The NEOH evaluation tools were then used for the qualitative and quantitative evaluation of the OH characteristics of UC-CARE. Senior UC-CARE researchers were interested and willing to be interviewed. Young scientists were more difficult to engage in interviews, and only 25% of stakeholders answered the online survey. Interviewees mentioned that the main benefit of UC-CARE was an increased awareness and general understanding of AMR issues. All interviewees stated that the adopted OH approach was relevant given the complexity of AMR. However, some questioned the applicability, and identified potentially counter-productive issues mainly related to the information sharing, collaboration and working methods across the consortium. A more integrated project organization, more stakeholder involvement and time for the project, flexibility in planning and a dedicated OH coordinator were suggested to allow for more knowledge exchange, potentially leading to a higher societal impact.

Keywords: One Health, evaluation, AMR-research, theory of change, outcomes

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Salome Dürr, Universität Bern, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Monique Sarah Léchenne, Swiss Tropical and Public Health Institute, Switzerland Simon Rodrigo Rüegg, Universität Zürich, Switzerland

> *Correspondence: Anaïs Léger anais.leger@safoso.ch

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Veterinary Epidemiology and Economics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 29 August 2017 Accepted: 27 July 2018 Published: 21 August 2018

Citation:

Léger A, Stärk KDC, Rushton J and Nielsen LR (2018) A One Health Evaluation of the University of Copenhagen Research Centre for Control of Antibiotic Resistance. Front. Vet. Sci. 5:194. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00194

INTRODUCTION

Antibiotics are used to treat domesticated terrestrial and aquatic animals, plants, and humans from bacterial infections, but their lack of effectiveness on some resistant bacteria has resulted in deaths and the increased suffering of people and animals (1, 2). Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) is a global issue concerning human and animal health, and several actions are being taken at national and international levels to slow down and reduce this trend (3). In the context of a growing human population, with greater domesticated animal populations, healthcare systems relying on antibiotics for their effectiveness, and international travel and trade, there is an increasing need for the improved management and use of antimicrobials and the pursuit of alternatives to existing antimicrobial compounds (1, 4).

A One Health (OH) approach is recommended by the scientific community and international organizations to solve complex situations and new issues such as AMR (2, 5-7). Researchers from different disciplines need to collaborate and seek support and involvement across multiple sectors. OH approaches have been implemented in diverse fields and the benefit has been demonstrated in different studies (8). Among the numerous examples of OH approaches (9, 10) are those relating to the surveillance of zoonotic or food-borne diseases (11–14), effective disease control policies (15) and implementation of control measures (16–19) and research (20–22).

The "University of Copenhagen Research Centre for Control of Antibiotic Resistance" (UC-CARE) was a collaborative effort across a number of disciplines. It adopted an OH approach as the central theme of the consortium, launching a large 4-year research project in 2013 (23). UC-CARE aimed to provide knowledge to combat AMR through inter-sectorial collaboration between the human and animal health sectors. It involved 14 departments across four faculties of the University of Copenhagen and engaged the Danish livestock farming and pharmaceutical industries and national health authorities as the main stakeholders. The research project had six research work packages (WPs) with specific objectives and varying numbers of researchers (WP leaders, PhD fellows, Post-docs and Assistant/Associate Professors), one WP dedicated to dissemination and education, and one management WP with a management board, stakeholder board and scientific advisory board. The initial budget in the project proposal was 34.7 million DKK, including salaries for 636 man-months (53 years) of research and 54 man-months of technical and administrative support. The initiative therefore constituted a significant OH effort, funded mainly by the university itself.

A mid-term evaluation of the UC-CARE project was conducted in May 2016 by external researchers, and a final evaluation was planned after completion of the project. However, commonly used frameworks for research project evaluations do not cover all the aspects of OH initiatives that are relevant to the outcomes and societal impacts that such initiatives are aimed toward (24). Rather, OH initiatives should be evaluated using methods targeting the transdisciplinarity of the initiative and the potential added value of choosing that approach over a less integrated approach. For this reason, a "Network for

Evaluation of One Health" (NEOH) (25) was created in 2014, supported by a European Corporation in Science & Technology (EU COST) action to develop evidence-based guidelines and tools for the qualitative and quantitative assessment of OH initiatives. The developed framework and evaluation tools have been presented in detail by NEOH consortium members in the Frontiers journal research topic¹ (26). In short, it consists of four elements: (i) a description of the underlying system and the OH initiative in relation to the system; (ii) the theory of change behind the initiative, including expected outcomes; (iii) the evaluation process supported by evaluation tools that summarize the qualitative and quantitative evaluation of operations and supporting infrastructures in the initiative (referred to as "the One Health-ness" of the initiative); (iv) a comparison of the One Health-ness and the outcomes of the initiative. The elements are described in more detail in sections Materials and Methods and The Resulting Evaluation of UC-CARE below.

During 2016 and 2017, case studies were carried out by NEOH consortium members on real life OH initiatives to assess the usefulness and present the application of the NEOH framework. Two objectives of the case study were presented: (1) to evaluate the transdisciplinarity and outcomes of the UC-CARE consortium and research project using the NEOH evaluation framework and tools, and (2) to assess the usefulness of the NEOH framework and tools for further refinement. As we decided to illustrate the results of the UC-CARE evaluation using the amended and published NEOH framework resulting from the case study feedback, the following report will focus on the first objective.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Methods for the Evaluation of UC-CARE

The evaluation mainly took place in November and December 2016 and was fully supported by the management board of UC-CARE. In October 2016, the principal investigator (PI) encouraged all actors in the consortium to agree to an interview with the external evaluator.

Defining and agreeing upon an evaluation question is important, and in this case study, the question was: which elements of UC-CARE were particularly productive and efficient, and which elements could be improved to ensure that the expected intermediary outcomes (i.e., high research quality and substantial output) will ultimately lead to a positive impact on human, animal, and environmental health, given the available resources in the consortium?

To answer the evaluation question, it is necessary for the evaluator to first develop a thorough understanding of the structures, boundaries, and dynamics of the initiative, as well as an overview of the actors involved and stakeholders affected by or interacting with the initiative. The initiative should be seen in relation to the underlying system for which it is intended have an impact (i.e., the context). This constitutes the first evaluation element in the NEOH framework (26).

 $[\]label{eq:linear} ^1 https://www.frontiersin.org/research-topics/5479/concepts-and-experiences-inframing-integration-and-evaluation-of-one-health-and-ecohealth.$

The second element in the evaluation is to describe the theory of change (TOC), which is an outcome-oriented approach to describing the logics and reasoning behind the design of the initiative, including the identification of expected outputs and outcomes, arising within and between disciplines, and the resulting expected impacts on the underlying system. The TOC was defined by Rüegg et al. (26): "The TOC explains all the different pathways that might lead to the desired effect of an initiative. It not only shows the outputs, outcomes, and impact of an initiative, but also requires outlining (and explaining) the causal linkages. Each effect is shown in a logical relationship to all the others." For the UC-CARE case study, information about the initiative and the expected impact on the underlying system as well as the TOC were obtained from the original research proposal and the mid-way evaluation report in which the consortium design, aims, outcomes and expected societal impacts were partly described, supplemented with interviews with the principle investigators and work-package (WP) leaders, who knew more about the process of the development of the consortium (we refer to section Data Collection and Methods for Assessing OH Outcomes and Outputs below for more information).

The third element is the evaluation process, supported by tools to summarize the qualitative and quantitative evaluation of operations and supporting infrastructures in the initiative (26). This is also referred to as "the OH-ness" of the initiative, and the method used is described in section Methods for Assessing the OH-ness of the Initiative below.

Finally, the fourth element is a comparison of "the OH-ness" with the outcomes of the initiative. For this particular study, this could only be addressed in a qualitative and descriptive way in the discussion of the results (section Discussion). Future comparison across multiple case studies may lead to a better understanding of the optimal attributes of OH initiatives, but this is beyond the scope of this paper.

Data Collection

Data collection was conducted over 3 weeks in November 2016. It was based on (i) face-to-face interviews with consortium partners, (ii) an online survey for stakeholders and external partners, and (iii) internal documentation of UC-CARE (i.e., the initial proposal, mid-term evaluation). The data were collected by the first author, who was the external evaluator of the UC-CARE consortium.

No ethical approval was required for this study in accordance with the national and institutional requirements. All interviewees and stakeholders participated voluntarily and remain anonymous.

Face-to-Face Interviews Among the Consortium

One-hour long, semi-open interviews were conducted with consortium partners selected according to their role and commitment to the project. Three PIs and deputies, six research WP leaders, 20 young researchers (PhD and Post-doc students) and four other selected key people in the consortium were all targeted for interview. The WPs are described in relation to the system in section The OH Initiative UC-CARE Within the System. The constitution of each WP varied depending on available funding over the project period. The last author contacted the targeted interviewees by email to present the evaluation purpose and introduce the interviewer. Thereafter, the first author contacted them personally to schedule the interview.

The interview questions were adapted from the identified information developed in the NEOH tools (26). At the end of every interview, participants were also asked to go back to the original proposal and provide feedback about their results and their perception of progress in the efforts against AMR. The questionnaire was pre-tested through one pilot interview to minimize question ambiguity and generally refine the process. The questionnaire is available in Annex 1 (**Supplementary Material**).

All interviews were recorded with a simple voice recorder, stored as MP4 audio files and then transcribed by the first author after each interview in order to have access to all valuable information provided by the interviewees.

Online Survey for Stakeholders and External Partners

All 27 people on the UC-CARE mailing list for external partners, as well as members of the scientific advisory board and stakeholder board were contacted by personal email to take part in the survey by answering the online questionnaire.

The questionnaire was designed using Google Forms, and included 19 questions that took around 15–20 min to answer. The interview questions were adapted from the identified information developed in the NEOH tools (26). The questionnaire is available in Annex 2 (**Supplementary Material**). The questionnaire was pre-tested through two pilot interviews to minimize question ambiguity and generally refine the process.

Methods for Assessing the OH-ness of the Initiative

After the data and information were collected, the OH-ness of UC-CARE was assessed by following the format developed in the NEOH tools, which was provided in the form of Microsoft Excel spreadsheets with explanations, guidelines and pre-defined calculation formulae for overall measures (26). The OH-ness is the sum of several characteristics that define integrated approaches and transdisciplinarity, including the operations: OH thinking, OH planning, and OH working, and the supporting infrastructures: OH sharing, OH learning, and systemic organization (26). A training session for future evaluators was organized by the NEOH consortium in July 2016 to promote an understanding of the tools and how to use them.

While evaluating OH thinking, we assess how well and how much the dimensions (hierarchical orders of systems' organization) covered by the initiative fit with the real context of the research topic. It therefore helps to understand whether the initiative addresses appropriate aspects of the context so as to have the desired impact on the identified health challenge. The OH planning characteristics concern the organization of tasks in relation to the resources and responsibilities needed to complete the defined tasks and objectives over the duration of the initiative. Some of the questions must be defined in the planning tool, and can therefore differ among initiatives. Evaluation of OH working characteristics focuses on the broadness of the initiative in relation to disciplines and societal involvement, collaboration and the flexibility to adjust to changing conditions during the working phase of the initiative. When assessing OH sharing, evaluators must investigate the exchange of data and information across the initiative and with stakeholders. OH learning includes knowledge and understanding of the context and the initiative outputs at individual, group and organizational level. Systemic organization is evaluated in terms of the alignment of goals, actors and competencies, as well as relevant leadership skills and behavior.

For each OH characteristic, the identified metrics to support the evaluation were organized into a framework and phrased as a question (Annex 3 in **Supplementary Material**). Every question was scored based on a detailed explanation with arguments for the score. Each OH characteristic was assessed by a final score, which summarized the question-specific scores. All OH characteristics are depicted on a scale from 0 to 1 as a spoke of a diagram found in the sheet named "OH diagram" (26). The diagram surface of the initiative was then calculated relative to the maximum surface attainable, thus referring to the degree of OH integration in the initiative (i.e., the OH index, which is a number between 0 and 1). The balance between operational and supporting means was extrapolated from this (i.e., the OH ratio).

The qualitative and quantitative assessment was mainly conducted by the first and last author. A general review of the evaluation and interpretation of results was completed by the two other authors. Preliminary results were also presented to the UC-CARE consortium during the last annual meeting. Comments from the audience were then integrated into the final version of the evaluation, which was sent to the UC-CARE management board for comment and to check potential misunderstandings before submission of the manuscript for publication.

Methods for Assessing OH Outcomes and Outputs

A TOC was derived from the UC-CARE proposal to support the identification of outcomes and outputs and illustrated in a diagram (26). Realized outputs and outcomes were identified from the online survey, interviews, internal UC-CARE documents, and comments from the PI upon the final evaluation check. Since outputs and outcomes continue to result from the UC-CARE consortium, it is worth noting that those included here were realized by July 2017.

Considered outputs and outcomes were categorized as: disciplinary, interdisciplinary, OH, and unexpected. The analysis of outputs/outcomes was based on overall numeric and textual methods. However, it was not possible to count the exact number of research publications originating from the consortium after the mid-term report, as these were not collected in a central place and due to a lack of response from many consortium participants. This highlights the information-sharing issues in UC-CARE, as discussed below.

THE RESULTING EVALUATION OF UC-CARE

This section summarizes the full evaluation with regard to the four evaluation elements in the NEOH framework, i.e., the description of (i) the initiative within its identified context, (ii) the TOC, (iii) the OH-ness assessment and (iv) outcomes of the initiative.

In total, 18 consortium partners were interviewed: 10 individual interviews, two group interviews (each with two early-career researchers) and one group interview with four actors. At least one person was interviewed from each WP. It was difficult to count the number of partners in the consortium because this changed over time. However, there were 26 PhD and Post-doc fellows involved, and approximately the same number of more senior researchers and technical administrative personnel. The size of the WPs varied according to the available funding.

In addition, of the 27 stakeholders and external partners that were contacted, eight answered the online questionnaire. Five had OH project experience over the previous 10 years, one had short-term experience (between 1 and 5 years) and two had no prior experience in OH before UC-CARE.

Stakeholders and external partners stated they were mainly contacted by the PI at the beginning of the project and five of the eight declared they had provided direct scientific input to the project.

Evaluation Element 1: Identification of the Relevant Context for the Initiative

Description of the Context

The UC-CARE consortium operated within the overall context presented in **Figure 1**.

The overall **aim** of the system is to protect human and animal health in terms of AMR infections, as there has been an increase in deaths attributed to AMR worldwide (27, 28). Denmark has a highly organized and integrated surveillance, prevention and control system to minimize the AMR burdens in humans and animals through a process of science-based policy making. Reports are published by the different partners involved, and explain the annual outcomes and results, for example surveillance of antimicrobial use in animal production systems, health status of the country, reports about AMR cases, and final reports about relevant research projects initiated by government-supported research institutions. These reports are publically available and presented at public seminars, allowing change to be observed and implemented depending on the outcomes of the system, situation and public concern. The most comprehensive and consistent sources of information about AMR in humans and animals in Denmark, as well as the use of antimicrobials in animals, are the annual DANMAP reports (available at www.danmap.org, accessed on 26 July 2018).

As represented in **Figure 1**, **actors** in the system are located in the ministries of health, agriculture, environment and commerce, the health care system (including hospitals), pharmaceutical industry, food and agriculture industry, private practices for animal and human medicine, and research and education



institutions. The relationships among actors are represented in **Figure 1**. Weighted links were not considered in the figure. Changing legislation and providing research grants should alter the activities of the different actors. Depending on the previous results of the system, actors should be able to react and modify their behavior and activities.

The **stakeholders** are also represented in **Figure 1**: community, patients, future actors (e.g., students). If the system produces the expected outcomes, the stakeholders should be directly affected by the improved health and reduced risk of resistant infections in both humans and animals. Changes from stakeholders can also be expected after suitable awareness campaigns, e.g., appropriate use of antimicrobial therapy from patients.

The main **dimensions of the system** include geographical, temporal, political, and legislative, as well as dimension of life, network and economy.

- **The geographical dimension:** the AMR threat is a worldwide public health issue, and any improvement would be valuable in every country. However, the system of immediate relevance to UC-CARE was the Danish AMR context and the impact on the human and animal populations of Denmark.
- **The time dimension** of the system is mainly based on years. Any changes within the system, e.g., developing and applying new legislation, application, and use of research results would require several years. Moreover, many research projects are executed on an annual or multiple-year basis. The system has no time limit, i.e., as long as the final objective has not been reached, i.e., as long as AMR continues to be a health threat, the system will remain.
- **The political dimension** is significant within the system. Several ministries are direct actors; industries are part of the decision and possible change within the system. Moreover, stakeholders such as the community are more and more

concerned about AMR and the consequences for their health. The political dimension is limited by economic questions (e.g., costs of research, burden of the disease), public health issues (e.g., health threat, special care needed for infected patients) and progress of the research (e.g., discovery of new drugs).

- The legislative dimension is also significant in the system. The Danish legislation is of course the first step, but European and international legislation can also affect the system. Legislation provides a framework within which people and organizations can add their own decisions and standards to improve health for everyone. Results from research projects, drug discovery or the participation of researchers in evidence-based decision making could influence the legislative framework of the system.
- **The economy is also an important dimension** of the system. Costs and benefits are of concern to people and organizations at all levels, possibly limiting the progress and implementation of new discoveries.
- Also, **several** levels of the **dimension of life** are included in the system such as cell, wild and domesticated animals, individual humans, plant life, and the interaction of the human and animal populations. The network and the links between people and organizations are therefore a significant dimension of the system as they dictate the impact across the wider environment of animals and plants, as well as the human population.

The OH Initiative UC-CARE Within the System

The initiative gathered 14 departments from four different faculties of the University of Copenhagen, aimed at different aspects of the fight against AMR. Different disciplines were integrated in the initiative through veterinarians, microbiologists, economists, vaccinologists, pharmacologists, chemists, sociologists, psychologists, and physicians. Multiple sectors were targeted through the research, which aimed to: develop new antimicrobials, improve antimicrobial effectiveness, understand the mechanism of AMR, develop alternatives to antimicrobials (including vaccines and estimating their costs) and understand the drivers for prescribing antimicrobials. Human and animal sectors are commonly targeted. UC-CARE had six different WPs acting at different levels (**Figure 1**): WP1—drug discovery and translational research, WP2 alternative control strategies with focus on vaccine development, WP3—optimization of antibiotic therapy, WP4—comparison of current practices in human and veterinary medicine aimed at improving diagnostics, WP5—cost-benefit analysis and effects of management-based control options in livestock and WP6—societal issues and governance.

The initiative aimed to have an "impact on the life of humans and animals by providing new knowledge and solutions for enhanced diagnostics and antibiotic therapy of bacterial infections, leading to a significant reduction in the use of antibiotics in human and veterinary medicine" (extract from UC-CARE research funding proposal). The OH approach was integrated into the initiative at the proposal writing phase. It became apparent from the beginning that interdisciplinarity should be considered when deciding who should be involved in the initiative. Disciplines, hierarchies and responsibilities were shared among WPs from the beginning of the project.

Actors were from the University of Copenhagen, and included professors, PhD students, post-docs and other scientific and technical/administrative personnel. They were all located geographically close to each other as many were based in Copenhagen.

Stakeholders other than the actors were involved from the onset of the project, which aimed to include all possible partners from human and veterinary public institutions and private organizations. They were identified through the consortium (cf. OH sharing), and some were even more integrated into the process by participating in the research, being co-supervisors of students. They were referred to as "external partners," and they could have an impact on the research and its development.

No legal **restrictions** were identified. The discovery of new drugs is not subject to regulation, only the market release, so no particular factor limited the initiative. Sociologists, psychologists, linguists, and economists included in the project aimed to identify any social restrictions among antimicrobial prescribers, patients, and animal owners in order to understand the drivers of antimicrobial use and any alternatives. In addition, the social stigmatization of people and owners of farms with AMR infections was investigated.

Some **consequences** or **impacts** of this initiative were expected at societal level, although it was hard to infer before initiation of the project which were most likely to be realized. For instance, some decisive findings could lead to other research projects and the future development of new drugs or vaccines, and the consortium could be expected to have an impact on decision making through engagement with stakeholders.

The main **dimensions relevant to the initiative** were the geographical, temporal, and legislative dimension, as well as the dimension of life, network and economy (i.e., most of

the dimensions identified for the underlying system). When describing the dimensions reflected in UC-CARE outcomes, all stakeholders that responded to the online questionnaire had quite a global and holistic point of view (**Figure 2**).

Evaluation Element 2: Theory of Change of the Initiative

The TOC of the UC-CARE project is presented in **Figure 3**, and represents the different societal impacts that the initiative aimed for, together with the expected outcomes and the outputs determined by the different inputs and the linkages between these. Actions and inputs of the initiative were based on different sources and resources, such as results from previous studies, available Danish data, interviews with actors at governmental and societal level and the participation of patients, animal owners and prescribers in several studies.

Evaluation Element 3: One Health-ness Evaluation of the Initiative Degree of One Health-ness

The NEOH tools were completed based on the responses to the online survey and face-to-face interviews, as well as the information provided in the consortium proposal and mid-term evaluation report. The most relevant outcomes of the interviews are detailed below and the completed assessment table is available in Annex 3 (**Supplementary Material**).

The UC-CARE was a 4-year project and was therefore limited in time relative to the system. Moreover, the project was focused on the Danish system: all researchers were based in Copenhagen and some WPs focused on the particularities of the Danish system (e.g., cost-benefit analysis, effects of changed legislation, treatment guidelines for antimicrobial use). Other WPs worked across borders (e.g., prescription practices and perceptions of doctors in Denmark, France and Italy) and some of the technical results (e.g., within drug development) are of international relevance. Therefore, several outputs might still have an impact at European and international levels for years after the finalization of the project.

The main tool for communication among all participants was the annual consortium meeting. The meetings were the only opportunity to gather all participants, external partners, stakeholders, and advisory board members. The only other consortium-based support for communication and exchange of progress, results and updates among the participants and WPs was the International Conference on One Health and Antimicrobial Resistance (ICOHAR), organized by several of the consortium members and held from 30 September to 2 October 2015. During these events, the consortium partners had the opportunity to discuss and gain a better understanding and a more global overview of the topic of AMR and its issues. All interviewees mentioned that they gained a more comprehensive way of thinking about the AMR challenge and an understanding that all actors were involved and responsible. The annual consortium meetings were described by some interviewees as "generally interesting," but also as "very superficial" and a "political aspect of the project." Some compared it to reading



a newspaper: "really interesting to hear about new things, but forgot them right after the meeting." Others were less impressed and described the meetings as "horrible" and "incoherent" with no real interaction between people, and not very informative. All interviewees mentioned that the difficulties experienced with communication during the annual meetings were probably linked to the major issue of not speaking a common scientific language across disciplines, and a lack of focus on making the methods and results understandable for everyone.

WP6 on "societal issue and governance," and to some extent WP5 on "cost-benefit analysis" were mentioned by participants from other WPs as not being easily integrated into the discussions. Some interviewees had the perception that the economists and sociologists did not understand the research at a cellular level and became somehow excluded from discussions, becoming less and less involved in both the discussions and meetings. Interestingly, the sociologists and economists did not share this perception. Also worth noting is that all participants from other WPs indicated that results from WP5 and WP6 were really interesting.

Interaction with and interest from stakeholders varied a great deal among the WPs: from external and strong partners being directly involved, to limited contacts. Several interviewees mentioned that the impact of stakeholders was low, and their participation in the annual consortium meetings was described as decreasing over the duration of the project. The meeting took place once a year and included an exchange of results, but stakeholders' input was limited. Some interviewees mentioned that the project could not be completely transparent with the stakeholders, and that it was not possible to share data with them. They had limited exchanges because the project researchers had to "keep their cards close," and the ownership of data was a major issue, with intellectual rights/technology transfer departments on both sides drastically slowing possible exchanges of data. This could explain the limited interactions with companies. One WP organized an exchange with a diagnostic company for PhD training. However, one WP reported sharing of data with stakeholders without any issues. No stakeholders from the general public (e.g., consumers or animal owners) were involved in the project except as study participants or animal owners in some of the observational studies in WP4, WP5, and WP6.

Differences were highlighted among the WPs in their global organization and the application of OH. This clearly led to different experiences of the OH approach among the participants. Discussions and knowledge sharing were usually organized among the different disciplines within the WPs to discuss progress and methodology. The WP4 "mapping of current practice in human and veterinary medicine" was mentioned four times by interviewees as the "real" OH WP of the project, with an advanced joint research among different sectors and disciplines. Three interviewees mentioned that the project was mainly focused on PhD students and post-docs, and that it was difficult to maintain interdisciplinarity because PhD students and post-docs need to focus on a particular topic to reach a necessary level in their field. The perception seemed to be that completely integrated, interdisciplinary research would be more easily driven by more experienced researchers.

Collaboration was mentioned among some WPs, but mainly between researchers from closely related disciplines. Interviewees also mentioned regular collaborations with scientific partners outside the project. This could include researchers from the same university or foreign partners.



Two interviewees mentioned that the project mainly gathered microbiologists, and that this could be related to the PI being a microbiologist. They suggested that while writing the proposal, the initial PI could have been more inclined to write it from a microbiologist point of view. Other interviewees mentioned that medical and veterinary science disciplines represented 80% of the actors, whereas e.g., chemists were less well-represented within the project. Those assumptions could not be confirmed as no all-inclusive list of UC-CARE participants was available to the evaluators.

The deficiencies identified in the working characteristics related to gender imbalance (i.e., male domination) and a disparity in the representation of different disciplines, which could be partly due to a lack of open-mindedness toward other disciplines and sectors. We also identified a lack of mid- and long-term flexibility due to fixed research objectives for PhDs and post-docs, as well as a lack of regular collaboration among the different units in the consortium. UC-CARE did not manage to allocate resources for internal communication processes and tools, nor to generate the planned IT-tools dedicated to monitoring and decision support for patients/farmers and doctors/veterinarians and for communication and mediating technologies.

In summary (Figure 4), the project was well-intended and thought through, as shown by the relatively high scores for planning, thinking and systemic organization. The project leaders' understanding was global and integrated all important aspects of OH. However, implementation during the project period was more difficult, particularly in terms of working and sharing, which can eventually also affect learning across such a consortium. This fact was mentioned several times by the participants and is reflected in the low overall scores on working, sharing and learning.

The OH index of UC-CARE was 0.34, which according to the NEOH framework can be interpreted as a mediocre level of implementation of an OH approach in the initiative. The OH ratio was 1.1, indicating a balance (close to 1) between the OH operations and supporting infrastructures. However, the ratio does not say whether these were then prioritized sufficiently. The formulae for calculating the index and ratio are provided in the introduction paper by Rüegg et al. (26) and in the OH Index Ratio sheet in Annex 3 (**Supplementary Material**).

Pros and Cons of the OH Initiative Implementation

The UC-CARE participants stated that the main advantage of the consortium was its ability to broaden their interest in other disciplines and methodologies. They also mentioned that the project increased and improved their networks, which in some cases had led to new partnerships and research applications that would not have been realized or would have been constructed differently without the consortium. During group interviews with PhD students and post-docs, all interviewees mentioned they would search for OH working roles in the future, if possible. However, two interviewees clearly mentioned that it was not a main driver for their future jobs in research.

Two interviewees mentioned that interdisciplinarity in research was difficult because publishing together was a



challenge. Some papers were written with authorship from different disciplines, but publishing a single discipline-targeted paper was found to be less challenging.

Critical Review of the Initiative in Relation to an OH Approach

All interviewees mentioned that this project and this new approach changed their mentality about other disciplines and even about the AMR challenge. They acknowledged that their understanding of the issue on a global scale had improved during the project. Interest in other disciplines grew among all interviewees, but for most of them it was not highly influential in their daily work. However, they all mentioned that the OH approach could have been pushed further in UC-CARE, and that it was not fully pursued due to a lack of experience with the OH approach.

Moreover, several WP leaders mentioned that the OH approach did not reach the people working in the laboratories, but was instead mostly perceived at senior/WP leader level. This was confirmed by the early-career researchers, who explained that they were not previously aware of OH. They learnt about this new approach and about working together in an interdisciplinary environment through the project. However, the interviewed early-career researchers did not have the opportunity to experience multi- or interdisciplinarity in their daily work.

Interviewees stated that they sometimes developed ideas and learnt lessons from this first OH initiative to establish better links among research WPs and disciplines. Some stated that more funding would have allowed larger teams (hence with a larger impact) with more legitimacy to spend time on

OH-Evaluation of UC-CARE

collaborations and interdisciplinary work, and with someone in charge of coordinating joint work. The PI's commitment was not considered sufficient to sustain an OH approach in this consortium; a greater investment of resources would be needed to promote more transdisciplinary tasks. In addition, the WPs could have been organized differently, with continuous and common goals identified. An interviewee mentioned that co-supervision of PhD fellows within and between WPs would support interdisciplinary research.

Stakeholders and external partners reported having a good understanding of OH and its importance (**Figure 5**), with all agreeing that an OH approach is relevant to the AMR topic. However, the application of an OH approach was more difficult because more time was required for it to be realized and because the workload did not appear to be truly balanced among disciplines. The stakeholders reported that the final results were less remarkable than they had expected. However, they also indicated that UC-CARE seemed to be a good experience that should be extended and developed.

Evaluation Element 4: Outcomes

Numerous and diverse outputs and outcomes were identified in UC-CARE and these are detailed in **Table 1**.

The UC-CARE proposal included the objective to provide "new knowledge and solutions." It was expected that OH outputs and outcomes would have an impact on human and animal populations through new knowledge and guidelines for the prudent use of antimicrobial. It was also expected that the actors would produce many types of publications and that disciplines would learn from each other and start up new projects and collaborations. Finally, new educational activities created in collaboration among multiple disciplines were planned at PhD level (**Table 1**).

The final number of publications will not be known until the final UC-CARE report becomes available during 2018, as no central collection of publications is currently available. However, according to the mid-term report that was sent in for evaluation by an external panel in April 2016, 33 international peer-reviewed journal papers had been published, 13 more submitted and 25 papers were listed as being in the pipeline. Most of these were outputs of specific disciplines, but it was noted in the report that an additional 25 publications were anticipated in the UC-CARE consortium, many of which would be authored by interdisciplinary teams. As mentioned by the interviewees, it seems that it typically takes longer to write and publish papers from interdisciplinary teams. The fact that it was difficult to extract information about the output of the consortium in terms of publications is reflected in the relatively low scores for sharing and learning in the NEOH framework. Structures to improve knowledge and information sharing across OH consortia should be considered. These could include online resources, newsletters explaining new results, transdisciplinary research activities, interdependent tasks and more joint teaching activities among the WPs.

Several points were highlighted by participants throughout the interviews. Participants clearly indicated that they achieved new knowledge and solutions in their own research field. The **TABLE 1** | List of different outputs and outcomes of the UC-CARE project for the categories: disciplinary, interdisciplinary, OH and unexpected outcomes and outputs.

Disciplinary outcomes and outputs	 A large number of scientific papers PhD theses Department/university recognition at international level Development of new networks and projects New high-profile funding for a long-term research efforts based on UC-CARE New funding for long-term research efforts based on UC-CARE
Interdisciplinary outcomes and outputs	 Some scientific papers Development of new networks and projects Interest of participants in interdisciplinary work and results Treatment guidelines for antimicrobial use for humans and animals
OH outcomes and outputs	 OH courses at DK university for PhD students and post-docs Common course for human and veterinary medicine candidate students Interest of participants in OH approaches Learning/understanding of the planning of organization and resources in OH consortia
Unexpected outcomes and outputs	 New experience that it was difficult to plan, perform and report interdisciplinary research New national Danish legislation with direct reference to UC-CARE results Initiation of treatment guidelines for antimicrobial use at EU level Three seats in the National Council for Antimicrobial Resistance One seat in the Council for Improved Hygiene

problem of AMR had been understood a bit more, allowing going further in terms of improving health. Some results could even have a very high impact, yet there tended to be a gap between the results and their applicability that would need several further steps. Some results, however, could already be applied at the time of the evaluation. One interviewee mentioned that results were important but, in a project such as UC-CARE, outcomes had to be explored and thought of differently and in broader terms. They explained that when looking from a different perspective the success of the project could be attenuated. Future collaborations were agreed and the money was fairly well-spent, yet they thought that disciplines could have provided more "strict" science results. Their definition of "strict" scientific results indicated a paradigm of hypothesis-led research with little understanding of how the hypotheses were originally framed and constructed, and which is largely driven by previous work and available measurement tools. They admitted that UC-CARE involved many scientific disciplines, which contributed greatly to the common goal.

DISCUSSION

Discussion of Evaluation Methodology

The evaluation process as defined by NEOH generally went well and was positively received by the participants. Those who were



contacted showed a general willingness to participate and to be interviewed. However, many early-career researchers were difficult to reach or replied that they had left the consortium after finalizing their project activities, while some never answered. The reasons for these difficulties relate to the increased workload of some individuals as their PhD projects came to an end, and some being on maternity leave and/or having already left the project. The PI and one internal partner supported formally the evaluation among the consortium (e.g., sending emails). That was beneficial and probably encouraged participation. Despite these difficulties, the study is based on a reasonable number of interviews that overall were representative of the broad range of disciplines in the UC-CARE consortium.

As expected, data collection was the most critical and timeconsuming part of the evaluation. The NEOH tools require a large amount of data and information, and as with any thorough evaluation process, this can raise difficulties. Data were not always available from written internal documents and had to be supplemented with interviews, providing potentially subjective information. As the data needed were unusual and differed from other types of research evaluations, the questions sometimes puzzled the interviewees, yet they all made the effort to answer the questions and rethink their project activities. The semi-open interview format allowed information that was not predetermined to be gathered. The online questionnaire for the external partners and stakeholders was less successful (only eight answers out of 27 people contacted), which could be due to: (i) the length of the questionnaire, (ii) some stakeholders no longer being involved in the project (e.g., change of employment), and/or (iii) some stakeholders having little involvement in the project from the beginning, thus feeling that they did not have much to contribute.

The first steps of the evaluation (i.e., context description and TOC) were descriptive and required a global and detailed understanding of the context, the initiative and a deep reading

of all internal documents such as the project proposal and mid-term evaluation report. Ideally, this exercise should have been conducted by the project initiators during the proposal writing phase. The presentation of the results at the annual meeting helped gather comments and remarks about the description and understanding for the TOC elaboration. The completeness of the TOC reflects the ideas of the UC-CARE participants and could overlook important elements such as unwanted side effects of outcomes (e.g., a discovery of new drugs could lead to new types of or more AMR) or other unexpected outcomes (e.g., durable impact of knowledge gained through courses among PhD students and the scientific community) (29). Durable feedback loops in the TOC were not identified or anticipated in the proposal. The project would probably have benefited from more consideration about the logics in the TOC in advance. Participants and partners would have been able to better understand the expected changes in the context and to identify the OH outcomes. To assist evaluators of OH initiatives, the authors recommended that NEOH elaborated on proper TOC descriptions and ways to link these with the OH-ness evaluation and the expected and unexpected outcomes in the overall evaluation in their handbook of OH evaluation.

The evaluation was mainly conducted by two assessors, but this was counterbalanced by the global review of the evaluation by two other authors and a discussion of the results with the UC-CARE consortium members. Two of the authors were internal actors and two were external to UC-CARE. The knowledge that the internal actors had about UC-CARE was very valuable to understanding the global functioning and processes of the research project, but external and internal evaluators will typically have a complementary overview of the context and initiative (30). Integrating internal partners can be a challenge as they can have a biased understanding of the initiative. However, total objectivity can never be reached (31). By integrating internal and external evaluators, we hoped for a balanced and neutral approach in the evaluation. Moreover, due to the complexity of OH challenges, the evaluation of OH initiatives and their outcomes cannot be expected to be an intuitive and easy task (15, 32), and combining the strengths of several evaluators should be an advantage.

Discussion of Results

As described above, the mid-term evaluation of UC-CARE deemed the project successful, based mainly on traditional research evaluation criteria focusing on the number and impact of publications and disciplinary research outputs, successful pursuit of PhD and post-doc tasks and dissemination and uptake of research results in the pharmaceutical industry (24). The present study provided different and complementary insights into the underlying operations and supporting infrastructures of the UC-CARE consortium and research project, and allowed us to capture its complexity and OH approach in more detail. The OH evaluation should be valuable for the consortium as it is based on a broader range of parameters relevant to the societal impact of the initiative, and highlights other strengths, weaknesses and lessons learnt by the use of an OH approach for AMR-related challenges than traditional research evaluation methods. In the authors' view, the results of the evaluation could also be useful for future proposals by research consortia keen to build their projects on an OH approach.

Interestingly, the shortcomings identified in UC-CARE were to some extent similar to those found in an evaluation of an OH surveillance system for West Nile Fever bringing together public health, veterinary public health and entomology experts (11). Indeed, working and learning characteristics were also scored lowest in the West Nile Fever-initiative albeit higher than for UC-CARE. We also identified a lack of mid- and longterm flexibility, planning processes, and resources dedicated to sharing. This is unfortunate as it has previously been shown that societal learning is important for control strategies to have an effect (33). In other words, although the idea behind UC-CARE reflected in the TOC was highly relevant, reasonably wellplanned before the initiative and seemed highly integrated with many disciplines and with relevant stakeholders involved from the beginning, it proved difficult to carry out the OH approach in practice, and many of the actors went back to uni-sectorial and disciplinary work in their daily tasks. This was to the benefit of the disciplinary outputs, but potentially reduced the societal impact of the initiative.

Also, participants mentioned several times that it was difficult to publish interdisciplinary papers. Researchers and research projects are usually evaluated by the disciplinary quality and impact of their publications, whereas the OH approach has not been perceived and promoted as a quality characteristic in journal papers to date. Early-career researchers were particularly concerned about this, and the issue is underpinned by journals targeting OH issues being ranked low on impact, see e.g., One Health: https://www.journals.elsevier.com/one-health (accessed on 26 July 2018).

The low scores obtained for working, learning and sharing can be explained by several factors. The project was a first attempt at a large OH project in this organization, so there was little experience to build on. Due to the funding framework, the project promoted young researchers, who must focus on particular disciplines in order to become specialized. This refers the issue back to funding bodies, who must appreciate that the impact of research is influenced by additional means other than publication metrics, while scientists tend to base their activities on criteria and indicators that are applied in evaluations (34).

Changes in the mentality of the scientific community would promote OH by, for example, defining interdisciplinarity as a specialization. However, thinking, planning, and systemic organization received high scores, and the project was prepared and built in a clear and conscientiously way by the first researchers involved in the proposal, who all seemed to have a good understanding of OH approaches. Interviewees mentioned several ideas to improve the quality of the OH approach, e.g., allocating resources differently and defining a specific budget for OH (including collaboration, engagement of the public stakeholders, coordination promoting new collaborations across sectors) that could be used throughout the project. In addition, the WPs could be organized differently, to encourage more interaction among the different disciplines. The supervision of PhD students could be shared among different disciplines and could involve more senior researchers who could dedicate part of their time to interdisciplinary activities and allocate a larger budget so that more laboratory personnel could be involved. The project could also benefit from having a budget for a specific OH coordinator in the project, whose role might include promoting the exchange of information and results among center members, organizing workshops and learning activities, and developing the relationship with stakeholders. Importantly, limitations in the project did not reduce the motivation of partners in pursuing OH projects in the future.

It should be noted that the OH index and ratio are single numbers that cannot reflect the variation among actors in terms of their personal experience. Indeed, each UC-CARE member experienced the initiative differently according to their experience, the WPs and their personal interest. The index and ratio might eventually be compared across OH initiatives to assess whether it is important to score certain characteristics higher than others to promote health-improving societal changes, e.g., sharing and learning, as suggested above.

Differences were identified among the WPs in UC-CARE. For example, WP4 was already organized to provide an interdisciplinary environment to compare human and veterinary medicine practices. All interviewees of WP4 were enthusiastic about their experience and acknowledged that working in this interdisciplinary environment improved the quality of their work and outputs. Differences in experiencing OH were also seen at an individual level. Some interviewees were more reluctant and disparaging of their experience than others. Conducting several interviews for each target group allowed us to gain a better understanding of the real situation, and highlighted the potential differences between WPs and individuals.

UC-CARE involved the different stakeholders in the process from an early point. This is not unusual for such projects, but it indicates the interest of UC-CARE in providing useful results. Some partners worked closely with PhD students, allowing the exchange of data and discussions concerning the progress of research. This aspect is expected to be important and valuable for the project (35). The process of stakeholder selection was not systematic, but no major gaps were identified. This may be attributed to experienced researchers bringing their trusted networks into the consortium; an important quality to acknowledge.

Finally, noteworthy positive mental and structural changes and improvements were consistently identified across interviews. For example, all actors mentioned a new interest in the disciplines and work of others, and in future joint proposals, as well as expanded networks. They all acknowledged the necessity for and benefit of working with other disciplines, and from this point of view, the initiative was a success. In addition, the outcomes identified during the evaluation (**Table 1**) can be expected to have an impact on AMR development, and unexpected outcomes were identified, which led to changes in legislation and strengthened representation in advisory forums, which may in turn lead to more evidence-based policy development. The latter is indicative of the lasting impact of the initiative on AMR policy, which can be considered the ultimate goal of research conducted with public funding.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AL and LN were substantially involved in all steps of the study from the conception to the design of the work. They also

REFERENCES

- Harbarth S, Balkhy HH, Goossens H, Jarlier V, Kluytmans J, Laxminarayan R, et al. Antimicrobial resistance: one world, one fight! *Antimicrob Resist Infect Control* (2015) 4:15. doi: 10.1186/s13756-015-0091-2
- Collignon P. Antibiotic resistance: are we all doomed? Intern Med J. (2015) 45:1109–15. doi: 10.1111/imj.12902
- World Health Organization. Global Action Plan on Antimicrobial Resistance. Geneva: WHO Press (2015). p. 1–28. Available online at: http://www.who.int/ antimicrobialresistance/global-action-plan/en/ (Accessed July 26, 2018).
- 4. The Pew Charitable Trusts. *Alternatives to Antibiotics in Animal Agriculture*. Philadelphia, PA: The Pew Charitable Trusts (2017). Available online at: http://www.pewtrusts.org/-/media/assets/2017/%2007/%20alternatives_to_antibiotics_in_animal_agriculture.pdf (Accessed July 26, 2018).
- Kingsley P, Taylor EM. One Health: competing perspectives in an emerging field . *Parasitology* (2017) 144:7–14. doi: 10.1017/S0031182015001845
- European Commission. A European One Health Action Plan against Antimicrobial Resistance (AMR) Brussels: European Commission (2017). Available online at: https://ec.europa.eu/health/amr/sites/amr/files/amr_ action_plan_2017_en.pdf (Accessed July 26, 2018).
- ECDC, EFSA, EMA. ECDC/EFSA/EMA second joint report on the integrated analysis of the consumption of antimicrobial agents and occurrence of antimicrobial resistance in bacteria from humans and foodproducing animals—Joint Interagency Antimicrobial Consumption and Resistance Analysis (JIACRA) report. EFSA J. (2017) 15:4872, 135 pp. doi: 10.2903/j.efsa.2017.4872
- Zinsstag J, Schelling E, Bonfoh B, Fooks AR, Kasymbekov J, Waltner-Toews D, et al. Towards a "One Health" research and application tool box. *Vet Ital.* (2009) 45:121–33.
- 9. Zinsstag J, Schelling E, Waltner-Toews D, Whittaker M, Tanner M. One Health. The Theory and Practice of Integrated Health Approaches.

primarily drafted the paper and implemented several substantial contributions from other co-authors. KS and JR were also involved to some extent in these steps. Their contribution was valuable and essential to the final version of the paper. AL, NL, KS, and JR approved the final version of the paper, submitted to Frontiers. They also agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work, in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

FUNDING

The networking, training and publication activities related to this study were funded by the European Cooperation on Science and Technology (COST) Action TD 1404 Network for Evaluation of One Health: http://www.cost.eu/COST_Actions/tdp/TD1404.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank each of the interviewed UC-CARE participants and stakeholders for providing valuable information.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fvets. 2018.00194/full#supplementary-material

Basel: CAB International (2015). 447 p. doi: 10.1079/97817806434 10.0000

- Cork S, Hall D, Liljebjelke K. One *Health Case Studies. Addressing complex problems in a Changing World.* Sheffield, UK: 5M Publishing (2016). p. 352. doi: 10.1111/avj.12699
- 11. Paternoster G, Tomassone L, Tamba M, Chiari M, Lavazza A, Piazzi M, et al. The degree of one health implementation in the West Nile virus integrated surveillance in northern Italy, 2016. *Front Public Health* (2017) 5:236. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2017.00236
- Stärk KDC, Arroyo Kuribreña M, Dauphin G, Vokaty S, Ward MP, Wieland B, et al. One Health surveillance–more than a buzz word? *Prev Vet Med.* (2015) 120:124–30. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2015.01.019
- Schurer JM, Ndao M, Skinner S, Irvine J, Elmore SA, Epp T, et al. Parasitic zoonoses: One Health surveillance in northern Saskatchewan. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* (2013) 7:e2141. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0002141
- Godfroid J, Al Dahouk S, Pappas G, Roth F, Matope G, Muma J, et al. A "One Health" surveillance and control of brucellosis in developing countries: moving away from improvisation. *Comp Immunol Microbiol Infect Dis.* (2013) 36:241–8. doi: 10.1016/j.cimid.2012.09.001
- Coker R, Rushton J, Mounier-Jack S, Karimuribo E, Lutumba P, Kambarage D, et al. Towards a conceptual framework to support one-health research for policy on emerging zoonoses. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2011) 11:326–31. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(10)70312-1
- Rabinowitz PM, Kock R, Kachani M, Kunkel R, Thomas J, Gilbert J, et al. Toward proof of concept of a One Health approach to disease prediction and control. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (2013) 19:e130265. doi: 10.3201/eid1912. 130265
- Hassan OA, Affognon H, Rocklöv J, Mburu P, Sang R, Ahlm C, et al. The One Health approach to identify knowledge, attitudes and practices that affect community involvement in the control of Rift Valley fever outbreaks. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* (2017) 11:e0005383. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0005383

- Tan J, Wang R, Ji S, Su S, Zhou J. One Health strategies for rabies control in rural areas of China. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2017) 17:365–7. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(17)30116-0
- Dantas-Torres F, Chomel BB, Otranto D. Ticks and tick-borne diseases: a One Health perspective. *Trends Parasitol.* (2012) 28:437–46. doi: 10.1016/j.pt.2012.07.003
- Ma M-J, Wang G-L, Anderson BD, Bi Z-Q, Lu B, Wang X-J, et al. Evidence for cross-species influenza A virus transmission within swine farms, China: a One Health, prospective cohort study. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2018) 66:533–40. doi: 10.1093/cid/cix823
- Mardones FO, Hernandez-Jover M, Berezowski JA, Lindberg A, Mazet JAK, Morris RS. Veterinary epidemiology: forging a path toward one health. *Prev Vet Med.* (2017) 137:147–50. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2016.11.022
- 22. Sikkema R, Koopmans M. One Health training and research activities in Western Europe. *Infect Ecol Epidemiol.* (2016) 29:6. doi: 10.3402/iee.v6.33703
- UC-CARE. UC-CARE Project Website. Copenhagen: Department of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, University of Copenhagen. Available online at: http://uc-care.ku.dk/english/ (Accessed July 26, 2018).
- Guthrie S, Wamae W, Diepeveen S, Wooding S, Grant J, Europe R. Measuring Research: A Guide to Research Evaluation Frameworks and Tools. Santa Monica, CA: RAND Monographs (2013), Document Number: MG-1217-AAMC. Available online at: http://www.rand.org/pubs/monographs/ MG1217.html (Accessed July 26, 2018).
- NEOH. EU Cost Action Network for Evaluation of One Health "NEOH" (TD1404) Action Website. Available online at: http://neoh.onehealthglobal. net/ (Accessed July 26, 2018).
- Rüegg SR, Nielsen LR, Buttigieg S, Santa M, Aragrande M, Canali M, et al. A systems approach to evaluate One Health initiatives. *Front Vet Sci.* (2018) 5:23. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00023
- 27. Rushton J, Pinto Ferreira J, Stärk K. Antimicrobial resistance: the use of antimicrobials in the livestock sector. In: *OECD Food, Agriculture and Fisheries Papers*. Paper No. 68, Paris: OECD Publishing (2014).
- World Health Organization. Antimicrobial Resistance. Global Report on Surveillance. Geneva: Bulletin of the World Health Organization (2014).

Available online at: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/112642/ 9789241564748_eng.pdf?sequence=1 (Accessed July 26, 2018).

- Rabinowitz PM, Natterson-Horowitz BJ, Kahn LH, Kock R, Pappaioanou M. Incorporating one health into medical education. *BMC Med Educ.* (2017) 17:45. doi: 10.1186/s12909-017-0883-6
- van Kleef E, van Trijp HCM, Luning P. Internal versus external preference analysis: an exploratory study on end-user evaluation. *Food Qual Prefer*. (2006) 17:387–99. doi: 10.1016/j.foodqual.2005.05.001
- Conley-Tyler M. A fundamental choice: internal or external evaluation. Eval J Australas. (2005) 4:5–8. doi: 10.1177/1035719X05004001-202
- Baum SE, Machalaba C, Daszak P, Salerno RH, Karesh WB. Evaluating one health: are we demonstrating effectiveness? One *Health* (2017) 3:5–10. doi: 10.1016/j.onehlt.2016.10.004
- Sripa B, Tangkawattana S, Laha T, Kaewkes S, Mallory FF, Smith JF, et al. Towards integrated opisthorchiasis control in northeast Thailand: the Lawa project. Acta Trop. (2015) 141:361–7. doi: 10.1016/j.actatropica.2014.07.017
- Bornmann L. Measuring the societal impact of research. EMBO Rep. (2012) 13:673–6. doi: 10.1038/embor.2012.99
- 35. Heim N, Rolden H, van Fenema EM, Weverling-Rijnsburger AWE, Tuijl JP, Jue P, et al. The development, implementation and evaluation of a transitional care programme to improve outcomes of frail older patients after hospitalisation. Age Ageing (2016) 45:642–51. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afw098

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Léger, Stärk, Rushton and Nielsen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Application of the NEOH Framework for Self-Evaluation of One Health Elements of a Case-Study on Obesity in European Dogs and Dog-Owners

Alberto Muñoz-Prieto^{1†}, Liza R. Nielsen^{2†}, Silvia Martinez-Subiela¹, Jovita Mazeikiene³, Pia Lopez-Jornet⁴, Sara Savić⁵ and Asta Tvarijonaviciute^{1*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Sandra C. Buttigieg, University of Malta, Malta

Reviewed by:

Anindita Bhadra, Indian Institute of Science Education and Research Kolkata, India Koh Kawasumi, Nippon Veterinary and Life Science University, Japan

*Correspondence:

Asta Tvarijonaviciute asta@um.es

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Veterinary Epidemiology and Economics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 10 October 2017 Accepted: 28 June 2018 Published: 20 July 2018

Citation:

Muñoz-Prieto A, Nielsen LR, Martinez-Subiela S, Mazeikiene J, Lopez-Jornet P, Savić S and Tvarijonaviciute A (2018) Application of the NEOH Framework for Self-Evaluation of One Health Elements of a Case-Study on Obesity in European Dogs and Dog-Owners. Front. Vet. Sci. 5:163. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00163 ¹ Interdisciplinary Laboratory of Clinical Analysis Interlab-UMU, Regional Campus of International Excellence 'Campus Mare Nostrum', University of Murcia, Murcia, Spain, ² Section for Animal Welfare and Disease Control, Department of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Faculty of Health and Medical Sciences, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark, ³ InMedica Vilnius–Alfa Clinic, Vilnius, Lithuania, ⁴ Department of Oral Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Murcia, Murcia, Spain, ⁵ Department for Serology, Immunology and Biochemistry, Scientific Veterinary Institute "NoviSad", Novi Sad, Serbia

Obesity is a malnutrition disorder of global concern with increasing prevalence driven by underlying societal, economic and environmental mechanisms leading to changed physical activity patterns, eating behaviors and diet compositions in both humans and in their pet-dogs. A questionnaire-based study was carried out as a joint effort across 11 European countries. It was considered a One Health (OH) initiative between scientists from human and animal health sectors aiming to identify factors associated with obesity in dog owners and their dogs. Expected outcomes of this approach included new insights unachievable by single-sector research initiatives, and hence potentially leading to new cross-sectorial solutions. We performed an internal evaluation among the actors of the obesity initiative using the framework for evaluation developed by the "Network for Evaluation of One Health" (NEOH). It served as a case-study for the NEOH consortium to illustrate the application and provide feedback on the utility of the framework. The evaluation was performed by a subgroup of scientists also involved in the obesity study group, and it consisted of: (1) the definition of the initiative and its context, (2) the description of the theory of change, and (3) the qualitative and quantitative process evaluation of operations and supporting infrastructures scored on a scale from 0 to 1. In the One Health operations, the obesity study initiative scored medium high on OH-thinking (0.5) and OH-planning (0.45), and relatively high on OH-working (0.7). The supporting infrastructure score was high for systemic organization (0.8), but low for sharing (0.45) and learning (0.28). The calculated OH-index was 0.29 (on scale 0 to 1) indicating that the full potential of health integration and collaboration was not exploited in the initiative, and the main issue identified was a lack of stakeholder engagement. The OH-ratio of 1.1 indicated equal focus on operations and supporting infrastructures. Hence, the evaluation identified potentially counterproductive as well as

177

beneficial characteristics, which are further discussed in this paper in relation to the expected outcomes. The NEOH framework for evaluation requires that the evaluators have a good understanding of systems thinking and the mechanisms of the health issue targeted by the initiative.

Keywords: obesity, one health, evaluation, canine, dog, human

INTRODUCTION

obesity is considered the frequent Today, most malnutrition disorders in many parts of the world. It is increasingly recognized as a "wicked problem," because it is highly complex and resistant to resolution with no clear stopping points. Furthermore, attempts to solve it might reveal or create new problems, because it is a symptom of other underlying problems with systemicsocietal, environmental and economic drivers (1). Obesity is associated with different pathologies including orthopedic and respiratory diseases, endocrinologic and oncologic disorders, compromised well-being, and decreased life-span (2, 3). In addition to the increasing societal burden of obesity related to the increasing health expenses, disabilities, reduced life-expectancy and productivity losses, there appears to be detrimental environmental impacts such as increasing emissions of greenhouse gases associated with increasing population rates of obesity (4). All of this is a growing concern, since the prevalence of obesity is continuously increasing in both dogs and humans (5, 6). Hence, all potential obesity mitigation opportunities should be explored, including links between and factors explaining the links between obesity in dog-owners and their pet-dogs. Studies have shown that such links are relevant with common underlying environmental factors including physical activity patterns, eating behavior and diet compositions likely to be driving the development in both species (7, 8). Even though initiatives have been carried out and are on-going to mitigate the obesity development in humans, and in pets, respectively, transdisciplinary approaches bridging different disciplines and health sectors, e.g., human and veterinary medicine, sociology and psychology and targeting both species simultaneously through joint interventions are likely to be more effective or at least to contribute to improved mitigation of the obesity trends (9). Such transdisciplinary efforts including focus on human behavioral changes benefitting animals as well as the environment are often referred to as One Health (OH) initiatives, when they are aiming to achieve improved human and animal health and welfare simultaneously. Kushner et al. (9) demonstrated the benefits of a combined people and pet weight loss program. However, dog-ownership has hitherto mainly been investigated as a tool for human health status improvement. An example of this is the study by Wohlfarth et al. (10) that illustrated significantly higher level of some types of physical activity in obese children between 8 and 12 years old, who were enrolled in a comparative intervention trial with dogs vs. human co-performers of movement tasks.

Aiming to identify social, environmental and economic drivers of obesity in dog-owners and their dogs, a questionnairebased study was performed to collect and analyze information on self-reported body mass parameters, physical activity, eating patterns, diets and diseases in both humans and dogs, as well as perceptions of the dog owners by scientists related to both human and pet health sectors in 11 European countries. Potential crosssectorial solutions with added value toward obesity mitigation were the main targets of that study, which will be referred to in this paper as "DODOS" (i.e., Dog Owner And Dog Obesity Study). Because of the joint research team being multidisciplinary (Table 1) and because the target was the detection of social and environmental drivers of obesity in two populations, dogs and their owners, this research initiative could be considered an example of a OH approach to a health challenge that not only occurs in at least two species, but also seem to be linked by common factors related to the two species. We therefore used DODOS as a case study of an OH initiative about a non-communicable disease for illustration and evaluation of a new framework and tools developed to facilitate evaluation of OH initiatives. Over the last decade, there has been growing interest for the OH approach implementation in the health research, systems and services, since mutual benefits are expected in comparison to single-sector approaches-also referred to as "silo-approaches" to health issues (11). The benefits include improvement in animal-, human-, and eco-health and wellbeing, higher quality or larger quantity of relevant information and economic efficiency (11). However, no validated sciencebased evaluation protocols for quantitative measurement and evaluation of OH activities have previously been available. In order to fill this gap, a "European Union Action on Coorporation in Science & Technology" (EUCOST Action, TD1404) "Network for Evaluation of One Health" (NEOH) designed science-based guidelines for qualitative and quantitative evaluation of OHinitiatives. The NEOH framework (12) is recommended for external evaluation of OH-initiatives. However, it might also provide useful information and feedback, if used for selfevaluation within an initiative.

The aim of the present work was to perform an internal evaluation (i.e., a self-evaluation) of the DODOS initiative using the NEOH evaluation framework and tools to improve the learning about essential operations and infrastructures of OHinitiatives within the DODOS consortium. It also served as a case-study for the NEOH consortium to illustrate the application of the framework to a non-communicable disease, and to gain feedback on the utility of the framework and tools for further improvements.

TABLE 1 | Participating countries and involved specialists in the DODOS study evaluated in this manuscript with indication of the represented disciplines and sectors.

Nr.	Country	Involved Specialists	
1	Croatia	Clinical pathology specialists (VM)	
2	Denmark	Epidemiologist (VM) Endocrinologist (VM)	
3	Italy	Clinical pathology specialists (VM) Internal medicine specialist (VM)	
4	Lithuania	Anatomy specialist (VM) Physiology specialist (VM) Pulmonologist–pediatrician (HM)	
5	Poland	Reproduction specialist (VM)	
6	Portugal	Anaesthesiologist (VM) Biologist PhD student (VM)	
7	Rumania	Reproduction specialist (VM)	
8	Serbia	Immunology specialist (VM)	
9	Spain	Clinical pathology specialists (VM) PhD student (VM) Odontologist (HM)	
10	Sweden	PhD students (VM)	
11	Turkey	Cardiologists (VM)	

VM, veterinary medicine; HM, human medicine.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

In the DODOS, a questionnaire about the perceptions of dogowners about human and dog obesity, factors associated with and potential drivers of obesity was designed and distributed to dog-owners in 11 European countries by means of personal contacts, veterinary clinics and social media during the period December 2016 to March 2017. The questionnaire contained 74 questions, and apart from demographic questions and questions about health status in the dogs and their owners, many questions were on a Likert scale to assess perceptions of different statements about eating behavior, diets, physical activity and perceptions about the dogs and the dog-human relationship that could be related to obesity development. In total, 3185 questionnaire responses from 10 of the 11 study countries with a sufficiently high number of valid responses were included in multivariable statistical analyses. Relevant perceptions, physical, socioeconomic and environmental factors associated with obesity in dog-owners and their pet-dogs were identified. The OH evaluation of DODOS was initiated a few months after the initiation of the DODOS. However, at the time of the performance of the last part of the evaluation, the data collection and statistical analyses were finalized, and the DODOS was reported in a manuscript submitted for peer-review in an international scientific journal. However, the results of the DODOS will not be covered in this manuscript except where directly relevant for the evaluation, as they are not the main focus of the OH evaluation.

The NEOH framework includes four overarching elements (12). However, only elements one to three were carried out for DODOS, i.e., (1) the definition of the OH initiative and its

context (i.e., the system, its boundaries, and the OH initiative as a subsystem); (2) the assessment of expected outcomes based on the theory of change (TOC) behind the initiative and (if possible) unexpected outcomes emerging in the context of the initiative; and (3) the process assessment of the operations and supporting infrastructures, also known as the "OH-ness" of the initiative. Element (4), assessment of the association between the degree of "OH-ness" and the outcomes produced, could not be performed because it makes most sense to evaluate element (4) by comparing across several case studies, a task that the NEOH consortium will work on after the framework has been used for many case studies.

The background theory and each element of the NEOH framework are described in detail by Rüegg et al. (12) and a supplementary Microsoft Excel file is provided online and can be used as a template for the evaluator(s) to fill in when going through the process evaluation in element three. The system leading to human and pet-dog obesity was described by the first and last authors of this manuscript by building partly on their experience with pet-dog obesity from veterinary clinical practice and research, and partly on literature search on the system boundaries and linkages relevant for the development of obesity in humans. The TOC was deducted by logical reasoning combined with literature suggesting or illustrating the benefit of a joint effort between human and pet-dog scientists in the obesity context.

Element three was an internal evaluation mainly performed by the first two and the last authors of this manuscript, even though the interpretation of the points to be evaluated in the tool was discussed with the other authors and NEOH consortium members during the process. To be able to fill in the provided NEOH tool for the "OH-ness" evaluation and to assess the outcomes of the DODOS, the core scientific members, i.e., the 24 authors of the manuscript reporting on the DODOS, were in late May-early June 2018 asked to respond to an anonymous online questionnaire containing 20 questions about thinking, planning, working, sharing, learning and systemic organization as well as expected and unexpected outcomes. The questionnaire with introduction text, questions and frequency distributions of answers as well as written answers to open ended questions are available in Supplementary materials 1. The means of communication were otherwise mainly through email and on-line meetings with individual scientists from the different participating countries during the case study period.

RESULTS

This section provides an overview of what was found and deducted about the three first elements in the NEOH framework, in other words what the evaluators found relevant and true for the obesity case study based on the input provided by DAODOS actors and the experiences gained during the obesity case study period. It does not contain results from the obesity study itself, except where it is considered relevant to understand how the results were obtained or deducted in the evaluation.
System Definition and the Initiative Within the Defined Context

Obesity is a global epidemic health problem, for which all the dimensions of the system are highly interconnected. The following dimensions were considered in the context: Geographical space a highly important dimension since obesity drivers are present worldwide even though they can vary between countries. The dimension of life is an important dimension with obesity drivers acting at all scales (i.e., at cell, organ, individual, population, regional, national society, international level). Network/organization is a highly relevant dimension as obesity drivers and potential solutions exist at the individual, institutional, national and international levels. *Economic* drivers are important for the development of obesity. In particular socioeconomic status is important to consider, but other economic drivers of obesity can also be identified including economic incentives for companies producing obesinogenic products, transportation means etc. Time is an important element of obesity development both for the individual (e.g., child obesity vs. developing obesity over time due to too prolonged high caloric intake and lack of physical activity) and at societal level. The changes in drivers over time are also important to consider. Governance is relevant as it can provide means to prevent obesity development, e.g., by dictating development toward less obesinogenic environments in society and by allocation of funds to prevent obesity and reduce consequences of obesity through research, innovation and intervention. It might also be used to impact the economic driver through e.g., sugar or fat taxes. However, governance of health issues and potential solutions related to the global obesity epidemic are currently highly segregated into separate sectors rather than cross-sectorial and today very little obesity prevention and mitigation is based on transdisciplinary research and development (13).

A conceptual illustration of how the obesity development in dogs and dog-owners can be perceived as interlinked is provided in Figure 1. The context description was inspired by, but does not cover the full complexity of obesity described in, the UK Forsight Governmental project systems maps of obesity published online in 2007: https://www.gov.uk/government/ publications/reducing-obesity-obesity-system-map, accessed 12 June 2018). The UK Forsight systems map illustrates individual, socioeconomic and environmental drivers, elements and feedback loops affecting obesity in humans. However, for the DODOS the animal component and animal-human bond was important and not considered in the UK Forsight systems map. The food and animal feed industry as well as food and feed consumption patterns have strong potentials to negatively affect the health of both humans and pets, even though they are usually governed (if governed at all) through different ministries in traditional sectorial governance structures. Likewise, psychological factors and obesogenic environments that affect physical activity and eating behaviors in both humans and their pets are generally only considered in the human health care system, even though there might be a potential for



FIGURE 1 | Visual representation of the context of human and pet-dog obesity including linkages and feedback loops in the system. The list of ministries and resource units is not exhaustive and the names are examples as these vary between countries as well as over time within countries. A green shaded area covers the elements considered in the initiative under evaluation.

prevention of obesity development by utilizing the interlinked driving factor between the sectors. Two obesity drivers, social and economic, are frequently described in literature. For instance, the obesity is related with the sedentary way of living and ingestion of hypercaloric food, among others (14). Also, low incomes have been associated with malnutrition resulting in obesity; and the obesity and obesity-related diseases result in increased expenses (15).

The initiative is, however, mainly targeted at social drivers, i.e., perceptions and behaviors that can affect the social aspects of obesity, since the main stakeholders involved in the study were dog-owners, researchers, health professionals and clinicians. The following actors and stakeholders within the system illustrated in **Figure 1** were included in the obesity case study: investigators (human and veterinary medicine, health science researchers); clinicians (human and veterinary health specialists) and a biologist as well as dog-owners.

Theory of Change (Toc) and Expected and Unexpected Outcomes/Impacts

The primary long-term goal of the DODOS initiative was to contribute to decreasing obesity occurrence among dog-owners and their pet-dogs. This would lead to a second order long-term impact of improved health and well-being and reduced morbidity associated with the obesity in both species, finally resulting in decreased societal burdens and expenses. In order to reach these impacts, required inputs such as prior knowledge, human resources for research, research methods and materials, actors and stakeholders from multiple disciplines and sectors (**Table 1**), outputs such as questionnaire and analysis results, and outcomes such as improved knowledge, new collaborative networks and new solutions being created based on these (**Figure 2**).

The output will mainly be the communication of the results in publications and presentations at conferences to the scientific community, and to the public through layman communications, which would then lead to the expected outcomes (increased knowledge in the relevant populations). Some outcomes were anticipated directly as a result of DODOS, but also unexpected outcomes were mentioned by the actors in the evaluation questionnaire (**Table 2**). The first and second order impacts will depend on the uptake of the outcomes including changed governance procedures, changed behaviors in dogowners which may affect their dogs and other humans as well, with consequential health improvements and long-term effects thereof. The fact that many households have pet-dogs provides a strong basis for creating change, if the new knowledge from the DODOS and other studies to follow is utilized.

Assessment of OH-NESS of the Initiative

The results of the qualitative as well as quantitative assessments for each point in the NEOH evaluation framework and tool can be seen in the supplementary Excel-file for the obesity case study. The evaluation points are fixed by the framework, but we



Disciplinary outcomes and outputs	 New collaboration partners Knowledge about risk factors for obesity in humans and dogs, respectively
	 Inclusion of the study results in a PhD thesis
Inter-disciplinary outcomes and outputs	- A scientific paper or report being published
	- New collaboration partners across disciplines
	 Identification of risk factors for obesity that bridge two species
	- Knowledge about perceptions in dog-owners that may affect the development of obesity in both humans and pet-dogs
OH outcomes and outputs	 Comparison of factors affecting obesity in dog-owners and in dogs leading to a better understanding of underlying factors that might not be directly measureable
	- New linkages between collaboration partners across disciplines and sectors in different countries of Europe
	- An improved interest of participants in OH approaches
	- Experience with international collaboration and team-work
	- Learning about the planning and organization of future One Health initiatives
	- Experience useful to improve the study design for future obesity studies at the human-animal-environment interface
	- Awareness of direct and indirect obesity drivers and consequences, both among animals and owners
	- Ideas and plans for new projects
Un-expected outcomes and outputs	Actors highlighted unexpected outcomes for the following points:
	 perceptions among dog-owners, e.g. that obesity is not considered a disease by all people and that not all consider the OH approach plausible to combat obesity
	 Actors learning about opportunities as well as biases and other study design challenges in questionnaire studies involving social media for recruitment of respondents
	- Actors learning about complicated publication processes

TABLE 2 | Dog-owner dog obesity case study (DODOS) outputs, expected and unexpected outcomes and impacts according to direct communication and responses to an online questionnaire for actors in the DODOS consortium.

have supplied comments relevant for each evaluation point in six spreadsheets about each of the characteristics of OH initiatives to be assessed, i.e., the main OH-operations: thinking, planning, working, as well as the supporting infrastructures (learning, sharing and system organization). In brief, the OH-thinking in the evaluated initiative was reflected by the multiple dimensions mentioned above, because it evaluated the obesity problem in both humans and dogs and in two life dimensions-individuals and populations; and two geographical dimensions-individual country and Europe. The DODOS scored 0.5 on OH-thinking. The OH-planning of this study was led by one person supported by a specialists composing core committee, who contact the rest of the responsible persons in each country. OH-planning initiative scored 0.45. OH-working, scored 0.7, was reflected by the multidisciplinary collaboration (human medicine, veterinary medicine and a biologist) and inclusion of stakeholders (owners and clinicians) to the problem evaluation and possible ways of its solving. For OH-learning the score was low at 0.28 indicating limited adaptive and generative learning within and outside the initiative, and for information and data sharing the score was 0.45. Systemic organization which is mainly indicative of team-work organization and leadership was scored high at 0.8. Figure 2 illustrates the OH-scores and OH-index, which was 0.29 (on a scale from 0 to 1) indicating that the full health integration and collaboration potential suggested by NEOH for OH-initiatives tackling complex problems was not exploited in the DODOS study. The ratio between operations and supporting infrastructures was 1.1 indicating a balanced focus on operations and infrastructures (Figure 3).

DISCUSSION

To date only small-scale studies have indicated associations between obesity in dog-owners and obesity in their dogs and

assessed potential causal factors (8-10). With this in mind, a large scale, multinational study was designed aiming to identify dog-owner perceptions, potential causal factors and behaviors of the owner relative to his/her pet that might lead to or increase the risk of canine obesity as well as his/her own obesity. As highlighted above, the human-animal bonds are usually overlooked in existing obesity context description (7, 16, 17). The main aim of OH-strategies is to improve health and well-being across different species and their environment (or ecosystem) through targeted collaboration between disciplines and sectors, and the involvement of essential stakeholders is important in OH-initiatives. This often includes engagement of relevant groups of citizens. Although in recent years OHbased studies have increasingly gained attention in scientific literature, no validated guidelines for quantitative measurement of OH-activities have been available previously, and prior obesity initiatives have not been evaluated with focus on OH-approaches. Hence, the NEOH evaluation framework provided an interesting opportunity to learn about shortcomings and beneficial aspects of the DODOS initiative. Both objectives of the present evaluation study were achieved, namely to evaluate the DODOS study and consortium as well as to assess the usefulness of the framework for OH-evaluation.

Psychological factors and obesogenic environments affect physical activity and eating behaviors (18), but human-animal bond related physical activities are frequently not considered in the human health care system even though there are potentially strong obesity preventing measures that would be easy to apply in other sectors, e.g., dog-play activities for children as well as dog-assisted physical activities for adults, "health schools" in which humans can learn about healthy food consumption practices through the learning about appropriate diets for healthy dog and humans. Hence, some OH-initiatives for reducing obesity in both dogs and dog-owners clearly build on learning



as an important element in the OH-initiative. Unfortunately, it became evident that OH-learning was the element in the DODOS study that was scored lowest mainly due to lack of learning infrastructures among stakeholders and actors which would go beyond basic learning and support adaptive learning, i.e., learning that focuses on correcting or improving existing procedures, processes, competences and technologies, as well as generative learning, i.e., learning that focuses on questioning the existing norms and that encourages to see beyond the existing situation to generate new paradigms. One way this could have been improved in DODOS would have been to engage stakeholders as well as decision makers in governing institutions early on, i.e., during the planning process as well as during the dissemination process during and after the study period.

The moderate OH-thinking score suggests that the lack of stakeholder engagement might have been grounded in a lack of general acknowledgment in the DODOS consortium that addressing more of the obesity context including feedback loops that could have been targeted in the initiative might have created other outcomes and led to a larger impact of the initiative. During the DODOS design and planning the OH-thinking was less accepted by human health specialists, and the majority of the approached specialists did not consider the obesity to be a health problem for pets and seemed to think that transdisciplinary solutions were not efficient or not possible to perform. For this reason, the majority of actors driving the DODOS were veterinary specialist with scientific and/or practical experiences. This was one of the main limitations for implementing an OH approach.

Carrying out an OH-evaluation using the NEOH framework requires a good understanding of systems thinking and OH in general. Stakeholder involvement in the evaluation is required, since a lot of information related to study objectives, planning of the work and the way of working such as data analysis, sharing of information and leadership is needed. This particular evaluation was performed by several of the DODOS actors as a self-evaluation, which might have introduced some biases. Clearly there were differences in how well the processes, outputs and outcomes of the initiative were known and understood by the 21 actors who responded to the actor questionnaire. This would probably have been less of an issue, if more/better sharing and learning infrastructures had been ensured in the initiative, but might also be related to economic and human resources and leadership choices made during the study design, performance and finalization.

The application of the evaluation questions and tools provided by NEOH allowed identifying strengths and limitations of the case study with regards to the OH approach. These strengths and limitations might impact the ability of the study to achieve some added value compared to disciplinary projects within the topic obesity in dogs and humans. An OH-index of 0.29 out of a possible total of 1 indicates that several indicators did not achieve high scores. However, it is difficult to say whether this has an impact on the desired outcomes of the study. This remains to be investigated when the OH-index is compared across different initiatives in the future. An OH-ratio of 1.1 indicated that infrastructures underpinned the operations in the initiative even though this value also has to be seen in relation to the scores of each of the elements learning, sharing and systemic organization which were not all scored high for DODOS. Limitations were mainly noticed in the thinking, sharing and learning parts of the evaluation, and in the identified outcomes.

Information sharing is described to be one of the basic criteria for OH-studies (19). Although data sharing occurred in DODOS, it was uni-directional and the full raw data set was only available for the core committee. However, later the results summary reported by core committee would be discussed and was planned to be analyzed by all the participants in order to achieve the holistic approach of the obesity as a disease, in this way aiming to improve the sharing in DODOS. One option would be to disseminate the new knowledge and information from the study through the same channels that were used to recruit dog-owners to reply to the DODOS questionnaire.

One of the fundamentals of OH-studies is to obtain higher impact of outcomes in comparison to conventional single sector or single discipline approaches in terms of improved health and well-being, and reduced economic costs or improved costbenefit ratios (20, 21). This could not be directly measured from this study. However, other outcomes were identified by the actors in the actor questionnaire (Supplementary materials 1, **Table 2**), mainly related to the following overall categories: scientific knowledge and understanding of factors associated with obesity in dogs and dog-owners, increased awareness of the linked obesity issue between pets and pet-owners, learning about study design and publication processes in large international consortia which is an important capacity building aspect, improved knowledge and understanding of OH approaches and important new collaboration linkages across the consortium. However, stakeholder involvement was not deemed sufficient for the initiative to have a certain societal impact at the point of evaluation. This is an important point for the consortium members to consider, not only for the DODOS, but also in future research initiatives within the field. However, as emphasized by Bartges et al. (17) this requires "efforts and leadership of a committed group of like-minded individuals representing a range of scientific and medical disciplines. Interested parties will need the means and opportunities to communicate and to collaborate, including having the resources and funding for research." In fact, resources for engagement of actors and stakeholders were very limited in the DODOS and were mainly build on voluntary engagement.

In conclusion, the utility of the evaluation tools for the evaluation and potential improvement of OH-initiatives was illustrated. Short-comings in critical elements were identified in DODOS. It would have been useful to use the NEOH evaluation framework and the evaluation tools as a checklist during the project design and planning phase since this could help to identify the limitations of the study and consortium composition, which might be corrected before the study begins or during the study period. Moreover, using the framework facilitated targeted communication between all actors in the initiative to gain an improved common understanding of the OH-characteristics. In this particular case study, it might have improved the participation of human health professionals and researcher or stakeholders from other relevant disciplines to have

REFERENCES

- Amarasinghe A, D'Souza G. Individual, social, economic, and environmental model: a paradigm shift for obesity prevention. *ISRN Public Health* (2012) 2012: 571803. doi: 10.5402/2012/571803
- Kopelman PG. Obesity as a medical problem. *Nature* (2000) 404:635–43. doi: 10.1038/35007508
- German AJ. The growing problem of obesity in dogs and cats. J Nutr. (2006) 136:1940S-6S. doi: 10.1093/jn/136.7.1940S
- Squalli J. The environmental impact of obesity: longitudinal evidence from the United States. *Public Health* (2017) 149:89–98. doi: 10.1016/j.puhe.2017.04.016
- McGreevy PD, Thomson PC, Pride C, Fawcett A, Grassi T, Jones B. Prevalence of obesity in dogs examined by Australian veterinary practices and the risk factors involved. *Vet Rec.* (2005) 156:695–702. doi: 10.1136/vr.156.22.695
- WHO. WHO | Obesity and Overweight. WHO (2018) Available online at: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs311/en/ [Accessed February 22, 2018].
- Kienzle E, Bergler R, Mandernach A. A comparison of the feeding behavior and the human-animal relationship in owners of normal and obese dogs. J Nutr. (1998) 128:2779S-82S.
- Nijland ML, Stam F, Seidell JC. Overweight in dogs, but not in cats, is related to overweight in their owners. *Public Health Nutr.* (2010) 13:102. doi: 10.1017/S136898000999022X
- Kushner RF, Blatner DJ, Jewell DE, Rudloff K. The PPET Study: people and pets exercising together. *Obesity* (2006) 14:1762–1770. doi: 10.1038/oby. 2006.203
- 10. Wohlfarth R, Mutschler B, Beetz A, Kreuser F, Korsten-Reck U. Dogs motivate obese children for physical activity: key elements of a motivational

more elaborated discussions about the system description and the TOC before the study was initiated.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AM-P and AT data compilation and tool complementation. AM-P, LN, SM-S, JM, PL-J, SS, and AT paper drafting and paper and tool revising.

FUNDING

Financial support was provided by the Program Juan de la Cierva Incorporacion of Ministerio de Economia y Competitividad, Spain, through a postdoctoral grant (IJCI-2015-26301) and The University of Murcia funded AM-P through a predoctoral grant. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was conducted in the frame of the European Cooperation on Science and Technology (COST) Action TD 1404 Network for the Evaluation of One Health.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fvets. 2018.00163/full#supplementary-material

theory of animal-assisted interventions. *Front Psychol.* (2013) 4:796. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00796

- Häsler B, Cornelsen L, Bennani H, Rushton J. A review of the metrics for One Health benefits. *Rev Sci Tech.* (2014) 33:453-64. doi: 10.20506/rst.33.2.2294
- Rüegg SR, Nielsen LR, Buttigieg SC, Santa M, Aragrande M, Canali M, et al. A systems approach to evaluate one health initiatives. *Front Vet Sci.* (2018) 5:23. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018. 00023
- Day MJ. One health: the small animal dimension. Vet Rec. (2010) 167:847–9. doi: 10.1136/vr.c6492
- Sandøe P, Palmer C, Corr S, Astrup A, Bjørnvad CR. Canine and feline obesity: a one health perspective. *Vet Rec.* (2014) 175:610–6. doi: 10.1136/ vr.g7521
- Vitali C, Bombardieri S, Jonsson R, Moutsopoulos HM, Alexander EL, Carsons SE, et al. Classification criteria for Sjögren's syndrome: a revised version of the European criteria proposed by the American-European Consensus Group. Ann Rheum Dis. (2002) 61:554–8. doi: 10.1136/ARD.61.6.554
- Bland IM, Guthrie-Jones A, Taylor RD, Hill J. Dog obesity: owner attitudes and behaviour. *Prev Vet Med.* (2009) 92:333–40. doi: 10.1016/J.PREVE TMED.2009.08.016
- Bartges J, Kushner RF, Michel KE, Sallis R, Day MJ. One health solutions to obesity in people and their pets. J Comp Pathol. (2017) 156:326–33. doi: 10.1016/J.JCPA.2017.03.008
- Fuentes Pacheco A, Carrillo Balam G, Archibald D, Grant E, Skafida V. Exploring the relationship between local food environments and obesity in UK, Ireland, Australia and New Zealand: a systematic review protocol. *BMJ Open* (2018) 8:e018701. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-018701

- 19. Piwowar HA, Day RS, Fridsma DB. Sharing detailed is associated with increased citation rate. research data 10.1371/journal.pone.00 PLoS ONE (2007)2:e308. doi: 00308
- Barrett MA, Bouley TA. Need for Enhanced environmental representation in the implementation of one health. *Ecohealth* (2015) 12:212–9. doi: 10.1007/s10393-014-0964-5
- Rüegg SR, McMahon BJ, Häsler B, Esposito R, Nielsen LR, Ifejika Speranza C, et al. A blueprint to evaluate one health. *Front Public Heal.* (2017) 5:20. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2017. 00020

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Muñoz-Prieto, Nielsen, Martinez-Subiela, Mazeikiene, Lopez-Jornet, Savić and Tvarijonaviciute. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Positioning Animal Welfare in the One Health Concept through Evaluation of an Animal Welfare Center in Skopje, Macedonia

Miroslav Radeski1*, Helen O'Shea2, Daniele De Meneghi3 and Vlatko Ilieski1

¹ Animal Welfare Center, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Saints Cyril and Methodius University of Skopje, Skopje, Macedonia, ² Department of Biological Sciences, Cork Institute of Technology, Cork, Ireland, ³ Department of Veterinary Science, University of Turin, Turin, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Séverine Thys, Institute of Tropical Medicine Antwerp, Belgium

Reviewed by:

Hsin-Yi Weng, Purdue University, United States Shankar Yadav, Oak Ridge Institute for Science and Education (ORISE), United States Simon Rodrigo Rüegg, University of Zurich, Switzerland

> *Correspondence: Miroslav Radeski miro@fvm.ukim.edu.mk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Veterinary Epidemiology and Economics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Veterinary Science

Received: 30 August 2017 Accepted: 18 December 2017 Published: 10 January 2018

Citation:

Radeski M, O'Shea H, De Meneghi D and Ilieski V (2018) Positioning Animal Welfare in the One Health Concept through Evaluation of an Animal Welfare Center in Skopje, Macedonia. Front. Vet. Sci. 4:238. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2017.00238 The Animal Welfare Center (AWC) in Macedonia was established in 2009. The objectives of the center are animal welfare (AW) education, research, raising public awareness of AW, and increasing cooperation between the stakeholders. One Health (OH) was not the major focus of the AWC work initially, but, rather, a focus that evolved recently. The objective of this study was to evaluate the AWC from the OH perspective as an example case for positioning the AW within the overall OH concept. Three types of evaluation were performed: (1) assessment of OH-ness, by quantitative measurement of the operational and infrastructural aspects of the AWC; (2) impact evaluation, by conducting quantitative surveys on stakeholders and students; and (3) transdisciplinary evaluation, using semi-quantitative evaluation of the links of cooperation between the AWC and the stakeholders in society by the custom designed CACA (Cooperation, Activities, Communication, and Agreement) scoring system. Results for the OH-ness of the AWC showed relatively high scores for OH thinking, planning and working and middle scores for OH learning and sharing dimensions, i.e., dominance of the operational over infrastructural aspects of the AWC. The impact evaluation of the AWC shows that familiarity with the OH concept among stakeholders was low (44% of the respondents). However, there was a commonality among stakeholder's interest about AW and OH. According to the stakeholders' and students' opinions, the influence of AW on Animal, Environmental, and Human Health is relatively high (in the upper third of the 1–10 scale). The transdisciplinary evaluation of the AWC indicated the presence of transdisciplinarity work by the AWC, with a higher focus on the Universities and Research Institutions and some governmental institutions, and less linked with the Non-Governmental Organizations and Professional Associations (Chambers), e.g., the Veterinary Chamber in Macedonia. The evaluations conducted indicated that the AWC's work is closely dedicated to improving animal, environmental, and human health and has a considerable OH role among the stakeholders in the society. This study describes the significant role and importance that AW has in OH.

Keywords: animal welfare, center, One Health, evaluation, transdisciplinarity, impact, stakeholders

INTRODUCTION

Implementation of the existing standards, raising awareness, and developing risk assessment criteria for animal welfare (AW) is a high priority for the European Union. The research conducted among member countries of the World Organization for Animal Health (OIE) identifies education and training in AW as among the most pivotal tools for solving major welfare problems (1). This also reflects AW initiatives worldwide, at national and regional levels, such as the National reference center for AW in Italy¹ and National reference laboratories for official control of feed, food, animal health, and welfare in Ireland², focusing on developing guidelines and standards, prioritizing welfare specific issues, raising awareness, implementation of EU legislation, strengthening capacities, supporting and conducting AW research, providing education and training, international cooperation and consultation practices at different levels. These were the main drivers and principles for initiating the work of the Animal Welfare Center (AWC) in the Republic of Macedonia.

The AWC was established in March, 2009 as part of the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine at the Ss. Cyril and Methodius University in Skopje, Macedonia (2). Besides the permanent staff, the AWC is also a merging point for experts of different fields from both within and outside the Faculty for AW-relevant issues on a national level. In April, 2010 the AWC signed a contract for cooperation with the competent authority-the State Veterinary Office. Besides formal recognition, the signed contract with the Macedonian government gave authorization and responsibility to the AWC for the provision of professional training and strengthening capacities for the veterinary authorities and conduction of vocational training and certification for different professionals where AW could be impaired. To date, the AWC has had extensive activities in relation to AW. The AWC has developed and implemented an AW course for undergraduate veterinary students. In addition, several workshops and projects have been held where the AWC was an integral part considering implementation of EU Directive 2010/63 for protection of animals used for scientific purposes and exploration of alternative techniques, the 3Rs Concept (Replacement, Reduction, and Refinement) (3). Likewise, AWC developed training courses for stakeholders in line with the EU directives (4-7). Regarding AW research, several studies were conducted which related to animal slaughtering, transport, animal behavior, etc. On a national level, the most important studies were the welfare assessment of poultry and dairy farms for the first time in Macedonia (8, 9). AW concerns about ambient conditions and air quality in the poultry and pig farms in the country were also raised. Later, this led to the assignment of the accreditation certificate for measuring air and noise emissions from housed farm animals (MKTC CEN/TS 15675:2009; MKS ISO 1996-2:2010) in the laboratory.

One Health (OH) is a term that captures integrative approaches to health and emphasizes the commonalities of human, animal,

plant, and environmental health (10, 11). The strong link between AW and animal health, human health, and environment is evident (12, 13). Previous studies recognized the importance of AW to animal health, where animal health is as a crucial part of AW or even going to the extent, outlined by some authors, where animal health is the only explanation of AW (14). Taking care of AW and implementation of these standards is contributing to the reduction of the environmental impact from animal farms (12, 15), i.e., environmental health. Likewise, food safety and antimicrobial resistance are primary factors for human health that can be regulated and influenced by AW standards (13). The review by de Passillé and Rushen (12) suggests that improving AW in farms will reduce stress-induced immunosuppression, the incidence of infectious diseases on farms and the shedding of human pathogens by farm animals, antibiotic use and antibiotic resistance, and the environmental impact from the farm animals. Recently, a "One Welfare" platform for improving human and AW was presented by Pinillos et al. (16), where the interconnections between AW, human well-being, and environment are recognized. All of this implies that AW considerably impacts on OH. However, empirical and practical examples of these theoretical presumptions concerning the link between AW initiatives and OH are lacking.

Obviously, OH was not the major focus of the AWC work from the onset. However, if retrospectively analyzed, the activities of the AWC are in line with the possible links between AW and OH. Therefore, the objective of this study was to evaluate the AWC in Macedonia as AW initiative from the OH perspective, and use this case as a model for determining the links and relations of AW within the overall OH concept (human, animal, and environmental health), a model that could be possibly applied to evaluate other AWCs. The intention of this study was neither to present the AWC and its OH approach nor to describe the working areas of this single AW initiative. Ultimately, this study describes the role and importance of AW in general to OH by using the AWC as an example case.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

From the working continuum of the AWC, the evaluation in this study was limited to one extracted timeframe. The AWC work was observed and evaluated from its commencement to the end of 2016, i.e., almost 7 years. The evaluation was conducted in the last 3 months of 2016. Three types of evaluations on the AWC work from an OH perspective were performed: assessment of OH-ness, impact evaluation, and transdisciplinary evaluation. For each evaluation, different evaluation methods, approaches, and metrics were used.

AWC Assessment of OH-Ness

For the quantitative measurement of the operational and infrastructural aspects of OH-ness of the AWC, the proposed methodology by the COST Action TD1404, Network for Evaluation of One Health (NEOH)³ for Assessment of OH-ness presented in

¹http://www.izsler.it/izs_bs/s2magazine/index1.jsp?idPagina=408

 $^{^{2}}https://www.fsai.ie/enforcement_audit/monitoring/national_official_labs.html$

³http://neoh.onehealthglobal.net/

OH Evaluation of AWC

"A Handbook for evaluation of one health," Chapter 3-A One Health Evaluation Framework, Draft version from November 2016 was used. The assessment was performed by the staff permanently involved in the AWC from the beginning, i.e., the head and deputy of the AWC, who are experts in AW and experience in AW initiatives on national and regional levels. The given scores for each question and parameters requested in the assessment tools (S1_OH-ness Scoring of the AWC in Supplementary Material) represents the evaluation of the AWC as an OH initiative, not only as an AW initiative. These scores were the consensus of the assessors reached by taking the mean score from the scores given in the separate performed assessments. The assessment was performed for the following OH dimensions: thinking, planning, working (transdisciplinarity and leadership), learning, and sharing. The holistic approach of OH-ness was defined as a combination of the previous mentioned assessments into a One Health Index (OHI). This index is visually presented as a spider diagram of pentagonal structure and calculated according to surface of the pentagon defined by the enclosed lines that are connecting the points—assessment scores for different dimensions (from 0 to 1) (10), for details see S2 One Health Index and One Health Ratio in Supplementary Material. Precisely, the following equation was used for calculating the OHI:

$$OHI = \frac{\sin \frac{2\pi}{5}}{2} * \{(ScP * ScT) + (ScL * ScP) + (ScS * ScL) + (ScTD * ScS) + (ScT * ScTD)\}$$
(1)

where ScP is the score obtained in OH planning, ScT is the score from OH thinking, ScL is the score obtained in learning infrastructure, ScS is the score from sharing infrastructure, and ScTD is the score from transdisciplinarity and leadership. In the described model, the range of OHI was from 0 to 2.37.

In addition, for presenting the balance between "operation" and "infrastructure" of the initiative, the One Health Ratio (OHR) was calculated. The operational aspects involved OH thinking and planning, while the infrastructure was constructed from OH learning and sharing. Transdisciplinarity and leadership were considered as evenly important for both operation and infrastructure. Therefore, this score was considered as a fixed point for the diagonal that divides the pentagon into two structures (operation and infrastructure). Thus, for calculating the OHR, the ratio between surfaces of the two defined quadrilaterals was calculated using the equation:

$$OHR = \frac{OHI_{operation}}{OHI_{infrastructure}} = \frac{(ScT * ScP) + (ScTD * ScT) + \frac{ScP^2}{2}}{(ScS * ScL) + (ScTD * ScS) + \frac{ScL^2}{2}}.$$
 (2)

Impact Evaluation of AWC on OH

A quantitative survey was performed for determining the impact of the AWC work on OH. The target groups for this survey were different stakeholders, grouped according to whether they did or did not have cooperation with the AWC during the time period that this evaluation was focused on. The stakeholders included in this survey were categorized in six main categories: Farmers, Food Industry; Non-Governmental Organizations (NGOs); Academia; Governmental institutions; and Veterinary chamber. In addition, the veterinary students who took and did not take the AW course during their undergraduate studies were also involved. The survey was conducted by using a custom developed questionnaire, divided into four main sections: a general section for AW and OH; a section for respondents who had cooperation with AWC; a section for respondents who did not have cooperation with AWC; and a personal data section. The 25 questions in the questionnaire were different types, i.e., rating scales (from 1-minimum to 10-maximum), multiple choice, dichotomous, and openended questions (see S3_Questionnaire Form in Supplementary Material). To avoid any misunderstanding in terminology, the OH concept in the questionnaire was presented by setting questions directly focused on human, animal, and environmental health. Before collecting the data, the questionnaire was validated by 10 respondents (students and teachers at the veterinary faculty) giving feedback for improvement and polishing the final version of the questionnaire. The answers collected during the validation of the questionnaire were not part of the data collection process and were used only for the improvement of the questionnaire. Following this, the questionnaire was distributed to the respondents personally or electronically, and collected after completion.

The data collected from the questionnaire were analyzed using descriptive statistics, i.e., medians, ranges and 25 and 75% quartiles (Q1 and Q3) for the rating scale questions and frequencies of categorical and dichotomous variables. The grouping variables were based on the cooperation with the AWC, stakeholders' categories, and student's participation in AW course. Cross tabulation between different variables (questions) from the questionnaire was performed for presenting the link between AWC and OH. The correlation between self-graded knowledge about AW and the opinion of the respondents on the level of influence of AW to the human, animal, and environmental health was tested by using Spearman Rank Order test. Likewise, the differences between groups considering OH were tested by Mann-Whitney test and Fisher's exact test or by Kruskal-Wallis ANOVA, setting the level of statistical significance at P < 0.05. The data analysis was performed by using STATISTICA 8.0 (StatSoft Inc., Tulsa, OK, USA) software.

Transdisciplinary Evaluation of AWC

The transdisciplinary work of the AWC, i.e., the work that transcended academia and involved cooperation with different stakeholders in society (17), was evaluated by using custom designed semi-quantitative evaluation. The evaluation process was conducted in three main phases: identification; data collection; scoring and modeling. In the first phase, the relevant stakeholders were identified. Emphasis was given in identifying existing stakeholders for whom OH was specifically within their interest or their work was primarily related to human, animal, and/or environmental health. The identification procedure was performed by classifying the stakeholders into six major groups: Universities and Research Organizations; Animal farms; Government; the Food industry; Chambers; and NGOs. The

organizations and institutions (actors) within each group were selected by searching the Macedonian databases of registered organizations/institutions in the Central Registry of the Republic of Macedonia; the Macedonian Government; the NGO sector database and Google search (by sectors in Macedonia). For each actor identified, the scope of work, mission, and objectives were reviewed. From the final pool of existing stakeholders, the actors who have a direct relationship to human, animal, or environmental health in Macedonian society were selected. The second phase-data collection, consisted of summarizing all realized projects, initiatives and activities by the AWC during the evaluation period using the documentation in the AWC archive. Later, this was supplemented by interviewing the AWC head and deputy regarding the AWC work and ongoing collaborations. All findings were entered into a matrix with information for each actor about the type of cooperation, the number of realized activities, the communication frequency, and the presence of formal agreement with AWC.

The last phase of this evaluation consisted of quantifying the links of cooperation between the AWC and the identified actors and stakeholders. This was carried out by developing a custom designed scoring system, abbreviated as CACA, based on four main pillars: Cooperation; Activities; Communication and Agreement. Each pillar has an equal contribution (25 points) with a final score of cooperation, giving a maximum of 100 points. Within each pillar there were different descriptors, bearing corresponding weights, depending of the level of contribution in the pillar. The level of contribution for different descriptors was developed by equalizing the different descriptors within one pillar in relation to the evaluation period of the AWC (almost 7 years). Thus, for the Cooperation pillar, seven descriptors were used, where the contribution level was determined by considering the strength of cooperation, starting with "Participation in the decision body," indicating very strong cooperation, i.e., a contribution level of 100%. More than three "Project implementations" between AWC and the Actor within the evaluation period is considered as a strong cooperation, almost as strong as "Participation in the decision body." Therefore, the contribution level of "Project Implementation" was 30%. Cooperation in "Research" is close to the "Project implementation" and was positioned in the middle between "Expertise" and "Project implementation," whereas the three "Expertise" engagements within the evaluation period were considered was having almost the same strength of cooperation as "Project implementation," i.e., the contribution level for "Research" was 20% and for "Expertise" 10%, of the overall score of this pillar. Three "Education and Trainings" within the evaluation period were considered almost equal to "Expertise" leading to the contribution level for "Education and Trainings" of 3% and so on until the contribution level for "Meeting" of 0.2%. The same approach for determining the contribution level of different descriptors was used for the descriptors for the Communication and Agreement pillars. For the "Activities" pillar, it was considered that if there were at least 10 joint activities between the AWC and the specific actor within the evaluation period, then the maximum score for this pillar should be given, i.e., each joint activity has a contribution level of 10%. Maximum score for each pillar was 25 and the weight for each descriptor was calculated from

the contribution level as a percentage of this maximum score. If the score for the particular pillar is >25 then the given score for the pillar was 25. The pillars, their descriptors, and appropriate weights of the CACA scoring system are presented in detail in **Table 1**.

The calculations for quantifying the links of cooperation represented with one score for the cooperation between AWC and the analyzed actor were carried out using Eq. 3:

$$S_{CACA} = \sum_{C_d=1}^{7} C_d + A_n \times 2.50 + C_o + A_g$$
(3)

where the total score for cooperation between AWC and the actor (S_{CACA}) represents the sum of the sum of weights of seven descriptors from Cooperation (C_d), number of joint Activities (A_n), Communication (C_o), and Agreement (A_g). For example, if one actor has two education trainings, one workshop and one project implementation, realized three joint activities with the AWC, communicates with the AWC on a quarterly basis and the AWC has an agreement with less than 25% of the members of this actor than the overall score will be: $(2 \times 0.75 + 1 \times 0.25 + 1 \times 7.50) + 3 \times 2.50 + 12.50 + 6.25 = 35.50$. Finalized on the scores for cooperation between AWC and the existing actors, the model of transdisciplinarity of the AWC was created, presenting the strengths of cooperation and positioning the AWC within society from the OH perspective.

RESULTS

OH-Ness

The OH-ness of the AWC revealed different scores for each dimension following the questions and parameters within the dimensions. Detailed scoring results of the AWC with the complete evaluation for the five dimensions of OH-ness are presented in the S1_OH-ness Scoring of the AWC in Supplementary Material. The score for the OH Thinking dimension of the AWC was 0.79, with the highest scores of 1.00 for: the variety of the number of dimensions and scales that reflect and integrated approach to health; thinking at structural level considering the features of the system which are targeted by the AWC; and considering the capability of AWC to target different elements of the chain of events in relation to a problem. The lowest score (0.40) within this dimension was regarding the wellness of the initiative (AWC) matching the environment. The score for OH Planning of AWC was 0.75, where half of the stakeholders within the tasks returned the highest score and the other half were mid scored. The OH Working dimension (transdisciplinarity and leadership) of the AWC was scored with 0.70 points. The scores within this dimension ranged from 1.00 for the societal aspect and broadness and 0.59 for the integration of the AWC. The lowest scores of the AWC were for the OH Learning and OH Sharing dimensions of 0.47 and 0.46, respectively. In the OH Learning dimension, the highest score (0.75) was for the learning on individual and organizational levels, while the lowest score (0.13) was for the support of the general environment for adaptive and transformative learning. The highest score (1.00) in the OH Sharing dimension was about the usage of

Pillar	Cooperation	ion		Activities	ties		Communication	ation		Agreement		
Pillar's description	Type of realized cooperation	ooperatior	_	Number of realized activities	ed activit	ies	Frequency of communication	lication		Formally signed agreement with the representatives within the actor	represent	atives
	Descriptor	C%	8	Descriptor	C%	≥	Descriptor	C%	≥	Descriptor	C%	≥
	Meeting	0.2	0.05	One joint activity	10.0	2.50	2.50 Once in several years	6.0	1.50	1.50 No signed agreement	0.0	0.00
	Workshop	1.0	0.25				Yearly	12.0	3.00	Agreement with ≤25% of the actors	25.0	6.25
	Education and trainings	3.0	0.75				Once in 6 months	25.0	6.25		50.0	12.50
	Expertise	10.0	2.50				Quarterly	50.0	12.50	Agreement with 51-75% of the actors	75.0	18.75
	Research	20.0	5.00				Monthly	100.0	25.00	Agreement with 76-100% of the actors	100.0	25.00
	Project implementation	30.0	7.50									
	Decision body participation	100.0	25.00									

information in learning and the lowest 0 scores were given to the sharing resources and data accessibility.

Following analysis of the scores' dimensions and using Eq. 1, the OH Index of the AWC from the OH perspective was 0.97. By using Eq. 2, the score for the Operation of the AWC was 0.68, while the score for the Infrastructure of the AWC was 0.31, leading to the OH Ratio of 2.20. The overall appearance of the OH-ness of the AWC spider diagram defined by the OH Index and Ratio is presented in **Figure 1**.

Impact Evaluation

The survey was completed by 36 representatives (85% response rate) from different stakeholders: Government Institutions, such as the Food and Veterinary Agency, Ministry of Environment and Physical Planning, Local government, and other governmental sectors; Academia, i.e., universities and research institutions; NGOs; animal farmers; food processing industry; and Veterinary Chamber (Table 2). Geographically, 63% of the representatives were from Skopje-the country's capital, and, regarding gender, 39% were female respondents. From the stakeholder's representatives, 53% stated that currently or in the past have established cooperation with the AWC. The student's survey included 30 veterinary undergraduate students (100% response rate), 15 of these (50%) were students who did take the AW course during their studies and rest of the respondents did not take this course. The geographical and gender structure of the students, respondents in the survey, was 73% from Skopje and 50% were females, respectively.

The overall concept of OH was familiar to 44% of stakeholder's representatives. The number of respondents who had cooperation with the AWC was significantly higher (63%) than those who did not have cooperation (24%), regarding familiarity with the OH concept. On a scale of 1–10, the level of influence of AW on human, animal, and environmental health,



FIGURE 1 | Spider diagram based on the scores (from 0 to 1, solid lines) of the five dimensions for the One Health Index of the Animal Welfare Center (AWC) (the transparent blue structure) from the One Health perspective. The dashed line represents the division of the diagram into Operation and Infrastructure for representing the One Health Ratio of the AWC.

TABLE 1 | Pillars, descriptors, and weights of the CACA scoring system for cooperation between Animal Welfare Center and the society's actors/stakeholders.

Stakeholder (N)			ŏ	Cooperation with AWC	with AWC					No	Cooperati	No Cooperation with AWC		
	2		Ŧ		АН		EH	2	-	H		АН		EH
		Median Score	Range (Q1–Q3)	Median score	Range (Q1–Q3)	Median score	Range (Q1–Q3)		Median score	Range (Q1–Q3)	Median score	Range (Q1–Q3)	Median score	Range (Q1–Q3)
Non-Governmental Organizations (6)	0							9	9.50	7-10 (8-10)		8-10 (10-10) 10 8	10	8-10 (8-10)
Farmers (5)	4	7	7-8 (7-7.5)	9.5	9-10 (9-10)	7.5	7-10 (7-9)	-	10		10		10	
Academia (8)	œ	7	5-10 (5.5-8.5)	10	8-10 (9.5-10)	œ	4-10 (6-10)	0						
Governmental institutions (13)	ß	7	5-10 (7-9)	*0	9-10 (9-10)	0	5-10 (7-10)	ø	7	5-8 (6-7)	*თ	7-9 (7.5-9)	7.50	5-9 (6.5-8.5)
Chambers (2)	-	7		0		7		-	8		0		00	
Food industry (2)	-	თ		0		9		-	80		80		8	

TABLE 2 | Scores, presented as median, range, and 25–75% quartiles (Q1–Q3), given by the stakeholders regarding the influence level of Animal Welfare on Human (HH), Animal (AH) and Environmental (EH) Health

the stakeholders responded with the median score of 7 (range 5-10, Q1 = 7 and Q3 = 9), 9 (range 7-10, Q1 = 9 and Q3 = 10),and 8 (range 4-10, Q1 = 7 and Q3 = 10), respectively. Detailed results concerning the opinion of different stakeholders regarding the influence of AW on OH are presented in Figure 2. The introduction of the grouping variable for cooperation with AWC revealed no significant difference between groups when considering the influence of AW on human, animal, and environmental health. However, there were various scores among different stakeholders regarding this issue, descriptively presented in Table 2. Due to the small sample sizes of different stakeholder groups, the only comparison considering AWC cooperation was carried out between Governmental institutions, revealing significant differences for the opinion about the influence of AW on Animal Health (Table 2). The correlations between the stakeholder's self-graded knowledge of AW and human, animal, and environmental health were 0.31, 0.29, and 0.27, respectively.

The stakeholder's representatives who had cooperation with AWC graded the cooperation with average grade of 4.16 ± 0.76 (on a scale from 1 to 5). This group of respondents scored the impact of the AWC on human, animal, and environmental health, where the impact on Animal Health was significantly higher in comparison with Environmental and Human Health (Figure 3). Lowest and highest AWC impact median scores for different types of health considering the groups of stakeholders are presented in Figure 3. All respondents consider that by cooperating with the AWC they are contributing to improving human, animal, and environmental health. The respondents who have cooperated with the AWC stressed that the AWC should expand its activities almost equally in all areas in order to improve the OH (Figure 4). The majority of the respondents who did not have cooperation with the AWC (85% of the respondents) believe that if they cooperate with the AWC they could contribute to improving human, animal, and environmental health. Summarizing the other answers from this group of respondents and the other open-ended questions in the survey, the most frequent statement given as a major remark or as a suggestion for higher involvement was the need for better promotion of the AWC's activities.

The survey among students demonstrated that 83% were not familiar with the OH concept and that 56% of them were students who did not take the AW course. Regarding the influence score of the AW on human, animal, and environmental health, the students scored with the median score of 8 (range 1-10, Q1 = 6 and Q3 = 9), 10 (range 1–10, Q1 = 9 and Q3 = 10), and 8.5 (range 1–10, Q1 = 5 and Q3 = 10), respectively. There was no significant difference between answers of students regarding the AW influence on human, animal, and environmental health considering their participation in the AW course (Figure 5). The correlations between the student's knowledge of AW (based on self-grading) and how they scored the influence of AW on human, animal, and environmental health were 0.14, 0.42, and 0.57, respectively. Similar to the stakeholder's survey, over 93% of the students stated that cooperation with the AWC can contribute to an improvement in human, animal, and environmental health.



FIGURE 2 | Stakeholders' (Non-Governmental Organizations, n = 6; farmers, n = 5; academia, n = 8; government, n = 13; associations, n = 2; food industry, n = 2) opinions regarding the influence level (in scores on the Y axis) of Animal Welfare on Human (red), Animal (green), and Environmental (blue) Health. Median : 25–75%, box; non-outlier range, whisker.



FIGURE 3 | Impact of the Animal Welfare Center (AWC) on human, animal, and environmental health on a score scale from 1 to 10 according to the respondents who had cooperation with the AWC (n = 19). Median \Box ; 25–75%, box; non-outlier range, whisker. *P < 0.05. Lowest and highest median scores for the three types of health given by the stakeholder's groups (x Food industry, I Farmers, \bigcirc Veterinary Chamber, Academia, and \triangle Governmental institutions).

Transdisciplinary Evaluation

During the identification phase, 27 actors who have direct relation to human, animal, or environmental health were identified. Considering the six major stakeholders' groups, the distribution of the identified actors was: five actors in NGOs, six actors in the group Animal Farms, six actors/institutions from the Government, two in Universities and Research; six in the group called Chambers; and two actors from Food Industry. In the data collection phase, 18 different types of cooperation, with over 100 realized activities were found between the AWC and the identified actors. By using the CACA scoring system, the transdisciplinarity of the AWC from the OH perspective is presented in **Figure 6**.

DISCUSSION

The evaluation of the AWC from the OH perspective performed in this study demonstrates that the AWC, and consequently AW in general, has had an impact and contributes to improvement and securing not only animal health but also human



areas where the AWC should expand its activities for improving human, animal, and environmental health (the numbers represent percentages from the responses for all areas).

and environmental health. The evaluations for OH initiatives performed in this case, mainly guided by the "A Handbook for evaluation of one health," Chapter 3—A One Health Evaluation Framework (COST Action TD1404, NEOH), presents the role of AW in the OH concept and hypothesizes that the AW initiatives can also be seen as OH initiatives.

One Health-ness as a sum of characteristics that define integrated approaches to health (17), in this case, the sum of five dimensions, was used for representing the strengths and weaknesses of the AWC from the OH perspective. The assessment of the OH-ness performed on the AWC found several remarks and challenges of the method used. These are highlighted in red in the S1_OH-ness Scoring of the AWC in Supplementary Material. However, the NEOH Handbook for evaluation of OH has been developed further than the state at which it was used in this study. In this context, the number of dimensions representing the OH-ness (Figure 1) requires further discussions and analyses in the forthcoming studies. Finally, more widely practical usage of the OH-ness assessment inevitably will lead to its improvement and precision. For determining the effects of the AWC on OH as a secondary (indirect) impact, the terminology established in the paper by Rüegg et al. (17), the impact evaluation of the AWC was performed. This was accomplished by summarizing the opinions of different stakeholders and students about the AWC's work and its relationship with OH (human, animal, and environmental health). However, the number of respondents participating in the impact evaluation was low for very detailed impact analysis.

The transdisciplinarity, as a vital part of the OH approach, was the core aspect for evaluation of the AWC from OH perspective. Rosenfield (18) sees transdisciplinarity as a help in health research by providing a holistic approach where the researchers will work with different stakeholders for the purpose of addressing a common problem. In addition, there was a consensus among research articles that transdisciplinarity is necessary for solving human-animal-environmental health issues (19). Summarizing the scores from the four pillars in the CACA scoring system gives an overview of the link's strength between AWC and the stakeholders in society. However, the method for identifying the stakeholders and actors in this study may introduce some bias in the final results. Nevertheless, modeling the established links in the overall network of actors and stakeholders offers an overview of the transdisciplinarity of the AWC from the OH perspective. This also raised the expectations in this study for finding the place of the AW in OH. More broadly, since the AWC is an AW initiative, this could be perceived as an opportunity to determine where the AW stands in society from the OH perspective.

Improvements in AW and raising AW standards in the system were found as a major driver of the AWC. In fact, AW in general is recognized as a "complex, multi-faceted public policy issue which includes important scientific, ethical, economic and political dimensions" (20). This inevitably leads to a higher score for OH thinking for almost all AW initiatives. The AWC was a pioneer for acceptance and understanding the AW field in society, leading to a low match of the AWC with the environment, i.e., low scores within OH thinking. The same findings were reported for the OH concept. Familiarity with the OH concept among stakeholders in society and undergraduate students emphasized the need for higher involvement of OH in the undergraduate curriculum for veterinary studies and overall promotion of the OH concept in Macedonian society. The greatest familiarity with the OH concept was among stakeholders who had cooperation with the AWC, indicating that the group that was interested in AW, also has knowledge and/or interest in OH. This additionally supports the higher score for the AWC's OH thinking.

The AWC OH planning and working were also scored highly. Higher dominant scores were the societal and broadness as one of the features of AW in general. OH working dimension includes transdisciplinarity and leadership of the AWC, also confirmed by impact and transdisciplinary evaluation within this study. The stakeholder's scoring of the AWC influence on OH was highly related with the work's perspective, knowledge, and information about the scope/work of the AWC. Thus, in the scoring for the human health, the farmers gave higher scores as the AWC was







the higher level of cooperation with the actor.

promoting the links between AW and prevention of diseases (including zoonoses) and food safety. The present knowledge from Academia about AW contributes to the maximum scores from this stakeholder for the AWC influence on animal health. The higher scores for environmental health given by the government resulted from the previous collaboration with the AWC on measuring the farm's emissions to the environment. Both groups (with and without cooperation with the AWC) express their beliefs that they can contribute in improvement of human, animal, and environmental health through AWC, confirming the

impact of the AWC on the OH concept. The responder's request for improvements of the AWC from the OH perspective in all disciplines is actually supporting the transdisciplinarity approach and research in OH (21).

Transdisciplinary evaluation reveals wide spread of the AWC between different actors and stakeholders, presenting a relatively high level of overall transdisciplinarity. The shape of the AWC in Figure 6 indicates the presence of transdisciplinary work of the AWC with higher focus on the Universities and Research Institutions and Government, and low links with the NGOs and Chambers. Considering its main objective and primary work, the strongest link inevitably were the Universities and Research institutions. Since the AWC performs welfare training, assessments, and has an advisory role for the farmers, this group was also strongly linked with the AWC, with a room for improvement. The strongest link among governmental institutions was with the Food and Veterinary Agency as the authority responsible for AW legislation implementation in the country. The next strong link in this group was found with the Ministry of Environment and Physical planning, as a result of the AWC's work on environmental measurements. There was no link between the Ministry of Health and also any other actors related to Human Health. However, human health is mainly related to the AW through the food safety and disease prevention (12, 13) which opens the doors for future close cooperation. The links with the Food Industry were present but showed a low score, due to the fact that AW training was the only activity provided. This custom designed model developed for the AWC transdisciplinarity can also be used for any other AW initiatives and would probably result in different findings of the strengths of various links. Regardless of these strengths, it is highly probable that any other AW initiative will also be widely spread in society, due to the transdisciplinary nature of the AW research and implementation.

The serious impact for a low score in OH learning was the lack of willingness of implementation of new AW standards by the society, mostly due to traditional farming practices, economic reasons, and poor awareness of these standards. This leads to very low learning focused on questioning, correcting, or improving existing practices and encouragement to see beyond the existing situation. On the other side, the impact of the AW course provided by the AWC for the students contributes to more consensual thinking about the AW influence on the three types of health. This was especially evident for animal and environmental health, where the AW knowledge had a direct effect in increasing the influence score of AW. The OH sharing score was due to the small amount of resources allocated for data sharing, the absence of procedures and mechanisms within the AWC for instant and easy information access to the stakeholders. This was also confirmed by the impact evaluation, where promotion of the AWC's

REFERENCES

- Stafford KJ, Mellor DJ. The implementation of animal welfare standards by member countries of the World Organisation for Animal Health (OIE): analysis of an OIE questionnaire. *Rev Sci Tech* (2009) 28(3):1143–64.
- UKIM. Regulation for Internal Structure and Work at the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine in Skopje within the University. Skopje: University Herald (2009). 115 p.

activities in society was mostly suggested. The OHI and especially OHR clearly indicates domination of the AWC "Operation" versus the "Infrastructure." These results suggest that improvements and emphasis should be made in data sharing at the AWC, and further raising awareness in society for the AW standards, while the transdisciplinary evaluation gave the directions of future transdisciplinary work of the AWC.

The OH-ness of the AWC suggests that AW initiatives bear their own OH-ness, which can be scored and evaluated, like OH initiatives from all other disciplines. Stakeholders and students consider that the influence of AW on human, animal, and environmental health is relatively high (in the upper third of the scale) by setting the AW influence in the following order: 1. animal health; 2. environmental health; and 3. human health, with higher emphasis on animal health. The same was applied for the AWC influence confirming similar contribution by the AWC to OH as the AW topic itself. In addition, the AW transdisciplinarity from an OH perspective defined the AW place in the societal OH network. These results should be observed as relative findings that can vary when applying different evaluation methods or different AW initiatives. What is unquestionable is the evident impact of the AW to animal, environmental, and human health. We strongly believe that the AWC is not a unique case and that any other AW initiatives intentionally or unintentionally have an impact on OH and should be seen and evaluated as OH initiatives.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MR collected, analyzed the data, and drafted the manuscript. VI collected the data and revised the manuscript. MR and VI contributed to the study design and interpretation of the results. HO and DM reviewed, interpreted, and edited the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors gratefully acknowledge the help of the students Jovana Mojsovska, Kosara Ivcheva, and Ivona Filipovska, from the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine—Skopje, for assistance with the distribution of the questionnaire and the data collection process. This article is based on work from COST Action (Network for Evaluation of One Health, TD1404), supported by COST (European Cooperation in Science and Technology).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at http://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fvets.2017.00238/ full#supplementary-material.

- 3. Russell WMS, Burch RL. *The Principles of Humane Experimental Technique*. London: Methuen (1959).
- Council Regulation (EC) No 1/2005 on the Protection of Animals during Transport and Related Operations and Amending Directives 64/432/EEC and 93/119/EC and Regulation (EC) No 1255/97, OJ L3/1-44 (2005).
- Council Directive 98/58/EC Concerning the Protection of Animals Kept for Farming Purposes, OJ L221/23-27 (1998).

- Council Regulation (EC) No 1099/2009 on the Protection of Animals at the Time of Killing, OJ L303/1-30 (2009).
- Council Regulation (EU) 2017/625 on Official Controls and Other Official Activities Performed to Ensure the Application of Food and Feed Law, Rules on Animal Health and Welfare, Plant Health and Plant Protection Products, OJ L95/1-142 (2017).
- Prodanov M, Radeski M, Ilieski V. Air quality measurements in laying hens housing. *Maced Vet Rev* (2016) 39(1):91–5. doi:10.1515/macvetrev-2016-0071
- Radeski M, Janevski A, Ilieski V. Screening of selected indicators of dairy cattle welfare in Macedonia. *Maced Vet Rev* (2015) 38(1):43–51. doi:10.14432/j. macvetrev.2014.11.031
- Rüegg SR, McMahon BJ, Häsler B, Esposito R, Nielsen LR, Ifejika Speranza C, et al. A blueprint to evaluate one health. *Front Public Health* (2017) 5:20. doi:10.3389/fpubh.2017.00020
- 11. Gibbs EP. The evolution of One Health: a decade of progress and challenges for the future. *Vet Rec* (2014) 174(4):85–91. doi:10.1136/vr.g143
- 12. de Passillé AM, Rushen J. Food safety and environmental issues in animal welfare. *Rev Sci Tech* (2005) 24(2):757–66.
- Goldberg AM. Farm animal welfare and human health. *Curr Environ Health* Rep (2016) 3(3):313–21. doi:10.1007/s40572-016-0097-9
- Fraser D. Understanding animal welfare. Acta Vet Scand (2008) 50(1):S1. doi:10.1186/1751-0147-50-s1-s1
- McGlone JJ. Farm animal welfare in the context of other society issues: toward sustainable systems. *Livest Prod Sci* (2001) 72(1):75–81. doi:10.1016/ S0301-6226(01)00268-8
- Pinillos GR, Appleby MC, Manteca X, Scott-Park F, Smith C, Velarde A. One welfare – a platform for improving human and animal welfare. *Vet Rec* (2016) 179(16):412–3. doi:10.1136/vr.i5470

- Rüegg SR, Nielsen LR, Buttigieg S, Santa M, Aragrande M, Canali M, et al. A systems approach to evaluate One Health initiatives. *Front Vet Sci* (2018).
- Rosenfield PL. The potential of transdisciplinary research for sustaining and extending linkages between the health and social sciences. *Soc Sci Med* (1992) 35(11):1343–57. doi:10.1016/0277-9536(92)90038-R
- Min B, Allen-Scott LK, Buntain B. Transdisciplinary research for complex One Health issues: a scoping review of key concepts. *Prev Vet Med* (2013) 112(3–4):222–9. doi:10.1016/j.prevetmed.2013.09.010
- Petrini A, Wilson D. Philosophy, policy and procedures of the World Organisation for Animal Health for the development of standards in animal welfare. *Rev Sci Tech* (2005) 24(2):665–71. doi:10.20506/rst.24.2. 1607
- Allen-Scott LK, Buntain B, Hatfield JM, Meisser A, Thomas CJ. Academic institutions and One Health: building capacity for transdisciplinary research approaches to address complex health issues at the animal-human-ecosystem interface. *Acad Med* (2015) 90(7):866–71. doi:10.1097/acm.000000000 000639

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Radeski, O'Shea, De Meneghi and Ilieski. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

